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Preface

This text provides an introduction to accounting and finance. It is aimed primarily at
students who are not majoring in accounting or finance but who are, nevertheless,
studying introductory-level accounting and finance as part of their course in business,
economics, hospitality management, tourism, engineering, or some other area. Students
who are majoring in either accounting or finance should, however, find the book a
useful introduction to the main principles, which can serve as a foundation for further
study. The text does not focus on the technical aspects, but rather examines the basic
principles and underlying concepts and the ways in which accounting statements
and financial information can be used to improve the quality of decision making. To
reinforce this practical emphasis, there are, throughout the text, numerous illustrative
extracts with commentary from company reports, survey data and other sources.

In this seventh edition, we have taken the opportunity to make improvements that
have been suggested by both students and lecturers who used the previous edition. We
have brought up to date and expanded the number of examples from real life. We have
continued to reflect the latest developments in the international rules relating to the
main financial statements. We have also made reference to changes in financing methods
that have emerged recently and to the financial crisis that they have partly led to.

The text is written in an ‘open-learning’ style. This means that there are numerous
integrated activities, worked examples and questions throughout the text to help you
to understand the subject fully. You are encouraged to interact with the material and
to check your progress continually. Irrespective of whether you are using the book as
part of a taught course or for personal study, we have found that this approach is more
‘user-friendly’ and makes it easier for you to learn.

We recognise that most of you will not have studied accounting or finance before,
and we have therefore tried to write in a concise and accessible style, minimising the
use of technical jargon. We have also tried to introduce topics gradually, explaining
everything as we go. Where technical terminology is unavoidable we try to provide
clear explanations. In addition, you will find all of the key terms highlighted in the
text, and then listed at the end of each chapter with a page reference. All of these key
terms are also listed alphabetically, with a concise definition, in the Glossary towards
the end of the book (Appendix A). This should provide a convenient point of reference
from which to revise.

A further important consideration in helping you to understand and absorb the
topics covered is the design of the text itself. The page layout and colour scheme have
been carefully considered to allow for the easy navigation and digestion of material.
The layout features a large-page format, an open design, and clear signposting of the
various features and assessment material. More detail about the nature and use of

XV
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XVi

these features is given in the ‘How to use this book’ section below; and the main
points are also summarised, using example pages from the text, in the guided tour on
pages xviii-xx.

We hope that you find the book both readable and helpful.

How to use this book

We have organised the chapters to reflect what we consider to be a logical sequence
and, for this reason, we suggest that you work through the text in the order in which
it is presented. We have tried to ensure that earlier chapters do not refer to concepts
or terms that are not explained until a later chapter. If you work through the chapters
in the ‘wrong’ order, you will probably encounter concepts and terms that were
explained previously.

Irrespective of whether you are using the book as part of a lecture/tutorial-based
course or as the basis for a more independent mode of study, we advocate following
broadly the same approach.

Integrated assessment material

Interspersed throughout each chapter are numerous Activities. You are strongly
advised to attempt all of these questions. They are designed to simulate the sort of
quick-fire questions that your lecturer might throw at you during a lecture or tutorial.
Activities serve two purposes:

m to give you the opportunity to check that you understand what has been covered
so far;

m to encourage you to think about the topic just covered, either to see a link between
that topic and others with which you are already familiar, or to link the topic just
covered to the next.

The answer to each Activity is provided immediately after the question. This answer
should be covered up until you have deduced your solution, which can then be com-
pared with the one given.

Towards the middle/end of each chapter, except for Chapter 1, there is a self-
assessment question. This is more comprehensive and demanding than most of the
Activities, and is designed to give you an opportunity to check and apply your under-
standing of the core coverage of the chapter. The answer to each of these questions is
provided in Appendix B at the end of the book. As with the Activities, it is important that
you attempt each question thoroughly before referring to the solution. If you have
difficulty with a self-assessment question, you should go over the relevant chapter again.

End-of-chapter assessment material

At the end of each chapter there are four review questions. These are short questions
requiring a narrative answer or discussion within a tutorial group. They are intended



to help you assess how well you can recall and critically evaluate the core terms
and concepts covered in each chapter. Answers to these questions are provided in
Appendix C at the end of the book.

At the end of each chapter, except for Chapter 1, there are five exercises. These
are mostly computational and are designed to reinforce your knowledge and
understanding. Exercises are graded as either ‘basic’ or ‘more advanced’ according to
their level of difficulty. The basic-level questions are fairly straightforward; the more
advanced ones can be quite demanding but are capable of being successfully com-
pleted if you have worked conscientiously through the chapter and have attempted
the basic exercises. Answers to three of the exercises in each chapter are provided in
Appendix D at the end of the book. A coloured exercise number identifies these three
questions. Here, too, a thorough attempt should be made to answer each exercise
before referring to the solution. Answers to the other two exercises are provided in a
separate Instructors’ Manual.

Preface
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Guided tour of the

Chapter 2

Measuring and
reporting
financial
position

Introduction
We saw in Chapter 1 that accounting has two distinct strands: financial accounting and
management accounting. This chapter, along with Chapters 3 to 5, examines the three
maijor financial statements that form the core of financial accounting. We start by taking
an overview of these statements to see how each contributes towards an assessment of
the overall financial position and performance of a business.

Following this overview, we begin a more detailed examination by turning our attention
towards one of these financial statements: the statement of financial position. We shall
see how it is prepared and examine the principles underpinning it. We sh;
its value for decision-making purposes.

Learning outcomes
When you have completed this chapter, you should be able to:

= explain the nature and purpose of the three major financial statements;

m prepare a simple statement of financial position and interpret the information that it
contains;

discuss the accounting conventions underpinning the statement of financial position;
discuss the uses and limitations of the statement of financial position for decision-
making purposes.

" MyAccountinglah Remember to create your own ]

personalised Study Plan

Key terms

The key concepts and techniques in each
chapter are highlighted in colour where they
are first introduced, with an adjacent icon in
the margin to help you refer back to the most
important points.

Examples

At frequent intervals throughout most chapters,
there are numerical examples that give you
step-by-step workings to follow through to the
solution.

Learning outcomes

— Bullet points at the start of each chapter

show what you can expect to learn from that
chapter, and highlight the core coverage.

Recognising expenses

Recognising expenses

Having decided on the point at which revenue is recognised, we can now turn to the

issue of the recognition of expenses. The matching convention of accounting is designed
- to provide guidance concerning the recognition of expenses. This convention states
that expenses should be matched to the revenue that they helped to generate. In other
words, the expenses associated with a particular item of revenue must be taken into
account in the same reporting period as that in which the item of revenue s included.
Applying this convention may mean that a particular expense reported in the income
statement for a period may not be the same figure as the cash paid for that item dur-
ing the period. The expense reported might be either more or less than the cash paid
during the period. Let us consider two examples that illustrate this point.

When the expense for the period is more than the cash paid
during the period

Example 3.4

Domestic Ltd sells household electrical appliances. It pays its sales staff a commis-
sion of 2 per cent of sales revenue generated. Total sales revenue for last year
amounted to £300,000. This will mean that the commission to be paid in respect
= of the sales for the year will be £6,000. However, by the end of the year, the
amount of sales commission that had actually been paid to staff was £5,000. If the
business reported only the amount paid, it would mean that the income state-
ment would not reflect the full expense for the year. This would contravene the
matching convention because not all of the expenses associated with the revenue
of the year would have been matched in the income statement. This will be
remedied as follows:

® Sales commission expense in the income statement will include the amount
paid plus the amount outstanding (that is, £6,000 = £5,000 + £1,000).

= The amount outstanding (£1,000) represents an outstanding liability at the end of
the year and will be included under the heading accrued expenses, or ‘accruals’,
in the statement of financial position. As this item will have to be paid within
twelve months of the year end, it will be treated as a current liability.
The cash will already have been reduced to reflect the commission paid (£5,000)
during the period.

These points are illustrated in Figure 3.2.

In principle, all expenses should be matched to the period in which the sales
revenue to which they relate is reported. However, it is sometimes difficult to match
certain expenses to sales revenue in the same precise way that we have matched

83




have agreed to pay for the shares, their obligation to the company, and to the com-
pany’s creditors, is satisfied. Thus shareholders can limit their losses to the amount
that they have paid, or agreed to pay, for their shares. This is of great practical im-
portance to potential shareholders since they know that what they can lose, as part
owners of the business, is limited.

Contrast this with the position of sole proprietors or partners. They cannot ‘ring-
fence’ assets that they do not want to put into the business. If a sole proprietorship or
partnership business finds itself in a position where liabilities exceed the business
assets, the law gives unsatisfied creditors the right to demand payment out of what the
sole proprietor or partner may have regarded as ‘non-business’ assets. Thus the sole
proprietor or partner could lose everything - house, car, the lot. This is because the law
sees Jill, the sole proprietor, as being the same as Jill the private individual. The share-
holder, by contrast, can lose only the amount committed to that company. Legally, the
business operating as a limited company, in which Jack owns shares, is not the same
as Jack himself. This is true even if Jack were to own all of the shares in the company.

Real World 4.2 gives an example of a well-known case where the sharcholders of
particular company were able to avoid any liability to those that had lost money /&
a result of dealing with the company.

Real World 4.2

Carlton and Granada 1 - Nationwide Football League O

Two television broadcasting companies, Carlton and Granada, each owned 50 per cent of
a separate company, ITV Digital (formerly ON Digital). ITV Digital signed a contract to pay
the Nationwide Football League (in effect the three divisions of English football below the
Premiership) more than £89 million on both 1 August 2002 and 1 August 2003 for the rights
to broadcast football matches over three seasons. ITV Digital was unable to sell enough
d cause it meet its liabilties.
The Nationwide Football League tried to force Carlton and Granada (TTV Digtal's only
to meet ITV Digital' It was unable to do so because

the shareholders could not be held legally liable for the amounts owing.
Cariton and Granada merged into one business in 2003, but at the time of ITV Digital

were two independent companies.

‘The fact that shareholders can limit their losses to that which they have paid, o have
agreed to pay, for their shares is of ical importance

Can you think of any practical benefit to a private sector economy, in general, of this.
ability of shareholders to limit losses?

Business is arisky venture - in some cases very risky. People in a position to invest money
will usually be happier to do so when they know the limit of their liabilty. If investors are
given limited liability, new businesses are more likely to be formed and existing ones are
likely to find it easier to raise more finance. This is good for the private sector economy and
may ultimately lead to the generation of greater wealth for society as a whole.

The main features of limited companies

15
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‘Real World’ illustrations

Integrated throughout the text, these illustrative
examples highlight the practical application of
accounting concepts and techniques by real
businesses, including extracts from company
reports and financial statements, survey data
and other interesting insights from business.

Activities

These short questions, integrated throughout
each chapter, allow you to check your
understanding as you progress through the text.
They comprise either a narrative question
requiring you to review or critically consider
topics, or a numerical problem requiring you to
deduce a solution. A suggested answer is given
immediately after each activity.

Bullet point chapter summary

Each chapter ends with a ‘bullet point’ summary.
This highlights the material covered in the
chapter and can be used as a quick reminder of
the main issues.

Chapter 4 Accounting for fimited companies

Self-assessment question 4.1

‘This question requires you to correct some figures on a set of company financial state-
ments. It should prove useful practice for the material that you covered in Chapters 2 and
3, as wel as helping you to become familiar with the financial statements of a company.

Presented below is a draft set of simplified financial statements for Pear Limited for the
year ended 30 September 2010.

for the year ended 30 Sept 2010
£000
Revenue 1456
Cost of sales 69
Gross profit 688
Salaries 220)
Depreciation 249)
Other operating costs 31
Operating profit £
Interest payable 15)
Profit before taxation 73
Taxation at 30% 22

Profit for the year
Statement of financial position s at 30 September 2010
ASSETS £00(

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

1,570

Depreciation (620)
880

Current assets

Inventories

‘Trade receivables

Cash at bank

Total asset

ts
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Share capital 300
Share premium account 300
Retained earnings at beginning of year 104
Profit for year _51
755
Non-current liabilies
Borrowings (10% loan notes repayable 2014) _s0
Current liabilities
Trade payables. 88
Other payables 20
Taxation 22
Borrowings (bank overdraft) _105
23
Total equity and liabilties T2%0

148 *

Summary

Summary
The main points of this chapter may be summarised as follows.

The income statement (profit and loss account)

®m The income statement measures and reports how much profit (or loss) has been
generated over a period.

= Profit (or loss) for the period is the difference between the total revenue and total
expenses for the period.

= The income statement links the statements of financial position at the beginning
and end of a reporting period.

= Normally, the income statement will first calculate gross profit and then deduct
any overheads for the period. The final figure derived s the profit (or loss) for the
period.

= Gross profit represents the difference between the sales revenue for the period and
the cost of sales.

Expenses and revenue

= Cost of sales may be identified cither by matching the cost of each sale to the
particular sale or, in the case of retail and wholesaling businesses, by adjusting
the goods bought during the period to take account of opening and closing
inventories.

® Classifying expenses is often a matter of judgement, although there are rules for
businesses that operate as limited companies.

m Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be measured reliably and
it is probable that the economic benefits will be received.

= Where there is a sale of goods, there is an additional criterion that ownership and
control must pass to the buyer before revenue can be recognised

= Revenue can be recognised after partial completion provided that a particular
stage of completion can be measured reliably.

= The matching convention states that expenses should be matched to the revenue
that they help generate.

= A particular expense reported in the income statement may not be the same as
the cash paid. This will result in accruals or prepayments appearing in the state-
‘ment of financial position.

= The materiality convention states that where the amounts are immaterial, we
should consider only what is expedient

® “Accruals accounting’ is preparing the income statement and statement of finan-
cial position following the accruals convention, which says that profit = revenue
less expenses (not cash receipts less cash payments).

105

Self-assessment questions

Towards the end of most chapters you will encounter one of these questions, allowing you to
attempt a comprehensive question before tackling the end-of-chapter assessment material.
To check your understanding and progress, solutions are provided at the end of the book.
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Chapter 6 Analysing and interpreting financial statements

return on ordinary shareholders’ funds,
ratio (ROSF) p. 193

return on capital employed ratio
(ROCE) p. 194

operating profit margin ratio p. 196

gross profit margin ratio p. 197

average inventories turnover period
ratio p. 200

average settlement period for trade
receivables ratio p. 201

average settlement period for trade
payables ratio p. 202

sales revenue to capital employed ratio
p.203

sales revenue per employee ratio
p.204

current ratio p. 207

acid test ratio p. 208

financial gearing p. 209

gearing ratio p. 212

interest cover ratio p. 213

dividend payout ratio p. 217

dividend cover ratio p. 217

dividend yield ratio p. 218

dividend per share p. 218

earnings per share (EPS) p. 218

price/earnings ratio p. 219

Further reading

If you would like to explore the topics covered in this chapter in more depth, we

recommend the following books

Elliott, B. and Elliott, ., Financial Accounting and Reporting (13th edn), Financial Times
Prentice Hall, 2010, chapter 28.

Schoenebeck, K. and Holtzman, M., Interpreting and Analyzing Financial Statements
(5th edn), Prentice Hall, 2009, chapters 2, 3, 4 and 5.

Wild, ., Subramanyam, K. and Halsey, R., Financial Statement Analysis (9th edn),
McGraw-Hill, 2006, chapters 8, 9 and 11.

n Review guestions

Solutions to these questions can be found at the back of the book, in Appendix C.

6.1 Some businesses operate on a low operating profit margin (for example, a supermarket
chain). Does this mean that the return on capital empioyed from the business will also
be low?

6.2 What potential problems arise for the external analyst from the use of statement of
financial position figures in the calculation of financial ratios?
6.3 Twob: tein  One has an period that

is longer than the industry average. The other has an inventories turover period that is

-~

Key terms summary

At the end of each chapter, there is a listing
— (with page references) of all the key terms,
allowing you to easily refer back to the most
important points.

Further reading

— This section comprises a listing of relevant
chapters in other textbooks that you might
refer to in order to pursue a topic in more
depth or gain an alternative perspective.

Review questions

These short questions encourage you to review
and/or critically discuss your understanding of
the main topics covered in each chapter, either

individually or in a group. Solutions to these

questions can be found at the end of the book.

Exercises

These comprehensive questions appear at

the end of most chapters. The more advanced

questions are separately identified. Solutions
to some of the questions (those with coloured

numbers) are provided at the end of the book,
enabling you to assess your progress. Solutions

to the remaining questions are available

online for lecturers only. Additional exercises

can be found within MyAccountingLab at

www.myaccountinglab.com.
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Chapter 7 Cost-volume-profit analysis
R . .
> Review questions
Solutions to these questions can be found at the back of the book, in Appendix C.
71 Define the terms fixed cost and variable cost. Explain how an understanding of the
distinction between fixed cost and variable cost can be useful to managers.
7.2 What is meant by the break-even point for an activity? How is the BEP calculated? Why
is it useful to know the BEP?
7.3 When we say that some business activity has high operating gearing, what do we mean?
What are the mplcations fo the business of high operating gearing?
7.4 If there is a scarce resource that is restricting sales, how will the business maximise its
proft? Explai the logc of the approach that you have identified for maximising proft
- i
> Exercises
Exercises 7.3 to 7.5 are more advanced than 7.1 and 7.2. Those with a coloured number
have solutions at the back of the book, in Appendix D.
If you wish to try more exercises, visit the students’ side of the Companion Website
and MyAccountingLab.
7. The management of a business is concerned about its inability to obtain enough fully
{rained labour o enable it to meet s present bucget projection
Information concerning the three services offered by the business is as follows:
Senice Apha  Beta  Gamma  Totl
£000 £000 £000 £000
Variable cost
Materials 3 4 s 15
Labour 9 6 12 27
Expenses 3 2 2 7
Allocated fixed cost 6 15 12 33
Total cost 24 27 31 82
Profit 15 2 2 19
Sales revenue 39 29 38 101
“The amount oflabour iely o be available amounts to £20,000. Al of the variabe labour
is paid at the same hourly rate. You have been asked to prepare a statement of plans
ensuring that at least 50 per Gent of the budgeted sales revenues are achieved for each
service. The balance of labour is used to produce the greatest profit.
272




Guided tour of MyAccountingLab

What is MyAccountingLab? MYAccountinglah m

MyAccountingLab for Accounting and Finance for Non-Specialists, Seventh Edition,
enables you to assess your learning and provides you with a personalised Study Plan
that identifies the areas where you need to focus to improve your grades. Specific
tools are provided to direct your study in the most efficient way.

Access to MyAccountingLab is provided with every new purchase of the main text.
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m A range of multiple choice problems and extended exercises for each section of

the textbook. Many exercises contain figures which are re-populated every time
you attempt them, to allow for unlimited practice at key concepts.
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m Links to the online textbook from every question in the Study Plan, to assist your

learning.

m Additional resources organised by chapter, including an online version of the full

textbook which you can annotate, highlight, and bookmark as you please. You will
also find Glossary Flashcards amongst the chapter resources.

MyAccountingLab for lecturers:

The MyAccountingLab gradebook automatically records each student’s perform-
ance on all tests, homework and Study Plan material. Reports on student progress
can be generated, organised by student or chapter.

Lecturers can use MyAccountingLab to build their own tests, quizzes and home-
work assignments from the question base provided.

Many questions are generated algorithmically, containing different values each
time they are used.

If you are a lecturer and would like more information about MyAccountinglLab,
please contact your local Pearson representative at www.pearsoned.co.uk/
replocator or visit www.myaccountinglab.com.

Additional lecturer resources can be downloaded from the lecturer website at
www.pearsoned.co.uk/atrill
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Chapter 1

Introduction to
accounting and
finance

Introduction

Welcome to the world of accounting and finance! In this opening chapter we provide a broad
outline of these subjects. We begin by considering the roles of accounting and finance and
then go on to identify the main users of financial information. We shall see how both
accounting and finance can be valuable tools in helping these users improve the quality of
their decisions. In subsequent chapters, we develop this decision-making theme by examining
in some detail the kinds of financial reports and methods used to aid decision making.

For many of you, accounting and finance are not the main focus of your studies and
you may well be asking ‘Why do | need to study these subjects?’ So, after we have
considered the key features of accounting and finance, we shall go on to discuss why
some understanding of them is likely to be relevant to you.

Learning outcomes

When you have completed this chapter, you should be able to:

explain the nature and roles of accounting and finance;

m identify the main users of financial information and discuss their needs;
m distinguish between financial accounting and management accounting;
[

explain why an understanding of accounting and finance is likely to be relevant to
your needs.

[ M]Illwl)lmlillylah Remember to create your own ]

personalised Study Plan
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What are accounting and finance?

Let us start our study of accounting and finance by trying to understand the purpose of
each. Accounting is concerned with collecting, analysing and communicating financial
information. The ultimate aim is to help those using this information to make more
informed decisions. If the financial information that is communicated is not capable
of improving the quality of decisions made, there would be no point in producing it.
Accounting information should be useful to anyone wishing to make decisions and
plans about businesses, including those who control and manage them. Thus, the
managers of businesses may need accounting information to decide whether to:

m develop new products or services (as with a computer manufacturer developing a
new range of computers);

m increase or decrease the price or quantity of existing products or services (as with
a telecommunications business changing its mobile phone call and text charges);

m borrow money to help finance the business (as with a supermarket wishing to
increase the number of stores it owns);

m increase or decrease the operating capacity of the business (as with a beef farming
business reviewing the size of its herd); and

m change the methods of purchasing, production or distribution (as with a clothes
retailer switching from UK to overseas suppliers).

The information provided should help in identifying and assessing the financial con-
sequences of these sorts of decisions.

Though managers are likely to be important users of accounting information relat-
ing to their particular business, they are by no means the only users. There are others
outside the business who may also need accounting information. These users will be
considered in some detail a little later but examples include those deciding whether to:

m invest or disinvest in the ownership of the business (for example, investors who buy
or sell shares);

m lend money to the business (for example, a bank providing a loan);

m offer credit facilities (for example, a supplier of goods or services offering delayed
payment).

Sometimes the impression is given that the purpose of accounting is simply to pre-
pare financial reports on a regular basis. While it is true that accountants undertake
this kind of work, it does not represent an end in itself. As already mentioned, the
ultimate aim of the accountant’s work is to give people better financial information
on which to base their decisions. This decision-making perspective of accounting fits
in with the theme of this book and shapes the way in which we deal with each topic.

Finance (or financial management), like accounting, exists to help decision makers.
It is concerned with the ways in which funds for a business are raised and invested.
This lies at the very heart of what a business is about. In essence, a business exists to
raise funds from investors (owners and lenders) and then to use those funds to make
investments (in equipment, premises, inventories and so on) in an attempt to make
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the business, and its owners, wealthier. It is important that funds are raised in a way
that is appropriate to the particular needs of the business. An understanding of finance
should help in identifying:

the main forms of finance available;

the costs and benefits of each form of finance;

the risks associated with each form of finance; and
the role of financial markets in supplying finance.

Once the funds are raised, they must be invested in a way that will provide the busi-
ness with a worthwhile return. An understanding of finance should help in evaluating

m the returns from that investment; and
m the risks associated with that investment.

Businesses tend to raise and invest funds in large amounts for long periods of time.
The quality of the investment decisions made can, therefore, have a profound impact
on the fortunes of the business.

There is little point in trying to make a sharp distinction between accounting and
finance. We have already seen that both are concerned with the financial aspects of
decision making. There is considerable overlap between the two subjects: for example,
accounting reports are a major source of information for financing and investment
decision making. In this book, we shall not emphasise the distinctions between
accounting and finance.

Who are the users of accounting information?

For accounting information to be useful, the accountant must be clear for whom the
information is being prepared and for what purpose the information will be used. There
are likely to be various groups of people (known as ‘user groups’) with an interest in
a particular organisation, in the sense of needing to make decisions about it. For the
typical private sector business, the more important of these groups are shown in
Figure 1.1. Take a look at this figure and then try Activity 1.1.

Ptarmigan Insurance plc (PI) is a large motor insurance business. Taking the user groups
identified in Figure 1.1, suggest, for each group, the sorts of decisions likely to be made
about Pl and the factors to be taken into account when making these decisions.

Your answer may be along the following lines:

User group Decision

Customers Whether to take further motor policies with PIl. This might involve an
assessment of PI’'s ability to continue in business and to meet their
needs, particularly in respect of any insurance claims made. 9
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User group

Competitors

Employees

Government

Community
representatives

Investment analysts

Suppliers

Lenders

Managers

Owners

Introduction to accounting and finance

Decision

How best to compete against Pl or, perhaps, whether to leave the
market on the grounds that it is not possible to compete profitably
with PI. This might involve competitors using PI’s performance in
various respects as a ‘benchmark’ when evaluating their own per-
formance. They might also try to assess PI’s financial strength and
to identify significant changes that may signal PI’s future actions (for
example, raising funds as a prelude to market expansion).

Whether to continue working for Pl and, if so, whether to demand
higher rewards for doing so. The future plans, profits and financial
strength of the business are likely to be of particular interest when
making these decisions.

Whether Pl should pay tax and, if so, how much, whether it complies
with agreed pricing policies, whether financial support is needed
and so on. In making these decisions an assessment of Pl’s profits,
sales revenues and financial strength would be made.

Whether to allow Pl to expand its premises and/or whether to pro-
vide economic support for the business. When making such decisions,
PI’s ability to continue to provide employment for the community
and its willingness to use community resources and to fund environ-
mental improvements are likely to be important considerations.

Whether to advise clients to invest in PI. This would involve an assess-
ment of the likely risks and future returns associated with PI.

Whether to continue to supply Pl and, if so, whether to supply on
credit. This would involve an assessment of PI’s ability to pay for any
goods and services supplied.

Whether to lend money to Pl and/or whether to require repayment of
any existing loans. PI's ability to pay the interest and to repay the
principal sum would be important factors in such decisions.

Whether the performance of the business needs to be improved.
Performance to date would be compared with earlier plans or some
other ‘benchmark’ to decide whether action needs to be taken.
Managers may also wish to decide whether there should be a
change in PI's future direction. This would involve looking at PlI's
ability to perform and at the opportunities available to it.

Whether to invest more in PI or to sell all, or part, of the investment
currently held. This would involve an assessment of the likely risks
and returns associated with Pl. Owners may also be involved with
decisions on rewarding senior managers. The financial performance
of the business would normally be considered when making such a
decision.

Although this answer covers many of the key points, you may have identified other deci-
sions and/or other factors to be taken into account by each group.
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Figure 1.1 Main users of financial information relating to a business

Owners Customers Competitors
A
Employees
Managers and their
representatives
Lenders Government
. Investment Community
Suppliers .
analysts representatives

Several user groups have an interest in accounting information relating to a business. The majority
of these are outside the business but, nevertheless, have a stake in it. This is not meant to be an
exhaustive list of potential users; however, the groups identified are normally the most important.

Providing a service

One way of viewing accounting is as a form of service. Accountants provide economic
information to their ‘clients’, who are the various users identified in Figure 1.1. The
quality of the service provided is determined by the extent to which the needs of the
various user groups have been met. To meet these users’ needs, it can be argued that
accounting information should possess certain key qualities, or characteristics: relev-
ance, reliability, comparability and understandability.

B Relevance. It must be possible for accounting information to influence decisions.
Unless this characteristic is present, there is really no point in producing the infor-
mation. The information may be relevant to the prediction of future events (for
example, in predicting how much profit is likely to be earned next year) or relevant
in helping to confirm past events (for example, in establishing how much profit was
earned last year). The role of accounting in confirming past events is important
because users often wish to check the accuracy of earlier predictions that they have
made. The accuracy of earlier predictions may help users to judge the accuracy of
current predictions. To influence a decision, the information must, of course, be avail-
able when the decision is being made. Thus, relevant information must be timely.
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Reliability. Accounting should be free from significant error or bias. It should be
capable of being relied upon by managers to represent what it is supposed to repres-
ent. Though both relevance and reliability are very important, the problem that we
often face in accounting is that information that is highly relevant may not be very
reliable. Similarly, that which is reliable may not be very relevant.

To illustrate this last point, let us assume that a manager has to sell a custom-built
machine owned by the business and has recently received a bid for it. This machine is
very unusual and there is no ready market for it.

What information would be relevant to the manager when deciding whether to accept
the bid? How reliable would that information be?

The manager would probably like to know the current market value of the machine before
deciding whether or not to accept the bid. The current market value would be highly relev-
ant to the final decision, but it might not be very reliable because the machine is unique and
there is likely to be little information concerning market values.

When seeking to strike the right balance between relevance and reliability, the

needs of users should be the overriding consideration.

(>

Comparability. This quality will enable users to identify changes in the business
over time (for example, the trend in sales revenue over the past five years). It will
also help them to evaluate the performance of the business in relation to similar
businesses. Comparability is achieved by treating items that are basically the same
in the same manner for accounting purposes. Comparability may also be enhanced
by making clear the policies adopted in measuring and presenting the information.
Understandability. Accounting reports should be expressed as clearly as possible
and should be understood by those at whom the information is aimed.

Do you think that accounting reports should be understandable to those who have not

studied accounting?

It would be very useful if accounting reports could be understood by everyone. This, however,
is unrealistic, as complex financial events and transactions cannot normally be expressed
in simple terms. It is probably best that we regard accounting reports in the same way that
we regard a report written in a foreign language. To understand either of these, we need to
have had some preparation. Generally speaking, accounting reports assume that the user
not only has a reasonable knowledge of business and accounting but is also prepared to
invest some time in studying the reports.

Despite the answer to Activity 1.3, the onus is clearly on accountants to provide

information in a way that makes it as understandable as possible to non-accountants.
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But...is it material?

The qualities, or characteristics, that have just been described will help us to decide
whether accounting information is potentially useful. If a particular piece of informa-
tion has these qualities then it may be useful. However, this does not automatically
mean that it should be reported to users. We also have to consider whether the infor-
mation is material, or significant. This means that we should ask whether its omission
or misrepresentation in the accounting reports would really alter the decisions that
users make. Thus, in addition to possessing the characteristics mentioned above,
accounting information must also cross the threshold of materiality. If the informa-
tion is not regarded as material, it should not be included within the reports as it will
merely clutter them up and, perhaps, interfere with the users’ ability to interpret the
financial results. The type of information and amounts involved will normally deter-
mine whether it is material.

Weighing up the costs and benefits

Having read the previous sections you may feel that, when considering a piece of
accounting information, provided the four main qualities identified are present and it
is material it should be gathered and made available to users. Unfortunately, there is
one more hurdle to jump. Something may still exclude a piece of accounting informa-
tion from the reports even when it is considered to be useful. Consider Activity 1.4.

Suppose an item of information is capable of being provided. It is relevant to a particu-
lar decision, it is also reliable, comparable, can be understood by the decision maker
concerned and is material.

Can you think of the reason why, in practice, you might choose not to produce, or dis-
cover, the information?

The reason is that you judge the cost of doing so to be greater than the potential benefit of
having the information. This cost-benefit issue will limit the amount of accounting informa-
tion provided.

In theory, a particular item of accounting information should only be produced if
the costs of providing it are less than the benefits, or value, to be derived from its use.
In practice, however, these costs and benefits are often difficult to assess.

To illustrate the practical problems of establishing the value of information, let
us assume that someone has collided with our car in a car park and dented one of
the doors and scraped the paintwork. We want to have the dent taken out and the
door resprayed at a local garage. We know that the nearest garage would charge £250
but we believe that other local garages may offer to do the job for a lower price.
The only way of finding out the prices at other garages is to visit them, so that they
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can see the extent of the damage. Visiting the garages will involve using some petrol
and will take up some of our time. Is it worth the cost of finding out the price for
the job at the various local garages? The answer, as we have seen, is that if the cost
of discovering the price is less than the potential benefit, it is worth having that
information.

To identify the various prices for the job, there are several points to be considered,
including:
m How many garages shall we visit?
m What is the cost of petrol to visit each garage?
m How long will it take to make all the garage visits?
m At what price do we value our time?

The economic benefit of having the information on the price of the job is probably
even harder to assess. The following points need to be considered:

® What is the cheapest price that we might be quoted for the job?
m How likely is it that we shall be quoted a price cheaper than £250?

Figure 1.2 The characteristics that influence the usefulness of accounting
information

Materiality Cost/Benefit

Comparability

)
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financial statements characteristics

There are four main qualitative characteristics that influence the usefulness of accounting
information. In addition, however, accounting information should be material and the benefits of
providing the information should outweigh the costs.
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As we can imagine, the answers to these questions may be far from clear — remem-
ber that we have only contacted the local garage so far. When assessing the value of
accounting information we are confronted with similar problems.

Producing accounting information can be very costly; however, the costs are often
difficult to quantify. The direct, out-of-pocket costs, such as salaries of accounting
staff, are not really a problem to identify, but these are only part of the total costs
involved. There are also less direct costs such as the cost of the user’s time spent on
analysing and interpreting the information contained in reports.

The economic benefit of having accounting information is even harder to assess. It
is possible to apply some ‘science’ to the problem of weighing the costs and benefits,
but a lot of subjective judgement is likely to be involved. No one would seriously advo-
cate that the typical business should produce no accounting information. At the same
time, no one would advocate that every item of information that could be seen as pos-
sessing one or more of the key characteristics should be produced, irrespective of the
cost of producing it.

The characteristics that influence the usefulness of accounting information, and which
have been discussed in this section, and the preceding section are set out in Figure 1.2.

Accounting as an information system

We have already seen that accounting can be seen as the provision of a service to ‘clients’.
Another way of viewing accounting is as a part of the business’s total information
system. Users, both inside and outside the business, have to make decisions concern-
ing the allocation of scarce economic resources. To ensure that these resources are
efficiently allocated, users need economic information on which to base decisions. It
is the role of the accounting system to provide this information.

The accounting information system should have certain features that are common
to all valid information systems within a business. These are:

identifying and capturing relevant information (in this case financial information);
m recording, in a systematic way, the information collected;

® analysing and interpreting the information collected; and

m reporting the information in a manner that suits the needs of users.

The relationship between these features is set out in Figure 1.3.

Figure 1.3 The accounting information system

Information Information Information Information
identification recording analysis reporting

There are four sequential stages of an accounting information system. The first two stages are
concerned with preparation, whereas the last two stages are concerned with using the informa-
tion collected.
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Given the decision-making emphasis of this book, we shall be concerned primarily
with the final two elements of the process: the analysis and reporting of accounting
information. We shall consider the way in which information is used by, and is useful
to, users rather than the way in which it is identified and recorded.

Efficient accounting systems are an essential ingredient of an efficient business.
When the accounting systems fail, the results can be disastrous. Real World 1.1 pro-
vides an example of one such failure and its impact on the business.

Real World 1.1

System failure

Cohort, the defence services group, will shift its focus towards internal restructuring and
away from the external expansion strategy it has followed in recent years in the wake of
serious accounting problems, according to Andy Thomis, chief executive.

‘[Acquisitions and international expansion] will follow in due course . . . at the moment
we’ve got to sort the problems out and restore shareholder value,” Mr Thomis said.

Last week Cohort surprised the market with a profits warning and said it would miss full
year results expectations. An IT changeover and accounting errors caused it to significantly
overstate income on certain contracts at its SCS unit.

Since then the shares have slumped more than 40 per cent to around 95p.

Mr Thomis said he had suspended the financial controller of SCS, which provides con-
sultancy services to the Ministry of Defence, pending the results of an ongoing investiga-
tion, and would take further steps to cut costs.

The comments came as Cohort reported its results for the six months to the end of
October. Over the period, pre-tax profits fell by more than half to £1.2 million.

Source: ‘Cohort to restructure’, The Financial Times, 09/12/2009 (Lemer, J.), copyright © The Financial Times Ltd.

L]l Management accounting and financial accounting

Accounting is usually seen as having two distinct strands. These are:

m management accounting, which seeks to meet the accounting needs of managers; and
m financial accounting, which seeks to meet those of all of the other users identified
earlier in the chapter (see Figure 1.1).

The difference in their targeted user groups has led to each strand of accounting
developing along different lines. The main areas of difference are as follows.

m Nature of the reports produced. Financial accounting reports tend to be general-
purpose, that is, they contain financial information that will be useful for a broad
range of users and decisions rather than being specifically designed for the needs of
a particular group or set of decisions. Management accounting reports, on the other
hand, are often specific-purpose reports. They are designed with a particular deci-
sion in mind and/or for a particular manager.

10
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m Level of detail. Financial accounting reports provide users with a broad overview of
the performance and position of the business for a period. As a result, information
is aggregated and detail is often lost. Management accounting reports, however,
often provide managers with considerable detail to help them with a particular
operational decision.

®m Regulations. Financial accounting reports, for many businesses, are subject to
accounting regulations that try to ensure that they are produced with standard con-
tent and in a standard format. The law and accounting rule makers impose these
regulations. As management accounting reports are for internal use only, there are
no regulations from external sources concerning the form and content of the
reports. They can be designed to meet the needs of particular managers.

m Reporting interval. For most businesses, financial accounting reports are produced on
an annual basis, though some large businesses produce half-yearly reports and a
few produce quarterly ones. Management accounting reports may be produced as
frequently as required by managers. In many businesses, managers are provided
with certain reports on a daily, weekly or monthly basis, which allows them to check
progress frequently. In addition, special-purpose reports will be prepared when
required (for example, to evaluate a proposal to purchase a piece of equipment).

m Time orientation. Financial accounting reports reflect the performance and position
of the business for the past period. In essence, they are backward-looking. Manage-
ment accounting reports, on the other hand, often provide information concerning
future performance as well as past performance. It is an oversimplification, how-
ever, to suggest that financial accounting reports never incorporate expectations
concerning the future. Occasionally, businesses will release projected information
to other users in an attempt to raise capital or to fight off unwanted takeover bids.
Even preparation of the routine financial accounting reports typically requires
making some judgements about the future, as we shall see in Chapter 3.

B Range and quality of information. Financial accounting reports concentrate on infor-
mation that can be quantified in monetary terms. Management accounting also
produces such reports, but is also more likely to produce reports that contain infor-
mation of a non-financial nature, such as physical volume of inventories, number
of sales orders received, number of new products launched, physical output per
employee and so on. Financial accounting places greater emphasis on the use of
objective, verifiable evidence when preparing reports. Management accounting
reports may use information that is less objective and verifiable, but nevertheless
provide managers with the information they need.

We can see from this that management accounting is less constrained than finan-
cial accounting. It may draw from a variety of sources and use information that has
varying degrees of reliability. The only real test to be applied when assessing the value
of the information produced for managers is whether or not it improves the quality of
the decisions made.

The distinctions between management accounting and financial accounting sug-
gest that there are differences between the information needs of managers and those
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of other users. While differences undoubtedly exist, there is also a good deal of over-
lap between these needs.

Can you think of any areas of overlap between the information needs of managers and
those of other users?

We thought of two points:

B Managers will, at times, be interested in receiving a historical overview of business
operations of the sort provided to other users.

B Other users would be interested in receiving information relating to the future, such as
the planned level of profits, and non-financial information, such as the state of the sales
order book and the extent of product innovations.

The distinction between the two areas of accounting reflects, to some extent, the
differences in access to financial information. Managers have much more control over
the form and content of information they receive. Other users have to rely on what
managers are prepared to provide or what must be provided to satisfy the financial
reporting regulations. Though the scope of financial accounting reports has increased
over time, fears concerning loss of competitive advantage and user ignorance con-
cerning the reliability of forecast data have led businesses to resist providing other
users with the same detailed and wide-ranging information as is available to managers.

Scope of this book

This book covers both financial accounting and management accounting topics.
Broadly speaking, the next five chapters (Part 1, Chapters 2 to 6) are concerned with
financial accounting topics and the following three (Part 2, Chapters 7 to 9) with man-
agement accounting topics. The final part of the book (Part 3, Chapters 10 to 12) is
concerned with the financial management of the business, that is, the chapters exam-
ine issues relating to the financing and investing activities of the business. As we have
seen, accounting information is usually vitally important for these kinds of decisions.

Has accounting become too interesting?

In recent years, accounting has become front-page news and has been a major talking
point among those connected with the world of business. Unfortunately, the attention
that accounting has attracted has been for all the wrong reasons. We have seen that
investors rely on financial reports to help to keep an eye both on their investment
and on the performance of the managers. What, though, if the managers provide
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misleading financial reports to investors? Recent revelations suggest that the managers
of some large businesses have been doing just this.
Two of the most notorious cases have been those of:

m Enron, an energy-trading business based in Texas, which was accused of entering
into complicated financial arrangements in an attempt to obscure losses and to
inflate profits; and

m WorldCom, a major long-distance telephone operator in the US, which was accused
of reclassifying $3.9 billion of expenses so as to falsely inflate the profit figures that
the business reported to its owners (shareholders) and to others.

In the wake of these scandals, there was much closer scrutiny by investment ana-
lysts and investors of the financial reports that businesses produce. This led to further
businesses, in both the US and Europe, being accused of using dubious accounting
practices to bolster reported profits.

Accounting scandals can have a profound effect on all those connected with the
business. The Enron scandal, for example, ultimately led to the collapse of the com-
pany, which, in turn, resulted in lost jobs and large financial losses for lenders, sup-
pliers and investors. Confidence in the world of business can be badly shaken by such
events and this can pose problems for society as a whole. Not surprisingly, therefore,
the relevant authorities tend to deal severely with those who perpetrate such scandals.
For example, in the US, Bernie Ebbers, the former chief executive of WorldCom,
received twenty-five years in prison for his part in the fraud.

Various reasons have been put forward to explain this spate of scandals. Some
scandals may have been caused by the pressures on managers to meet unrealistic
expectations of investors for continually rising profits, others by the greed of un-
scrupulous executives whose pay is linked to financial performance. However, they
may all reflect a particular economic environment.

Real World 1.2 offers the view that, when all appears to be going well with a busi-
ness, people can be quite gullible and over-trusting.

Real World 1.2
The thoughts of Warren Buffett

Warren Buffett is one of the world’s shrewdest and most successful investors. He believes
that the accounting scandals mentioned above were perpetrated during the ‘new economy
boom’ of the late 1990s when confidence was high and exaggerated predictions were
being made concerning the future. He states that during that period

You had an erosion of accounting standards. You had an erosion, to some extent, of execu-
tive behaviour. But during a period when everybody ‘believes’, people who are inclined to take
advantage of other people can get away with a lot.

He believes that the worst is now over and that the ‘dirty laundry’ created during this
heady period was later washed away when the washing machine entered the ‘rinse cycle’.

Source: ‘Buffett expects markets to get worse’, The Times, 26 September 2002, p. 25, John Ashworth.
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Whatever the causes, the result of these accounting scandals has been to under-
mine the credibility of financial statements and to introduce much stricter regulations
concerning the quality of financial information. We shall return to this issue in later
chapters when we consider the financial statements.

The changing face of accounting

Over the past three decades, the environment within which businesses operate has
become increasingly turbulent and competitive. Various reasons have been identified
to explain these changes, including:

the increasing sophistication of customers;

the development of a global economy where national frontiers become less important;
rapid changes in technology;

the deregulation of domestic markets (for example, electricity, water and gas);
increasing pressure from owners (shareholders) for competitive economic returns; and
the increasing volatility of financial markets.

This new, more complex, environment has brought new challenges for managers and
other users of accounting information. Their needs have changed and both financial
accounting and management accounting have had to respond. To meet the changing
needs of users there has been a radical review of the kind of information to be reported.

The changing business environment has given added impetus to the search for a
clear framework and principles upon which to base financial accounting reports. Various
attempts have been made to clarify the purpose of financial accounting reports and to
provide a more solid foundation for the development of accounting rules. The frame-
works and principles that have been developed try to address fundamental questions
such as:

m Who are the users of financial accounting information?

m What kinds of financial accounting reports should be prepared and what should
they contain?

m How should items such as profit and asset values be measured?

In response to criticisms that the financial reports of some businesses are not clear
enough to users, accounting rule makers have tried to improve reporting rules to
ensure that the accounting policies of businesses are more comparable and more
transparent and that they portray economic reality more faithfully. While this has had
a generally beneficial effect, the recent accounting scandals have highlighted the lim-
itations of accounting rules in protecting investors and others.

The internationalisation of businesses has created a need for accounting rules to
have an international reach. It can no longer be assumed that users of accounting
information relating to a particular business are based in the country in which the
business operates or are familiar with the accounting rules of that country. Thus, there
has been increasing harmonisation of accounting rules across national frontiers.
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Management accounting has also changed by becoming more outward-looking in
its focus. In the past, information provided to managers has been largely restricted to
that collected within the business. However, the attitude and behaviour of customers
and rival businesses have now become the object of much information-gathering.
Increasingly, successful businesses are those that are able to secure and maintain com-
petitive advantage over their rivals.

To obtain this advantage, businesses have become more ‘customer driven’ (that is,
concerned with satisfying customer needs). This has led to the production of man-
agement accounting information that provides details of customers and the market,
such as customer evaluation of services provided and market share. In addition, informa-
tion about the costs and profits of rival businesses, which can be used as ‘benchmarks’
by which to gauge competitiveness, is gathered and reported.

To compete successfully, businesses must also find ways of managing costs. The cost
base of modern businesses is under continual review and this, in turn, has led to the
development of more sophisticated methods of measuring and controlling costs.

How are businesses managed?

We have already seen that the environment in which businesses operate has become
increasingly turbulent and competitive. The effect of these environmental changes has
been to make the role of managers more complex and demanding. It has meant that
managers have had to find new ways to manage their business. This has increasingly
led to the introduction of strategic management.

Strategic management is designed to provide a business with a clear sense of purpose
and to ensure that appropriate action is taken to achieve that purpose. The action taken
should link the internal resources of the business to the external environment of compet-
itors, suppliers, customers and so on. This should be done in such a way that any busi-
ness strengths, such as having a skilled workforce, are exploited and any weaknesses,
such as being short of investment finance, are not exposed. To achieve this requires the
development of strategies and plans that take account of the business’s strengths and
weaknesses, as well as the opportunities offered and threats posed by the external environ-
ment. Access to a new, expanding market is an example of an opportunity; the decision
of a major competitor to reduce prices is an example of a threat. This topic will be con-
sidered in more depth in Chapter 9 when we consider business planning and budgeting.

What is the financial objective of a business?

A business is normally created to enhance the wealth of its owners. Throughout this
book we shall assume that this is its main objective. This may come as a surprise, as
there are other objectives that a business may pursue that are related to the needs of
others associated with the business. For example, a business may seek to provide good
working conditions for its employees, or it may seek to conserve the environment for
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the local community. While a business may pursue these objectives, it is normally set
up with a view to increasing the wealth of its owners. In practice, the behaviour of
businesses over time appears to be consistent with this objective.

Real World 1.3 explains how one well-known business has changed its focus in
order to improve profits for its owners.

Real World 1.3

Profiting from change

It speaks volumes for the work done by Kate Swann in turning around W H Smith that when
she became chief executive five years ago, the company was being spoken of in similar
terms to Woolworths. Comments such as ‘You wouldn’t invent it if you were starting out
today’ and ‘What is it actually for these days?’ were typical among analysts, as they were
with Woolies. Indeed, many thought that W H Smith was beyond help and argued that the
supermarkets were eating away at sales.

Ms Swann has defied the sceptics, achieving an impressive turnaround. The company’s
magazine and newspaper distribution division was hived off as a separate entity and new
outlets were opened at airports and railway stations — so much so that sales by W H Smith’s
travel unit now threaten to overtake those of its traditional high street stores. Lines with
lower profit margins, such as CDs and DVDs, have been cleared from the shelves to make
way for items with higher profit margins, such as stationery.

The last plank of the strategy was in evidence again in yesterday’s update, in which
Ms Swann reported that sales in the nine weeks to 17 January were down by 7 per cent in
the high street stores and by 2 per cent in the travel stores, partly because W H Smith is
continuing to reduce its exposure to the entertainment category.

That was the bad news. The good news was that, although sales overall were down, the
reduced focus on entertainment was good for profits. W H Smith made an extra 2p of profit
in every £1 of sales, compared with the same period a year earlier, a stunning achievement
given the deflation hitting the high street.

Source: ‘Business big shot: Kate Swann of WH Smith’, The Times, 27 January 2009, p. 39 (lan King),
http://business.timesonline.co.uk/tol/business/movers_and_shakers/article5594430.ece.

Within a market economy there are strong competitive forces at work that ensure
that failure to enhance owners’ wealth will not be tolerated for long. Competition for
the funds provided by the owners and competition for managers’ jobs will normally
mean that the owners’ interests will prevail. If the managers do not provide the expected
increase in ownership wealth, the owners have the power to replace the existing man-
agement team with a new team that is more responsive to owners’ needs.

Does this mean that the needs of other groups associated with the business (em-
ployees, customers, suppliers, the community and so on) are not really important? The
answer to this question is certainly no, if the business wishes to survive and prosper
over the longer term. Satisfying the needs of other groups will normally be consistent
with increasing the wealth of the owners over the longer term.

The importance of customers to a business cannot be overstated. Dissatisfied cus-
tomers will take their business to another supplier and this will, in turn, lead to a loss
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of wealth for the owners of the business losing the customers. Real World 1.4 provides
an illustration of the way in which one business acknowledges the link between cus-
tomer satisfaction and creating wealth for its owners.

Real World 1.4

Checking out Sainsbury’s objectives

J. Sainsbury plc is a leading food retailer that recognises the importance of customers to
increasing the wealth of the owners (shareholders) as follows:

Our objective is to serve customers well and thereby provide shareholders with good,
sustainable financial returns.

Source: Investor FAQs, www.j-sainsbury.co.uk, November 2009, p. 2.

A dissatisfied workforce may result in low productivity, strikes and so forth, which
will in turn have an adverse effect on owners’ wealth. Similarly, a business that upsets
the local community by unacceptable behaviour, such as polluting the environment,
may attract bad publicity, resulting in a loss of customers. It may also attract heavy fines.

Real World 1.5 provides an example of how two businesses responded to potentially
damaging allegations.

Real World 1.5

The price of clothes

US clothing and sportswear manufacturers Gap and Nike have many of their clothes produced
in Asia where labour tends to be cheap. However, some of the contractors that produce
clothes on behalf of the two companies have been accused of unacceptable practices.

Campaigners visited the factories and came up with damaging allegations. The factories were
employing minors, they said, and managers were harassing female employees.

Nike and Gap reacted by allowing independent inspectors into the factories. They
promised to ensure their contractors obeyed minimum standards of employment. Earlier this
year, Nike took the extraordinary step of publishing the names and addresses of all its con-
tractors’ factories on the internet. The company said it could not be sure all the abuse had
stopped. It said that if campaigners visited its contractors’ factories and found examples of
continued malpractice, it would take action.

Nike and Gap said the approach made business sense. They needed society’s approval if
they were to prosper. Nike said it was concerned about the reaction of potential US recruits
to the campaigners’ allegations. They would not want to work for a company that was con-
stantly in the news because of the allegedly cruel treatment of those who made its products.

Source: ‘Fair shares?’, The Financial Times, 11/06/2005 (Skapinker, M.), copyright © The Financial Times Ltd.

It is important to recognise that generating wealth for the owners is not the same
as seeking to maximise the current year’s profit. Wealth creation is a longer-term con-
cept, which relates not only to this year’s profit but to that of future years as well. In
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the short term, corners can be cut and risks taken that improve current profit at the
expense of future profit. Real World 1.6 provides some examples of how emphasis on
short-term profit can be damaging.

Real World 1.6

Short-term gains, long-term problems

For many years, under the guise of defending capitalism, we have been allowing ourselves
to degrade it. We have been poisoning the well from which we have drawn wealth.

We have misunderstood the importance of values to capitalism. We have surrendered to
the idea that success is pursued by making as much money as the law allowed without
regard to how it was made.

Thirty years ago, retailers would be quite content to source the shoes they wanted to
sell as cheaply as possible. The working conditions of those who produced them was not
their concern.

Then headlines and protests developed. Society started to hold them responsible for
previously invisible working conditions.

Companies like Nike went through a transformation. They realised they were polluting
their brand. Global sourcing became visible. It was no longer viable to define success
simply in terms of buying at the lowest price and selling at the highest.

Financial services and investment are today where footwear was thirty years ago. Public
anger at the crisis will make visible what was previously hidden.

Take the building up of huge portfolios of loans to poor people on US trailer parks. These
loans were authorised without proper scrutiny of the circumstances of the borrowers. Some-
body else then deemed them fit to be securitised and so on through credit default swaps
and the rest without anyone seeing the transaction in terms of its ultimate human origin.

Each of the decision makers thought it okay to act like the thoughtless footwear buyer
of the 1970s. The price was attractive. There was money to make on the deal. Was it
responsible? Irrelevant. It was legal, and others were making money that way.

And the consequences for the banking system if everybody did it? Not our problem.

Now we are paying the price in trillions of dollars for that imprudent attitude.

One senior investment banker whose business has survived the crisis in good shape
recently confirmed this analysis to me. Again and again new product ideas had been put in
front of him, without any prior thought about their ethical content.

The consumer has had a profound shock. Surely we could have expected the clever and
wise people who invested our money to be better at risk management than they have
shown themselves to be in the present crisis?

How could they have been so gullible in not challenging the bankers whose lending
proved so flaky? How could they have believed that the levels of bonuses that were, at least
in part, coming out of their savings could have been justified in ‘incentivising’ a better per-
formance? How could they have believed that a ‘better’ performance would be one that is
achieved for one bank without regard to its effect on the whole banking system? Where
was the stewardship from those exercising investment on their behalf?

The answer has been that very few of them do exercise that stewardship. Most have
stood back and said it doesn’t really pay them to do so.
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The failure of stewardship comes from the same mindset that created the irrespon-
sible lending in the first place. We are back to the mindset that has allowed us to poison
the well: never mind the health of the system as a whole, I’'m making money out of it
at the moment.

Responsibility means awareness for the system consequences of our actions. It is not a
luxury. It is the cornerstone of prudence.

Source: Goyder, M., ‘How we’ve poisoned the well of wealth’, The Financial Times, 15 February 2009.

Balancing risk and return

All decision making involves the future, and business decision making is no exception.
The only thing certain about the future, however, is that we cannot be sure what will
happen. Things may not turn out as planned and this risk should be carefully consid-
ered when making financial decisions.

As in other aspects of life, risk and return tend to be related. Evidence shows that
returns relate to risk in something like the way shown in Figure 1.4.

Figure 1.4 Relationship between risk and return
Return
0 Risk
Even at zero risk a certain level of return will be required. This will increase as the level of risk
increases.

This relationship between risk and return has important implications for setting
financial objectives for a business. The owners will require a minimum return to
induce them to invest at all, but will require an additional return to compensate for
taking risks; the higher the risk, the higher the required return. Managers must be
aware of this and must strike the appropriate balance between risk and return when
setting objectives and pursuing particular courses of action.

Real World 1.7 describes how some businesses have been making higher-risk invest-
ments in pursuit of higher returns.
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Real World 1.7

Appetite for risk drives businesses

Over the last few years, companies from the US and western Europe, joined increasingly
by competitors from China and India, have looked to new markets abroad both to source
and sell their products.

Driven by intensifying competition at home, companies have been drawn into direct
investment in markets that not long ago were considered beyond the pale. But in the drive
to increase returns, they have also been forced to accept higher risks.

Over time, the balance between risk and reward changes. For example, companies flooded
into Russia early in the decade. But recently returns have fallen, largely due to booming raw
materials prices. Meanwhile the apparent risk of investing in Russia has grown significantly.

As the risk/reward calculation has changed in Russia, companies have looked to other
countries such as Libya and Vietnam where the rewards may be substantial, and the
threats, though high, may be more manageable.

Source: adapted from ‘Appetite for risk drives industry’, The Financial Times, 27/06/2007 (Fidler, S.), copyright © The Financial
Tlmes Ltd.

Not-for-profit organisations

Though the focus of this book is accounting as it relates to private sector businesses,
there are many organisations that do not exist mainly for the pursuit of profit.

Can you think of at least four types of organisation that are not primarily concerned with
making profits?

We thought of the following:

charities

clubs and associations
universities

local government authorities
national government departments
churches

trade unions.

All of these organisations need to produce accounting information for decision-
making purposes. Once again, various user groups need this information to help them
to make decisions. These user groups are often the same as, or similar to, those identified
for private sector businesses. They may have a stake in the future viability of the organi-
sation and may use accounting information to check that the wealth of the organisation
is being properly controlled and used in a way that is consistent with its objectives.
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Real World 1.8 provides an example of the importance of accounting to relief
agencies.

Real World 1.8

Accounting for disasters

In the aftermath of the Asian tsunami more than £400 million was raised from charitable
donations. It was important that his huge amount of money for aid and reconstruction was
used as efficiently and effectively as possible. That did not just mean medical staff and
engineers. It also meant accountants.

The charity that exerts financial control over aid donations is Mango: Management
Accounting for Non-Governmental Organisations (NGOs). It provides accountants in the
field and it provides the back-up, such as financial training and all the other services that
should result in really robust financial management in a disaster area.

The world of aid has changed completely as a result of the tsunami. According to
Mango’s director, Alex Jacobs, ‘Accounting is just as important as blankets. Agencies have
been aware of this for years. But when you move on to a bigger scale there is more pres-
sure to show the donations are being used appropriately.’

More recently, the earthquake in Haiti led to a call from Mango for French-speaking
accountants to help support the relief programme and to help in the longer-term rebuilding
of Haiti.

Sources: adapted from Bruce, R., ‘Tsunami: finding the right figures for disaster relief’, FT.com, 7 March 2005; Bruce, R., ‘The

work of Mango: coping with generous donations’, FT.com, 27 February 2006; and Grant, P, ‘Accountants needed in Haiti’,
Accountancy Age, 5 February 2010.

Why do | need to know anything about accounting
and finance?

If you are planning a career in accounting or finance, you will be clear as to why you
are now studying these subjects.

If your career plans do not lie in that direction, you may be asking yourself at this
point ‘Why do I need to study accounting and finance? I don’t intend to become an
accountant!” Well, from the explanation of what accounting and finance is about,
which has broadly been the subject of this chapter, it should be clear that the account-
ing/finance function within a business is a central part of its management information
system. On the basis of information provided by the system, managers make decisions
concerning the allocation of resources. These decisions may concern whether to:

m continue with certain business operations;
m invest in particular projects; or
m sell particular products.

Such decisions can have a profound effect on all those connected with the business.
It is important, therefore, that all those who intend to work in a business should have
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a fairly clear idea of certain important aspects of accounting and finance. These aspects
include

how accounting reports should be read and interpreted;
how financial plans are made;

how investment decisions are made; and

how businesses are financed.

Many, perhaps most, students have a career goal of being a manager within a busi-
ness — perhaps a personnel manager, production manager, marketing manager or IT
manager. If you are one of these students, an understanding of accounting and finance
is very important. When you become a manager, even a junior one, it is almost cer-
tain that you will have to use financial reports to help you to carry out your manage-
ment tasks. It is equally certain that it is largely on the basis of financial information
and reports that your performance as a manager will be judged.

As a manager, it is likely that you will be expected to help in forward planning for
the business. This will often involve the preparation of projected financial statements
and setting of financial targets. If you do not understand what the financial statements
really mean and the extent to which the financial information is reliable, you will find
yourself at a distinct disadvantage to others who know their way round the system. As
a manager, you will also be expected to help decide how the limited resources avail-
able to the business should be allocated between competing options. This will require
an ability to evaluate the costs and benefits of the different options available. Once
again, an understanding of accounting and finance is important to carrying out this
management task.

This is not to say that you cannot be an effective and successful personnel, pro-
duction, marketing or IT manager unless you are also a qualified accountant. It does
mean, however, that you need to become a bit ‘streetwise’ in accounting and finance
in order to succeed. This book should give you that street wisdom.

Summary

The main points of this chapter may be summarised as follows.

What are accounting and finance?

m Accounting provides financial information to help various user groups make bet-
ter judgements and decisions.

m Finance is concerned with the financing and investing activities of the business
and is also concerned with improving the quality of user decisions.

Accounting and user needs

m For accounting to be useful, there must be a clear understanding of for whom and
for what purpose the information will be used.

m Owners, managers and lenders are important user groups, but there are several
others.



Providing a service

® Accounting can be viewed as a form of service as it involves providing financial
information required by the various users.

m To provide a useful service, accounting must possess certain qualities, or charac-
teristics. These are relevance, reliability, comparability and understandability. In
addition, accounting information must be material.

m Providing a service to users can be costly and financial information should be
produced only if the cost of providing the information is less than the benefits
gained.

Accounting information

® Accounting is part of the total information system within a business. It shares the
features that are common to all information systems within a business, which are
the identification, recording, analysis and reporting of information.

Management accounting and financial accounting

B Accounting has two main strands — management accounting and financial
accounting.

® Management accounting seeks to meet the needs of the business’s managers, and
financial accounting seeks to meet the needs of the other user groups.

m These two strands differ in terms of the types of reports produced, the level of
reporting detail, the time horizon, the degree of regulation and the range and
quality of information provided.

Is accounting too interesting?

m In recent years, there has been a wave of accounting scandals in the US and
Europe.

m This appears to reflect a particular economic environment, although other factors
may also play a part.
The changing face of accounting

m Changes in the economic environment have led to changes in the nature and
scope of accounting.

m Financial accounting has improved its framework of rules and there has been
greater international harmonisation of accounting rules.

® Management accounting has become more outward-looking, and new methods
for managing costs have emerged.

How are businesses managed?

m Strategic management has been increasingly adopted to cope with the more
complex and more competitive business environment.

m It is designed to provide a clear sense of purpose and to ensure that any action
taken is consistent with this purpose.

Summary
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What is the financial objective of a business?

m The key financial objective is to enhance the wealth of the owners. To achieve
this objective, the needs of other groups connected with the business, such as
employees, cannot be ignored.

m When setting financial objectives, the right balance must be struck between risk
and return.

Why study accounting?

m Everyone connected with business should be a little ‘streetwise’ about account-
ing and finance because they exert such an enormous influence over business
operations.

H Now check your progress in
[ My ‘ ccn"" "nylah your personal Study Plan j

=> Key terms

accounting p. 2 materiality p. 7

finance p. 2 accounting information system p. 9
relevance p. 5 management accounting p. 10
reliability p. 6 financial accounting p. 10
comparability p. 6 strategic management p. 15

understandability p. 6

Further reading

If you would like to explore the topics covered in this chapter in more depth, we
recommend the following books:

Atrill, P. and McLaney, E., Management Accounting for Decision Makers (6th edn),
Financial Times Prentice Hall, 2009, chapter 1.

Elliot, B. and Elliot, ]J., Financial Accounting and Reporting (13th edn), Financial Times
Prentice Hall, 2010, chapter 7.

Horngren, C., Bhimani, A., Datar, S. and Foster, G., Management and Cost Accounting
(4th edn), Prentice Hall, 2007, chapter 1.

McLaney, E., Business Finance: Theory and Practice (9th edn), Prentice Hall, 2011,
chapters 1 and 2.
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Review questions

Solutions to these questions can be found at the back of the book, in Appendix C.
1.1  What is the purpose of providing accounting information?

1.2 Identify the main users of accounting information for a university. For what purposes
would different user groups need information? Is there a major difference in the ways in
which accounting information for a university would be used compared with that of a
private sector business?

1.3 Management accounting has been described as ‘the eyes and ears of management’.
What do you think this expression means?

1.4 Financial accounting statements tend to reflect past events. In view of this, how can they
be of any assistance to a user in making a decision when decisions, by their very nature,
can only be made about future actions?
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Measuring and
reporting
financial
position

Introduction

We saw in Chapter 1 that accounting has two distinct strands: financial accounting and
management accounting. This chapter, along with Chapters 3 to 5, examines the three
major financial statements that form the core of financial accounting. We start by taking
an overview of these statements to see how each contributes towards an assessment of
the overall financial position and performance of a business.

Following this overview, we begin a more detailed examination by turning our attention
towards one of these financial statements: the statement of financial position. We shall
see how it is prepared and examine the principles underpinning it. We shall also consider
its value for decision-making purposes.

Learning outcomes

When you have completed this chapter, you should be able to:

m explain the nature and purpose of the three major financial statements;

B prepare a simple statement of financial position and interpret the information that it
contains;

m discuss the accounting conventions underpinning the statement of financial position;

m discuss the uses and limitations of the statement of financial position for decision-
making purposes.

personalised Study Plan

[M”quminylah Remember to create your own ]
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Making financial decisions

We have just seen that a key purpose of this chapter is to show how the statement of
financial position may help users. So, let us begin by providing an example of its value
for decision making. Real World 2.1 describes how the statement of financial position
of a small business was used by a bank when considering whether to grant a loan.

Real World 2.1

A sound education

Sandeep Sud is a qualified solicitor who also runs a school uniform business based in
Hounslow, in partnership with his parents. The business, which has four full-time employees,
uses its statement of financial position to gauge how the business is progressing. It has
also been a key factor in securing a bank loan for the improvement and expansion of the
business premises.

According to Sandeep,

Having a strong statement of financial position helped when it came to borrowing. When we
first applied for a refurbishment loan we couldn’t provide up-to-date accounts to the bank
manager. This could have been a problem, but we quickly got our accounts in order and
the loan was approved straight away. Because our statement of financial position was strong,
the bank thought we were a good risk. Although we decided not to draw down on the loan
— because we used cash flow instead - it did open our eyes to the importance of a strong
statement of financial position.

Source: adapted from ‘Balance sheets: the basics’, www.businesslink.gov.uk, accessed 14 April 2010.

Before we consider this financial statement in detail, however, we should first gain
an overview of all three major financial accounting statements. This will help us to
understand the role of each as well as their interrelationships.

The major financial statements - an overview

The major financial accounting statements aim to provide a picture of the financial
position and performance of a business. To achieve this, a business’s accounting sys-
tem will normally produce three financial statements on a regular, recurring basis.
These three statements are concerned with answering the following questions relating
to a particular period:

m What cash movements took place?

m How much wealth was generated?

m What is the accumulated wealth of the business at the end of the period and what
form does it take?
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The major financial statements - an overview

To address each of the above questions, there is a separate financial statement. The
financial statements are:

m the statement of cash flows,
m the income statement (also known as the profit and loss account), and
m the statement of financial position (also known as the balance sheet).

Together they provide an overall picture of the financial health of the business.

Perhaps the best way to introduce these financial statements is to look at an exam-
ple of a very simple business. From this we shall be able to see the sort of information
that each of the statements can usefully provide. It is, however, worth pointing out
that, while a simple business is our starting point, the principles for preparing the
financial statements apply equally to the largest and most complex businesses. Thus,
we shall frequently encounter these principles again in later chapters.

Example 2.1

Paul was unemployed and unable to find a job. He therefore decided to embark on
a business venture. With Christmas approaching, he decided to buy gift wrapping
paper from a local supplier and to sell it on the corner of his local high street. He
felt that the price of wrapping paper in the high street shops was too high. This
provided him with a useful business opportunity.

He began the venture with £40 of his own money, in cash. On Monday, Paul’s
first day of trading, he bought wrapping paper for £40 and sold three-quarters of
it for £45 cash.

What cash movements took place in Paul's business during Monday?

For Monday, a statement of cash flows showing the cash movements (that is, cash
in and cash out) for the day can be prepared as follows:

Statement of cash flows for Monday

£
Opening balance (cash introduced) 40
Cash from sales of wrapping paper 45
Cash paid to buy wrapping paper (40)
Closing balance of cash 45

The statement shows that Paul placed £40 cash into the business. The business
received £45 cash from customers, but paid £40 cash to buy the wrapping paper.
This left £45 of cash by Monday evening. Note that we are taking the standard
approach found in the financial statements of showing figures to be deducted (in
this case the £40 paid out) in brackets. We shall take this approach consistently
throughout the chapters dealing with financial statements. ->
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How much wealth (that is, profit) was generated by the business during
Monday?

An income statement ( profit and loss account) can be prepared to show the wealth
(profit) generated on Monday. The wealth generated arises from trading and will
be the difference between the value of the sales made and the cost of the goods
(that is, wrapping paper) sold.

Income statement (profit and loss account) for Monday

£
Sales revenue 45
Cost of goods sold (¥ of £40) (30)
Profit 15

Note that it is only the cost of the wrapping paper sold that is matched against
(and deducted from) the sales revenue in order to find the profit, not the whole
of the cost of wrapping paper acquired. Any unsold inventories (in this case /4 of
£40 = £10) will be charged against the future sales revenue that they generate.

What is the accumulated wealth on Monday evening and what form
does it take?

To establish the accumulated wealth at the end of Monday'’s trading, we can draw
up a statement of financial position (balance sheet) for Paul’s business. This statement
will also list the forms of wealth held at the end of that day.

Statement of financial position (balance sheet)
as at Monday evening

£
Cash (closing balance) 45
Inventories of goods for resale (2 of £40) 10
Total assets 55
Equity 55

Note the terms ‘assets’ and ‘equity’ that appear in the above statement. ‘Assets’
are business resources (things of value to the business) and include cash and
inventories. ‘Equity’ is the word used in accounting to describe the investment, or
stake, of the owner(s) — in this case Paul - in the business. Both of these terms will
be discussed in some detail a little later in this chapter.

We can see from the financial statements in Example 2.1 that each statement pro-
vides part of a picture of the financial performance and position of the business.
We begin by showing the cash movements. Cash is a vital resource that is necessary
for any business to function effectively. It is required to meet debts that become due
and to acquire other resources (such as inventories). Cash has been described as the
‘lifeblood’ of a business.
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Reporting cash movements alone, however, is not enough to portray the financial
health of the business. To find out how much profit was generated, we need an income
statement. It is important to recognise that cash and profits rarely move in unison.
During Monday, for example, the cash balance increased by £5, but the profit gener-
ated, as shown in the income statement, was £15. The cash balance did not increase
in line with profit because part of the wealth generated (£10) was held in the form of
inventories.

The statement of financial position that was drawn up as at the end of Monday’s
trading provides an insight into the total wealth of the business. This wealth can
be held in various forms. For this business, wealth is held in the form of cash and
inventories (also known as stock). Hence, when drawing up the statement of financial
position, both forms will be listed. For a large business, many other forms of wealth
may be held, such as property, equipment, motor vehicles and so on.

Let us now continue with our example.

Example 2.2

On Tuesday, Paul bought more wrapping paper for £20 cash. He managed to sell
all of the new inventories and all of the earlier inventories, for a total of £48.
The statement of cash flows for Tuesday will be as follows:

Statement of cash flows for Tuesday

£
Opening balance (from Monday evening) 45
Cash from sales of wrapping paper 48
Cash paid to buy wrapping paper (20)
Closing balance 73
The income statement for Tuesday will be as follows:
Income statement for Tuesday
£
Sales revenue 48
Cost of goods sold (£20 + £10) (30)
Profit 18

The statement of financial position as at Tuesday evening will be:

Statement of financial position as at Tuesday evening

£
Cash (closing balance) 73
Inventories =
Total assets 73
Equity 73
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We can see that the total business wealth increased to £73 by Tuesday evening. This
represents an increase of £18 (that is, £73 — £55) over Monday'’s figure — which, of course,
is the amount of profit made during Tuesday as shown on the income statement.

On Wednesday, Paul bought more wrapping paper for £46 cash. However, it was raining
hard for much of the day and sales were slow. After Paul had sold half of his total inven-
tories for £32, he decided to stop trading until Thursday morning.

Have a go at drawing up the three financial statements for Paul’s business for
Wednesday.

Statement of cash flows for Wednesday

£

Opening balance (from the Tuesday evening) 73
Cash from sales of wrapping paper 32
Cash paid to buy wrapping paper (46)
Closing balance 59

Income statement for Wednesday

£

Sales revenue 32
Cost of goods sold ("2 of £46) (23)
Profit 9

Statement of financial position as at Wednesday evening

£
Cash (closing balance) 59
Inventories (V2 of £46) 23
Total assets 82
Equity 82

Note that the total business wealth has increased by £9 (that is, the amount of
Wednesday’s profit) even though the cash balance has declined. This is because the
business is holding more of its wealth in the form of inventories rather than cash,
compared with the position on Tuesday evening.

By Wednesday evening, the equity stood at £82. This arose from Paul’s initial
investment of £40, plus his profits for Monday (£15), Tuesday (£18) and Wednesday
(£9). This represents Paul’s total investment in his business at that time. The equity of
most businesses will similarly be made up of injections of funds by the owner plus any
accumulated profits.

We can see that the income statement and statement of cash flows are both con-
cerned with measuring flows (of wealth and cash respectively) during a particular
period. The statement of financial position, however, is concerned with the financial
position at a particular moment in time. Figure 2.1 illustrates this point.
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Figure 2.1 The relationship between the statement of financial position, the
income statement and the statement of cash flows
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The income statement and statement of cash flows are concerned with measuring flows of
wealth and cash (respectively) over time. The statement of financial position, however, is con-
cerned with measuring the amount of wealth at a particular moment in time.

The three financial statements discussed are often referred to as the final accounts of

the business.

For external users (that is, virtually all users except the managers of the business
concerned), these statements are normally backward-looking because they are based
on information concerning past events and transactions. This can be useful in pro-
viding feedback on past performance and in identifying trends that provide clues to
future performance. However, the statements can also be prepared using projected
data to help assess likely future profits, cash flows and so on. The financial statements
are normally prepared on a projected basis for internal decision-making purposes only.
Managers are usually reluctant to publish these projected statements for external users,
as they may reveal valuable information to competitors.

Now that we have an overview of the financial statements, we shall consider each
one in detail. The remainder of this chapter is devoted to the statement of financial
position. Chapter 3 looks at the income statement and Chapter 5 looks at the state-
ment of cash flows. (Chapter 4 looks at the statements of financial position and
income statements of limited companies.)

The statement of financial position

We saw a little earlier that this statement shows the forms in which the wealth of a
business is held and how much wealth is held in each form. We can, however, be more
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specific about the nature of this statement by saying that it sets out the assets of a
business, on the one hand, and the claims against the business, on the other. Before
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looking at the statement of financial position in more detail, we need to be clear about
what these terms mean.

Assets

An asset is essentially a resource held by a business. For a particular item to be treated
as an asset for accounting purposes, it should have the following characteristics:

m A probable future benefit must exist. This simply means that the item must be
expected to have some future monetary value. This value can arise through its use
within the business or through its hire or sale. Thus, an obsolete piece of equip-
ment that could be sold for scrap would still be considered an asset, whereas an
obsolete piece of equipment that could not be sold for scrap would not be regarded
as one.

m The business must have the right to control the resource. Unless the business controls
the resource, it cannot be regarded as an asset for accounting purposes. Thus, for
a business offering holidays on barges, the canal system may be a very valuable
resource, but as the business will not be able to control the access of others to the
canal system, it cannot be regarded as an asset of the business. (However, the barges
owned by the business would be regarded as assets.)

m The benefit must arise from some past transaction or event. This means that the trans-
action (or other event) giving rise to a business’s right to the benefit must have
already occurred and will not arise at some future date. Thus an agreement by a
business to buy a piece of equipment at some future date would not mean the item
is currently an asset of the business.

m The asset must be capable of measurement in monetary terms. Unless the item can be
measured in monetary terms, with a reasonable degree of reliability, it will not be
regarded as an asset for inclusion on the statement of financial position. Thus, the
title of a magazine (for example Hello! or Vogue) that was created by its publisher
may be extremely valuable to that publishing business, but this value is usually
difficult to quantify. It will not, therefore, be treated as an asset.

Note that all four of these conditions must apply. If one of them is missing, the item
will not be treated as an asset for accounting purposes and will not, therefore, appear
on the statement of financial position.

We can see that these conditions will strictly limit the kind of items that may be
referred to as ‘assets’ in the statement of financial position. Certainly not all resources
exploited by a business will be assets of the business for accounting purposes. Some,
like the canal system or the magazine title Hello!, may well be assets in a broader sense,
but not for accounting purposes. Once an asset has been acquired by a business, it will
continue to be considered an asset until the benefits are exhausted or the business
disposes of it in some way.
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Indicate which of the following items could appear as an asset on the statement of finan-
cial position of a business. Explain your reasoning in each case.

1 £1,000 owed to the business by a customer who is unable to pay.

2 A patent, bought from an inventor, that gives the business the right to produce a new
product. Production of the new product is expected to increase profits over the
period during which the patent is held.

3 A new marketing director, whom the business had recently hired, who is confidently
expected to increase profits by over 30 per cent during the next three years.

4 A recently purchased machine that will save the business £10,000 each year. It is
already being used by the business but it has been acquired on credit and is not yet
paid for.

Your answer should be along the following lines.

1 Under normal circumstances, a business would expect a customer to pay the amount
owed. Such an amount is therefore typically shown as an asset under the heading ‘trade
receivables’ (or ‘debtors’). However, in this particular case the customer is unable to
pay. As a result, the item is incapable of providing future benefits and the £1,000 owing
would not be regarded as an asset. Debts that are not paid are referred to as ‘bad
debts’.

2 The patent would meet all of the conditions set out above and would therefore be
regarded as an asset.

3 The new marketing director would not be considered as an asset. One argument for
this is that the business does not have exclusive rights of control over the director.
(Nevertheless, it may have an exclusive right to the services that the director provides.)
Perhaps a stronger argument is that the value of the director cannot be measured in
monetary terms with any degree of reliability.

4 The machine would be considered an asset even though it is not yet paid for. Once the
business has agreed to buy the machine and has accepted it, the machine represents
an asset even though payment is still outstanding. (The amount outstanding would be
shown as a claim, as we shall see below.)

The sorts of items that often appear as assets in the statement of financial position
of a business include:

property

plant and equipment

fixtures and fittings

patents and trademarks

trade receivables (debtors)
investments outside the business.
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Can you think of two additional items that might appear as assets in the statement of
financial position of a typical business?

You may be able to think of a number of other items. Two that we have met so far, because

they were held by Paul’s wrapping-paper business (in Example 2.1), are inventories and
cash.

Note that an asset does not have to be a physical item - it may be a non-physical

item that gives a right to certain benefits. Assets that have a physical substance and

g 0

38

can be touched (such as inventories) are referred to as tangible assets. Assets that have
no physical substance but which, nevertheless, provide expected future benefits (such
as patents) are referred to as intangible assets.

Claims

A claim is an obligation of the business to provide cash, or some other form of benefit,
to an outside party. It will normally arise as a result of the outside party providing
assets for use by the business. There are essentially two types of claim against a
business:

Els=

Equity. This represents the claim of the owner(s) against the business. This claim is
sometimes referred to as the owner’s capital. Some find it hard to understand how
the owner can have a claim against the business, particularly when we consider the
example of a sole-proprietor-type business where the owner is, in effect, the busi-
ness. For accounting purposes, however, a clear distinction is made between the
business and the owner(s). The business is viewed as being quite separate from the
owner. It is seen as a separate entity with its own separate existence and when finan-
cial statements are prepared, they relate to the business rather than to the owner(s).
Viewed from this perspective, any funds contributed by the owner will be seen as
coming from outside the business and will appear as a claim against the business in
its statement of financial position.

The equity section of the statement of financial position is broadly the same

irrespective of the type of business concerned. We shall see in Chapter 4 that, with
limited companies, the total equity figure must be analysed according to how each
part of it first arose. For example, companies must make a distinction between that
part of it that arose from retained earnings (or profits) and that part that arose from
the owners putting in cash to start up the business, usually by buying shares in the
company.
Liabilities. Liabilities represent the claims of all individuals and organisations other
than the owner(s). They arise from past transactions or events such as supplying
goods or lending money to the business. A liability will be settled through an
outflow of assets (usually cash).
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Once a claim from the owners or outsiders has been incurred by a business, it will
remain as an obligation until it is settled.

Now that the meanings of the terms assets, equity and liabilities have been estab-
lished, we can consider the relationship between them. This relationship is quite
straightforward. If a business wishes to acquire assets, it must raise the necessary funds
from somewhere. It may raise these funds from the owner(s), or from other outside
parties, or from both. Example 2.3 illustrates this relationship.

Example 2.3

Jerry and Company is a new business that was created by depositing £20,000 in a
bank account on 1 March. This amount was raised partly from the owner (£6,000)
and partly from borrowing (£14,000). Raising funds in this way will give rise to a
claim on the business by both the owner (equity) and the lender (liability). If
a statement of financial position of Jerry and Company is prepared following the
above transactions, it will appear as follows:

Jerry and Company
Statement of financial position as at 1 March

£

ASSETS

Cash at bank 20,000
Total assets 20,000
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity 6,000
Liabilities — borrowing 14,000
Total equity and liabilities 20,000

We can see from the statement of financial position that the total claims (equity
and liabilities) are the same as the total assets. Thus:

Assets = Equity + Liabilities

This equation — which we shall refer to as the accounting equation — will always
hold true. Whatever changes may occur to the assets of the business or the claims
against it, there will be compensating changes elsewhere that will ensure that the
statement of financial position always ‘balances’. By way of illustration, consider
the following transactions for Jerry and Company:

2 March Bought a motor van for £5,000, paying by cheque.

3 March Bought inventories (that is, goods to be sold) on one month’s
credit for £3,000. (This means that the inventories were bought on
3 March, but payment will not be made to the supplier until 3 April.)

4 March Repaid £2,000 of the amount borrowed to the lender, by cheque.

6 March Owner introduced another £4,000 into the business bank account.
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A statement of financial position may be drawn up after each day in which trans-
actions have taken place. In this way, we can see the effect of each transaction
on the assets and claims of the business. The statement of financial position as at
2 March will be:

Jerry and Company
Statement of financial position as at 2 March

4

ASSETS

Cash at bank (20,000 — 5,000) 15,000
Motor van 5,000
Total assets 20,000
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity 6,000
Liabilities — borrowing 14,000
Total equity and liabilities 20,000

As we can see, the effect of buying the motor van is to decrease the balance at
the bank by £5,000 and to introduce a new asset — a motor van — to the statement
of financial position. The total assets remain unchanged. It is only the ‘mix’ of
assets that has changed. The claims against the business remain the same because
there has been no change in the way in which the business has been funded.

The statement of financial position as at 3 March, following the purchase of
inventories, will be:

Jerry and Company
Statement of financial position as at 3 March

£

ASSETS

Cash at bank 15,000
Motor van 5,000
Inventories 3,000
Total assets 23,000
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity 6,000
Liabilities — borrowing 14,000
Liabilities — trade payable 3,000
Total equity and liabilities 23,000

The effect of buying inventories has been to introduce another new asset
(inventories) to the statement of financial position. Furthermore, the fact that the
goods have not yet been paid for means that the claims against the business will
be increased by the £3,000 owed to the supplier, who is referred to as a trade
payable (or trade creditor) on the statement of financial position.
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Try drawing up a statement of financial position for Jerry and Company as at 4 March.
The statement of financial postion as at 4 March, following the repayment of part of the
borrowing, will be:

Jerry and Company
Statement of financial position as at 4 March

£

ASSETS

Cash at bank (15,000 — 2,000) 13,000
Motor van 5,000
Inventories 3,000
Total assets 21,000
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity 6,000
Liabilities — borrowing (14,000 — 2,000) 12,000
Liabilities — trade payable 3,000
Total equity and liabilities 21,000

The repayment of £2,000 of the borrowing will result in a decrease in the balance at the
bank of £2,000 and a decrease in the lender’s claim against the business by the same amount.

Try drawing up a statement of financial position as at 6 March for Jerry and Company.

The statement of financial position as at 6 March, following the introduction of more funds,
will be:

Jerry and Company
Statement of financial position as at 6 March

£

ASSETS

Cash at bank (13,000 + 4,000) 17,000
Motor van 5,000
Inventories 3,000
Total assets 25,000
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity (6,000 + 4,000) 10,000
Liabilities — borrowing 12,000
Liabilities — trade payable 3,000
Total equity and liabilities 25,000

The introduction of more funds by the owner will result in an increase in the equity of
£4,000 and an increase in the cash at bank by the same amount.
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Example 2.3 illustrates the point that the accounting equation (assets equals equity
plus liabilities) will always hold true, because it reflects the fact that, if a business
wishes to acquire more assets, it must raise funds equal to the cost of those assets. The
funds raised must be provided by the owners (equity), or by others (liabilities) or by a
combination of the two. Hence the total cost of assets acquired should always equal
the total equity plus liabilities.

It is worth pointing out that businesses do not normally draw up a statement of
financial position after each day, as shown in the example above. We have done this
to illustrate the effect on the statement of financial position of each transaction. In
practice, a statement of financial position for a business is usually prepared at the end
of a defined reporting period.

Determining the length of the reporting period will involve weighing up the costs
of producing the information against the perceived benefits of the information for
decision-making purposes. In practice, the reporting period will vary between busi-
nesses; it could be monthly, quarterly, half-yearly or annually. For external reporting
purposes, an annual reporting period is the norm (although certain businesses, typi-
cally larger ones, report more frequently than this). However, for internal reporting
purposes to managers, monthly financial statements may be prepared.

The effect of trading transactions

In Example 2.3, we dealt with the effect on the statement of financial position of
a number of different types of transactions that a business might undertake. These
transactions covered the purchase of assets for cash and on credit, the repayment of
borrowing and the injection of equity. However, one form of transaction (trading
transactions) has not yet been considered. To deal with the effect of trading transac-
tions on the statement of financial position, let us return to Jerry and Company.

Example 2.4
The statement of financial position that we drew up for Jerry and Company as at
6 March was as follows:

Jerry and Company
Statement of financial position as at 6 March

£

ASSETS

Cash at bank 17,000
Motor van 5,000
Inventories 3,000
Total assets 25,000
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity 10,000
Liabilities — borrowing 12,000
Liabilities — trade payable 3,000
Total equity and liabilities 25,000
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On 7 March, the business managed to sell all of the inventories for £5,000 and
received a cheque immediately from the customer for this amount. The statement
of financial position on 7 March, after this transaction has taken place, will be:

Jerry and Company
Statement of financial position as at 7 March

£

ASSETS

Cash at bank (17,000 + 5,000) 22,000
Motor van 5,000
Inventories (3,000 — 3,000) -
Total assets 27,000
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity (10,000 + (5,000 — 3,000)) 12,000
Liabilities — borrowing 12,000
Liabilities — trade payable 3,000
Total equity and liabilities 27,000

We can see that the inventories (£3,000) have now disappeared from the statement
of financial position, but the cash at bank has increased by the selling price of the
inventories (£5,000). The net effect has therefore been to increase assets by £2,000
(that is, £5,000 less £3,000). This increase represents the net increase in wealth (the
profit) that has arisen from trading. Also note that the equity of the business has
increased by £2,000, in line with the increase in assets. This increase in equity reflects
the fact that increases in wealth, as a result of trading or other operations, will be to
the benefit of the owners and will increase their stake in the business.

What would have been the effect on the statement of financial position if the inventories
had been sold on 7 March for £1,000 rather than £5,000?
The statement of financial position on 7 March would then have been:

Jerry and Company
Statement of financial position as at 7 March

£

ASSETS

Cash at bank (17,000 + 1,000) 18,000
Motor van 5,000
Inventories (3,000 — 3,000) -
Total assets 23,000
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity (10,000 + (1,000 — 3,000)) 8,000
Liabilities — borrowing 12,000
Liabilities — trade payable 3,000
Total equity and liabilities 23,000
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As we can see, the inventories (£3,000) will disappear from the statement of financial
position but the cash at bank will rise by only £1,000. This will mean a net reduction in
assets of £2,000. This reduction represents a loss arising from trading and will be reflected
in a reduction in the equity of the owners.

We can see that any decrease in wealth (that is, a loss) arising from trading or other
transactions will lead to a reduction in the owner’s stake in the business. If the busi-
ness wished to maintain the level of assets as at 6 March, it would be necessary to
obtain further funds from the owners or from borrowing, or both.

What we have just seen means that the accounting equation can be extended as follows:

Assets (at the end = Equity (amount at the start of the period
of the period) + profit (or — loss) for the period)
+ Liabilities (at the end of the period)

(This is assuming that the owner makes no injections or withdrawals of equity during
the period.)

Any funds introduced or withdrawn by the owner for living expenses or other
reasons also affect equity. If the owners withdrew £1,500 for their own use, the equity
of the owners would be reduced by £1,500. If these drawings were in cash, the balance
of cash would decrease by £1,500 in the statement of financial position.

Note that, like all statement of financial position items, the amount of equity is
cumulative. This means that any profit made that is not taken out as drawings by the
owner(s) remains in the business. These retained (or ‘ploughed-back’) earnings have
the effect of expanding the business.

Classifying assets

On the statement of financial position, assets and claims are usually grouped into
categories. This is designed to help users, as a haphazard listing of these items could
be confusing. Assets may be categorised as being either current or non-current.

Current assets

Current assets are basically assets that are held for the short term. To be more precise,
they are assets that meet any of the following conditions:

they are held for sale or consumption during the business’s normal operating cycle;
they are expected to be sold within the next year;

they are held principally for trading;

they are cash, or near equivalents to cash such as easily marketable, short-term
investments.
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The operating cycle of a business is the time between buying and/or creating a prod-
uct or service and receiving the cash on its sale. For most businesses, this will be less
than a year.

The most common current assets are inventories (stock), trade receivables (cus-
tomers who owe amounts for goods or services supplied on credit) and cash.

It is worth making the point here that most sales made by most businesses are
made on credit. This is to say that the goods pass to, or the service is rendered to, the
customer at one point but the customer pays later. Retail sales are the only significant
exception to this general point.

For businesses that sell goods, rather than render a service, the current assets of
inventories, trade receivables and cash are interrelated. They circulate within a busi-
ness as shown in Figure 2.2. We can see that cash can be used to buy inventories,
which are then sold on credit. When the credit customers (trade receivables) pay, the
business receives an injection of cash and so on.

Figure 2.2 The circulating nature of current assets

Inventories
(stock)

Trade receivables

Cash (trade debtors)

Inventories may be sold on credit to customers. When the customers pay, the trade receivables
will be converted into cash, which can then be used to purchase more inventories, and so the
cycle begins again.

For purely service businesses, the situation is similar, except that inventories are not
involved.

Non-current assets

Non-current assets (also called fixed assets) are simply assets that do not meet the
definition of current assets. They tend to be held for long-term operations.

This distinction between assets that are continuously circulating within the busi-
ness (current) and assets used for long-term operations (non-current) may be helpful
when trying to assess the appropriateness of the mix of assets held. Most businesses
will need a certain amount of both types of asset to operate effectively.
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Can you think of two examples of assets that may be classified as non-current assets
for an insurance business?

Examples of assets that may be defined as being non-current are:

property

furniture

motor vehicles
computers
computer software
reference books.

This is not an exhaustive list. You may have thought of others.

It is important to appreciate that how a particular asset is classified (that is, between
current and non-current) may vary according to the nature of the business. This is
because the purpose for which a particular type of asset is held may differ from busi-
ness to business. For example, a motor vehicle manufacturer will normally hold inven-
tories of the finished motor vehicles produced for resale; it would, therefore, classify
them as part of the current assets. On the other hand, a business that uses motor
vehicles for delivering its goods to customers (that is, as part of its long-term opera-
tions) would classify them as non-current assets.

The assets of Kunalun and Co., a large advertising agency, are as follows:

cash at bank

fixtures and fittings

office equipment

motor vehicles

property

computer equipment

work in progress (that is, partly completed work for clients).

Which of these do you think should be defined as non-current assets and which should
be defined as current assets?

Your answer should be as follows:

Non-current assets Current assets
Fixtures and fittings Cash at bank
Office equipment Work in progress
Motor vehicles

Property

Computer equipment
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Classifying claims

As we have already seen, claims are normally classified into equity (owner’s claim) and
liabilities (claims of outsiders). Liabilities are further classified as either current or
non-current.

Current liabilities

Current liabilities are basically amounts due for settlement in the short term. To be
more precise, they are liabilities that meet any of the following conditions:

m they are expected to be settled within the business’s normal operating cycle;

m they are held principally for trading purposes;

m they are due to be settled within a year after the date of the relevant statement of
financial position;

m there is no right to defer settlement beyond a year after the date of the relevant
statement of financial position.

Non-current liabilities

Non-current liabilities represent amounts due that do not meet the definition of
current liabilities and so represent longer-term liabilities.

It is quite common for non-current liabilities to become current liabilities. For
example, borrowings to be repaid eighteen months after the date of a particular state-
ment of financial position will appear as a non-current liability, but will appear as a
current liability in the statement of financial position in the following year.

This classification of liabilities between current and non-current helps to highlight
those financial obligations that must shortly be met. Users can compare the amount
of current liabilities with the amount of current assets (that is, the assets that either
are cash or will turn into cash within the normal operating cycle) to see whether a
business can cover its maturing obligations.

The classification of liabilities between current and non-current should also help to
indicate how long-term finance is raised. If a business relies on long-term borrowings
to finance the business, the financial risks associated with the business will increase.
This is because these borrowings will bring a commitment to make periodic interest
payments and capital repayments. The business may be forced to stop trading if this
commitment is not fulfilled. Thus, when raising long-term finance, a business must try
to strike the right balance between non-current liabilities and owner’s equity. We shall
consider this issue in more detail in Chapter 6.

Can you think of one example of a current liability and one of a non-current liability?

e
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An example of a current liability would be amounts owing to suppliers for goods supplied
on credit (trade payables) or a bank overdraft (a form of short-term bank borrowing that is
repayable on demand). An example of a non-current liability would be long-term borrowings.

Statement layouts

Now that we have looked at the classification of assets and liabilities, we shall consider
the layout of the statement of financial position. Although there is an almost infinite
number of ways in which the same information on assets and claims could be pre-
sented, we shall consider two basic layouts. The first of these follows the style that we
adopted with Jerry and Company earlier (see pages 39 to 43). A more comprehensive
example of this style is shown in Example 2.5.

Example 2.5

Brie Manufacturing
Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2009

£000
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property 45
Plant and equipment 30
Motor vans 19
94
Current assets
Inventories 23
Trade receivables 18
Cash at bank 12
53
Total assets 147
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity 60
Non-current liabilities
Long-term borrowings 50
Current liabilities
Trade payables 37
Total equity and liabilities 147

The non-current assets have a total of £94,000, which together with the current
assets total of £53,000 gives a total of £147,000 for assets. Similarly, the equity
totals £60,000, which together with the £50,000 for non-current liabilities and
£37,000 for current liabilities gives a total for equity and liabilities of £147,000.

Within each category of asset (non-current and current) shown in Example 2.5, the
items are listed in reverse order of liquidity (nearness to cash). Thus, the assets that are
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furthest from cash come first and the assets that are closest to cash come last. In the
case of non-current assets, property is listed first as this asset is usually the most
difficult to turn into cash, and motor vans are listed last as there is usually a ready mar-
ket for them. In the case of current assets, we have already seen that inventories are
converted to trade receivables and then trade receivables are converted to cash. Hence,
under the heading of current assets, inventories are listed first, followed by trade
receivables and finally cash itself. This ordering of assets is a normal practice, which is
followed irrespective of the layout used.

Note that, in addition to a grand total for assets held, subtotals for non-current
assets and current assets are shown. Subtotals are also used for non-current liabilities
and current liabilities when more than one item appears within these categories.

This layout is the most popular in practice in the UK.

A slight variation from the standard layout illustrated in Example 2.5 is as shown
in Example 2.6.

Example 2.6

Brie Manufacturing
Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2009

£000
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property 45
Plant and equipment 30
Motor vans 19
94
Current assets
Inventories 23
Trade receivables 18
Cash at bank 12
53
Total assets 147
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Long-term borrowings (50)
Current liabilities
Trade payables (87)
Total liabilities (87)
Net assets _60
EQUITY 60

We can see that the total liabilities are deducted from the total assets. This derives
a figure for net assets — which is equal to equity. Using this format, the basic account-
ing equation is rearranged so that
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Assets — Liabilities = Equity

This rearranged equation highlights the fact that equity represents the residual inter-
est of the owner(s) after deducting all liabilities of the business.

Self-assessment question 2.1

The following information relates to Simonson Engineering as at 30 September 2010:

£
Plant and machinery 25,000
Trade payables 18,000
Short-term borrowings 26,000
Inventories 45,000
Property 72,000
Long-term borrowings 51,000
Trade receivables 48,000
Equity at 1 October 2009 117,500
Cash in hand 1,500
Motor vehicles 15,000
Fixtures and fittings 9,000
Profit for the year to 30 September 2010 18,000
Drawings for the year to 30 September 2010 15,000

Required:
Prepare a statement of financial position for the business using the standard layout illus-
trated in Example 2.5.

The solution to this question can be found at the back of the book, in Appendix B.

Capturing a moment in time

As we have already seen, the statement of financial position reflects the assets, equity
and liabilities of a business at a specified point in time. It has been compared to a
photograph. A photograph ‘freezes’ a particular moment in time and will represent the
situation only at that moment. Hence, events may be quite different immediately
before and immediately after the photograph was taken. When examining a statement
of financial position, therefore, it is important to establish the date for which it has been
drawn up. This information should be prominently displayed in the heading to the state-
ment, as shown above in Examples 2.5 and 2.6. When we are trying to assess current
financial position, the more recent the statement of financial position date, the better.

A business will normally prepare a statement of financial position as at the close of
business on the last day of its annual reporting period. In the UK, businesses are free
to choose their accounting year. When making a decision on which year-end date to
choose, commercial convenience can often be a deciding factor. For example, a busi-
ness operating in the retail trade may choose to have a year-end date early in the
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calendar year (for example, 31 January) because trade tends to be slack during that
period and more staff time is available to help with the tasks involved in the prepara-
tion of the annual financial statements (such as checking the amount of inventories
held). Since trade is slack, it is also a time when the amount of inventories held by the
retail business is likely to be unusually low as compared with other times of the year.
Thus the statement of financial position, though showing a fair view of what it pur-
ports to show, may not show a picture of what is more typically the position of the
business over the rest of the year.

The role of accounting conventions

As we saw in Chapter 1, accounting has a number of rules or conventions that have
evolved over time. They have evolved as attempts to deal with practical problems
experienced by preparers and users of financial statements, rather than to reflect some
theoretical ideal. In preparing the statements of financial position earlier, we have
followed various accounting conventions, though they have not been explicitly men-
tioned. We shall now identify and discuss the major conventions that we have applied.

Business entity convention

For accounting purposes, the business and its owner(s) are treated as being quite
separate and distinct. This is why owners are treated as being claimants against their
own business in respect of their investment. The business entity convention must be
distinguished from the legal position that may exist between businesses and their
owners. For sole proprietorships and partnerships, the law does not make any distinc-
tion between the business and its owner(s). For limited companies, on the other hand,
there is a clear legal distinction between the business and its owners. (As we shall see
in Chapter 4, the limited company is regarded as having a separate legal existence.)
For accounting purposes, these legal distinctions are irrelevant and the business entity
convention applies to all businesses.

Historic cost convention

The historic cost convention holds that the value of assets shown on the statement
of financial position should be based on their acquisition cost (that is, historic cost).
This method of measuring asset value takes preference over other methods based on
some form of current value. Many people, however, find the historic cost convention
difficult to support, as outdated historic costs are unlikely to help in the assessment of
the current financial position. It is often argued that recording assets at their current
value would provide a more realistic view of financial position and would be relevant
for a wide range of decisions. However, a system of measurement based on current
values can present a number of problems.

The term ‘current value’ can be defined in different ways. It can be defined broadly
as either the current replacement cost or the current realisable value (selling price)
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of an asset. These two types of valuation may result in quite different figures being
produced to represent the current value of an item. Furthermore, the broad terms
‘replacement cost’ and ‘realisable value’ can be defined in different ways. We must
therefore be clear about what kind of current value accounting we wish to use.

Current values, however defined, are often difficult to establish with any real degree
of objectivity. Activity 2.10 illustrates the practical problems associated with current
value accounting.

Plumber and Company has some motor vans that are used by staff when visiting cus-
tomers’ premises to carry out work. It is now the last day of the business’s reporting
period. If it were decided to show the vans on the statement of financial position at a
current value (rather than a value based on their historic cost), how might the business
arrive at a suitable value and how reliable would this figure be?

Two ways of deriving a current value are to find out:

— how much would have to be paid to buy vans of a similar type and condition (current
replacement cost);

— how much a motor van dealer would pay for the vans, were the business to sell them
(current realisable value).

Both options will normally rely on opinion and so a range of possible values could be
produced for each. For example, both the cost to replace the vans and the proceeds of sell-
ing them is likely to vary from one dealer to another. Moreover, the range of values for each
option could be significantly different from one option to the other. (The selling prices of the
vans are likely to be lower than the amount required to replace them.) Thus, any value finally
decided upon could arouse some debate.

The figures produced under a system of current value accounting may be heavily
dependent on the opinion of managers. Unless these figures are capable of some form
of independent verification, there is a danger that the financial statements will lose
their credibility among users. The motor vans discussed in Activity 2.10 are less of
a problem than many types of asset. There is a ready market for motor vans, which
means that a value can be obtained by contacting a dealer. For a custom-built piece
of equipment, however, identifying a replacement cost, or worse still a selling price,
could be very difficult.

By reporting assets at their historic cost, it is argued that more reliable information
is produced. Reporting in this way reduces the need for judgements, as the amount
paid for a particular asset is usually a matter of demonstrable fact. Information based
on past costs, however, may not always be relevant to the needs of users.

Later in the chapter, we shall consider the valuation of assets in the statement
of financial position in more detail. We shall see that the historic cost convention is
not always rigidly adhered to. Departures from this convention are becoming more
frequent.
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Prudence convention

The prudence convention holds that caution should be exercised when making
accounting judgements. The application of this convention normally involves record-
ing all losses at once and in full; this refers to both actual losses and expected losses.
Profits, on the other hand, are recognised only when they actually arise. Greater
emphasis is, therefore, placed on expected losses than on expected profits. To illustrate
the application of this convention, let us assume that certain inventories held by a
business prove unpopular with customers and so a decision is made to sell them below
their original cost. The prudence convention requires that the expected loss from
future sales be recognised immediately rather than when the goods are eventually
sold. If, however, these inventories could have been sold above their original cost,
profit would only be recognised at the time of sale.

The prudence convention evolved to counteract the excessive optimism of some
managers and is designed to prevent an overstatement of financial position and per-
formance. Applying this convention, however, requires judgement. This means that
the way in which it is applied by preparers of financial statements may differ over time
and between businesses. Where excessive prudence is applied, it will lead to an under-
statement of profits and financial position.

What might be the effect of applying excessive prudence on the quality of user decisions?

Being excessively prudent will tend to obscure the underlying financial reality and may
lead to poor decisions being made. The owners, for example, may sell their stake in the
business at a lower price than they would have received if a more balanced view of the
financial health of the business had been presented.

In recent years, the prudence convention has weakened its grip on accounting and
has become a less dominant force. Nevertheless, it remains an important convention.

Going concern convention

The going concern convention holds that the financial statements should be prepared
on the assumption that a business will continue operations for the foreseeable future,
unless there is evidence to the contrary. In other words, it is assumed that there is no
intention, or need, to sell off the non-current assets of the business. Where a business
is in financial difficulties, however, non-current assets may have to be sold in order to
repay those who have enforceable claims against the business.

The realisable (sale) value of many non-current assets is often much lower than the
values reported in the statement of financial position. Thus, if a forced sale of assets
were to occur, significant losses would arise. These anticipated losses would need to be
fully reported were a business’s going concern status to be called into question. Where,
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however, there is no expectation that non-current assets need be sold, they can con-
tinue to be shown at their reported values.

Dual aspect convention

The dual aspect convention asserts that each transaction has two aspects, both of
which will affect the statement of financial position. Thus, the purchase of a motor car

for cash results in an increase in one asset (motor car) and a decrease in another (cash).

The repayment of borrowings results in the decrease in a liability (borrowings) and the

decrease in an asset (cash).

What are the two aspects of each of the following transactions?

1 Purchasing £1,000 of inventories on credit.
2 Owner withdrawing £2,000 in cash.
3 Paying a supplier for £1,000 of inventories bought on credit a few weeks earlier.

Your answer should be as follows:

1 Inventories increase by £1,000, trade payables increase by £1,000.
2 Equity reduces by £2,000, cash reduces by £2,000.
3 Trade payables reduce by £1,000, cash reduces by £1,000.

Recording the dual aspect of each transaction ensures that the statement of finan-
cial position will continue to balance.

Figure 2.3 summarises the main accounting conventions that exert an influence on
the construction of the statement of financial position.

Figure 2.3 Accounting conventions influencing the statement of financial
position

Business Dual
entity aspect
convention convention
A— A
Historic Goin
Prudence 9
cost . concern
’ convention .
convention convention

These are the key accounting conventions relating to the statement of financial position.
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Money measurement

We saw earlier that a resource will only be regarded as an asset and included on the
statement of financial position if it can be measured in monetary terms, with a reason-
able degree of reliability. Some resources of a business, however, do not meet this
criterion and so are excluded from the statement of financial position. As a result, the
scope of the statement of financial position is limited.

Can you think of resources of a business that cannot usually be measured reliably in
monetary terms?

In answering this activity you may have thought of the following:

B the quality of the human resources of the business

H the reputation of the business’s products

m the location of the business

B the relationship a business enjoys with its customers.

There have been occasional attempts to measure and report resources of a business
that are normally excluded from the statement of financial position so as to provide
a more complete picture. These attempts, however, invariably fail the reliability test.
We saw in Chapter 1 that a lack of reliability affects the quality of financial statements.
Unreliable measurement can lead to inconsistency in reporting and can create uncer-
tainty among users of the financial statements, which in turn undermines those state-
ments’ credibility.

We shall now discuss some key resources of a business that normally defy reliable
measurement.

Goodwill and brands

Some intangible non-current assets are similar to tangible non-current assets: they
have a clear and separate identity and the cost of acquiring the asset can be reliably
measured. Examples normally include patents, trademarks, copyrights and licences.
Other intangible non-current assets, however, are quite different. They lack a clear and
separate identity and reflect a hotchpotch of attributes, which are part of the essence
of the business. Goodwill and product brands are often examples of assets that lack a
clear and separate identity.

The term ‘goodwill’ is often used to cover various attributes such as the quality of
the products, the skill of employees and the relationship with customers. The term
‘product brands’ is also used to cover various attributes, such as the brand image, the
quality of the product, the trademark and so on. Where goodwill and product brands
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have been generated internally by the business, it is often difficult to determine their
cost or to measure their current market value or even to be clear that they really exist.
They are, therefore, excluded from the statement of financial position.

When they are acquired through an ‘arm’s-length transaction’, however, the prob-
lems of uncertainty about their existence and measurement are resolved. (An arm’s-
length transaction is one that is undertaken between two unconnected parties.) If
goodwill is acquired when taking over another business, or if a business acquires a par-
ticular product brand from another business, these items will be separately identified
and a price agreed for them. Under these circumstances, they can be regarded as assets
(for accounting purposes) by the business that acquired them and included on the
statement of financial position.

To agree a price for acquiring goodwill or product brands means that some form of
valuation must take place and this raises the question as to how it is done. Usually, the
valuation will be based on estimates of future earnings from holding the asset — a
process that is fraught with difficulties. Nevertheless, a number of specialist businesses
now exist that are prepared to take on this challenge. Real World 2.2 shows how one
specialist business ranked and valued the top ten brands in the world for 2009.

Real World 2.2

Brand leaders

Millward Brown Optimor, part of WPP marketing services group, recently produced a report
that ranked and valued the top ten world brands for 2009 as follows:

Ranking Brand Value ($m)
1 Google 100,039
2 Microsoft 76,249
8 Coca-Cola 67,625
4 IBM 66,622
5 McDonalds 66,575
6 Apple 63,113
7 China Mobile 61,283
8 GE (General Electric) 59,793
9 Vodafone 53,727

10 Marlboro 49,460

We can see that the valuations placed on the brands are quite staggering.

Source: Millward Brown Optimor, BrandZ Top 100 Most Valuable Global Brands 2009, www.millwardbrown.com.

Human resources

Attempts have been made to place a monetary measurement on the human re-
sources of a business, but without any real success. There are, however, certain limited



Money measurement

circumstances in which human resources are measured and reported in the statement
of financial position. These circumstances normally arise with professional football
clubs. While football clubs cannot own players, they can own the rights to the
players’ services. Where these rights are acquired by compensating other clubs for
releasing the players from their contracts, an arm’s-length transaction arises and the
amounts paid provide a reliable basis for measurement. This means that the rights to
services can be regarded as an asset of the club for accounting purposes (assuming, of
course, the player will also bring benefits to the club).

Real World 2.3 describes how one leading club reports its investment in players on
the statement of financial position.

Real World 2.3

Spurs players appear on the pitch and on the statement of
financial position

Tottenham Hotspur Football Club (Spurs) has acquired several key players as a result of
paying transfer fees to other clubs. In common with most UK football clubs, Spurs reports
the cost of acquiring the rights to the players’ services on its statement of financial posi-
tion. The club’s statement as at 30 June 2009 shows the cost of registering its squad
of players at about £197 million. The club treats a proportion of each players’ transfer fee
as an expense each year. The exact proportion depends on the length of the particular
player’s contract.

The £197 million does not include ‘home-grown’ players such as Ledley King, because
Spurs did not pay a transfer fee for them and so no clear-cut value can be placed on their
services. On the surface, this is correct. However, due to capitalising cost of agents fee, a
small element of Ledley King was included in the £197 million, and is allowed under FA rules.
During the year to 30 June 2009, the club was very active in the transfer market and fifteen
players were signed, including Jermain Defoe from Portsmouth. Defoe had previously been
with Spurs and was only away at Portsmouth for 17-18 months. Fifteen players left the club
(including Dimitar Berbatov to go to Manchester United), earning it transfer fees totalling
£73 million.

The item of players’ registrations is shown as an intangible asset in the statement of
financial position as it is the rights to services, not the players, that are the assets. It is
shown net of depreciation (or amortisation as it is usually termed for non-current assets).
The carrying amount at 30 June 2009 was £128 million and represented 44 per cent of
Spurs assets, as shown in the statement of financial position.

Source: Tottenham Hotspur plc Annual Report 2009.

Monetary stability

When using money as the unit of measurement, we normally fail to recognise the fact
that it will change in value over time. In the UK and throughout much of the world,
however, inflation has been a persistent problem. This has meant that the value of
money has declined in relation to other assets. In past years, high rates of inflation
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have resulted in statements of financial position which were prepared on a historic
cost basis reflecting figures for assets that were much lower than if current values were
employed. Rates of inflation have been relatively low in recent years and so the dis-
parity between historic cost values and current values has been less pronounced.
Nevertheless, it can still be significant and has added fuel to the debate concerning
how to measure asset values on the statement of financial position. It is to this issue
that we now turn.

Valuing assets

As we saw earlier, when preparing the statement of financial position, the historic
cost convention is normally applied for the reporting of assets. However, this point
requires further explanation as, in practice, it is not simply a matter of recording each
asset on the statement of financial position at its original cost. We shall see that things
are a little more complex than this. Before discussing the valuation rules in some
detail, however, we should point out that these rules are based on International
Financial Reporting Standards, which are rules that are generally accepted throughout
much of the world. The nature and role of financial reporting standards will be dis-
cussed in detail in Chapter 4.

Tangible non-current assets (property, plant and equipment)

Tangible non-current assets normally consist of property, plant and equipment. We
shall refer to them in this way from now on. This is a rather broad term that includes
items such as land and buildings, motor vehicles and fixtures and fittings. All of
these items are, in essence, the ‘tools’ used by the business to generate wealth, that is,
they are used to produce or supply goods and services or for administration purposes.
They tend to be held for the longer term, which means for more than one reporting
period.

Initially these items are recorded at their historic cost, which will include any
amounts spent on getting them ready for use. However, they will normally be used up
over time as a result of wear and tear, obsolescence and so on. The amount used up,
which is referred to as depreciation, must be measured for each reporting period for
which the assets are held. Although we shall leave a detailed examination of depreci-
ation until Chapter 3, we need to know that when an asset has been depreciated, this
must be reflected in the statement of financial position.

The total depreciation that has accumulated over the period since the asset was
acquired must be deducted from its cost. This net figure (that is, the cost of the asset
less the total depreciation to date) is referred to as the carrying amount. It is sometimes
also known as net book value or written-down value. The procedure just described is not
really a contravention of the historic cost convention. It is simply recognition of the



Valuing assets

fact that a proportion of the historic cost of the non-current asset has been consumed
in the process of generating benefits for the business.

Although using historic cost (less any depreciation) is the standard or ‘benchmark’
treatment for recording these assets, an alternative is allowed. Property, plant and
equipment can be recorded using fair values provided that these values can be mea-
sured reliably. The fair values, in this case, are the current market values (that is, the
exchange values in an arm’s-length transaction). The use of fair values, rather than
depreciated cost figures, can provide users with more up-to-date information, which
may well be more relevant to their needs. It may also place the business in a better
light, as assets such as property (real estate) may have increased significantly in value
over time. Of course, increasing the statement of financial position value of an asset
does not make that asset more valuable. However, perceptions of the business may be
altered by such a move.

One consequence of revaluing non-current assets is that the depreciation charge
will be increased. This is because the depreciation charge is based on the increased
value of the asset.

Real World 2.4 shows that one well-known business revalued its land and buildings
and, by doing so, greatly improved the look of its statement of financial position.

Real World 2.4

Marks marks up land and buildings

The statement of financial position of Marks and Spencer plc, a major high street retailer,
as at 28 March 2009 reveals land and buildings at a carrying amount, or net book value, of
£2,458 million. These land and buildings were revalued by a firm of independent surveyors
five years earlier and this has been reflected in subsequent statements of financial position.
The effect of the revaluation was to give an uplift of £530.9 million against the previous
carrying amount.

Source: Marks and Spencer plc Annual Report 2009, Notes to the financial statements, Note 14, www.marksandspencer.com.

Refer to the statement of financial position of Brie Manufacturing shown earlier in
Example 2.5 (page 48). What would be the effect of revaluing the property to a figure
of £110,000 on the statement of financial position?

The effect on the statement of financial position would be to increase the figure for the
property to £110,000 and the gain on revaluation (that is, £110,000 — £45,000 = £65,000)
would be added to equity, as it is the owner(s) who will benefit from the gain. The revised
statement of financial position would therefore be as follows:
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Brie Manufacturing
Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2009

£000
ASSETS
Non-current assets (property, plant and equipment)
Property 110
Plant and equipment 30
Motor vans _19
159
Current assets
Inventories 23
Trade receivables 18
Cash at bank 12
83
Total assets 212
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity (60 + 65) 125
Non-current liabilities
Long-term borrowings 50
Current liabilities
Trade payables 37
Total equity and liabilities 212

Once assets are revalued, the frequency of revaluation then becomes an import-
ant issue as assets recorded at out-of-date values can mislead users. Using out-of-date
revaluations on the statement of financial position is the worst of both worlds. It lacks
the objectivity and verifiability of historic cost; it also lacks the realism of current
values. Where fair values are used, revaluations should therefore be frequent enough
to ensure that the carrying amount of the revalued asset does not differ materially
from its fair value at the statement of financial position date.

When an item of property, plant or equipment is revalued on the basis of fair values,
all assets within that particular group must be revalued. Thus, it is not acceptable to
revalue some items of property but not others. Although this provides some degree of
consistency within a particular group of assets, it does not, of course, prevent the state-
ment of financial position from containing a mixture of valuations.

Intangible non-current assets

For these assets, the ‘benchmark treatment’ is, once again, that they are measured
initially at historic cost. What follows, however, will depend on whether the asset has
a finite or an infinite useful life. (Purchased goodwill is an example of an asset that
could have an infinitely useful life, though this is not always the case.) Where the asset
has a finite life, any amortisation following acquisition will be deducted from its cost.
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Where, however, the asset has an infinite life, it will not be amortised. Instead, it will
be tested annually to see whether there has been any fall in value. This point is dis-
cussed in more detail in the following section.

Once again, the alternative of revaluing intangible assets using fair values is avail-
able. However, this can only be used where an active market exists, which allows fair
values to be properly determined. In practice, this is a rare occurrence.

The impairment of non-current assets

There is always a risk that both types of non-current asset (tangible and intangible)
may suffer a significant fall in value. This may be due to factors such as changes in
market conditions, technological obsolescence and so on. In some cases, this fall in
value may lead to the carrying amount of the asset being higher than the amount that
could be recovered from the asset through its continued use or through its sale. When
this occurs, the asset value is said to be impaired and the general rule is to reduce the
value on the statement of financial position to the recoverable amount. Unless this is
done, the asset value will be overstated. This type of impairment in value should not
be confused with routine depreciation, arising from, say, wear and tear due to normal
usage.

With which one of the accounting conventions that we discussed earlier is this account-
ing treatment of impaired assets consistent?

The answer is the prudence convention, which states that actual or anticipated losses
should be recognised in full.

In many situations, a business may use either historic cost, less any depreciation,
or a value-based measure when reporting its non-current assets. However, where the
value-based measure is the impaired value and is smaller than the historic-cost-based
value, the business has no choice; the use of depreciated historic cost is not an option.

Real World 2.5 provides an example of where the application of the ‘impairment
rule’, as it is called, resulted in huge write-downs (that is, reductions in the statement
of financial position value of the assets) for one large business.

Real World 2.5

Painting a rosy picture

Akzo Nobel, the Dutch paints and chemicals company, on Tuesday defended its £8bn
(€©£11.6bn) acquisition of ICI in 2007 after it took a €1.2bn (€1.5bn) impairment charge on
the former UK industrial giant because of sharply lower paint sales. 9
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The company saw the volume of paint sold fall by 10 per cent in the fourth quarter, with
even steeper declines in Asia, one of the areas where ICI had been strong. This prompted
the move to slash growth estimates and fair value for ICI.

‘It's not a world of high growth any more, it's a world with completely different
challenges,’ said Hans Wijers, chief executive. ‘We expect 2009 to be an uncertain year
with a lot of volatility [and] with challenging volume circumstances.’

The €1.2bn impairment charge cuts into the €4.4bn of goodwill the company recorded
when it acquired ICl and its Dulux brand name, but Akzo defended its previous assump-
tions as conservative.

‘Could we have anticipated that the world economy would go down so much?’
Mr Wijers said. ‘I’'m not sorry about [the ICI] transaction. It was the right thing to do at the
right time and the company has become much stronger because of it.’

Source: adapted from ‘Akzo Nobel defends ICI takeover’, The Financial Times, 24/02/2009 (Steen, M.), copyright © The Financial
Times Ltd.

We saw earlier that intangible, non-current assets with infinite lives must be tested
annually to see whether there has been any impairment. Other non-current assets,
however, must also be tested where events suggest that impairment has taken place.

Inventories

It is not only non-current assets that run the risk of a significant fall in value. The
inventories of a business could also suffer this fate, which could be caused by factors
such as reduced selling prices, obsolescence, deterioration, damage and so on. Where
a fall in value means that the amount likely to be recovered from the sale of the inven-
tories will be lower than their cost, this loss must be reflected in the statement of
financial position. Thus, if the net realisable value (that is, selling price less any sell-
ing costs) falls below the historic cost of inventories held, the former should be used
as the basis of valuation. This reflects, once again, the influence of the prudence con-
vention on the statement of financial position.

Real World 2.6 reveals how one well-known business wrote down the inventories
of one of its products following a sharp reduction in selling prices.

Real World 2.6

You're fired!

“You're fired!” is what some investors might like to tell Amstrad, run by Apprentice star
Sir Alan Sugar. Shares in the company fell nearly 10 per cent as it revealed that sales of
its much-vaunted videophone have failed to take off.

Amstrad launched the E3, a phone allowing users to hold video calls with each other, in
a blaze of publicity last year. But, after cutting the price from £99 to £49, Amstrad sold just
61,000 E3s in the year to June and has taken a £5.7m stock (inventories) write-down.

Source: ‘Amstrad (AMT)’, Investors Chronicle, 7 October 2005.
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The published financial statements of large businesses will normally show the basis
on which inventories are valued. Real World 2.7 shows how one business reports this
information.

Real World 2.7

Reporting inventories

The 2009 annual report of Ted Baker plc, a leading designer clothes brand, includes the
following explanation concerning inventories:

Inventories and work in progress are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost includes materials, direct labour and inward transportation costs. Net realisable value
is based on estimated selling price, less further costs expected to be incurred to completion
and disposal. Provision is made for obsolete, slow moving or defective items where
appropriate.

Source: Ted Baker plc Report and Accounts 2009, p. 44.

Meeting user needs

The statement of financial position is the oldest of the three main financial statements
and many businesses prepare one on a regular basis, even where there is no regula-
tion requiring it to be produced. This suggests that it is regarded as providing useful
information. There are various ways in which the statement of financial position may
help users, including the following:

m [t provides insights about how the business is financed and how its funds are deployed.
The statement of financial position shows how much finance is contributed by the
owners and how much is contributed by outside lenders. It also shows the different
kinds of assets acquired and how much is invested in each kind.

m [t can provide a basis for assessing the value of the business. Since the statement of
financial position lists, and places a value on, the various assets and claims, it can
provide a starting point for assessing the value of the business. It is, however, severely
limited in the extent to which it can do this. We have seen earlier that accounting
rules may result in assets being shown at their historic cost and that the restrictive
definition of assets may exclude certain business resources from the statement of
financial position. Ultimately, the value of a business will be based on its ability to
generate wealth in the future. Because of this, assets need to be valued on the basis
of their wealth-generating potential. Also, other business resources that do not meet
the restrictive definition of assets, such as brand values, need to be similarly valued
and included.

B Relationships between assets and claims can be assessed. It can be useful to look at rela-
tionships between various statement of financial position items, for example the
relationship between how much wealth is tied up in current assets and how much
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is owed in the short term (current liabilities). From this relationship, we can see
whether the business has sufficient short-term assets to cover its maturing obliga-
tions. We shall look at this and other relationships between statement of financial
position items in some detail in Chapter 6.

Performance can be assessed. The effectiveness of a business in generating wealth can
usefully be assessed against the amount of investment that was involved. Knowing
the relationship between profit earned during a period and the value of the net
assets invested can be helpful to many users, particularly owners and managers.
This and similar relationships will also be explored in detail in Chapter 6.

Summary

The main points of this chapter may be summarised as follows.

The major financial statements

m There are three major financial statements: the statement of cash flows, the
income statement (profit and loss account) and the statement of financial posi-
tion (balance sheet).

m The statement of cash flows shows the cash movements over a particular period.

m The income statement shows the wealth (profit) generated over a particular
period.

m The statement of financial position shows the accumulated wealth at a particular
point in time.
The statement of financial position

m This sets out the assets of the business, on the one hand, and the claims against
those assets, on the other.

m Assets are resources of the business that have certain characteristics, such as the
ability to provide future benefits.

m Claims are obligations on the part of the business to provide cash, or some other
benefit, to outside parties.

m Claims are of two types: equity and liabilities.

m Equity represents the claim(s) of the owner(s) and liabilities represent the claims
of others, apart from the owner.

m The statement of financial position reflects the accounting equation:
Assets = Equity + Liabilities
Classification of assets and liabilities

m Assets are normally categorised as being current or non-current.

m Current assets are cash or near cash or are held for sale or consumption in the
normal course of business, or for trading, or for the short term.



Non-current assets are assets that are not current assets. They are normally held
for the long-term operations of the business.

Liabilities are normally categorised as being current or non-current liabilities.

Current liabilities represent amounts due in the normal course of the business’s
operating cycle, or are held for trading, or are to be settled within a year of, or
cannot be deferred for at least a year after, the end of the reporting period.

Non-current liabilities represent amounts due that are not current liabilities.

Statement of financial position layouts

The standard layout begins with assets at the top of the statement of financial
position and places equity and liabilities underneath.

A variation of the standard layout begins with the assets at the top of the state-
ment of financial position. From the total assets figure are deducted the non-
current and current liabilities to arrive at a net assets figure. Equity is placed
underneath.

Accounting conventions

Accounting conventions are the rules of accounting that have evolved to deal
with practical problems experienced by those preparing financial statements.

The main conventions relating to the statement of financial position include
business entity, historic cost, prudence, going concern and dual aspect.

Money measurement

Using money as the unit of measurement limits the scope of the statement of
financial position.

Certain resources such as goodwill, product brands and human resources are
difficult to measure. An ‘arm’s-length transaction’ is normally required before
such assets can be reliably measured and reported on the statement of financial
position.

Money is not a stable unit of measurement — it changes in value over time.

Asset valuation

The ‘benchmark treatment’ is to show property, plant and equipment at historic
cost less any amounts written off for depreciation. However, fair values may be
used rather than depreciated cost.

The ‘benchmark treatment’ for intangible non-current assets is to show the items
at historic cost. Only assets with a finite life will be amortised (depreciated) and
fair values will rarely be used.

Where the recoverable amount from non-current assets is below their carry-
ing amount, this lower amount is reflected in the statement of financial
position.

Inventories are shown at the lower of cost or net realisable value.

Summary
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The usefulness of the statement of financial position
m [t shows how finance has been raised and how it has been deployed.

m [t provides a basis for valuing the business, though the conventional statement of
financial position can only be a starting point.

m Relationships between various statement of financial position items can usefully
be explored.

m Relationships between wealth generated and wealth invested can be helpful indi-
cators of business effectiveness.
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Review guestions

Solutions to these questions can be found at the back of the book, in Appendix C.

2.1 Anaccountant prepared a statement of financial position for a business. In this statement,
the equity of the owner was shown next to the liabilities. This confused the owner, who
argued: ‘My equity is my major asset and so should be shown as an asset on the state-
ment of financial position.” How would you explain this misunderstanding to the owner?

2.2 ‘The statement of financial position shows how much a business is worth.” Do you agree
with this statement? Explain the reasons for your response.

2.3 What is meant by the accounting equation? How does the form of this equation differ
between the two statement of financial position layouts mentioned in the chapter?

2.4 In recent years there have been attempts to place a value on the ‘human assets’ of a
business in order to derive a figure that can be included on the statement of financial posi-
tion. Do you think humans should be treated as assets? Would ‘human assets’ meet the
conventional definition of an asset for inclusion on the statement of financial position?

Exercises

Exercise 2.5 is more advanced than Exercises 2.1 to 2.4. Those with coloured numbers
have solutions at the back of the book, in Appendix D.

If you wish to try more exercises, visit the website at www.myaccountinglab.com.

2.1 On Thursday, the fourth day of his business venture, Paul, the street trader in wrapping
paper (see earlier in the chapter, pages 31-34), bought more inventories for £53 cash.
During the day he sold inventories that had cost £33 for a total of £47.

Required:
Draw up the three financial statements for Paul’s business venture for Thursday.

2.2 While on holiday in Bridlington, Helen had her credit cards and purse stolen from the
beach while she was swimming. She was left with only £40, which she had kept in her
hotel room, but she had three days of her holiday remaining. She was determined to
continue her holiday and decided to make some money to enable her to do so. She
decided to sell orange juice to holidaymakers using the local beach. On day 1 she bought
80 cartons of orange juice at £0.50 each for cash and sold 70 of these at £0.80 each. On
the following day she bought 60 cartons at £0.50 each for cash and sold 65 at £0.80 each.
On the third and final day she bought another 60 cartons at £0.50 each for cash. However,
it rained and, as a result, business was poor. She managed to sell 20 at £0.80 each but
sold off the rest of her inventories at £0.40 each.

Required:
Prepare an income statement and statement of cash flows for each day’s trading and
prepare a statement of financial position at the end of each day’s trading.

Exercises
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2.3 On 1 March, Joe Conday started a new business. During March he carried out the follow-
ing transactions:

1 March
2 March

3 March
4 March

5 March

6 March

Required:

Deposited £20,000 in a bank account.

Bought fixtures and fittings for £6,000 cash and inventories £8,000 on
credit.

Borrowed £5,000 from a relative and deposited it in the bank.

Bought a motor car for £7,000 cash and withdrew £200 in cash for his
own use.

A further motor car costing £9,000 was bought. The motor car bought on
4 March was given in part exchange at a value of £6,500. The balance of
purchase price for the new car was paid in cash.

Conday won £2,000 in a lottery and paid the amount into the business
bank account. He also repaid £1,000 of the borrowings.

Draw up a statement of financial position for the business at the end of each day.

2.4 The following is a list of the assets and claims of Crafty Engineering Ltd at 30 June last year:

£000
Trade payables 86
Motor vehicles 38
Long-term borrowing from Industrial Finance Co. 260
Equipment and tools 207
Short-term borrowings 116
Inventories 1563
Property 320
Trade receivables 185

Required:

(@) Prepare the statement of financial position of the business as at 30 June last year from
the above information using the standard layout. (Hint: There is a missing item that
needs to be deduced and inserted.)

(b) Discuss the significant features revealed by this financial statement.

2.5 The statement of financial position of a business at the start of the week is as follows:

e

ASSETS

Property 145,000
Furniture and fittings 63,000
Inventories 28,000
Trade receivables 33,000
Total assets 269,000
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity 203,000
Short-term borrowing (bank overdraft) 43,000
Trade payables 23,000
Total equity and liabilities 269,000



Exercises

During the week the following transactions take place:

a) Inventories sold for £11,000 cash; these inventories had cost £8,000.

b) Sold inventories for £23,000 on credit; these inventories had cost £17,000.

c) Received cash from trade receivables totalling £18,000.

d) The owners of the business introduced £100,000 of their own money, which was
placed in the business bank account.

(e) The owners brought a motor van, valued at £10,000, into the business.

(f) Bought inventories on credit for £14,000.

(9) Paid trade payables £13,000.

(
(
(
(

Required:
Show the statement of financial position after all of these transactions have been reflected.
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Introduction

In this chapter, we continue our examination of the major financial statements by looking
at the income statement. This statement was briefly considered in Chapter 2 and we
shall now look at it in some detail. We shall see how it is prepared and how it links with
the statement of financial position. We shall also consider some of the key measurement
problems to be faced when preparing the income statement.

Learning outcomes

When you have completed this chapter, you should be able to:
m discuss the nature and purpose of the income statement;

m prepare an income statement from relevant financial information and interpret the
information that it contains;

m discuss the main recognition and measurement issues that must be considered when
preparing the income statement;

m explain the main accounting conventions underpinning the income statement.
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The income statement

What does it mean?

Tate and Lyle plc, whose business is sweeteners, starches and sugar refining, reported
sales revenue of £3,553 million and a profit of £70 million for the year ended on
31 March 2009. To understand fully the significance of these figures, we must be clear
about the nature of revenue and profit. This means that we must be able to answer
questions such as:

m Does the sales revenue of £3,553 million represent the cash generated from sales for
the period?

m What is the relationship between the sales revenue and the profit for the period?

m Can the profit for the period of £70 million be measured with complete accuracy
and certainty?

m Does the profit figure of £70 million mean that the business had £70 million more
in the bank at the end of the year than it had at the beginning?

m How can the sales revenue and profit figures help in assessing performance?

The answers to these and other questions are covered in the chapter.

The income statement

In Chapter 2 we considered the statement of financial position (balance sheet). We saw
that it sets out the wealth of a business, at a particular moment in time, and who contri-
buted that wealth. However, it is not usually enough for users of financial statements
to have information relating only to this aspect of financial health. Businesses exist
to generate wealth, or profit, and it is the profit generated during a period that is the
concern of many users. The main purpose of the income statement — or profit and loss
account, as it is sometimes called - is to measure and report how much profit (wealth)
the business has generated over a period. It also helps users to gain some impression
of how that profit was made. As with the statement of financial position, which we
examined in Chapter 2, the principles of preparation are the same irrespective of whether
the income statement is for a sole proprietorship business or for a limited company.

The measurement of profit requires that the total revenue of the business, generated
during a particular period, is identified. Revenue is simply a measure of the inflow
of economic benefits arising from the ordinary activities of a business. These benefits
will result in either an increase in assets (such as cash or amounts owed to the busi-
ness by its customers) or a decrease in liabilities. Different forms of business enterprise
will generate different forms of revenue. Some examples of the different forms that
revenue can take are as follows:

m sales of goods (for example, by a manufacturer)

m fees for services (for example, of a solicitor)

m subscriptions (for example, of a club)

m interest received (for example, on an investment fund).

Real World 3.1 shows the various forms of revenue generated by a leading football club.
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Real World 3.1

Gunning for revenue

Arsenal Football Club generated total revenue of £313 million for the year ended 31 May
2009. Like other leading clubs, it relies on various forms of revenue to sustain its success.
Figure 3.1 shows the contribution of each form of revenue for the year. The high level of
revenue from property development is unusual for a football club, even for Arsenal. It arises
from the fact that the club is developing its former home Highbury Stadium for residential
accommaodation following its move to the Emirates Stadium.

Figure 3.1 Arsenal’'s revenue for the year ended 31 May 2009
Player trading
Property 1% Gate and other
development match day revenues
28% 32%

/

12%
Commercial 4% 239%
Retail Broadcasting

Gate receipts and broadcasting tend to be Arsenal’s main forms of revenue, although
commercial activities (including sponsorship and events) are also significant. During this
particular year, there was a lot of income from property development. Between them, gate
receipts, broadcasting and commercial activities accounted for 93 per cent of total revenue
other than property development.

Source: based on information in Arsenal Holdings plc Annual Report 2009, Note 3 to the financial statements.

The total expenses relating to each period must also be identified. Expense is really
the opposite of revenue. It represents the outflow of economic benefits arising from
the ordinary activities of a business. This loss of benefits will result in either a decrease
in assets (such as cash) or an increase in liabilities (such as amounts owed to suppliers).
Expenses are incurred in the process of generating, or attempting to generate, revenue.
The nature of the business will again determine the type of expenses that will be
incurred. Examples of some of the more common types of expenses are:

m the cost of buying, or making, the goods that are sold during the period concerned
— known as cost of sales or cost of goods sold
m salaries and wages
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rent and rates

motor vehicle running expenses
insurance

printing and stationery

heat and light

telephone and postage.

The income statement simply shows the total revenue generated during a particular
period and deducts from this the total expenses incurred in generating that revenue.
The difference between the total revenue and total expenses will represent either profit
(if revenue exceeds expenses) or loss (if expenses exceed revenue). Thus, we have:

Profit (or loss) for the period = Total revenue for the period less Total
expenses incurred in generating that revenue

The period over which profit or loss is normally measured is usually known as the
reporting period, but is sometimes called the ‘accounting period’ or ‘financial period’.

Different roles

The income statement and the statement of financial position should not be viewed
in any way as substitutes for one another. Rather they should be seen as performing
different roles. The statement of financial position, as we have seen, sets out the posi-
tion at a single moment in time: it is a ‘snapshot’ of the make-up of the wealth held
by the business. The income statement, on the other hand, is concerned with the flow
of wealth over a period of time. The two statements are, however, closely related.

The income statement links the statements of financial position at the beginning
and the end of a reporting period. Thus, at the start of a new reporting period, the
statement of financial position shows the opening wealth position of the business.
After an appropriate period, an income statement is prepared to show the wealth
generated over that period. A statement of financial position is then also prepared to
reveal the new wealth position at the end of the period. This statement of financial
position will reflect the changes in wealth that have occurred since the previous state-
ment of financial position was drawn up.

We saw in Chapter 2 (page 44) that the effect on the statement of financial position
of making a profit (or loss) means that the accounting equation can be extended as
follows:

Assets (at the end of the period) = Equity (amount at the start of the period
+ profit (or — loss) for the period)
+ Liabilities (at the end of the period)

(This is assuming that the owner makes no injections or withdrawals of equity during
the period.)

The amount of profit or loss for the period affects the statement of financial posi-
tion as an adjustment to equity.

The above equation can be extended to:
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Assets (at the end of the period) = Equity (amount at the start of the period)
+ (sales revenue — expenses for the period)
+ Liabilities (at the end of the period)

In theory, it would be possible to calculate the profit (or loss) for the period by
making all adjustments for revenue and expenses through the equity section of the
statement of financial position. However, this would be rather cumbersome. A better
solution is to have an ‘appendix’ to the equity section, in the form of an income state-
ment. By deducting expenses from revenue for the period, the income statement
derives the profit (or loss) by which the equity figure in the statement of financial
position needs to be adjusted. This profit (or loss) figure represents the net effect of
trading for the period. Through this ‘appendix’, users are presented with a detailed and
more informative view of performance.

Income statement layout

The layout of the income statement will vary according to the type of business to
which it relates. To illustrate an income statement, let us consider the case of a retail
business (that is, a business that buys goods in their completed state and resells them).
This type of business usually has straightforward operations and, as a result, the
income statement is relatively easy to understand.

Example 3.1 sets out a typical layout for the income statement of a retail business.

Example 3.1

Better-Price Stores
Income statement for the year ended 31 October 2009

£
Sales revenue 232,000
Cost of sales (154,000)
Gross profit 78,000
Salaries and wages (24,500)
Rent and rates (14,200)
Heat and light (7,500)
Telephone and postage (1,200)
Insurance (1,000)
Motor vehicle running expenses (3,400)
Depreciation — fixtures and fittings (1,000)
Depreciation — motor van (600)
Operating profit 24,600
Interest received from investments 2,000
Interest on borrowings (1,100)
Profit for the year 25,500

We saw in Chapter 2 that brackets are used to denote when an item is to be deducted.
This convention is used by accountants in preference to + or — signs and will be used
throughout the text.
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The above income statement provides three measures of profit. Let us now con-
sider each.

Gross profit

The first part of the income statement is concerned with calculating the gross profit
for the period. We can see that revenue, which arises from selling the goods, is the first
item to appear. The cost of sales (also called cost of goods sold) for the period is
deducted from sales revenue. This gives the gross profit, which represents the profit
from buying and selling goods, without taking into account any other revenues or
expenses associated with the business.

Operating profit

Other expenses (overheads) that have been incurred in operating the business (salaries
and wages, rent and rates and so on) are then deducted from the gross profit.

The resulting figure is known as the operating profit for the reporting period. This
represents the wealth generated during the period from the normal activities of
the business. It does not take account of any income that the business may have
from activities that are not included in its normal operations. Better-Price Stores in
Example 3.1 is a retailer, so the interest on some spare cash that the business has
invested is not part of its operating profit. Costs of financing the business are also
ignored in the calculation of the operating profit.

Profit for the year

Having established the operating profit, we add any non-operating income (such
as interest receivable) and deduct any interest payable on borrowings made by the
business, to arrive at the profit for the year (or net profit). This is the income that is
attributable to the owner(s) of the business and which will be added to the equity
figure in the statement of financial position. As can be seen, profit for the year is a
residual: that is, the amount remaining after deducting all expenses incurred in gener-
ating the sales revenue for the period and taking account of non-operating income.

Further issues

Having set out the main principles involved in preparing an income statement, we
need to consider some further points.

Cost of sales

The cost of sales (or cost of goods sold) figure for a period can be identified in dif-
ferent ways. In some businesses, the cost of sales amount for each individual sale is
identified at the time of the transaction. Each item of sales revenue is closely matched
with the relevant cost of that sale and so identifying the cost of sales figure for inclu-
sion in the income statement is not a problem. Many large retailers (for example,
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supermarkets) have point-of-sale (checkout) devices that not only record each sale but
also simultaneously pick up the cost of the goods that are the subject of the particular
sale. Other businesses that sell a relatively small number of high-value items (for
example, an engineering business that produces custom-made equipment) also tend
to match sales revenue with the cost of the goods sold, at the time of the sale. However,
some businesses (for example, small retailers) do not usually find it practical to match
each sale to a particular cost of sales figure as the reporting period progresses. Instead,
therefore, they identify the cost of sales figure at the end of the reporting period.

Deriving the cost of sales after the end of the reporting period

To understand how this is done, we need to remember that the cost of sales figure rep-
resents the cost of goods that were sold by the business during the period rather than
the cost of goods that were bought by that business during the period. Part of the goods
bought during a particular period may remain in the business, as inventories, at the
reporting period end. These will normally be sold in the next period. To derive the cost
of sales for a period, we need to know the amount of opening and closing inventories
for the period and the cost of goods bought during the period. Example 3.2 illustrates
how the cost of sales is derived.

Example 3.2

Better-Price Stores, which we considered in Example 3.1 above, began the annual
reporting period with unsold inventories of £40,000 and during that year bought
inventories at a cost of £189,000. At the end of the year, unsold inventories of
£75,000 were still held by the business.

The opening inventories at the beginning of the year plus the goods bought
during the year will represent the total goods available for resale. Thus:

£
Opening inventories 40,000
Purchases (goods bought) 189,000
Goods available for resale 229,000

The closing inventories will represent that portion of the total goods available
for resale that remains unsold at the end of the year. Thus, the cost of goods actu-
ally sold during the annual reporting period must be the total goods available for
resale Jess the inventories remaining at the end of the year. That is:

£
Goods available for resale 229,000
Closing inventories (75,000)
Cost of sales (or cost of goods sold) 154,000

These calculations are sometimes shown on the face of the income statement as in
Example 3.3.
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Example 3.3
£ £

Sales revenue 232,000
Cost of sales:

Opening inventories 40,000

Purchases (goods bought) 189,000

Closing inventories (75,000) (154,000)
Gross profit 78,000

This is just an expanded version of the first section of the income statement for Better-
Price Stores, as set out in Example 3.1. We have simply included the additional informa-
tion concerning inventories balances and purchases for the year provided in Example 3.2.

Classifying expenses

The classifications for the revenue and expense items, as with the classifications of
various assets and claims in the statement of financial position, are often a matter of
judgement by those who design the accounting system. Thus, the income statement
set out in Example 3.1 could have included the insurance expense with the telephone
and postage expense under a single heading — say, ‘general expenses’. Such decisions
are normally based on how useful a particular classification will be to users. This
will usually mean that expense items of material size will be shown separately. For
businesses that trade as limited companies, however, there are rules that dictate the
classification of various items appearing in the financial statements for external report-
ing purposes. These rules will be discussed in Chapter 4.

The following information relates to the activities of H & S Retailers for the year ended
30 April 2010:

£
Motor vehicle running expenses 1,200
Closing inventories 3,000
Rent and rates payable 5,000
Motor vans - cost less depreciation 6,300
Annual depreciation — motor vans 1,500
Heat and light 900
Telephone and postage 450
Sales revenue 97,400
Goods purchased 68,350
Insurance 750
Loan interest payable 620
Balance at bank 4,780
Salaries and wages 10,400
Opening inventories 4,000
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Prepare an income statement for the year ended 30 April 2010. (Hint: Not all items
listed should appear in the income statement.)

Your answer to this activity should be as follows:

H & S Retailers
Income statement for the year ended 30 April 2010

£ £

Sales revenue 97,400
Cost of sales:

Opening inventories 4,000

Purchases 68,350

Closing inventories (3,000) (69,350)
Gross profit 28,050
Salaries and wages (10,400)
Rent and rates (5,000)
Heat and light (900)
Telephone and postage (450)
Insurance (750)
Motor vehicle running expenses (1,200)
Depreciation — motor vans (1,500)
Operating profit 7,850
Loan interest (620)
Profit for the year 7,230

Note that neither the motor vans nor the bank balance are included in this statement,
because they are both assets and so neither revenues nor expenses.

The reporting period

We have seen already that for reporting to those outside the business, a financial
reporting cycle of one year is the norm, though some large businesses produce a half-
yearly, or interim, financial statement to provide more frequent feedback on progress.
For those who manage a business, however, it is probably essential to have much more
frequent feedback on performance. Thus it is quite common for income statements to
be prepared on a quarterly, a monthly, a weekly or even a daily basis in order to show
how things are progressing.

Recognising revenue

A key issue in the measurement of profit concerns the point at which revenue is
recognised. Revenue arising from the sale of goods or provision of a service could be
recognised at various points. Where, for example, a motor car dealer receives an order
for a new car from one of its customers, the associated revenue could be recognised by
the dealer:
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m at the time that the order is placed by the customer;
m at the time that the car is collected by the customer; or
m at the time that the customer pays the dealer.

These three points could well be quite far apart, particularly where the order relates
to a specialist car that is sold to the customer on credit.

The point chosen is not simply a matter of academic interest: it can have a pro-
found impact on the total revenues recognised for a particular reporting period. This,
in turn, could have a profound effect on profit. If the sale transaction straddled the
end of a reporting period, the choice made between the three possible times for recog-
nising the revenue could determine whether it is included as revenue of the earlier
reporting period or the later one.

When dealing with the sale of goods or the provision of services, the main criteria
for recognising revenue are that:

m the amount of revenue can be measured reliably; and
m it is probable that the economic benefits will be received.

An additional criterion, however, must be applied where the revenue comes from
the sale of goods, which is that:

m ownership and control of the items should pass to the buyer.

Activity 3.2 provides an opportunity to apply these criteria to a practical problem.

A manufacturing business sells goods on credit (that is, the customer pays for the goods
some time after they are received). Below are four points in the production/selling cycle
at which revenue might be recognised by the business:

when the goods are produced;

when an order is received from the customer;

when the goods are delivered to, and accepted by, the customer;
when the cash is received from the customer.

A ON =

A significant amount of time may elapse between these different points. At what point
do you think the business should recognise revenue?

All of the three criteria mentioned above will usually be fulfilled at Point 3: when the goods
are passed to, and accepted by, the customer. This is because:

m the selling price and the settlement terms will have been agreed and therefore the
amount of revenue can be reliably measured;

H delivery and acceptance of the goods leads to ownership and control passing to the
buyer;

B transferring ownership gives the seller legally enforceable rights that makes it probable
that the buyer will pay.
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We can see that the effect of applying these criteria is that a sale on credit is usu-
ally recognised before the cash is received. Thus, the total sales revenue figure shown
in the income statement may include sales transactions for which the cash has yet
to be received. The total sales revenue figure in the income statement for a period
will often, therefore, be different from the total cash received from sales during that
period.

For cash sales (that is sales where cash is paid at the same time as the goods are
transferred), there will be no difference in timing between reporting sales revenue and
the cash being received.

Real World 3.2 sets out the revenue recognition criteria for the travel business, TUI
Travel plc (which owns First Choice, Thompson, Exodus and many other well-known
names). We can see that, although clients may pay for flights or holidays some time
before they go, any money received in advance of the departure date, or use of the ser-
vice, is not treated as revenue until later.

Real World 3.2

Selling point

(i) Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised in the income statement when the significant risks and rewards of
ownership have been transferred to the buyer.

Travel agency commissions and other revenues received from the sale of third-party prod-
ucts are recognised when they are earned, typically on receipt of final payment. Revenue in
respect of in-house product is recognised on the date of departure. Revenue from individual
travel modules directly booked by the customer with airline, hotels and incoming agencies is
recognised when the customer departs or uses the respective service.

No revenue is recognised if there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the
consideration due, associated costs or possible return of goods.

(ii) Client monies received in advance (deferred income)

Client monies received at the balance sheet (statement of financial position) date relating to
holidays commencing and flights departing after the year end is deferred and included within
trade and other payables.

Source: TUI Travel plc Annual Report and Accounts 2009, Notes to the consolidated statements, p. 4, www.tuitravelplc.com.

Long-term contracts

Some contracts, both for goods and for services, can last for more than one reporting
period. If the business providing the goods or service were to wait until the contract
is completely fulfilled before recognising revenue, the income statement could give
a misleading impression of the wealth generated in the various reporting periods
covered by the contract. This is a particular problem for businesses that undertake
major long-term contracts, where a single contract could represent a large proportion
of their total activities.
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Construction contracts

Construction contracts often extend over a long period of time. Suppose that a
customer enters into a contract with a builder to have a new factory built that will
take three years to complete. In such a situation, it is possible to recognise revenue
before the factory is completed provided that the building work can be broken down
into a number of stages and each stage can be measured reliably. Let us assume that
building the factory could be broken down into the following stages:

Stage 1 - clearing and levelling the land and putting in the foundations
Stage 2 — building the walls

Stage 3 - putting on the roof

Stage 4 — putting in the windows and completing all the interior work.

Each stage can be awarded a separate price with the total for all the stages being equal
to the total contract price for the factory. This means that, as each stage is completed, the
builder can recognise the price for that stage as revenue and bill the customer accordingly.
This is provided that the outcome of the contract as a whole can be estimated reliably.

If the builder were to wait until the factory was completed before recognising rev-
enue, the income statement covering the final year of the contract would recognise all
of the revenue on the contract, and the income statements for each preceding year
would recognise no revenue. This would give a misleading impression, as it would not
reflect the work done during each period.

Real World 3.3 sets out the revenue recognition criteria for one large business
engaged in long-term contracts.

Real World 3.3

Contract revenue

AMEC pilc is an international business offering consultancy, engineering and project man-
agement services. The point at which revenue on long-term contracts is recognised by the
business is as follows:

As soon as the outcome of a long-term contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue and
expenses are recognised in the income statement in proportion to the stage of completion of
the contract. The stage of completion is assessed by reference to surveys of work performed.
When the outcome of a contract cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to
the extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be recoverable, and contract costs
are expensed as incurred. An expected loss on a contract is recognised immediately in the
income statement.

Source: AMEC plc Annual Report and Accounts 2009, Notes to Consolidated Accounts, p. 68.

Services

Revenue from contracts for services may also be recognised in stages. Suppose a
consultancy business has a contract to install a new computer system for the govern-
ment, which will take several years to complete. Revenue can be recognised before the
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contract is completed as long as the contract can be broken down into stages and the
particular stages of completion can be measured reliably. This is really the same
approach as that used in the construction contract mentioned above.

Sometimes a continuous service is provided to a customer; for example, a telecom-
munications business may provide open access to the Internet to those who subscribe
to the service. In this case, revenue is usually recognised as the service is rendered.
Benefits from providing the service are usually assumed to flow evenly over time and
so revenue is recognised evenly over the subscription period.

Where it is not possible to break down a service into particular stages of comple-
tion, or to assume that benefits from providing the service accrue evenly over time,
revenue will not usually be recognised until the service is fully completed. A solicitor
handling a house purchase for a client would normally be one such example.

Real World 3.4 provides an example of how one major business recognises revenue
from providing services.

Real World 3.4

Sky-high broadcasting revenue

British Sky Broadcasting Group plc is a major satellite broadcaster that generates various
forms of revenue. Here are the ways in which some of its revenues are recognised:

m Pay-per-view revenues — when the event (movie or football match) is viewed

m Subscription services, including Sky TV and Sky Broadband - as the services are provided
m Advertising revenues — when the advertising is broadcast

m Installation, hardware and service revenue — when the goods and services are delivered.

Source: based on information in British Sky Broadcasting Group plc Annual Report and Accounts 2009, p. 78.

When a service is provided, there will normally be a timing difference between the
recognition of revenue and the receipt of cash. Revenue for providing services is often
recognised before the cash is received, as with the sale of goods on credit. However,
there are occasions when it is the other way around, usually because the service
provider demands payment before rendering the service.

Can you think of any examples where cash may be demanded in advance of a service
being provided? (Hint: Try to think of services that you may use.)

Examples of cash being received in advance of the service being provided may include:

B rent received from letting premises

m telephone line rental charges

m TV licence (BBC) or subscription (for example, Sky) fees

B subscriptions received for the use of health clubs or golf clubs.

You may have thought of others.
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Recognising expenses

Having decided on the point at which revenue is recognised, we can now turn to the

issue of the recognition of expenses. The matching convention of accounting is designed
to provide guidance concerning the recognition of expenses. This convention states
that expenses should be matched to the revenue that they helped to generate. In other
words, the expenses associated with a particular item of revenue must be taken into
account in the same reporting period as that in which the item of revenue is included.
Applying this convention may mean that a particular expense reported in the income
statement for a period may not be the same figure as the cash paid for that item dur-
ing the period. The expense reported might be either more or less than the cash paid
during the period. Let us consider two examples that illustrate this point.

When the expense for the period is more than the cash paid
during the period

Example 3.4

Domestic Ltd sells household electrical appliances. It pays its sales staff a commis-
sion of 2 per cent of sales revenue generated. Total sales revenue for last year
amounted to £300,000. This will mean that the commission to be paid in respect
of the sales for the year will be £6,000. However, by the end of the year, the
amount of sales commission that had actually been paid to staff was £5,000. If the
business reported only the amount paid, it would mean that the income state-
ment would not reflect the full expense for the year. This would contravene the
matching convention because not all of the expenses associated with the revenue
of the year would have been matched in the income statement. This will be
remedied as follows:

m Sales commission expense in the income statement will include the amount
paid plus the amount outstanding (that is, £6,000 = £5,000 + £1,000).
m The amount outstanding (£1,000) represents an outstanding liability at the end of
the year and will be included under the heading accrued expenses, or ‘accruals’,
in the statement of financial position. As this item will have to be paid within
twelve months of the year end, it will be treated as a current liability.
m The cash will already have been reduced to reflect the commission paid (£5,000)
during the period.

These points are illustrated in Figure 3.2.

In principle, all expenses should be matched to the period in which the sales
revenue to which they relate is reported. However, it is sometimes difficult to match
certain expenses to sales revenue in the same precise way that we have matched
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Figure 3.2 Accounting for sales commission

Income statement

Statement Sales commission expense Statement of
of cash flows £6,000 financial position
at year end

Cash £5,000

Accrual £1,000

This illustrates the main points of Example 3.4. We can see that the sales commission expense
of £6,000 (which appears in the income statement) is made up of a cash element of £5,000 and
an accrued element of £1,000. The cash element appears in the statement of cash flows and the
accrued element will appear as a year-end liability in the statement of financial position.

sales commission to sales revenue. It is unlikely, for example, that electricity charges
incurred can be linked directly to particular sales in this way. As a result, the electricity
charges incurred by, say, a retailer would be matched to the period to which they relate.
Example 3.5 illustrates this.

Example 3.5

Domestic Ltd, a retailer, has reached the end of its annual reporting period and has
only paid for electricity for the first three-quarters of the year (amounting to
£1,900). This is simply because the electricity company has yet to send out bills
for the quarter that ends on the same date as Domestic Ltd’s year end. The amount
of Domestic Ltd’s bill for the last quarter is £500. In this situation, the amount of
the electricity expense outstanding is dealt with as follows:

m Electricity expense in the income statement will include the amount paid, plus
the amount of the bill for the last quarter (that is, £1,900 + £500 = £2,400) in
order to cover the whole year.

m The amount of the outstanding bill (£500) represents a liability at the end of
the year and will be included under the heading ‘accruals’ or ‘accrued expenses’
in the statement of financial position. This item would normally have to be
paid within twelve months of the year end and will, therefore, be treated as a
current liability.
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m The cash will already have been reduced to reflect the electricity paid (£1,900)
during the period.

This treatment will mean that the correct figure for the electricity expense for
the year will be included in the income statement. It will also have the effect of
showing that, at the end of the annual reporting period, Domestic Ltd owed the
amount of the last quarter’s electricity bill. Dealing with the outstanding amount
in this way reflects the dual aspect of the item and will ensure that the account-
ing equation is maintained.

Domestic Ltd may wish to draw up its income statement before it is able to
discover how much it owes for the last quarter’s electricity. In this case it is quite
normal to make a reasonable estimate of the amount of the bill and to use this
estimated amount as described above.

How will the payment of the electricity bill for the last quarter be dealt with in the
accounting records of Domestic Ltd?

When the electricity bill is eventually paid, it will be dealt with as follows:

B Reduce cash by the amount of the bill.
m Reduce the amount of the accrued expense as shown on the statement of financial
position by the same amount.

If an estimated figure is used and there is a slight error in the estimate, a small
adjustment (either negative or positive depending on the direction of the error) can
be made to the following year’s expense. Dealing with the estimation error in this way
is not strictly correct, but the amount is likely to be insignificant.

Can you think of other expenses for a retailer, apart from electricity charges, that can-
not be linked directly to sales revenue and for which matching will therefore be done on
a time basis?

You may have thought of the following examples:

rent and rates

insurance

interest payments

licence fees payable

wages and salaries (apart from any sales commission or similar payments).

This is not an exhaustive list. You may have thought of others.
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When the amount paid during the period is more than the full
expense for the period

It is not unusual for a business to be in a situation where it has paid more during
the year than the full expense for that year. Example 3.6 illustrates how we deal with
this.

Example 3.6

Images Ltd, an advertising agency, normally pays rent for its premises quarterly in
advance (on 1 January, 1 April, 1 July and 1 October). On the last day of the last
annual reporting period (31 December), it paid the next quarter’s rent (£4,000) to
the following 31 March, which was a day earlier than required. This would mean
that a total of five quarters’ rent was paid during the year. If Images Ltd reports all
of the cash paid as an expense in the income statement, this would be more than
the full expense for the year. This would contravene the matching convention
because a higher figure than the expenses associated with the revenue of the year
would appear in the income statement.
The problem is overcome by dealing with the rental payment as follows:

m Show the rent for four quarters as the appropriate expense in the income state-
ment (that is, 4 x £4,000 = £16,000).

m The cash (that is, 5 x £4,000 = £20,000) would already have been paid during
the year.

m Show the quarter’s rent paid in advance (£4,000) as a prepaid expense under
assets in the statement of financial position. (The rent paid in advance will
appear as a current asset in the statement of financial position, under the head-

ing prepaid expenses or ‘prepayments’.)

In the next reporting period, this prepayment will cease to be an asset and will
become an expense in the income statement of that period. This is because the
rent prepaid relates to the next period and will be ‘used up’ during it.

These points are illustrated in Figure 3.3.

In practice, the treatment of accruals and prepayments will be subject to the
materiality convention of accounting. This convention states that, where the amounts
involved are immaterial, we should consider only what is reasonable. This may mean
that an item will be treated as an expense in the reporting period in which it is paid,
rather than being strictly matched to the revenue to which it relates. For example, a
business may find that, at the end of a reporting period, a bill of £5 has been paid for
stationery that has yet to be delivered. For a business of any size, the time and effort
involved in recording this as a prepayment would not be justified by the little effect
that this would have on the measurement of profit or financial position. The amount
would, therefore, be treated as an expense when preparing the income statement for
the current reporting period and ignored in the following period.
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Figure 3.3 Accounting for rent payable

Income statement

Statement Rent payable expense Statement of
of cash flows £16,000 financial position
at year end

Cash £20,000

Prepaid expense £4,000

This illustrates the main points of Example 3.6. We can see that the rent expense of £16,000
(which appears in the income statement) is made up of four quarters’ rent at £4,000 per quarter.
This is the amount that relates to the period and is ‘used up’ during the period. The cash paid of
£20,000 (which appears in the statement of cash flows) is made up of the cash paid during the
period, which is five quarters at £4,000 per quarter. Finally, the prepayment of £4,000 (which
appears on the statement of financial position) represents the payment made on 31 December
and relates to the next annual reporting period.

Profit, cash and accruals accounting

As we have just seen, revenue does not usually represent cash received, and expenses
are not the same as cash paid. As a result, the profit figure (that is, total revenue minus
total expenses) will not normally represent the net cash generated during a period. It
is therefore important to distinguish between profit and liquidity. Profit is a measure
of achievement, or productive effort, rather than a measure of cash generated. Although
making a profit will increase wealth, as we have already seen in Chapter 2, cash is only
one form in which that wealth may be held.

The above points are reflected in the accruals convention of accounting, which
asserts that profit is the excess of revenue over expenses for a period, not the excess of
cash receipts over cash payments. Leading on from this, the approach to accounting

that is based on the accruals convention is frequently referred to as accruals accounting.
Thus, the statement of financial position and the income statement are both prepared
on the basis of accruals accounting. The statement of cash flows, on the other hand,
is not, as it simply deals with cash receipts and payments.

Depreciation

The expense of depreciation, which appeared in the income statement in Activity 3.1,
requires further explanation. Most non-current assets do not have a perpetual existence.
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They are eventually used up in the process of generating revenue for the business. In
essence, depreciation is an attempt to measure that portion of the cost (or fair value)
of a non-current asset that has been used up in generating the revenue recognised
during a particular period. The depreciation charge is considered to be an expense of
the period to which it relates. Depreciation tends to be relevant both to tangible non-
current assets (property, plant and equipment) and to intangible non-current assets.
We should be clear that the principle is the same for both types of non-current asset.
We shall deal with each of the two in turn.

Tangible non-current assets (property, plant and equipment)
To calculate a depreciation charge for a period, four factors have to be considered:

the cost (or fair value) of the asset
the useful life of the asset

the residual value of the asset

the depreciation method.

The cost (or fair value) of the asset

The cost of an asset will include all costs incurred by the business to bring the asset
to its required location and to make it ready for use. Thus, in addition to the costs
of acquiring the asset, any delivery costs, installation costs (for example, setting up a
new machine) and legal costs incurred in the transfer of legal title (for example, in
purchasing property) will be included as part of the total cost of the asset. Similarly,
any costs incurred in improving or altering an asset in order to make it suitable for its
intended use within the business will also be included as part of the total cost.

Andrew Wu (Engineering) Ltd bought a new motor car for its marketing director. The
invoice received from the motor car supplier showed the following:

£

New BMW 325i 26,350
Delivery charge 80
Alloy wheels 660
Sun roof 200
Petrol 30
Number plates 130
Road fund licence 120

27,570
Part exchange - Reliant Robin (1,000)
Amount outstanding 26,570

What is the total cost of the new car that will be treated as part of the business’s
property, plant and equipment?
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The cost of the new car will be as follows:

£
New BMW 325i 26,350
Delivery charge 80
Alloy wheels 660
Sun roof 200
Number plates 130
27,420

This cost includes delivery charges, which are necessary to bring the asset into use.
It also includes number plates, as they are a necessary and integral part of the asset.
Improvements (alloy wheels and sun roof) are also regarded as part of the total cost of the
motor car. The petrol and road fund licence, however, represent costs of operating the
asset rather than a part of the total cost of acquiring it and making it ready for use. These
amounts will, therefore, be charged as an expense in the period incurred (although part of
the cost of the licence may be regarded as a prepaid expense in the period incurred).

The part-exchange figure shown is part payment of the total amount outstanding and so
is not relevant to a consideration of the total cost.

The fair value of an asset was defined in Chapter 2 as the exchange value that could
be obtained in an arm’s-length transaction. As we saw, assets may be revalued to fair
value only if this can be measured reliably. When a revaluation is carried out, all items
within the same class must be revalued and revaluations must be kept up to date.

The useful life of the asset

A tangible non-current asset has both a physical life and an economic life. The physical
life will be exhausted through the effects of wear and tear and/or the passage of time.
It is possible, however, for the physical life to be extended considerably through care-
ful maintenance, improvements and so on. The economic life is decided by the effects
of technological progress and by changes in demand. After a while, the benefits of
using the asset may be less than the costs involved. This may be because the asset is
unable to compete with newer assets, or because it is no longer relevant to the needs
of the business. The economic life of a non-current tangible asset may be much shorter
than its physical life. For example, a computer may have a physical life of eight years,
but an economic life of just three years.

It is the economic life that will determine the expected useful life for the purpose
of calculating depreciation. Forecasting the economic life, however, may be extremely
difficult in practice: both the rate at which technology progresses and shifts in con-
sumer tastes can be swift and unpredictable.

Residual value (disposal value)

When a business disposes of a tangible non-current asset that may still be of value to
others, some payment may be received. This payment will represent the residual value,
or disposal value, of the asset. To calculate the total amount to be depreciated, the
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residual value must be deducted from the cost (or fair value) of the asset. The likely
amount to be received on disposal can, once again, be difficult to predict. The best
guide is often past experience of similar assets sold.

Depreciation methods

Once the amount to be depreciated (that is, the cost, or fair value, of the asset less any
residual value) has been estimated, the business must select a method of allocating this
depreciable amount between the annual reporting periods covering the asset’s useful
life. Although there are various ways in which the total depreciation may be allocated
and, from this, a depreciation charge for each year derived, there are really only two
methods that are commonly used in practice.

The first of these is known as the straight-line method. This method simply allo-
cates the amount to be depreciated evenly over the useful life of the asset. In other
words, an equal amount of depreciation is charged for each year that the asset is held.

Example 3.7

To illustrate this method, consider the following information:
Cost of machine £78,124
Estimated residual value at the end of its useful life £2,000
Estimated useful life 4 years

To calculate the depreciation charge for each year, the total amount to be
depreciated must be calculated. This will be the total cost less the estimated
residual value: that is, £78,124 — £2,000 = £76,124. Having done this, the annual
depreciation charge can be derived by dividing the amount to be depreciated by
the estimated useful life of the asset of four years. The calculation is therefore:

£76,124 _ £19,031

Thus, the annual depreciation charge that appears in the income statement in
relation to this asset will be £19,031 for each of the four years of the asset’s life.

The amount of depreciation relating to the asset will be accumulated for as long
as the asset continues to be owned by the business. This accumulated depreciation
figure will increase each year as a result of the annual depreciation amount charged
to the income statement. This accumulated amount will be deducted from the
cost of the asset on the statement of financial position. At the end of the second
year, for example, the accumulated depreciation will be £19,031 x 2 = £38,062.
The asset details will appear on the statement of financial position as follows:

£
Machine at cost 78,124
Accumulated depreciation (38,062)
40,062
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As we saw in Chapter 2, the balance of £40,062 shown above is referred to as the
carrying amount (sometimes also known as the written-down value or net book value)
of the asset. It represents that portion of the cost (or fair value) of the asset that has
still to be charged as an expense (written off) in future years. It must be emphasised
that this figure does not, except by coincidence, represent the current market value,
which may be quite different. The only point at which the carrying amount is intended
to equal the market value of the asset is immediately before it is to be disposed of. Thus
in Example 3.7, at the end of the four-year life of the machine, the carrying amount
would be £2,000 - its estimated disposal value.
The straight-line method derives its name from the fact that the carrying amount
of the asset at the end of each year, when plotted against time, will result in a straight
line, as shown in Figure 3.4.

Figure 3.4 Graph of carrying amount against time using the straight-line
method

Carrying 80

amount
(£000)

| | |
0 1 2 3 4
Asset life (years)

The carrying amount of the asset declines by a constant amount each year. This is because
the straight-line method provides a constant depreciation charge each year. The result, when
plotted on a graph, is a straight line.

The second approach to calculating annual depreciation which is found in practice
is referred to as the reducing-balance method. This method applies a fixed percentage
rate of depreciation to the carrying amount of the asset each year. The effect of this
will be high annual depreciation charges in the early years and lower charges in the
later years. To illustrate this method, let us take the same information that was used
in Example 3.7. By using a fixed percentage of 60 per cent of the carrying amount to
determine the annual depreciation charge, the effect will be to reduce the carrying
amount to £2,000 after four years.
The calculations will be as follows:
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£
Cost of machine 78,124
Year 1 Depreciation charge (60%* of cost) (46,874)
Carrying amount 31,250
Year 2 Depreciation charge (60% of carrying amount) (18,750)
Carrying amount 12,500
Year 3 Depreciation charge (60% of carrying amount) (7,500)
Carrying amount 5,000
Year 4 Depreciation charge (60% of carrying amount) (3,000)
Residual value 2,000

* Box 3.1 explains how to derive the fixed percentage.

Box 3.1
Deriving the fixed percentage

Deriving the fixed percentage to be applied requires the use of the following formula:
P=(1-%/R/C)x 100%
where: P = the depreciation percentage
n = the useful life of the asset (in years)
R = the residual value of the asset
C = the cost, or fair value, of the asset.

The fixed percentage rate will, however, be given in all examples used in this text.

We can see that the pattern of depreciation is quite different between the two
methods. If we plot the carrying amount of the asset, which has been derived using
the reducing-balance method, against time, the result will be as shown in Figure 3.5.

Figure 3.5 Graph of carrying amount against time using the reducing-

balance method
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Under the reducing-balance method, the carrying amount of an asset falls by a larger amount in
the earlier years than in the later years. This is because the depreciation charge is based on a
fixed percentage of the carrying amount.




Assume that the machine used in the example above was owned by a business that
made a profit before depreciation of £40,000 for each of the four years in which the asset

was held.

Calculate the profit for the business for each year under each depreciation method,
and comment on your findings.

Your answer should be as follows:

Straight-line method

@ (b) (@a-b)
Profit before Depreciation Profit
depreciation
£ £ £
Year 1 40,000 19,031 20,969
Year 2 40,000 19,031 20,969
Year 3 40,000 19,031 20,969
Year 4 40,000 19,031 20,969
Reducing-balance method
@ (b) (a-b)
Profit before Depreciation Profit/(loss)
depreciation
£ £ £
Year 1 40,000 46,874 (6,874)
Year 2 40,000 18,750 21,250
Year 3 40,000 7,500 32,500
Year 4 40,000 3,000 37,000

The straight-line method of depreciation results in a constant profit figure over the
four-year period. This is because both the profit before depreciation and the depreciation
charge are constant over the period. The reducing-balance method, however, results in a
changing profit figure over time, despite the fact that in this example the pre-depreciation
profit is the same each year. In the first year a loss is reported and, thereafter, a rising profit.

Depreciation

Although the pattern of profit over the four-year period will be quite different,
depending on the depreciation method used, the total profit for the period (£83,876)
will remain the same. This is because both methods of depreciating will allocate the
same amount of total depreciation (£76,124) over the four-year period. It is only the

amount allocated between years that will differ.
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In practice, the use of different depreciation methods may not have such a dramatic
effect on profits as suggested in Activity 3.7. This is because businesses typically have
more than one depreciating non-current asset. Where a business replaces some of its
assets each year, the total depreciation charge calculated under the reducing-balance
method will reflect a range of charges (from high through to low), as assets will be at
different points in the replacement cycle. This could mean that each year’s total depre-
ciation charge may not be significantly different from the total depreciation charge
that would be derived under the straight-line method.

Selecting a depreciation method

How does a business choose which depreciation method to use for a particular asset?
The answer is the one that best matches the depreciation expense to the pattern of
economic benefits that the asset provides. Where these benefits are provided evenly
over time (buildings, for example), the straight-line method is usually appropriate.
Where assets lose their efficiency (as with certain types of machinery), the benefits
provided will decline over time and so the reducing-balance method may be more
appropriate. Where the pattern of economic benefits provided by the asset is uncer-
tain, the straight-line method is normally chosen.

There is an International Financial Reporting Standard (International Accounting
Standard) which deals with the depreciation of property, plant and equipment. As we
shall see in Chapter 4, the purpose of financial reporting standards is to narrow areas
of accounting difference and to try to ensure that information provided to users is
transparent and comparable. The relevant standard endorses the view that the depre-
ciation method chosen should reflect the pattern of economic benefits provided but
does not specify particular methods to be used. It states that the useful life, depre-
ciation method and residual values of non-current assets should be reviewed at least
annually and adjustments made where appropriate.

Real World 3.5 sets out the depreciation policies of Thorntons plc.

Real World 3.5

Sweet talk on depreciation policies

Thorntons plc, the manufacturer and retailer of confectionery, uses the straight-line method
to depreciate all its property, plant and equipment, other than land and assets in the course
of construction. The financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2009 show the period
over which different classes of assets are depreciated as follows:

Long leasehold and freehold premises 50 years

Short leasehold land and buildings Period of the lease
Other plant, vehicles and equipment 3 to 15 years
Retail fixtures and fittings Up to 10 years

We can see that there are wide variations in the expected useful lives of the various assets held.

Source: Thorntons plc Annual Report and Accounts 2009, p. 49.




It seems that Thorntons plc is typical of UK businesses in that most use the straight-

line approach. The reducing-balance method is not very much used.

The approach taken to calculating depreciation is summarised in Figure 3.6.

Figure 3.6 Calculating the annual depreciation charge

Depreciable amount

Depreciation Depreciation Depreciation

asset using an appropriate depreciation method.

Depreciation

The cost (or fair value) of an asset less the residual value will represent the amount to be depre-
ciated. This amount is depreciated over the useful life (four years in this particular case) of the

Depreciating intangible assets

Where an intangible asset has a finite life, the approach taken for the depreciation
(or amortisation as it is usually called with intangibles) is broadly the same as that for
property, plant and equipment (tangible non-current assets). The asset is amortised
(depreciated) over its useful life and the amortisation method used should reflect the
pattern of benefits provided. Some differences arise, however, because of the valua-
tion problems surrounding these assets. Intangible assets are reported initially at cost
but can, in principle, be revalued to fair value. However, this rarely occurs as there is

Depreciation
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usually no active market from which to establish fair values. For similar reasons, the
residual value of an intangible asset is normally assumed to be zero.

We saw in Chapter 2 that some intangible assets, which may include acquired
goodwill, have an infinite useful life. These assets are not amortised but instead are
tested for impairment at least annually. While intangible assets with finite lives and
property, plant and equipment are also subject to impairment testing, this will only
occur when there is an indication that impairment may have taken place. They are not
tested for impairment on a routine basis.

Depreciation and asset replacement

There seems to be a misunderstanding in the minds of some people that the purpose
of depreciation is to provide the funds for the replacement of a non-current asset
when it reaches the end of its useful life. However, this is not the purpose of depreci-
ation as conventionally defined. It was mentioned earlier that depreciation represents
an attempt to allocate the cost or fair value (less any residual value) of a non-current
asset over its expected useful life. The resulting depreciation charge in each reporting
period represents an expense, which is then used in the calculation of profit for the
period. Calculating the depreciation charge for a period is therefore necessary for the
proper measurement of financial performance. This must be done whether or not the
business intends to replace the asset in the future.

If there is an intention to replace the asset, the depreciation charge in the income
statement will not ensure that liquid funds are set aside by the business specifically for
this purpose. Although the effect of a depreciation charge is to reduce profit and,
therefore, to reduce the amount available for withdrawal by the owners, the amounts
retained within the business as a result may be invested in ways that are unrelated to
the replacement of the particular asset.

Depreciation and judgement

From what we have just seen about depreciation, it seems that accounting is not as
precise and objective as it sometimes appears to be. There are areas where subjective
judgement is required and depreciation provides a good illustration of this.

What kinds of judgements must be made to calculate a depreciation charge for a period?

You may have thought of the following:

B the expected residual or disposal value of the asset
B the expected useful life of the asset
B the choice of depreciation method.
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Making different judgements on these matters would result in a different pattern of
depreciation charges over the life of the asset and, therefore, in a different pattern
of reported profits. However, underestimations or overestimations that are made in
relation to the above will be adjusted for in the final year of an asset’s life. As a result,
the total depreciation charge (and total profit) over the asset’s life will not be affected
by estimation errors.

Real World 3.6 describes the effect of extending the useful life of property, plant and
equipment on the short-term profits of one large business.

Real World 3.6

Sports massage

JJB Sports plc, a leading retailer, reported interim financial results for the six months ended
30 June 2005 that caused some disquiet among investors and analysts. The business
changed the estimates for the useful life of its property, plant and equipment when calculat-
ing depreciation. It explained that this was due to new requirements to adopt International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) when preparing financial statements. The article
below, however, suggests that not everyone believed this.

JJB massages results to boost profits
High street retailer JUB Sports massaged last week’s disappointing interim results by chang-
ing its depreciation calculations, in order to boost flagging profits by £4.3 million.

Analysts admitted that they were caught on the hop, as the company reported a 35.8%
drop in operating profits from £27.4 million to £17.6 million for six months ended June 2005
on revenues down 6% to £340.4 million. Operating profits would have plummeted even
further to £14.3 million had the company not changed its accounting for depreciation. ‘The
company explained the change as coming out of its IFRS conversion review, but it was clearly
there for other reasons,’” said Teather & Greenwood retail analyst Sanjay Vidyarthi.

JJB said that an impairment review ahead of its IFRS transition had forced a rethink on the
carrying value of property, plant and equipment.

It concluded that these items had useful economic lives that more closely matched the
length of the short-term lease of the property, rather than the 10-year economic life which had
formed the basis of the depreciation charge in previous reporting periods.

Richard Ratner, head of equity research at Seymour Pierce, said: ‘They said the way they
had depreciated assets previously was not correct but | haven’t seen any other companies
make this kind of change.’

JJUB’s share price fell from 168.2p before the results to 164.7p at the end of last week.

Source: ‘JJB massages results to boost profits’, Accountancy Age, 20 October 2005, p. 3.

Costing inventories

The way in which we measure the cost of inventories (or stock) is important because
the cost of inventories sold during a reporting period will affect the calculation of
profit. Furthermore, the cost of remaining inventories held at the end of the reporting
period can affect the portrayal of wealth in the statement of financial position. It is
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tempting to think that determining the cost of inventories used or still held is pretty
straightforward. However, during a period of changing prices, it can be a problem.

To determine the cost of the inventories sold and the cost of the inventories
remaining at the end of the reporting period, an assumption must be made about the
way in which inventories are physically handled. This assumption need not have any-
thing to do with how the inventories are actually handled. It is concerned only with
providing useful accounting information.

Three common assumptions used are:

m firstin, first out (FIFO), in which it is assumed that the earliest acquired inventories
held are the first to be used;

m last in, first out (LIFO), in which it is assumed that the latest acquired inventories
held are the first to be used; and

m weighted average cost (AVCO), in which it is assumed that inventories acquired lose
their separate identity and go into a ‘pool’. Any issues of inventories from this pool
will reflect the weighted average cost of inventories held.

Example 3.8 provides a simple illustration of the way in which each method is applied.

Example 3.8

A business commenced on 1 May to supply oil to factories. During the first month,
the following transactions took place:

Tonnes Cost per tonne
May 2 Purchased 10,000 £10
May 10 Purchased 20,000 £13
May 18 Sold 9,000

First in, first out (FIFO)

Using the first in, first out approach, 9,000 tonnes of the 10,000 tonnes bought on
2 May are treated as if these are the ones to be sold. The remaining inventories bought
on 2 May (1,000 tonnes) and the inventories bought on 10 May (20,000 tonnes) will
become the closing inventories. Thus we have:

Cost of sales (9,000 @ £10 per tonne) £90,000
Closing inventories
£
(1,000 @ £10 per tonne) 10,000
(20,000 @ £13 per tonne) 260,000
270,000

Last in, first out (LIFO)

Using the last in, first out approach, 9,000 tonnes of the inventories bought on 10 May
will be treated as if these are the first to be sold. The earlier inventories bought on
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2 May (10,000 tonnes) and the remainder of the inventories bought on 10 May
(11,000 tonnes) will become the closing inventories. Thus we have:

Cost of sales (9,000 @ £13 per tonne)

Closing inventories

(11,000 @ £13 per tonne)
(10,000 @ £10 per tonne)

Weighted average cost (AVCO)

£117,000

£
143,000
100,000
243,000

Since newly acquired inventories are treated, for accounting purposes, as if they lose
their separate identity, any issues should reflect the weighted average cost of inventor-
ies held. Using this approach, a weighted average cost, based on the quantities of
each batch purchased, is calculated. The weighted average cost is then used to derive
both the cost of goods sold and the cost of remaining inventories held. This simply
means that the cost of the inventories bought on 2 May and 10 May are added
together and then divided by the total number of tonnes to obtain the weighted aver-

age cost per tonne. That is:

Average cost = ((10,000 x £10) + (20,000 x £13))/(10,000 + 20,000) = £12 per tonne

Both the cost of sales and the value of the closing inventories are then based on this

average cost per tonne. Thus we have:

Cost of sales (9,000 @ £12 per tonne)
Closing inventories (21,000 @ £12 per tonne)

£108,000
£252,000

Suppose that the 9,000 tonnes of inventories in Example 3.8 were sold for £15 a tonne.

(a) Calculate the gross profit for the period under each of the three costing methods.
(b) What do you note about the different profit and closing inventories valuations when

using each method, when prices are rising?

Your answer should be along the following lines:

(@) Gross profit calculation:

FIFO LIFO AVCO

£000 £000 £000
Sales revenue (9,000 @ £15) 135 135 135
Cost of sales (90) (117) (108)
Gross profit _45 _18 27
Closing inventories figure 270 243 252
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(b) These figures show that FIFO will give the highest gross profit during a period of rising
prices. This is because sales revenue is matched with the earlier (and cheaper) pur-
chases. LIFO will give the lowest gross profit because sales revenue is matched against
the more recent (and dearer) purchases. The AVCO method will normally give a figure
that is between these two extremes.

The closing inventories figure in the statement of financial position will be highest with
the FIFO method. This is because the cost of oil still held will be based on the more recent
(and dearer) purchases. LIFO will give the lowest closing inventories figure as the oil held
will be based on the earlier (and cheaper) purchases. Once again, the AVCO method will
normally give a figure that is between these two extremes. During a period of falling prices,
the position of FIFO and LIFO is reversed.

The different costing methods will only have an effect on the reported profit from one
reporting period to the next. The figure derived for closing inventories will be carried
forward and matched with sales revenue in a later period. Thus, if the cheaper pur-
chases of inventories are matched to sales revenue in the current period, it will mean
that the dearer purchases will be matched to sales revenue in a later period. Over the life
of the business, therefore, the total profit will be the same either way.

Inventories - some further issues

We saw in Chapter 2 that the convention of prudence requires that inventories be
valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. (The net realisable value of inven-
tories is the estimated selling price less any further costs necessary to complete the
goods and any costs involved in selling and distributing them.) In theory, this means
that the valuation method applied to inventories could switch each year, depending
on which of cost and net realisable value is the lower. In practice, however, the cost of
the inventories held is usually below the current net realisable value - particularly dur-
ing a period of rising prices. It is, therefore, the cost figure that will normally appear
in the statement of financial position.

Can you think of any circumstances where the net realisable value will be lower than the
cost of inventories held, even during a period of generally rising prices?

The net realisable value may be lower where:

B goods have deteriorated or become obsolete;

m there has been a fall in the market price of the goods;
B the goods are being used as a ‘loss leader’;

B bad buying decisions have been made.

There is an International Financial Reporting Standard that deals with inventories.
It states that, when preparing financial statements for external reporting, the cost



Trade receivables problems

of inventories should normally be determined using either FIFO or AVCO. The LIFO
approach is not an acceptable method to use for external reporting. The standard also
requires the ‘lower of cost and net realisable value’ rule to be used and so endorses the
application of the prudence convention.

Real World 3.7 sets out the inventories costing methods of one well-known super-
market business.

Real World 3.7

Buy one, get one free

J Sainsbury plc, the supermarket chain, employs two methods of costing inventories and the
particular method applied depends on where the inventories are located. The business reports:
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Inventories at warehouses

are valued on a first-in, first-out basis. Those at retail outlets are valued at calculated average
cost prices.

Source: J Sainsbury plc Annual Report 2009, p. 49.

Costing inventories and depreciation provide two examples where the consistency
convention must be applied. This convention holds that once a particular method of
accounting is selected, it should be applied consistently over time. Thus, it would not
be acceptable to switch from, say, FIFO to AVCO between periods (unless exceptional
circumstances make it appropriate). The purpose of this convention is to help users
make valid comparisons of performance and position from one period to the next.

Reporting inventories in the financial statements provides a further example of the need
to apply subjective judgement. For the inventories of a retail business, what are the main
areas where judgement is required?

The main areas are:

m the choice of cost method (FIFO, LIFO, AVCO);
B deducing the net realisable value figure for inventories held.

Trade receivables problems

We have seen that, when businesses sell goods or services on credit, revenue will
usually be recognised before the customer pays the amounts owing. Recording the
dual aspect of a credit sale will involve increasing sales revenue and increasing trade
receivables by the amount of the revenue from the credit sale.

With this type of sale there is always the risk that the customer will not pay the
amount due, however reliable they might have appeared to be at the time of the sale.
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When it becomes reasonably certain that the customer will never pay, the debt owed
is considered to be a bad debt and this must be taken into account when preparing the
financial statements.

When preparing the financial statements, what would be the effect on the income state-
ment, and on the statement of financial position, of not taking into account the fact that
a debt is bad?

The effect would be to overstate the assets (trade receivables) on the statement of finan-
cial position and to overstate profit in the income statement, as the revenue which has been
recognised will not result in any future benefit.

To provide a more realistic picture of financial performance and position, the bad
debt must be ‘written off’. This will involve reducing the trade receivables and increas-
ing expenses (by creating an expense known as ‘bad debts written oft’) by the amount
of the bad debt.

The matching convention requires that the bad debt is written off in the same
period as the sale that gave rise to the debt is recognised.

Note that, when a debt is bad, the accounting response is not simply to cancel the
original sale. If this were done, the income statement would not be so informative.
Reporting the bad debts as an expense can be extremely useful in assessing manage-
ment performance.

The treatment of bad debts represents a further example where judgement is needed to
derive an appropriate expense figure.

What will be the effect of different judgements concerning the appropriate amount of
bad debts expense on the profit for a particular period and on the total profit reported
over the life of the business?

Judgement is often required in deriving a figure for bad debts incurred during a period. There
may be situations where views will differ concerning whether or not a debt is irrecover-
able. The decision concerning whether or not to write off a bad debt will have an effect on
the expenses for the period and, therefore, on the reported profit. However, over the life of
the business the total reported profit would not be affected, as incorrect judgements in one
period will be adjusted for in a later period.

Suppose that a debt of £100 was written off in a period and that, in a later period, the
amount owing was actually received. The increase in expenses of £100 in the period in
which the bad debt was written off would be compensated for by an increase in revenue of
£100 when the amount outstanding was finally received (bad debt recovered). If, on the
other hand, the amount owing of £100 was never written off in the first place, the profit for
the two periods would not be affected by the bad debt adjustment and would, therefore,
be different — but the total profit for the two periods would be the same.



Trade receivables problems

Real World 3.8 describes the recent rise in bad debts among small and medium-
sized businesses.

Real World 3.8

Bad debts getting worse

The average amount of bad debt being written off by small and medium-sized businesses
has doubled in twelve months to £2,529, according to research by Barclays.

The bank’s annual late payments survey, covering 1,000 small and medium-sized busi-
nesses, found that, on any given day, about £9 billion was owed to such companies,
although this is £1 billion less than in the previous year. Although 18 per cent of those asked
said that late payers were a threat to the company’s survival, this was down from 32 per
cent in the same survey in 2008.

One in six of the company heads interviewed said they had cancelled more debt in 2009
than in the previous twelve months.

Source: ‘SMEs write off more bad debt’, The Financial Times, 12/03/2010 (Moules, J.), copyright © The Financial Times Ltd.

Let us now try to bring together some of the points that we have raised in this
chapter through a self-assessment question.

Self-assessment question 3.1

TT and Co. is a new business that started trading on 1 January 2009. The following is a
summary of transactions that occurred during the first year of trading:

1 The owners introduced £50,000 of equity, which was paid into a bank account opened
in the name of the business.

2 Premises were rented from 1 January 2009 at an annual rental of £20,000. During the
year, rent of £25,000 was paid to the owner of the premises.

3 Rates (a tax on business premises) were paid during the year as follows:

For the period 1 January 2009 to 31 March 2009 £500
For the period 1 April 2009 to 31 March 2010 £1,200

4 A delivery van was bought on 1 January 2009 for £12,000. This is expected to be used
in the business for four years and then to be sold for £2,000.
5 Wages totalling £33,500 were paid during the year. At the end of the year, the business
owed £630 of wages for the last week of the year.
6 Electricity bills for the first three quarters of the year were paid totalling £1,650. After
31 December 2009, but before the financial statements had been finalised for the year,
the bill for the last quarter arrived showing a charge of £620.
7 Inventories totalling £143,000 were bought on credit.
Inventories totalling £12,000 were bought for cash.
9 Sales revenue on credit totalled £152,000 (cost of sales £74,000). 9
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10 Cash sales revenue totalled £35,000 (cost of sales £16,000).
11 Receipts from trade receivables totalled £132,000.

12 Payments to trade payables totalled £121,000.

13 Van running expenses paid totalled £9,400.

At the end of the year it was clear that a credit customer (trade receivable) who owed
£400 would not be able to pay any part of the debt. All of the other trade receivables were
expected to settle in full.

The business uses the straight-line method for depreciating non-current assets.

Required:
Prepare an income statement for the year to 31 December 2009 and a statement of
financial position as at that date.

The solution to this question can be found at the back of the book, in Appendix B.

Uses and usefulness of the income statement

The income statement, like the statement of financial position, has been around for a
long time. Most large businesses prepare an income statement on a frequent basis
(monthly or even more frequently). There is, however, no rule requiring this state-
ment to be produced more frequently than once, or in some cases twice, a year. The
income statement is, therefore, regarded as capable of providing useful information.
In particular, this statement may help in revealing:

m How effective the business has been in generating wealth. Since wealth generation is the
primary reason for most businesses to exist, assessing how much wealth has been
created is an important issue. Although different judgements concerning deprecia-
tion, inventories and bad debts may affect the calculation of profit for a period, this
problem should not be overstated. For most businesses in most years, the effect of
making different judgements would probably not significantly affect the final profit
figure.

m How the profit was derived. For some users, the only item of concern may be the final
profit figure, or bottom line as it is sometimes called. While this is a primary measure
of performance, and its importance is difficult to overstate, the income statement
contains other information that should also be of interest. To evaluate business per-
formance effectively, it is important to discover how the profit figure was derived.
Thus the level of sales revenue, the nature and amount of expenses incurred and
the profit, in relation to sales revenue, are also important to an understanding of
business performance. The analysis and interpretation of financial statements are
considered in detail in Chapter 6.



Summary

The main points of this chapter may be summarised as follows.

The income statement (profit and loss account)

m The income statement measures and reports how much profit (or loss) has been
generated over a period.

m Profit (or loss) for the period is the difference between the total revenue and total
expenses for the period.

m The income statement links the statements of financial position at the beginning
and end of a reporting period.

m Normally, the income statement will first calculate gross profit and then deduct
any overheads for the period. The final figure derived is the profit (or loss) for the
period.

m Gross profit represents the difference between the sales revenue for the period and
the cost of sales.

Expenses and revenue

m Cost of sales may be identified either by matching the cost of each sale to the
particular sale or, in the case of retail and wholesaling businesses, by adjusting
the goods bought during the period to take account of opening and closing
inventories.

m Classifying expenses is often a matter of judgement, although there are rules for
businesses that operate as limited companies.

m Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be measured reliably and
it is probable that the economic benefits will be received.

m Where there is a sale of goods, there is an additional criterion that ownership and
control must pass to the buyer before revenue can be recognised.

m Revenue can be recognised after partial completion provided that a particular
stage of completion can be measured reliably.

m The matching convention states that expenses should be matched to the revenue
that they help generate.

m A particular expense reported in the income statement may not be the same as
the cash paid. This will result in accruals or prepayments appearing in the state-
ment of financial position.

m The materiality convention states that where the amounts are immaterial, we
should consider only what is expedient.

m ‘Accruals accounting’ is preparing the income statement and statement of finan-
cial position following the accruals convention, which says that profit = revenue
less expenses (not cash receipts less cash payments).

Summary
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Depreciation of non-current assets

Depreciation requires a consideration of the cost (or fair value), useful life and
residual value of an asset. It also requires a consideration of the method of
depreciation.

The straight-line method of depreciation allocates the amount to be depreciated
evenly over the useful life of the asset.

The reducing-balance method applies a fixed percentage rate of depreciation to
the carrying amount of an asset each year.

The depreciation method chosen should reflect the pattern of benefits associated
with the asset.

Depreciation is an attempt to allocate the cost (or fair value), less the residual
value, of an asset over its useful life. It does not provide funds for replacement
of the asset.

Costing inventories

The way in which we derive the cost of inventories is important in the calcula-
tion of profit and the presentation of financial position.

The first in, first out (FIFO) method approaches matters as if the earliest
inventories held are the first to be used.

The last in, first out (LIFO) method approaches matters as if the latest inventories
are the first to be used.

The weighted average cost (AVCO) method applies an average cost to all inven-
tories used.

When prices are rising, FIFO gives the lowest cost of sales figure and highest
closing inventories figure and LIFO gives the highest cost of sales figure and the
lowest closing inventories figure. AVCO gives figures for cost of sales and closing
inventories that lie between FIFO and LIFO.

When prices are falling, the positions of FIFO and LIFO are reversed.

Inventories are shown at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

When a particular method of accounting, such as an inventories costing method,
is selected, it should be applied consistently over time.

Bad debts

Where it is reasonably certain that a credit customer will not pay, the debt is
regarded as ‘bad’ and written off.

Uses of the income statement

It provides a profit figure.

It provides information on how the profit was derived.
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Further reading

If you would like to explore the topics covered in this chapter in more depth, we
recommend the following books:

Elliott, B. and Elliott, ]J., Financial Accounting and Reporting (13th edn), Financial Times
Prentice Hall, 2010, chapters 2, 16, 19 and 20.

IASC Foundation Education, A Guide through IFRS 2009, July 2009, IAS 2, IAS 16,
TAS 18, IAS 36 and IAS 38.

KPMG, Insights into IFRS (6th edn, 2009/10), Sweet and Maxwell, 2009, sections 3.2,
3.3, 3.8, 3.10 and 4.2.

Review questions

Solutions to these questions can be found at the back of the book, in Appendix C.

3.1 ‘Although the income statement is a record of past achievement, the calculations required
for certain expenses involve estimates of the future.” What does this statement mean?
Can you think of examples where estimates of the future are used?

3.2 ‘Depreciation is a process of allocation and not valuation.” What do you think is meant by
this statement?

3.3 What is the convention of consistency? Does this convention help users in making a more
valid comparison between businesses?

3.4 ‘An asset is similar to an expense.’ Do you agree?
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Exercises

Exercises 3.4 and 3.5 are more advanced than Exercises 3.1to 3.3. Those with coloured
numbers have solutions at the back of the book, in Appendix D.

If you wish to try more exercises, visit the website at www.myaccountinglab.com.

3.1  You have heard the following statements made. Comment critically on them.

(@) ‘Equity only increases or decreases as a result of the owners putting more cash into
the business or taking some out.’

(b) ‘An accrued expense is one that relates to next year.’

(¢) ‘Unless we depreciate this asset we shall be unable to provide for its replacement.’

(d) “There is no point in depreciating the factory building. It is appreciating in value each
year.’

3.2 Singh Enterprises, which started business on 1 January 2007, has an annual reporting
period to 31 December and uses the straight-line method of depreciation. On 1 January
2007 the business bought a machine for £10,000. The machine had an expected useful
life of four years and an estimated residual value of £2,000. On 1 January 2008 the busi-
ness bought another machine for £15,000. This machine had an expected useful life of
five years and an estimated residual value of £2,500. On 31 December 2009 the business
sold the first machine bought for £3,000.

Required:
Show the relevant income statement extract and statement of financial position extract
for the years 2007, 2008 and 2009.

3.3 The owner of a business is confused and comes to you for help. The financial statements
for the business, prepared by an accountant, for the last reporting period revealed a profit
of £50,000. However, during the reporting period the bank balance declined by £30,000.
What reasons might explain this apparent discrepancy?
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3.4 The following is the statement of financial position of TT and Co. at the end of its first year
of trading (from Self-assessment question 3.1):

Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2009

£
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Delivery van at cost 12,000
Depreciation (2,500)
9,500
Current assets
Inventories 65,000
Trade receivables 19,600
Prepaid expenses* 5,300
Cash 750
90,650
Total assets 100,150
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Original 50,000
Retained earnings 26,900
76,900
Current liabilities
Trade payables 22,000
Accrued expenses’ 1,250
23,250
Total equity and liabilities 100,150

* The prepaid expenses consisted of rates (£300) and rent (£5,000).
T The accrued expenses consisted of wages (£630) and electricity (£620).

During 2010, the following transactions took place:

1 The owners withdrew equity in the form of cash of £20,000.

2 Premises continued to be rented at an annual rental of £20,000. During the year, rent
of £15,000 was paid to the owner of the premises.

3 Rates on the premises were paid during the year as follows: for the period 1 April 2010
to 31 March 2011 £1,300.

4 A second delivery van was bought on 1 January 2010 for £13,000. This is expected
to be used in the business for four years and then to be sold for £3,000.

5 Wages totalling £36,700 were paid during the year. At the end of the year, the busi-
ness owed £860 of wages for the last week of the year.

6 Electricity bills for the first three quarters of the year and £620 for the last quarter of
the previous year were paid totalling £1,820. After 31 December 2010, but before the
financial statements had been finalised for the year, the bill for the last quarter arrived
showing a charge of £690.

7 Inventories totalling £67,000 were bought on credit. 9
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8 Inventories totalling £8,000 were bought for cash.
9 Sales revenue on credit totalled £179,000 (cost £89,000).
10 Cash sales revenue totalled £54,000 (cost £25,000).
11 Receipts from trade receivables totalled £178,000.
12 Payments to trade payables totalled £71,000.
13 Van running expenses paid totalled £16,200.

The business uses the straight-line method for depreciating non-current assets.

Required:
Prepare an income statement for the year to 31 December 2010 and a statement of finan-
cial position as at that date.

3.5 The following is the statement of financial position of WW Associates as at 31 December
2008:

Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2008

£
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Machinery 25,300
Current assets
Inventories 12,200
Trade receivables 21,300
Prepaid expenses (rates) 400
Cash 8,300
42,200
Total assets 67,500
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Original 25,000
Retained earnings 23,900
48,900
Current liabilities
Trade payables 16,900
Accrued expenses (wages) 1,700
18,600
Total equity and liabilities 67,500

During 2009, the following transactions took place:

1 The owners withdrew equity in the form of cash of £23,000.

2 Premises were rented at an annual rental of £20,000. During the year, rent of £25,000
was paid to the owner of the premises.

3 Rates on the premises were paid during the year for the period 1 April 2009 to
31 March 2010 and amounted to £2,000.

4 Some machinery (a non-current asset), which was bought on 1 January 2008 for
£13,000, has proved to be unsatisfactory. It was part-exchanged for some new
machinery on 1 January 2009 and WW Associates paid a cash amount of £6,000.
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The new machinery would have cost £15,000 had the business bought it without
the trade-in.

Wages totalling £23,800 were paid during the year. At the end of the year, the busi-
ness owed £860 of wages.

Electricity bills for the four quarters of the year were paid totalling £2,700.
Inventories totalling £143,000 were bought on credit.

Inventories totalling £12,000 were bought for cash.

Sales revenue on credit totalled £211,000 (cost £127,000).

Cash sales revenue totalled £42,000 (cost £25,000).

Receipts from trade receivables totalled £198,000.

Payments to trade payables totalled £156,000.

Van running expenses paid totalled £17,500.

The business uses the reducing-balance method of depreciation for non-current assets at
the rate of 30 per cent each year.

Required:
Prepare an income statement for the year ended 31 December 2009 and a statement of
financial position as at that date.

Exercises
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Chapter 4

Accounting
for limited
companies

Introduction

Most businesses in the UK, except the very smallest, operate in the form of limited
companies. About two and a quarter million limited companies now exist and they
account for the majority of UK business activity and employment. The economic
significance of this type of business is not confined to the UK; it can be seen in most
of the world’s developed countries.

In this chapter we consider the nature of limited companies and how they differ from
sole proprietorship businesses and partnerships. We examine the ways in which the
owners provide finance, as well as the rules governing the way in which limited
companies must account to their owners and to other interested parties. We shall also
see how the financial statements, which were discussed in the previous two chapters,
are prepared for this type of business.

Learning outcomes

When you have completed this chapter, you should be able to:

m discuss the nature of the limited company;

describe the main features of the equity (owners’ claim) in a limited company;
discuss the framework of rules designed to safeguard the interests of shareholders;

explain how the income statement and statement of financial position of a limited
company differ in detail from those of sole proprietorships and partnerships.

H Remember to create your own
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The main features of limited companies

The main features of limited companies

Legal nature

Let us begin our examination of limited companies by discussing their legal nature. A
limited company has been described as an artificial person that has been created by
law. This means that a company has many of the rights and obligations that ‘real’
people have. It can, for example, sue or be sued by others and can enter into contracts
in its own name. This contrasts sharply with other types of businesses, such as sole
proprietorships and partnerships (that is, unincorporated businesses), where it is
the owner(s) rather than the business that must sue, enter into contracts and so on,
because the business has no separate legal identity.

With the rare exceptions of those that are created by Act of Parliament or by Royal
Charter, all UK companies are created (or incorporated) by registration. To create a com-
pany the person or persons wishing to create it (usually known as promoters) fill in
a few simple forms and pay a modest registration fee. After having ensured that the
necessary formalities have been met, the Registrar of Companies, a UK government
official, enters the name of the new company on the Registry of Companies. Thus, in
the UK, companies can be formed very easily and cheaply (for about £100).

A limited company may be owned by just one person, but most have more than
one owner and some have many owners. The owners are usually known as members or
shareholders. The ownership of a company is normally divided into a number, fre-
quently a large number, of shares, each of equal size. Each owner, or shareholder,
owns one or more shares in the company. Large companies typically have a very large
number of shareholders. For example, at 31 March 2009, BT Group plc, the telecom-
munications business, had nearly 1.2 million different shareholders.

Since a limited company has its own legal identity, it is regarded as being quite
separate from those that own and manage it. It is worth emphasising that this legal
separateness of owners and the company has no connection whatsoever with the
business entity convention of accounting, which we discussed in Chapter 2. This
accounting convention applies equally well to all business types, including sole pro-
prietorships and partnerships where there is certainly no legal distinction between the
owner(s) and the business.

The legal separateness of the limited company and its shareholders leads to two
important features of the limited company: perpetual life and limited liability. These
are now explained.

Perpetual life

A company is normally granted a perpetual existence and so will continue even where
an owner of some, or even all, of the shares in the company dies. The shares of the
deceased person will simply pass to the beneficiary of his or her estate. The granting
of perpetual existence means that the life of a company is quite separate from the lives
of those individuals who own or manage it. It is not, therefore, affected by changes in
ownership that arise when individuals buy and sell shares in the company.
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Though a company may be granted a perpetual existence when it is first formed, it
is possible for either the shareholders or the courts to bring this existence to an end.
When this is done, the assets of the company are usually sold to generate cash to meet
the outstanding liabilities. Any surplus arising after all liabilities have been met will
then be used to pay the shareholders. Shareholders may agree to end the life of a com-
pany where it has achieved the purpose for which it was formed or where they feel
that the company has no real future. The courts may bring the life of a company to
an end where creditors have applied to the courts for this to be done because they
have not been paid amounts owing.

Where shareholders agree to end the life of a company, it is referred to as a ‘volun-
tary liquidation’. Real World 4.1 describes the demise of one company by this method.

Real World 4.1

Monotub Industries in a spin as founder gets Titan for £1

Monotub Industries, maker of the Titan washing machine, yesterday passed into corporate his-
tory with very little ceremony and with only a whimper of protest from minority shareholders.

At an extraordinary meeting held in a basement room of the group’s West End head-
quarters, shareholders voted to put the company into voluntary liquidation and sell its
assets and intellectual property to founder Martin Myerscough for £1. [The shares in the
company were at one time worth 650p each.]

The only significant opposition came from Giuliano Gnagnatti who, along with other
shareholders, has seen his investment shrink faster than a wool twin-set on a boil wash.

The not-so-proud owner of 100,000 Monotub shares, Mr Gnagnatti, the managing director
of an online retailer, described the sale of Monotub as a ‘free gift’ to Mr Myerscough. This
assessment was denied by lan Green, the chairman of Monotub, who said the closest the
beleaguered company had come to a sale was an offer for £60,000 that gave no guaran-
tees against liabilities, which are thought to amount to £750,000.

The quiet passing of the washing machine, eventually dubbed the Titanic, was in strong
contrast to its performance in many kitchens.

Originally touted as the ‘great white goods hope’ of the washing machine industry with
its larger capacity and removable drum, the Titan ran into problems when it kept stopping
during the spin cycle, causing it to emit a loud bang and leap into the air.

Summing up the demise of the Titan, Mr Green said: ‘Clearly the machine had some
revolutionary aspects, but you can’t get away from the fact that the machine was faulty
and should not have been launched with those defects.’

The usually-vocal Mr Myerscough, who has promised to pump £250,000 into the com-
pany and give Monotub shareholders £4 for every machine sold, refused to comment on
his plans for the Titan or reveal who his backers were. But . . . he did say that he intended
to ‘take the Titan forward’.

Source: ‘Monotub Industries in a spin as founder gets Titan for £1°, The Financial Times, 23/01/2003 (Urquhart, L.), copyright ©
The Financial Times Ltd.

Limited liability
Since the company is a legal person in its own right, it must take responsibility for its
own debts and losses. This means that, once the shareholders have paid what they
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have agreed to pay for the shares, their obligation to the company, and to the com-
pany’s creditors, is satisfied. Thus shareholders can limit their losses to the amount
that they have paid, or agreed to pay, for their shares. This is of great practical im-
portance to potential shareholders since they know that what they can lose, as part
owners of the business, is limited.

Contrast this with the position of sole proprietors or partners. They cannot ‘ring-
fence’ assets that they do not want to put into the business. If a sole proprietorship or
partnership business finds itself in a position where liabilities exceed the business
assets, the law gives unsatisfied creditors the right to demand payment out of what the
sole proprietor or partner may have regarded as ‘non-business’ assets. Thus the sole
proprietor or partner could lose everything — house, car, the lot. This is because the law
sees Jill, the sole proprietor, as being the same as Jill the private individual. The share-
holder, by contrast, can lose only the amount committed to that company. Legally, the
business operating as a limited company, in which Jack owns shares, is not the same
as Jack himself. This is true even if Jack were to own all of the shares in the company.

Real World 4.2 gives an example of a well-known case where the shareholders of a
particular company were able to avoid any liability to those that had lost money as
a result of dealing with the company.

Real World 4.2

Carlton and Granada 1 - Nationwide Football League O

Two television broadcasting companies, Carlton and Granada, each owned 50 per cent of
a separate company, ITV Digital (formerly ON Digital). ITV Digital signed a contract to pay
the Nationwide Football League (in effect the three divisions of English football below the
Premiership) more than £89 million on both 1 August 2002 and 1 August 2003 for the rights
to broadcast football matches over three seasons. ITV Digital was unable to sell enough
subscriptions for the broadcasts and collapsed because it was unable to meet its liabilities.
The Nationwide Football League tried to force Carlton and Granada (ITV Digital’s only
shareholders) to meet ITV Digital’s contractual obligations. It was unable to do so because
the shareholders could not be held legally liable for the amounts owing.

Carlton and Granada merged into one business in 2003, but at the time of ITV Digital
were two independent companies.

The fact that shareholders can limit their losses to that which they have paid, or have
agreed to pay, for their shares is of great practical importance to potential shareholders.

Can you think of any practical benefit to a private sector economy, in general, of this
ability of shareholders to limit losses?

Business is a risky venture — in some cases very risky. People in a position to invest money
will usually be happier to do so when they know the limit of their liability. If investors are
given limited liability, new businesses are more likely to be formed and existing ones are
likely to find it easier to raise more finance. This is good for the private sector economy and
may ultimately lead to the generation of greater wealth for society as a whole.
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Although limited liability has this advantage to the providers of equity finance (the
shareholders), it is not necessarily to the advantage of others who have a stake in
the business, like the Nationwide Football League clubs (see Real World 4.2). Limited
liability is attractive to shareholders because they can, in effect, walk away from the
unpaid debts of the company if their contribution has not been sufficient to meet
those debts. This is likely to make any individual, or another business, that is consid-
ering entering into a contract, wary of dealing with the limited company. This can be
a real problem for smaller, less established companies. Suppliers may insist on cash
payment before delivery of goods or the rendering of a service. Alternatively, they may
require a personal guarantee from a major shareholder that the debt will be paid before
allowing trade credit. In the latter case, the supplier circumvents the company’s
limited liability status by demanding the personal liability of an individual. Larger,
more established companies, on the other hand, tend to have built up the confidence
of suppliers.

Legal safeguards

Various safeguards exist to protect individuals and businesses contemplating dealing
with a limited company. These include the requirement to indicate limited liability
status in the name of the company. By doing this, an alert is issued to prospective sup-
pliers and lenders.

A further safeguard is the restrictions placed on the ability of shareholders to with-
draw their equity from the company. These restrictions are designed to prevent share-
holders from protecting their own investment and, as a result, leaving lenders and
suppliers in an exposed position. We shall consider this point in more detail later in
the chapter.

Finally, limited companies are required to produce annual financial statements
(which include the income statement, statement of financial position and statement
of cash flows) and to make these publicly available. This means that anyone interested
can gain an impression of the financial performance and position of the company. The
form and content of these statements are considered in some detail later in this chap-
ter and in Chapter 5, which considers the statement of cash flows.

Public and private companies

When a company is registered with the Registrar of Companies, it must be registered
either as a public or as a private company. The main practical difference between these
is that a public limited company can offer its shares for sale to the general public, but
a private limited company is restricted from doing so. A public limited company must
signal its status to all interested parties by having the words ‘public limited company’,
or its abbreviation ‘plc’, in its name. For a private limited company, the word ‘limited’
or ‘Ltd’ must appear as part of its name.

Private limited companies tend to be smaller businesses where the ownership is
divided among relatively few shareholders who are usually fairly close to one another
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- for example, a family company. Numerically, there are vastly more private limited
companies in the UK than there are public ones. Of the 2.25 million UK limited com-
panies now in existence, only 9,600 (representing 0.4 per cent of the total) are public
limited companies.

Since individual public companies tend to be larger, they are often economically
more important. In some industry sectors, such as banking, insurance, oil refining and
grocery retailing, they are completely dominant. Although some large private limited
companies exist, many private limited companies are little more than the vehicle
through which one-person businesses operate.

Real World 4.3 shows the extent of market dominance of public limited companies
in one particular business sector.

Real World 4.3

A big slice of the market

The grocery sector is dominated by four large players: Tesco, Sainsbury, Morrison and
Asda. The first three are public limited companies and the fourth, Asda, is owned by a large
US public company, Wal-Mart. Figure 4.1 shows the share of the grocery market enjoyed
by each, during the 12-week period which ended on 24 January 2010.

Figure 4.1 Market share of the four largest grocers: 12 weeks to
24 January 2010

Other Tesco
23.8% 30.5%
~ v,
12.5%
Morrison

16.9%

16.3%
° Asda

Sainsbury

Tesco had by far the largest market share; the four largest grocers, when taken together, had
more than 75 per cent of the total market during the period.

Source: compiled from information in Mills, E., ‘Tesco’s grocery market share rises to 30.5% in 12 weeks — Kantar’, Dow
Jones Newswires, 2 February 2010.

Taxation

Another consequence of the legal separation of the limited company from its owners
is that companies must be accountable to the tax authorities for tax on their profits and
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gains. This leads to the reporting of tax in the financial statements of limited companies.
The charge for tax is shown in the income statement. The tax charge for a particular
year is based on that year’s profit. Since only 50 per cent of a company’s tax liability
is due for payment during the year concerned, the other 50 per cent will appear on the
end-of-year statement of financial position as a short-term liability. This will be illus-
trated a little later in the chapter. The tax position of companies contrasts with that of
sole proprietorships and partnerships, where tax is levied not on the business but on
the owner(s). Thus tax does not impact on the financial statements of unincorporated
businesses, but is an individual matter between the owner(s) and the tax authorities.

Companies are charged corporation tax on their profits and gains. The percentage
rates of tax tend to vary from year to year, but have recently been 28 per cent for larger
companies and 21 per cent for smaller companies. These rates of tax are levied on the
company’s taxable profit, which is not necessarily the same as the profit shown on
the income statement. This is because tax law does not, in every respect, follow the
normal accounting rules. Generally, however, the taxable profit and the company’s
accounting profit are pretty close to one another.

Transferring share ownership: the role of the Stock Exchange

We have already seen that shares in a company may be transferred from one owner to
another. The desire of some shareholders to sell their shares, coupled with the desire
of others to buy those shares, has led to the existence of a formal market in which
shares can be bought and sold. The London Stock Exchange and similar organisations
around the world provide a marketplace in which shares in public companies may
be bought and sold. Share prices are determined by the laws of supply and demand,
which are, in turn, determined by investors’ perceptions of the future economic
prospects of the companies concerned. Only the shares of certain companies (listed
companies) may be traded on the London Stock Exchange. Less than 1,100 UK com-
panies are listed. This represents only about 1 in 2,000 of all UK companies (public and
private) and roughly one in nine public limited companies. However, many of these
listed companies are massive. Nearly all of the ‘household-name’ UK businesses (for
example, Tesco, Next, BT, Vodafone, BP and so on) are listed companies.

If, as has been pointed out earlier, the change in ownership of shares does not directly
affect the particular company, why do many public companies actively seek to have
their shares traded in a recognised market?

The main reason is that investors are generally very reluctant to pledge their money unless
they can see some way in which they can turn their investment back into cash. In theory,
the shares of a particular company may be very valuable because the company has bright
prospects. However, unless this value is capable of being turned into cash, the benefit to
the shareholders is dubious. After all, we cannot spend shares; we normally need cash.
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This means that potential shareholders are much more likely to be prepared to buy new
shares from the company (thereby providing the company with new investment finance)
where they can see a way of liquidating their investment (turning it into cash) as and when
they wish. Stock Exchanges provide the means of liquidation.

Although the buying and selling of ‘second-hand’ shares does not provide the company
with cash, the fact that the buying and selling facility exists will make it easier for the com-
pany to raise new share capital when it needs to do so.

Managing a company

A limited company may have legal personality, but it is not a human being capable of
making decisions and plans about the business and exercising control over it. People
must undertake these management tasks. The most senior level of management of a
company is the board of directors.

The shareholders elect directors (by law there must be at least one director for a pri-
vate limited company and two for a public limited company) to manage the company
on a day-to-day basis on behalf of those shareholders. In a small company, the board
may be the only level of management and consist of all of the shareholders. In larger
companies, the board may consist of ten or so directors out of many thousands of
shareholders. Indeed, directors are not even required to be shareholders. Below the
board of directors of the typical large company could be several layers of management
comprising thousands of people.

In recent years, the issue of corporate governance has generated much debate. The
term is used to describe the ways in which companies are directed and controlled. The
issue of corporate governance is important because, with larger companies, those who
own the company (that is, the shareholders) are usually divorced from the day-to-day
control of the business. The shareholders employ the directors to manage the company
for them. Given this position, it may seem reasonable to assume that the best inter-
ests of shareholders will guide the directors’ decisions. However, in practice this does
not always seem to be the case. The directors may be more concerned with pursuing
their own interests, such as increasing their pay and ‘perks’ (such as expensive motor
cars, overseas visits and so on) and improving their job security and status. As a result,
a conflict can occur between the interests of shareholders and the interests of directors.

Where directors pursue their own interests rather than those of shareholders, there
is clearly a problem for the shareholders. However, it may also be a problem for soci-
ety as a whole. Where investors feel that their funds are likely to be mismanaged, they
will be reluctant to invest. A shortage of funds will mean that companies can make
fewer investments. Furthermore, the costs of finance will increase as companies com-
pete for what funds are available. Thus, a lack of concern for shareholders can have
a profound effect on the performance of individual companies and, with this, the
health of the economy. To avoid these problems, most competitive market economies
have a framework of rules to help monitor and control the behaviour of directors.
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These rules are usually based around three guiding principles:

Disclosure. This lies at the heart of good corporate governance. An OECD report (see
reference 1 at the end of chapter for details) summed up the benefits of disclosure
as follows:

Adequate and timely information about corporate performance enables investors to
make informed buy-and-sell decisions and thereby helps the market reflect the value
of a corporation [company] under present management. If the market determines
that present management is not performing, a decrease in stock [share] price will
sanction management’s failure and open the way to management change.

m Accountability. This involves defining the roles and duties of the directors and estab-

lishing an adequate monitoring process. In the UK, company law requires that the
directors of a company act in the best interests of the shareholders. This means,
among other things, that they must not try to use their position and knowledge to
make gains at the expense of the shareholders. The law also requires larger compa-
nies to have their annual financial statements independently audited. The purpose
of an independent audit is to lend credibility to the financial statements prepared
by the directors. We shall consider this point in more detail later in the chapter.
Fairness. Directors should not be able to benefit from access to ‘inside’ information
that is not available to shareholders. As a result, both the law and the London Stock
Exchange place restrictions on the ability of directors to buy and sell the shares of
the company. One example of these restrictions is that the directors cannot buy or
sell shares immediately before the announcement of the annual trading results of
the company or before the announcement of a significant event, such as a planned
merger or the loss of the chief executive.

These principles are set out in Figure 4.2.

Figure 4.2 Principles underpinning a framework of rules

Framework

Disclosure Faimess

of rules

Accountability

The three principles should guide rule makers in their work.

Strengthening the framework of rules

The number of rules designed to safeguard shareholders has increased considerably
over the years. This has been in response to weaknesses in corporate governance
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procedures, which have been exposed through well-publicised business failures and
frauds, excessive pay increases to directors and evidence that some financial reports
were being ‘massaged’ so as to mislead shareholders. (This last point will be discussed
later in the chapter.)

Many believe, however, that the shareholders must shoulder some of the blame
for any weaknesses. Not all shareholders in large companies are private individuals
owning just a few shares each. In fact, ownership, by market value, of the shares listed
on the London Stock Exchange is dominated by investing institutions such as insur-
ance businesses, banks, pension funds and so on. These are often massive operations,
owning large quantities of the shares of the companies in which they invest. These
institutional investors employ specialist staff to manage their portfolios of shares in
various companies. It has been argued that the large institutional shareholders, despite
their size and relative expertise, have not been very active in corporate governance
matters. Thus, there has been little monitoring of directors. However, things seem to
be changing. There is increasing evidence that institutional investors are becoming
more proactive in relation to the companies in which they hold shares.

The UK Corporate Governance Code

During the 1990s there was a real effort by the accountancy profession and the London
Stock Exchange to address the problems of poor corporate governance mentioned
earlier. A Code of Best Practice on Corporate Governance emerged in 1992. This
was concerned with accountability and financial reporting. In 1995, a separate code
of practice emerged which dealt with directors’ pay and conditions. These two codes
were revised, ‘fine tuned’ and amalgamated to produce the Combined Code, which
was issued in 1998. Every few years, the impact and effectiveness of the Code has been
reviewed and this has resulted in revisions being made. In 2010, the Combined Code
changed its name to the ‘UK Corporate Governance Code’.

The UK Corporate Governance Code has the backing of the London Stock Exchange.
This means that companies listed on the London Stock Exchange must ‘comply or
explain’. That is, they must comply with the requirements of the UK Code or must
give their shareholders good reason why they do not. Failure to do one or other of
these can lead to the company’s shares being suspended from listing.

Why might being suspended from listing be an important sanction against a non-
compliant company?

A major advantage of a Stock Exchange listing is that it enables investors to sell their
shares whenever they wish. A company that is suspended from listing would find it hard
and, therefore, expensive to raise funds from investors because there would be no ready
market for the shares.
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The UK Code sets out a number of principles relating to such matters as the role of
the directors, their relations with shareholders and their accountability. Real World 4.4
outlines some of the more important of these.

Real World 4.4

The UK Corporate Governance Code

The key elements of the UK Code are as follows:

Source: www.fsa.org.uk.

Every listed company should have a board of directors that is collectively responsible for
its success.

There should be a clear division of responsibilities between the chairman and the chief
executive officer of the company to try to ensure that a single person does not have
unbridled power.

There should be an appropriate balance of skills, experience, independence and
knowledge to enable the board to carry out its duties effectively.

The board should receive timely information that is of sufficient quality to enable it to
carry out its duties. All board members should refresh their skill regularly and new board
members should receive induction.

Appointments to the board should be the subject of rigorous, formal and transparent
procedures and should be drawn from a broad talent pool.

All directors should submit themselves for re-election at regular intervals, subject to
satisfactory performance.

Remuneration levels should be sufficient to attract, retain and motivate directors of the
appropriate quality and should take account of individual and company performance.
There should be formal and transparent procedures for developing policy on directors’
remuneration.

The board should try to ensure that a satisfactory dialogue with shareholders occurs.
Boards should use the annual general meeting to communicate with investors and
encourage their participation.

Institutional shareholders should use their votes and enter into a dialogue with the
company based on a mutual understanding of objectives.

The board should publish a balanced and understandable assessment of the company’s
position and future prospects.

The board should define the company’s risk appetite and tolerance and should maintain
a sound risk management system.

Formal and transparent arrangements for applying financial reporting and internal
control principles and for maintaining an appropriate relationship with auditors should
be in place.

The board should undertake a formal and rigorous examination of its own performance
each year, which will include its committees and individual directors.

Strengthening the framework of rules in this way has been generally agreed to have
improved the quality of information available to shareholders. It has also resulted in
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better checks on the powers of directors and provided greater transparency in corporate
affairs. However, rules can only be a partial answer. A balance must be struck between
the need to protect shareholders and the need to encourage the entrepreneurial spirit
of directors — which could be stifled under a welter of rules. This implies that rules should
not be too tight, and so unscrupulous directors may still find ways around them.

Financing limited companies

Equity (the owners’ claim)

The equity of a sole proprietorship is normally encompassed in one figure on the state-
ment of financial position. With companies, this is usually a little more complicated,
although in essence the same broad principles apply. With a company, equity is divided

between shares (for example, the original investment), on the one hand, and reserves
(that is, profits and gains subsequently made), on the other. There is also the possibil-
ity that there will be more than one type of shares and of reserves. Thus, within the
basic divisions of share capital and reserves, there might well be further subdivisions.
This might seem quite complicated, but we shall shortly consider the reasons for these
subdivisions and all should become clearer.

The basic division

When a company is first formed, those who take steps to form it (the promoters) will
decide how much needs to be raised by the potential shareholders to set the company
up with the necessary assets to operate. Example 4.1 acts as a basis for illustration.

Example 4.1

Some friends decide to form a company to operate an office cleaning business.
They estimate that the company will need £50,000 to obtain the necessary assets.
Between them, they raise the cash, which they use to buy shares in the company,
on 31 March 2009, with a nominal value (or par value) of £1 each.
At this point the statement of financial position of the company would be:

Statement of financial position as at 31 March 2009

£
Net assets (all in cash) 50,000
Equity
Share capital
50,000 shares of £1 each 50,000

The company now buys the necessary non-current assets (vacuum cleaners and
so on) and inventories (cleaning materials) and starts to trade. During the first ->
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year, the company makes a profit of £10,000. This, by definition, means that the
equity expands by £10,000. During the year, the shareholders (owners) make no
drawings of their equity, so at the end of the year the summarised statement of
financial position looks like this:

Statement of financial position as at 31 March 2010

£
Net assets (various assets less liabilities*) 60,000
Equity
Share capital
50,000 shares of £1 each 50,000
Reserves (revenue reserve) 10,000
Total equity 60,000

* We saw in Chapter 2 that Assets = Equity + Liabilities. We also saw that this can be rearranged
so that Assets — Liabilities = Equity.

The profit is shown in a reserve, known as a revenue reserve, because it arises from
generating revenue (making sales). Note that we do not simply merge the profit with
the share capital: we must keep the two amounts separate (to satisfy company law).
The reason for this is that there is a legal restriction on the maximum drawings of their
equity (or payment of a dividend) that the shareholders can make. This is defined by
the amount of revenue reserves, and so it is helpful to show these separately. We shall
look at why there is this restriction, and how it works, a little later in the chapter.

Share capital

Ordinary shares

Shares represent the basic units of ownership of a business. All companies issue
ordinary shares. Ordinary shares are often known as equities. The nominal value of
such shares is at the discretion of the people who start up the company. For example,
if the initial share capital is to be £50,000, this could be two shares of £25,000 each,
5 million shares of one penny each or any other combination that gives a total of
£50,000. All shares must have equal value.

The initial financial requirement for a new company is £50,000. There are to be two equal
shareholders. Would you advise them to issue two shares of £25,000 each? Why?

Such large-denomination shares tend to be unwieldy. Suppose that one of the shareholders
wanted to sell her shareholding. She would have to find one buyer. If there were shares of
smaller denomination, it would be possible to sell part of the shareholding to various potential
buyers. Furthermore, it would be possible to sell just part of the holding and retain a part.
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In practice, £1 is the normal maximum nominal value for shares. Shares of 25 pence
each and 50 pence each are probably the most common.

Altering the nominal value of shares

As we have already seen, the promoters of a new company may make their own choice
of the nominal or par value of the shares. This value need not be permanent. At a later
date the shareholders can decide to change it.

Suppose that a company has 1 million ordinary shares of £1 each and a decision
is made to change the nominal value of the shares from £1 to £0.50, in other words
to halve the value. This would lead the company to issue each shareholder with a
new share certificate (the shareholders’ evidence of ownership of their shares) for
exactly twice as many shares, each with half the nominal value. The result would be
that each shareholder retains a holding of the same total nominal value. This process
is known, not surprisingly, as splitting the shares. The opposite, reducing the number
of shares and increasing their nominal value per share to compensate, is known as
consolidating. Since each shareholder would be left, after a split or consolidation,
with exactly the same proportion of ownership of the company’s assets as before, the
process should not increase the value of the total shares held.

Splitting is fairly common. The objective is probably to avoid individual shares
becoming too valuable and thus unwieldy, as discussed in the answer to Activity 4.4.
If a company trades successfully, the value of each share is likely to rise and, in time,
could increase to a level that makes the shares less marketable. Splitting would solve
this problem. Consolidating is relatively rare.

Real World 4.5 provides an example of a share split by one business.

Real World 4.5

Doing the splits

A G Barr, the Scottish based maker of soft drinks, including Tizer and Irn Bru, had a share
split in September 2009, as announced by the business in its half-yearly report:

As previously announced, the 2 for 1 share split, which is aimed at improving liquidity and
marketability of the company’s shares became effective on 21 September.

Source: A G Barr plc Interim Report, August 2009, p. 3.

Preference shares

Some companies not only issue ordinary shares, but also have other classes of shares,
preference shares being the most common. Preference shares guarantee that if a divi-
dend is paid, the preference shareholders will be entitled to the first part of it up to a
maximum value. This maximum is normally defined as a fixed percentage of the nom-
inal value of the preference shares. If, for example, a company issues 10,000 preference
shares of £1 each with a dividend rate of 6 per cent, this means that the preference
shareholders are entitled to receive the first £600 (that is, 6 per cent of £10,000) of any
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dividend that is paid by the company for a year. The excess over £600 goes to the
ordinary shareholders. Normally, any undistributed profits and gains also accrue to
the ordinary shareholders.

The ordinary shareholders are the primary risk takers as they are entitled to share
in the profits of the company only after other claims have been satisfied. There are
no upper limits, however, on the amount by which they may benefit. The potential
rewards available to ordinary shareholders reflect the risks that they are prepared to
take. Since ordinary shareholders take most of the risks, power normally resides in
their hands. Usually, only the ordinary shareholders are able to vote on issues that
affect the company, such as who the directors should be.

It is open to the company to issue shares of various classes — perhaps with some
having unusual and exotic conditions — but in practice it is rare to find other than
straightforward ordinary and preference shares. Although a company may have different
classes of shares whose holders have different rights, within each class all shares must
be treated equally. The rights of the various classes of shareholders, as well as other
matters relating to a particular company, are contained in that company’s set of rules,
known as the ‘articles and memorandum of association’. A copy of these rules must be
lodged with the Registrar of Companies, who makes it available for inspection by the
general public.

Reserves

As we have already seen, reserves are profits and gains that a company has made and
which still form part of the shareholders’ equity. One reason that past profits and gains
may not continue to be part of equity is that they have been paid out to shareholders
(as dividends and so on). Another reason is that reserves will be reduced by the
amount of any losses that the company might suffer. In the same way that profits
increase equity, losses reduce it.

Are reserves amounts of cash? Can you think of a reason why this is an odd question?

To deal with the second point first, it is an odd question because reserves are a claim, or
part of one, on the assets of the company, whereas cash is an asset. So reserves cannot
be cash.

Reserves are classified as either revenue reserves or capital reserves. In Example 4.1
we came across one type of reserve, the revenue reserve. We should recall that this
reserve represents the company’s retained trading profits and gains on the disposal of
non-current assets. It is worth mentioning that retained earnings, as they are most often
called, represent overwhelmingly the largest source of new finance for UK companies.
For most companies they amount to more than share issues and borrowings combined.

Capital reserves arise for two main reasons:
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m issuing shares at above their nominal value (for example, issuing £1 shares at £1.50);
m revaluing (upwards) non-current assets.

Where a company issues shares at above their nominal value, UK law requires that
the excess of the issue price over the nominal value be shown separately.

Can you think why shares might be issued at above their nominal value? (Hint: This would
not usually happen when a company is first formed and the initial shares are being issued.)

Once a company has traded and has been successful, the shares would normally be worth
more than the nominal value at which they were issued. If additional shares are to be issued
to new shareholders to raise finance for further expansion, unless they are issued at a value
higher than the nominal value, the new shareholders will be gaining at the expense of the
original ones.

Example 4.2 shows how this works.

Example 4.2

Based on future prospects, the net assets of a company are worth £1.5 million.
There are currently 1 million ordinary shares in the company, each with a face
(nominal) value of £1. The company wishes to raise an additional £0.6 million of
cash for expansion and has decided to raise it by issuing new shares. If the shares
are issued for £1 each (that is 600,000 shares), the total number of shares will be

1.0m + 0.6m = 1.6m

and their total value will be the value of the existing net assets plus the new injec-
tion of cash:

£1.5m + £0.6m = £2.1m
This means that the value of each share after the new issue will be
£2.1m/1.6m = £1.3125
The current value of each share is
£1.5m/1.0m = £1.50
so the original shareholders will lose
£1.50 — £1.3125 = £0.1875 a share
and the new shareholders will gain
£1.3125 — £1.0 = £0.3125 a share

The new shareholders will, no doubt, be delighted with this outcome; the original
ones will not.
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Things could be made fair between the two sets of shareholders described in
Example 4.2 by issuing the new shares at £1.50 each. In this case it would be neces-
sary to issue 400,000 shares to raise the necessary £0.6 million. £1 a share of the
£1.50 is the nominal value and will be included with share capital in the statement of
financial position (£400,000 in total). The remaining £0.50 is a share premium, which
will be shown as a capital reserve known as the share premium account (£200,000
in total).

It is not clear why UK company law insists on the distinction between nominal
share values and the premium. In some other countries (for example, the United
States) with similar laws governing the corporate sector, there is not the necessity of
distinguishing between share capital and share premium. Instead, the total value
at which shares are issued is shown as one comprehensive figure on the company’s
statement of financial position. Real World 4.6 shows the equity of one well-known
business.

Real World 4.6

Funding Thorntons

Thorntons plc, the chocolate maker and retailer, had the following share capital and reserves
as at 27 June 2009:

£m
Share capital (10p ordinary shares) 6,835
Share premium 13,752
Retained earnings 8,151
Total equity 28,738

Note how the nominal share capital figure is only about half as much as the share premium
account figure. This implies that Thorntons has issued shares at higher prices than the 10p
a share nominal value. This reflects its trading success since the company was first formed.
In 2008, retained earnings (profits) had made up over 40 per cent of the total for share
capital and reserves. By 2009, this had reduced to around 28 per cent. This reduction was
mainly caused by a loss suffered by the company pension fund during the year.

Source: Thorntons plc Annual Report 2009, p. 45.

Bonus shares

It is always open to a company to take reserves of any kind (irrespective of whether
they are capital or revenue) and turn them into share capital. This will involve trans-
ferring the desired amount from the reserve concerned to share capital and then
distributing the appropriate number of new shares to the existing shareholders. New
shares arising from such a conversion are known as bonus shares. Issues of bonus
shares used to be quite frequently encountered in practice, but more recently they are
much less common. Example 4.3 illustrates this aspect of share issues.
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Example 4.3

The summary statement of financial position of a company at a particular point
in time is as follows:

Statement of financial position

£
Net assets (various assets less liabilities) 128,000
Equity
Share capital
50,000 shares of £1 each 50,000
Reserves 78,000
Total equity 128,000

The company decides that it will issue existing shareholders with one new share
for every share currently owned by each shareholder. The statement of financial
position immediately following this will appear as follows:

Statement of financial position

£
Net assets (various assets less liabilities) 128,000
Equity
Share capital
100,000 shares of £1 each (50,000 + 50,000) 100,000
Reserves (78,000 — 50,000) 28,000
Total equity 128,000

We can see that the reserves have decreased by £50,000 and share capital has
increased by the same amount. Share certificates for the 50,000 ordinary shares of
£1 each, which have been created from reserves, will be issued to the existing share-
holders to complete the transaction.

A shareholder of the company in Example 4.3 owned 100 shares before the bonus issue.
How will things change for this shareholder as regards the number of shares owned and
the value of the shareholding?

The answer should be that the number of shares would double, from 100 to 200. Now the
shareholder owns one five-hundredth of the company (that is, 200/100,000). Before the
bonus issue, the shareholder also owned one five-hundredth of the company (that is,
100/50,000). The company’s assets and liabilities have not changed as a result of the bonus
issue and so, logically, one five-hundredth of the value of the company should be identical
to what it was before. Thus, each share is worth half as much.
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A bonus issue simply takes one part of the equity (a reserve) and puts it into another
part (share capital). The transaction has no effect on the company’s assets or liabilities,
so there is no effect on shareholders’ wealth.

Note that a bonus issue is not the same as a share split. A split does not affect the
reserves.

Can you think of any reasons why a company might want to make a bonus issue if it has
no direct economic consequence?

We think that there are three possible reasons:

B Share price. To lower the value of each share without reducing the shareholders’
collective or individual wealth. This has a similar effect to share splitting.

B Shareholder confidence. To provide the shareholders with a ‘feel-good factor’. It is
believed that shareholders like bonus issues because they seem to make them better
off, although in practice they should not affect their wealth.

B Lender confidence. Where reserves arising from operating profits and/or realised gains
on the sale of non-current assets are used to make the bonus issue, it has the effect of
taking part of that portion of the shareholders’ equity that could be drawn by the share-
holders, as drawings (or dividends), and locking it up. The amount transferred becomes
part of the permanent equity base of the company. (We shall see a little later in this
chapter that there are severe restrictions on the extent to which shareholders may make
drawings from their equity.) An individual or business contemplating lending money
to the company may insist that the dividend payment possibilities are restricted as a
condition of making the loan. This point will be explained shortly.

Real World 4.7 cites a recent example of a bonus share issue. Given the discus-
sion above, the rationale provided for the bonus issue is particularly interesting (and
perplexing!).

Real World 4.7

It's a bonus?

Medusa Mining is a gold producer that is listed on various international stock markets. In
2010, it announced a one-for-ten bonus issue of shares to all shareholders of the company.

In a statement, the company said it had achieved several significant milestones in the
last calendar year and the bonus issue is in recognition of the invaluable support the com-
pany has received from its shareholders. The bonus issue was also designed to encourage
greater liquidity in Medusa shares.

Geoff Davis, managing director of Medusa, said: ‘The board is extremely pleased to be
in a position to reward shareholders as a result of the company having rapidly expanded its
production over the last twelve months and having met all targets on time.’

Source: adapted from ‘Medusa Mining’, www.proactiveinvestors.co.uk, 8 March 2010.




Share capital jargon

Before leaving our detailed discussion of share capital, it might be helpful to clarify
some of the jargon relating to shares that is used in company financial statements.

Share capital that has been issued to shareholders is known as the issued share cap-
ital (or allotted share capital). Sometimes, but not very often, a company may not
require shareholders to pay the whole amount that is due to be paid for the shares at
the time of issue. This may happen where the company does not need the money all
at once. Some money would normally be paid at the time of issue and the company
would ‘call’ for further instalments until the shares were fully paid shares. That part of
the total issue price that has been ‘called’ is known as the called-up share capital. That
part that has been called and paid is known as the paid-up share capital.

Raising share capital

Once the company has made its initial share issue to start business (usually soon after
the company is first formed) it may decide to make further issues of new shares. These
may be:

m rights issues — issues made to existing shareholders, in proportion to their existing
shareholding;

m public issues — issues made to the general investing public; or

m private placings — issues made to selected individuals who are usually approached
and asked if they would be interested in taking up new shares.

During its lifetime a company may use all three of these approaches to raising funds
through issuing new shares (although only public companies can make appeals to the
general public).

We shall explore the ways that companies can raise new share capital in more detail
in Chapter 11.

Borrowings

Most companies borrow money to supplement that raised from share issues and
ploughed-back profits. Company borrowing is often on a long-term basis, perhaps on
a ten-year contract. Lenders may be banks and other professional providers of loan
finance. Many companies borrow in such a way that small investors, including private
individuals, are able to lend small amounts. This is particularly the case with the
larger, Stock Exchange listed, companies and involves them making a loan notes issue,
which, though large in total, can be taken up in small slices by individual investors,
both private individuals and investing institutions, such as pension funds and insur-
ance companies. In some cases, these slices of loans can be bought and sold through
the Stock Exchange. This means that investors do not have to wait the full term of
their loan to obtain repayment, but can sell their slice of it to another would-be lender

Borrowings
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at intermediate points in the term of the loan. Loan notes are often known as loan
stock or debentures.

Some of the features of loan notes financing, particularly the possibility that the
loan notes may be traded on the Stock Exchange, can lead to a misunderstanding that
loan notes are shares by another name. We should be clear that this is not the case. It
is the shareholders who own the company and, therefore, who share in its losses and
profits. Holders of loan notes lend money to the company under a legally binding con-
tract that normally specifies the rate of interest, the interest payment dates and the
date of repayment of the loan itself.

Usually, long-term loans are secured on assets of the company. This would give the
lender the right to seize the assets concerned, sell them and satisfy the repayment
obligation, should the company fail to pay either its interest payments or the repay-
ment of the loan itself, on the dates specified in the contract between the company
and the lender. A mortgage granted to a private individual buying a house or a flat is
a very common example of a secured loan.

Long-term financing of companies can be depicted as in Figure 4.3.

Figure 4.3 Sources of long-term finance for a typical limited company

Long-term finance

Share Retained Long-term
issues profits borrowings

Companies derive their long-term finance from three sources: new share issues, retained earn-
ings and long-term borrowings. For a typical company, the sum of the first two (jointly known as
‘equity finance’) exceeds the third. Retained earnings usually exceed each of the other two in
terms of the amount of finance raised in most years.

It is important to the prosperity and stability of a company that it strikes a suitable
balance between finance provided by the shareholders (equity) and from borrowing.
This topic will be explored in Chapter 6. Equity and loan notes are, of course, not the
only forms of finance available to a company. In Chapter 11, we consider other sources
of finance available to businesses, including companies.

Withdrawing equity

Companies, as we have seen, are legally obliged to distinguish, on the statement of
financial position, between that part of the shareholders’ equity that may be withdrawn
and that part which may not. The withdrawable part consists of profits arising from



Withdrawing equity

trading (retained profits or earnings) and from the disposal of non-current assets. It is
represented in the statement of financial position by revenue reserves.

It is important to appreciate that the total of revenue reserves appearing in the
statement of financial position is rarely the total of all trading profits and profits on
disposals of non-current assets generated by the company. This total will normally
have been reduced by at least one of the following three factors:

m corporation tax paid on those profits
m any dividends paid
m any losses from trading and the disposal of non-current assets.

The non-withdrawable part consists of share capital plus profits arising from share-
holders buying shares in the company and from upward revaluations of assets still held.
It is represented in the statement of financial position by share capital and capital reserves.

Figure 4.4 shows the important division between the part of the shareholders’
equity that can be withdrawn as a dividend and the part that cannot.

Figure 4.4 Availability for dividends of various parts of the shareholders’ equity

Share capital
(at nominal or
par value)
Not available
for dividend
Capital
reserves
Revenue Available
reserves for dividend

Total equity finance of limited companies consists of share capital, capital reserves and revenue
reserves. Only the revenue reserves (which arise from realised profits and gains) can be used to
fund a dividend. In other words, the maximum legal dividend is the amount of the revenue reserves.

The law does not specify how large the non-withdrawable part of a particular com-
pany'’s shareholders’ equity should be. However, when seeking to impress prospective
lenders and credit suppliers, the larger this part, the better. Those considering doing
business with the company must be able to see from the company’s statement of
financial position how large it is.
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Why are limited companies required to distinguish different parts of their shareholders’
equity, whereas sole proprietorship and partnership businesses are not?

The reason stems from the limited liability that company shareholders enjoy but which
owners of unincorporated businesses do not. If a sole proprietor or partner withdraws all of
the equity, or even an amount in excess of this, the position of the lenders and credit
suppliers of the business is not weakened since they can legally enforce their claims
against the sole proprietor or partner as an individual. With a limited company, the business
and the owners are legally separated and such a right to enforce claims against individuals
does not exist. To protect the company’s lenders and credit suppliers, however, the law
insists that the shareholders cannot normally withdraw a specific part of their equity.

Let us now look at an example that illustrates how this protection of creditors
works.

Example 4.4

The summary statement of financial position of a company at a particular date is
as follows:

Statement of financial position

£
Total assets 43,000
Equity
Share capital
20,000 shares of £1 each 20,000
Reserves (revenue) 23,000
Total equity 43,000

A bank has been asked to make a £25,000 long-term loan to the company. If the
loan were to be made, the statement of financial position immediately following
would appear as follows:

Statement of financial position (after the loan)

£
Total assets (£43,000 + £25,000) 68,000
Equity
Share capital
20,000 shares of £1 each 20,000
Reserves (revenue) 23,000
43,000
Non-current liability
Borrowings - loan 25,000
Total equity and liabilities 68,000
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As things stand, there are assets with a total carrying amount of £68,000 to
meet the bank’s claim of £25,000. It would be possible and perfectly legal, how-
ever, for the company to pay a dividend (withdraw part of the shareholders’
equity) equal to the total revenue reserves (£23,000). The statement of financial
position would then appear as follows:

Statement of financial position

£
Total assets (£68,000 — £23,000) 45,000
Equity
Share capital
20,000 shares of £1 each 20,000
Reserves (revenue) (£23,000 — £23,000) -
20,000
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings — bank loan 25,000
Total equity and liabilities 45,000

This leaves the bank in a very much weaker position, in that there are now
total assets with a carrying amount of £45,000 to meet a claim of £25,000. Note
that the difference between the amount of the borrowings (bank loan) and the
total assets equals the equity (share capital and reserves) total. Thus, the equity
represents a margin of safety for lenders and suppliers. The larger the amount of
the equity withdrawable by the shareholders, the smaller is the potential margin
of safety for lenders and suppliers.

As we have already seen, the law says nothing about how large the margin of safety
must be. It is up to each company to decide what is appropriate.

As a practical footnote to Example 4.4, it is worth pointing out that long-term lenders
would normally seek to secure a loan against an asset of the company, such as land.

Would you expect a company to pay all of its revenue reserves as a dividend? What
factors might be involved with a dividend decision?

It would be rare for a company to pay all of its revenue reserves as a dividend: the fact that
it is legally possible does not necessarily make it a good idea. Most companies see
ploughed-back profits as a major — usually the major — source of new finance. The factors
that tend most to influence the dividend decision are likely to include:

m the availability of cash to pay a dividend; it would not be illegal to borrow to pay a
dividend, but it would be unusual and, possibly, imprudent;

m the needs of the business for finance for new investment;

m the expectations of shareholders concerning the amount of dividends to be paid.

You may have thought of others.
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If we look back at Real World 4.6 (page 128), we can see that at 27 June 2009, Thorntons
plc could legally have paid a dividend totalling £8,151 million. Of course, the company
did not do this, presumably because the funds concerned were tied up in property,
plant and equipment and other assets, not lying around in the form of unused cash.

The main financial statements

As we might expect, the financial statements of a limited company are, in essence, the
same as those of a sole proprietor or partnership. There are, however, some differences
of detail. We shall now consider these. Example 4.5 sets out the income statement and
statement of financial position of a limited company.

Example 4.5
Da Silva plc
Income statement for the year ended 31 December 2010
£m
Revenue 840
Cost of sales (520)
Gross profit 320
Wages and salaries (98)
Heat and light (18)
Rent and rates (24)
Motor vehicle expenses (20)
Insurance 4)
Printing and stationery (12)
Depreciation (45)
Audit fee 4
Operating profit 95
Interest payable (10)
Profit before taxation 85
Taxation (24)
Profit for the year _61
Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2010
£m
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 203
Intangible assets 100
303
Current assets
Inventories 65
Trade receivables 112
Cash 36
213
Total assets 516



The main financial statements

£m
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Ordinary shares of £0.50 each 200
Share premium account 30
Other reserves 50
Retained earnings 25
305
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 100
Current liabilities
Trade payables 99
Taxation 12
m
Total equity and liabilities 516

Let us now go through these statements and pick up those aspects that are unique
to limited companies.

The income statement

There are several features in the income statement that need consideration.

Profit

We can see that, following the calculation of operating profit, two further measures of
profit are shown.

m The first of these is the profit before taxation. Interest charges are deducted from
the operating profit to derive this figure. In the case of a sole proprietor or partner-
ship business, the income statement would end here.

m The second measure of profit is the profit for the year. As the company is a separ-
ate legal entity, it is liable to pay tax (known as corporation tax) on the profits
generated. (This contrasts with the sole proprietor business where it is the owner
rather than the business that is liable for the tax on profits, as we saw earlier in the
chapter.) This measure of profit represents the amount that is available for the
shareholders.

Audit fee

Companies beyond a certain size are required to have their financial statements
audited by an independent firm of accountants, for which a fee is charged. As we shall
see later in this chapter, the purpose of the audit is to lend credibility to the financial
statements. Although it is also open to sole proprietors and partnerships to have their
financial statements audited, relatively few do, so this is an expense that is most often
seen in the income statements of companies.
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The statement of financial position

The main points for consideration in the statement of financial position are as follows.

Taxation

The amount that appears as part of the current liabilities represents 50 per cent of the
tax on the profit for the year 2010. It is, therefore, 50 per cent (£12 million) of the
charge that appears in the income statement (£24 million); the other 50 per cent (£12
million) will already have been paid. The unpaid 50 per cent will be paid shortly after
the statement of financial position date. These payment dates are set down by law.

Other reserves

This will include any reserves that are not separately identified on the face of the state-
ment of financial position. It may include a general reserve, which normally consists of
trading profits that have been transferred to this separate reserve for reinvestment
(‘ploughing back’) into the operations of the company. It is not at all necessary to set
up a separate reserve for this purpose. The trading profits could remain unallocated
and still swell the retained earnings of the company. It is not entirely clear why direc-
tors decide to make transfers to general reserves, since the profits concerned remain
part of the revenue reserves. As such, they still remain available for dividend. The most
plausible explanation seems to be that directors feel that placing profits in a separate
reserve indicates an intention to invest the funds, represented by the reserve, perman-
ently in the company and, therefore, not to use them to pay a dividend. Of course,
the retained earnings appearing on the statement of financial position are also a
reserve, but that fact is not indicated in its title.

Dividends

We have already seen that dividends represent drawings by the shareholders of the
company. Dividends are paid out of the revenue reserves and should be deducted
from these reserves (usually retained earnings) when preparing the statement of finan-
cial position. Shareholders are often paid an annual dividend, perhaps in two parts.
An ‘interim’ dividend may be paid part way through the year and a ‘final’ dividend
shortly after the year end.

Dividends declared by the directors during the year but still unpaid at the year end
may appear as a liability in the statement of financial position. To be recognised as
a liability, however, they must be properly authorised before the year-end date. This
normally means that the shareholders must approve the dividend.

Additional financial statements

In the sections below, we turn our attention to two new financial statements that
must be provided by those companies that are subject to International Financial



Additional financial statements

Reporting Standards. We shall consider the nature and role of these standards a little
later in the chapter.

Statement of comprehensive income

The statement of comprehensive income extends the conventional income state-
ment to include certain other gains and losses that affect shareholders’ equity. It may
be presented either in the form of a single statement or as two separate statements,
comprising an income statement (like the one shown in Example 4.5) and a statement
of comprehensive income.

This new statement attempts to overcome the perceived weaknesses of the conven-
tional income statement. In broad terms, the conventional income statement shows
all realised gains and losses for the period. It also shows some unrealised losses. How-
ever, gains, and some losses, that remain unrealised (because the asset is still held) tend
not to pass through the income statement, but will go, instead, directly to a reserve.
We saw, in an earlier chapter, an example of such an unrealised gain.

Can you think of this example?

The example that we met earlier is where a business revalues its land and buildings. The gain
arising is not shown in the conventional income statement, but is transferred to a revalua-
tion reserve, which forms part of the equity. (See example in Activity 2.14 on page 59.) Land
and buildings are not the only assets to which this rule relates, but revaluations of these
types of asset are, in practice, the most common examples of unrealised gains.

An example of an unrealised gain, or loss, that has not been mentioned so far, arises
from exchange differences when the results of foreign operations are translated into
UK currency. Any gain, or loss, bypasses the income statement and is taken directly to
a currency translation reserve.

A weakness of conventional accounting is that there is no robust principle that
we can apply to determine precisely what should, and what should not, be included
in the income statement. Thus, on the one hand, losses arising from the impairment
of non-current assets normally appear in the income statement. On the other hand,
losses arising from translating the carrying value of assets expressed in an overseas
currency (because they are owned by an overseas branch) do not. This difference in
treatment, which is ingrained in conventional accounting, is difficult to justify.

The statement of comprehensive income ensures that all gains and losses, both
realised and unrealised, are reported within a single statement. To do this, it extends
the conventional income statement by including unrealised gains, as well as any un-
realised losses not yet reported, immediately below the measure of profit for the year.
An illustration of this statement is shown in Example 4.6.
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Example 4.6
Malik plc
Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 July 2010
£m
Revenue 97.2
Cost of sales (59.1)
Gross profit 38.1
Other income 3.5
Distribution expenses (16.5)
Administration expenses (11.2)
Other expenses (2.4
Operating profit 11.5
Finance charges (1.8)
Profit before tax 9.7
Tax (2.4
Profit for the year 7.3
Other comprehensive income
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment 6.6
Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations 4.0
Tax on other comprehensive income (2.6)
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 8.0
Total comprehensive income for the year 15.3

This example adopts a single-statement approach to presenting comprehensive
income. The alternative two-statement approach simply divides the information shown
above into two separate parts. The income statement, which is the first statement,
begins with the revenue for the year and ends with the profit for the year. The state-
ment of comprehensive income, which is the second statement, begins with the profit
for the year and ends with the total comprehensive income for the year.

Statement of changes in equity

The statement of changes in equity aims to help users to understand the changes in
share capital and reserves that took place during the period. It reconciles the figures
for these items at the beginning of the period with those at the end of the period.
This is achieved by showing the effect on the share capital and reserves of total com-
prehensive income as well as the effect of share issues and purchases during the
period. The effect of dividends during the period may also be shown in this statement,
although dividends can be shown in the notes instead.

To see how a statement of changes in equity may be prepared, let us consider
Example 4.7.



The directors’ duty to account

Example 4.7
At 1 January 2010 Miro plc had the following equity:
Miro plc
£m
Share capital (£1 ordinary shares) 100
Revaluation reserve 20
Translation reserve 40
Retained earnings 150
Total equity 310

During 2010, the company made a profit for the year from normal business opera-
tions of £42 million and reported an upward revaluation of property, plant and
equipment of £120 million (net of any tax that would be payable were the un-
realised gains to be realised). The company also reported a £10 million loss on
exchange differences on translating the results of foreign operations. To strengthen
its financial position, the company issued 50 million ordinary shares during the
year at a premium of £0.40. Dividends for the year were £27 million.

This information for 2010 can be set out in a statement of changes in equity as
follows:

Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2010
Share  Share  Revaluation Translation Retained Total

capital premium reserve reserve  earnings
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Balance as at 1 January 2010 100 - 20 40 150 310
Changes in equity for 2010
Issue of ordinary shares (Note 1) 50 20 - - - 70
Dividends (Note 2) - - - - 27) 27)
Total comprehensive income for

the year (Note 3) = = 120 (10) 42 152
Balance at 31 December 2010 150 20 140 30 165 505
Notes:

1 The premium on the share price is transferred to a specific reserve.

2 We have chosen to show dividends in the statement of changes in equity rather than in the
notes. They represent an appropriation of equity and are deducted from retained earnings.

3 The effect of each component of comprehensive income on the various components of share-
holders’ equity must be separately disclosed. The revaluation gain and the loss on translating
foreign operations are each allocated to a specific reserve. The profit for the year is added to
retained earnings.

The directors' duty to account

With most large companies, it is not possible for all shareholders to take part in the
management of the company, nor do most of them wish to be involved. Instead, they
appoint directors to act on their behalf. This separation of ownership from day-to-day
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control creates the need for directors to be accountable for their stewardship (man-
agement) of the company’s assets. Thus, the law requires that directors:

B maintain appropriate accounting records
m prepare annual financial statements and a directors’ report and make these available
to all shareholders and to the public at large.

The financial statements are made available to the public by submitting a copy to
the Registrar of Companies (Department of Trade and Industry), who allows any inter-
ested person to inspect them. In addition, listed companies are required to publish
their financial statements on their website.

Why does the law require directors to account in this way and who benefits from these
requirements?

We thought of the following benefits and beneficiaries:

B 7o inform and protect shareholders. If shareholders do not receive information about the
performance and position of their investment, they will have problems in appraising their
investment. Under these circumstances, they would probably be reluctant to invest and
this, in turn, would affect the functioning of the private sector.

B 7o inform and protect suppliers of labour, goods, services and finance, particularly those
supplying credit (loans) or goods and services on credit. Individuals and organisations
would be reluctant to engage in commercial relationships, such as supplying goods
or lending money, where a company does not provide information about its financial
health. The fact that a company has limited liability increases the risks involved in
dealing with the company. An unwillingness to engage in commercial relationships with
limited companies will, once again, affect the functioning of the private sector.

B To inform and protect society more generally. Some companies exercise enormous
power and influence in society generally, particularly on a geographically local basis. For
example, a particular company may be the dominant employer and purchaser of com-
mercial goods and services in a particular town or city. Legislators have tended to take
the view that society has the right to information about the company and its activities.

The need for accounting rules

If we accept the need for directors to prepare and publish financial statements, we
should also accept the need for a framework of rules concerning how these statements
are prepared and presented. Without rules, there is a much greater risk that unscrupu-
lous directors will adopt accounting policies and practices that portray an unrealistic
view of financial health. There is also a much greater risk that the financial statements
will not be comparable over time or with those of other businesses. Accounting rules
can narrow areas of differences and reduce the variety of accounting methods. This
should help ensure that businesses treat similar transactions in a similar way.



]

Sources of accounting rules

Accounting rules should help to provide greater confidence in the integrity of
financial statements. This, in turn, may help a business to raise funds and to build
stronger relationships with customers and suppliers. Users must be realistic, however,
about what can be achieved through regulation. Problems of manipulation and of con-
cealment can still occur even within a highly regulated environment and examples of
both will be considered later in the chapter. The scale of these problems, however,
should be reduced where there is a practical set of rules.

Problems of comparability can also still occur as accounting is not a precise science.
Judgements and estimates must be made when preparing financial statements and
these may hinder comparisons. Furthermore, no two companies are identical and the
accounting policies adopted may vary between companies for entirely valid reasons.

Sources of accounting rules

In recent years there have been increasing trends towards the internationalisation
of business and the integration of financial markets. These trends have helped to
strengthen the case for the international harmonisation of accounting rules. By adopt-
ing a common set of rules, users of financial statements should be better placed to
compare the financial health of companies based in different countries. It should also
relieve international companies of some of the burden of preparing financial state-
ments as different financial statements would no longer have to be prepared to com-
ply with the rules of different countries in which a particular company operates.

The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) is an independent body that
is at the forefront of the move towards harmonisation. The Board, which is based in
the UK, is dedicated to developing a single set of high-quality, global accounting rules.
These rules aim to provide transparent and comparable information in financial
statements. They are known as International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) or
International Accounting Standards (IASs) and deal with key issues such as:

what information should be disclosed;
how information should be presented;
how assets should be valued; and

]
]
]
m how profit should be measured.

We have already come across some IASs and IFRSs in earlier chapters. Try to recall at
least two topics where International Financial Reporting Standards were mentioned.

We came across financial reporting standards when considering:

m the valuation and impairment of assets (Chapter 2);
B depreciation and impairment of non-current assets (Chapter 3);
B the valuation of inventories (Chapter 3).
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In recent years, several important developments have greatly increased the author-
ity of the IASB. The first major development came when the European Commission
required nearly all companies listed on the stock exchanges of EU member states to
adopt IFRSs for reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2005. As a result,
nearly 7,000 companies in 25 different countries switched to IFRSs. Further develop-
ments have occurred since and there are now more than 100 countries that either
require or permit the use of IFRSs. Although non-listed UK companies are not cur-
rently required to adopt IFRSs, they have the option to do so. Some informed observers
believe, however, that IFRSs will soon become a requirement for all UK companies.

The EU requirement to adopt IFRSs, mentioned earlier, overrides any laws in force
in member states that could either hinder or restrict compliance with them. The ultim-
ate aim is to achieve a single framework of accounting rules for companies from all
member states. The EU recognises that this will be achieved only if individual govern-
ments do not add to the requirements imposed by the various IFRSs. Thus, it seems
that accounting rules developed within individual EU member countries will eventu-
ally disappear. For the time being, however, the EU accepts that the governments of
member states may need to impose additional disclosures for some corporate govern-
ance matters and regulatory requirements.

In the UK, company law requires disclosure relating to various corporate govern-
ance issues. There is, for example, a requirement to disclose details of directors’ remun-
eration in the published financial statements, which goes beyond anything required
by IFRSs. Furthermore, the Financial Services Authority (FSA), in its role as the UK
(Stock Exchange) listing authority, imposes rules on Stock Exchange listed companies.
These include the requirement to publish a condensed set of interim (half-year) finan-
cial statements in addition to the annual financial statements.

Figure 4.5 sets out the main sources of accounting rules for Stock Exchange listed
companies discussed above. While company law and the FSA still play an important role,
in the longer term IFRSs seem set to become the sole source of company accounting rules.

Figure 4.5 Sources of external accounting rules for a UK public limited
company listed on the London Stock Exchange

International
External ) .
Company . Financial
accounting h
law rules Reporting
Standards

Stock Exchange rules
imposed by FSA

International Financial Reporting Standards provide the basic framework of accounting rules for
nearly all Stock Exchange listed companies. These rules are augmented by company law and by
the Financial Services Authority (FSA) in its role as the UK listing authority.




The auditors’ role

The auditors’ role

Shareholders are required to elect a qualified and independent person or, more usually,
a firm to act as auditors. The auditors’ main duty is to report whether, in their opinion,
the financial statements do what they are supposed to do, namely to show a true and fair
view of the financial performance, position and cash flows of the company. To be able to
form such an opinion, auditors must carefully scrutinise the annual financial statements
and the underlying evidence upon which they are based. In particular, they will examine
the accounting principles followed, the accounting estimates made and the robustness
of the company’s internal control systems. The auditors’ opinion must be included
with the financial statements sent to the shareholders and to the Registrar of Companies.

The relationship between the shareholders, the directors and the auditors is illus-
trated in Figure 4.6. This shows that the shareholders elect the directors to act on their
behalf, in the day-to-day running of the company. The directors are then required to
‘account’ to the shareholders on the performance, position and cash flows of the
company, on an annual basis. The shareholders also elect auditors, whose role it is to
give the shareholders an independent view of the truth and fairness of the financial
statements prepared by the directors.

Figure 4.6 The relationship between the shareholders, the directors and the
auditors

Directors

review
elect account

report
Shareholders Auditors

elect

The directors are appointed by the shareholders to manage the company on the shareholders’
behalf. The directors are required to report each year to the shareholders, principally by means
of financial statements, on the company’s performance, position and cash flows. To give greater
confidence in the statements, the shareholders also appoint auditors to investigate the reports
and to express an opinion on their reliability.

The directors’ report

In addition to preparing the financial statements, UK law requires the directors to pre-
pare an annual report to shareholders and other interested parties. The directors’ report
will contain both financial and non-financial information, which goes beyond that
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contained in the financial statements. The information to be disclosed is diverse and
will include the names of those who were directors during the year, the principal activ-
ities of the company and any recommended dividend. The most important element of
the report, however, is probably the business review. This is aimed at helping share-
holders to assess how well the directors have performed. It should provide an analysis
of financial performance and position and should also set out the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the business.

In addition to disclosing the above information, the directors’ report must contain
a declaration that the directors are not aware of any other information that the
auditors might need in preparing their audit report. Furthermore, the report must
declare that the directors have taken steps to ensure that the auditors are aware of all
relevant information. The auditors do not carry out an audit of the directors’ report.
However, they will check to see that the information in the report is consistent with
that contained in the audited financial statements.

For companies listed on the Stock Exchange, the law also requires the publication
of an annual directors’ remuneration report. This should help shareholders to assess
whether the rewards received by directors are appropriate.

Creative accounting

Despite the proliferation of accounting rules and the independent checks that are
imposed, concerns over the quality of published financial statements surface from
time to time. There are occasions when directors apply particular accounting policies,
or structure particular transactions, in such a way as to portray a picture of financial
health that is in line with what they want users to see, rather than what is a true and
fair view of financial position and performance. Misrepresenting the performance and
position of a business in this way is referred to as creative accounting and it poses a
major problem for accounting rule makers and for society generally.

Why might the directors of a company engage in creative accounting?

There are many reasons including:

to get around restrictions (for example, to report sufficient profit to pay a dividend);

to avoid government action (for example, the taxation of excessive profits);

to hide poor management decisions;

to achieve sales revenue or profit targets, thereby ensuring that performance bonuses
are paid to the directors;

to attract new share capital or long-term borrowing by showing an apparently healthy
financial position; and

B to satisfy the demands of major investors concerning levels of return.



Creative accounting

Creative accounting methods

The ways in which unscrupulous directors can manipulate the financial statements are
many and varied. However, they usually involve adopting novel or unorthodox prac-
tices for reporting key elements of the financial statements such as revenue, expenses,
assets and liabilities. They may also involve the use of complicated or obscure trans-
actions in an attempt to hide the underlying economic reality. The manipulation
carried out may be designed either to bend the rules or to break them.

Many creative accounting methods are designed to overstate the revenue for a
period. These methods often involve the early recognition of sales revenue or the
reporting of sales transactions that have no real substance. Real World 4.8 provides
examples of both types of revenue manipulation.

Real World 4.8

Overstating revenue

Channel stuffing: A business, usually with considerable market power, may pressurise its
distributors to accept more goods than is needed to meet normal sales demand. In this
way, the business can record additional sales for a period even though there has effec-
tively been only a transfer of inventories from the business to its distributors. This
method of artificially increasing sales is also known as ‘trade loading’.

Pre-dispatching: Normally, revenue for credit sales is recognised when goods have been
passed to, and accepted by, the customer. To boost sales and profits for a period, how-
ever, some businesses have been known to recognise revenue as soon as the order for
goods has been received.

Hollow swaps: Telecom businesses may agree to sell unused fibre optic capacity to each
other — usually at the same price. Although this will not increase profits, it will increase
revenues and give an impression that the business is growing.

Round tripping: Energy businesses may agree to buy and sell energy between each other.
Again this is normally for the same price and so no additional profits will be made. It will,
however, boost revenues to give a false impression of business growth. This method is
also known as ‘in and out trading’.

Source: based on information in ‘Dirty laundry: how companies fudge the numbers’, The Times, Business Section, 22/09/2002.

Some years ago there was a wave of creative accounting scandals, particularly in the
US but also in Europe; however, it seems that this wave has now subsided. The qual-
ity of financial statements is improving and, it is to be hoped, trust among investors
and others is being restored. As a result of the actions taken by various regulatory
bodies and by accounting rule makers, creative accounting has become a more risky
and difficult process for those who attempt it. However, it will never disappear com-
pletely and a further wave of creative accounting scandals may occur in the future. The
recent wave coincided with a period of strong economic growth and, during good
economic times, investors and auditors become less vigilant. Thus, the opportunity to
manipulate the figures becomes easier. We must not, therefore, become too complacent.
Things may change again when we next experience a period of strong growth.
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Self-assessment question 4.1

This question requires you to correct some figures on a set of company financial state-
ments. It should prove useful practice for the material that you covered in Chapters 2 and
3, as well as helping you to become familiar with the financial statements of a company.

Presented below is a draft set of simplified financial statements for Pear Limited for the
year ended 30 September 2010.

Income statement for the year ended 30 September 2010

£000
Revenue 1,456
Cost of sales _(768)
Gross profit 688
Salaries (220)
Depreciation (249)
Other operating costs _(131)
Operating profit 88
Interest payable _(15)
Profit before taxation 73
Taxation at 30% _(22)
Profit for the year 51

Statement of financial position as at 30 September 2010
ASSETS £000
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

Cost 1,570
Depreciation _(690)

_880

Current assets

Inventories 207

Trade receivables 182

Cash at bank 21
_410

Total assets 1,290

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Share capital 300

Share premium account 300

Retained earnings at beginning of year 104

Profit for year _ 51
_755

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings (10% loan notes repayable 2014) 300

Current liabilities

Trade payables 88

Other payables 20

Taxation 22

Borrowings (bank overdraft) 105
285

Total equity and liabilities 1,290
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The following information is available:

1

Depreciation has not been charged on office equipment with a carrying amount of
£100,000. This class of assets is depreciated at 12 per cent a year using the reducing-
balance method.

A new machine was purchased, on credit, for £30,000 and delivered on 29 September
2010 but has not been included in the financial statements. (Ignore depreciation.)

A sales invoice to the value of £18,000 for September 2010 has been omitted from the
financial statements. (The cost of sales figure is stated correctly.)

A dividend of £25,000 had been approved by the shareholders before 30 September
2010, but was unpaid at that date. This is not reflected in the financial statements.

The interest payable on the loan notes for the second half-year was not paid until
1 October 2010 and has not been included in the financial statements.

An allowance for trade receivables is to be made at the level of 2 per cent of trade
receivables.

An invoice for electricity to the value of £2,000 for the quarter ended 30 September 2010
arrived on 4 October and has not been included in the financial statements.

The charge for taxation will have to be amended to take account of the above informa-
tion. Make the simplifying assumption that tax is payable shortly after the end of the
year, at the rate of 30 per cent of the profit before tax.

Required:
Prepare a revised set of financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2010 incor-
porating the additional information in 1 to 8 above. (Work to the nearest £1,000.)

The solution to this question can be found at the back of the book, in Appendix B.

Summary

The main points of this chapter may be summarised as follows.

Main features of a limited company

It is an artificial person that has been created by law.
It has a separate life to its owners and is granted a perpetual existence.

It must take responsibility for its own debts and losses but its owners are granted
limited liability.

A public company can offer its shares for sale to the public; a private company
cannot.

It is governed by a board of directors, which is elected by the shareholders.

Corporate governance is a major issue.

Summary
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Financing the limited company

The share capital of a company can be of two main types: ordinary shares and
preference shares.

Holders of ordinary shares (equities) are the main risk takers and are given voting
rights; they form the backbone of the company.

Holders of preference shares are given a right to a fixed dividend before ordinary
shareholders receive a dividend.

Reserves are profits and gains made by the company and form part of the ordin-
ary shareholders’ equity.

Borrowings provide another major source of finance.

Share issues

Bonus shares are issued to existing shareholders when part of the reserves of the
company is converted into share capital. No funds are raised.

Rights issues give existing shareholders the right to buy new shares in proportion
to their existing holding.

m Public issues are made direct to the general investing public.

m Private placings are share issues to particular investors.

m The shares of public companies may be bought and sold on a recognised Stock

Exchange.

Reserves

Reserves are of two types: revenue reserves and capital reserves.

Revenue reserves arise from trading profits and from realised profits on the sale of
non-current assets.

Capital reserves arise from the issue of shares above their nominal value or from
the upward revaluation of non-current assets.

Revenue reserves can be withdrawn as dividends by the shareholders whereas
capital reserves normally cannot.

Financial statements of limited companies

The financial statements of limited companies are based on the same principles
as those of sole proprietorship and partnership businesses. However, there are
some differences in detail.

The income statement has three measures of profit displayed after the gross profit
figure: operating profit, profit before taxation and profit for the year.

m The income statement also shows audit fees and tax on profits for the year.

B Any unpaid tax and unpaid, but authorised, dividends will appear in the state-

ment of financial position as current liabilities.

The statement of comprehensive income extends the income statement to
include all gains and losses, both realised and unrealised.



Summary

m The statement of changes in equity reconciles the equity figure at the beginning
of a reporting period with that at the end.

m The share capital plus the reserves make up ‘equity’.

m Limited companies subject to International Financial Reporting Standards must
produce a statement of comprehensive income and statement of changes in
equity.

Directors’ duty

m The directors have a duty to
— maintain appropriate accounting records;

— prepare and publish financial statements and a directors’ report.

The need for accounting rules

® Accounting rules are necessary to
— avoid unacceptable accounting practices;

- improve the comparability of financial statements.

Accounting rules

m The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) has become an important
source of rules.

m Company law and the London Stock Exchange are also sources of rules for UK
companies.
Other statutory reports

m The auditors’ report provides an opinion by independent auditors concerning
whether the financial statements provide a true and fair view of the financial
health of a business.

m The directors’ report contains information of a financial and a non-financial
nature, which goes beyond that contained in the financial statements.

Creative accounting

m Despite the accounting rules in place there have been examples of creative
accounting by directors.

m This involves using accounting practices to show what the directors would like
users to see rather than what is a fair representation of reality.

MyAccountinglal|J] o check your progress in
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Review gquestions

Solutions to these questions can be found at the back of the book, in Appendix C.

4.1 How does the liability of a limited company differ from the liability of a real person, in
respect of amounts owed to others?

4.2 Some people are about to form a company, as a vehicle through which to run a new busi-
ness. What are the advantages to them of forming a private limited company rather than
a public one?

4.3 What is a reserve? Distinguish between a revenue reserve and a capital reserve.
4.4 What is a preference share? Compare the main features of a preference share with those of

(@) an ordinary share; and
(b) loan notes.

Exercises

Exercises 4.4 and 4.5 are more advanced than Exercises 4.1to 4.3. Those with coloured
numbers have solutions at the back of the book, in Appendix D.

If you wish to try more exercises, visit the website at www.myaccountinglab.com.

4.1 Comment on the following quote:

Limited companies can set a limit on the amount of debts that they will meet. They tend
to have reserves of cash, as well as share capital and they can use these reserves to pay
dividends to the shareholders. Many companies have preference as well as ordinary shares.
The preference shares give a guaranteed dividend. The shares of many companies can be
bought and sold on the Stock Exchange. Shareholders selling their shares can represent a
useful source of new finance to the company.

Exercises
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4.2 The following information was extracted from the financial statements of 1. Ching
(Booksellers) plc for the year to 31 December 2009:

£m
Finance charges 40
Cost of sales 460
Distribution expenses 110
Revenue 943
Administration expenses 212
Other expenses 25
Gain on revaluation of property, plant and equipment 20
Loss on foreign currency translations on foreign operations 15
Tax on profit for the year 24
Tax on other components of comprehensive income 1

Required:
Prepare a statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2009.

4.3 Briefly explain each of the following expressions that you have seen in the financial state-
ments of a limited company:

(@) dividend
(b) audit fee
(c) share premium account.

4.4 Presented below is a draft set of financial statements for Chips Limited.

Chips Limited

Income statement for the year ended 30 June 2010
£000

Revenue 1,850
Cost of sales (1,040)
Gross profit 810
Depreciation (220)
Other operating costs _(375)
Operating profit 215
Interest payable _ (3%)
Profit before taxation 180
Taxation _(60)
Profit for the year _120
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Statement of financial position as at 30 June 2010

Cost Depreciation
£000 £000 £000
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Buildings 800 (112) 688
Plant and equipment 650 (367) 283
Motor vehicles 102 (53) 49
1,562 (632) 1,020
Current assets
Inventories 950
Trade receivables 420
Cash at bank 16
1,386
Total assets 2,406
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Ordinary shares of £1, fully paid 800
Reserves at beginning of the year 248
Profit for the year 120
1,168
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings (secured 10% loan notes) 700
Current liabilities
Trade payables 361
Other payables 117
Taxation 60
_538
Total equity and liabilities 2,406

The following additional information is available:

1

Purchase invoices for goods received on 29 June 2010 amounting to £23,000 have
not been included. This means that the cost of sales figure in the income statement
has been understated.

2 A motor vehicle costing £8,000 with depreciation amounting to £5,000 was sold on
30 June 2010 for £2,000, paid by cheque. This transaction has not been included in
the company’s records.

3 No depreciation on motor vehicles has been charged. The annual rate is 20 per cent
of cost at the year end.

4 A sale on credit for £16,000 made on 1 July 2010 has been included in the financial
statements in error. The cost of sales figure is correct in respect of this item.

5 A half-yearly payment of interest on the secured loan due on 30 June 2010 has not
been paid.

6 The tax charge should be 30 per cent of the reported profit before taxation. Assume
that it is payable, in full, shortly after the year end.

Required:

Prepare a revised set of financial statements incorporating the additional information in
1 to 6 above. (Work to the nearest £1,000.)

Exercises

155



Chapter 4 Accounting for limited companies

4.5 Rose Limited operates a small chain of retail shops that sell high-quality teas and coffees.
Approximately half of sales are on credit. Abbreviated and unaudited financial statements
are given below.

Rose Limited
Income statement for the year ended 31 March 2010

£000
Revenue 12,080
Cost of sales (6,282)
Gross profit 5,798
Labour costs (2,658)
Depreciation (625)
Other operating costs (1,003)
Operating profit 1,512
Interest payable (66)
Profit before taxation 1,446
Taxation (434)
Profit for the year 1,012

Statement of financial position as at 31 March 2010

£000
ASSETS
Non-current assets 2,728
Current assets
Inventories 1,583
Trade receivables 996
Cash 26
2,605
Total assets 5,333
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Share capital (50p shares, fully paid) 750
Share premium 250
Retained earnings 1,468
2,468
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings — secured loan notes (2014) 300
Current liabilities
Trade payables 1,118
Other payables 417
Tax 434
Borrowings - overdraft _ 596
2,565
Total equity and liabilities 5,333

Since the unaudited financial statements for Rose Limited were prepared, the following
information has become available:
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An additional £74,000 of depreciation should have been charged on fixtures and
fittings.

Invoices for credit sales on 31 March 2010 amounting to £34,000 have not been
included; cost of sales is not affected.

Trade receivables totalling £21,000 are recognised as having gone bad, but they have
not yet been written off.

Inventories which had been purchased for £2,000 have been damaged and are
unsaleable. This is not reflected in the financial statements.

Fixtures and fittings to the value of £16,000 were delivered just before 31 March 2010,
but these assets were not included in the financial statements and the purchase
invoice had not been processed.

Wages for Saturday-only staff, amounting to £1,000, have not been paid for the final
Saturday of the year. This is not reflected in the financial statements.

Tax is payable at 30 per cent of profit after taxation. Assume that it is payable shortly
after the year end.

Required:
Prepare revised financial statements for Rose Limited for the year ended 31 March 2010,
incorporating the information in 1 to 7 above. (Work to the nearest £1,000.)

Exercises
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Chapter 5

Measuring and
reporting cash
flows

Introduction

This chapter is devoted to the third major financial statement identified in Chapter 2: the statement
of cash flows. This statement reports the movements of cash over a period and the effect of
these movements on the cash position of the business. It is an important financial statement
because cash is vital to the survival of a business. Without cash, a business cannot operate.

In this chapter, we shall see how the statement of cash flows is prepared and how the information
that it contains may be interpreted. We shall also see why the deficiencies of the income
statement in identifying and explaining cash flows make a separate statement necessary.

The statement of cash flows is being considered after the chapter on limited companies
because the format of the statement requires an understanding of this type of business.
Nearly all limited companies are required to provide a statement of cash flows for
shareholders and other users as part of their annual financial reports.

Learning outcomes

When you have completed this chapter, you should be able to:
m discuss the crucial importance of cash to a business;

m explain the nature of the statement of cash flows and discuss how it can be helpful in
identifying cash flow problems;

B prepare a statement of cash flows;

interpret a statement of cash flows.
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The statement of cash flows

The statement of cash flows

The statement of cash flows is a fairly recent addition to the annual published finan-
cial statements. Until relatively recently, companies were only required to publish an
income statement and a statement of financial position (balance sheet). The prevail-
ing view seems to have been that all the financial information needed by users would
be contained within these two statements. This view may have been based partly on
the assumption that if a business were profitable, it would also have plenty of cash.
Although in the long run this is likely to be true, it is not necessarily true in the short
to medium term.

We saw in Chapter 3 that the income statement sets out the revenue and expenses,
rather than the cash receipts and cash payments, for the period. This means that
profit (or loss), which represents the difference between the revenue and expenses
for the period, may have little or no relation to the cash generated for the period. To
illustrate this point, let us take the example of a business making a sale (generating
a revenue). This may well lead to an increase in wealth that will be reflected in the
income statement. However, if the sale is made on credit, no cash changes hands - at
least not at the time of sale. Instead, the increase in wealth is reflected in another asset:
an increase in trade receivables. Furthermore, if an item of inventories is the subject
of the sale, wealth is lost to the business through the reduction in inventories. This
means an expense is incurred in making the sale, which will be shown in the income
statement. Once again, however, no cash has changed hands at the time of sale. For
such reasons, the profit and the cash generated for a period will rarely go hand in
hand.

Activity 5.1 should help to underline how profit and cash for a period may be
affected differently by particular transactions or events.

The following is a list of business/accounting events. In each case, state the effect
(increase, decrease or none) on both profit and cash.

Effect

on profit on cash
Repayment of borrowings
Making a profitable sale on credit
Buying a current asset on credit
Receiving cash from a credit customer (trade receivable)
Depreciating a non-current asset
Buying some inventories for cash
Making a share issue for cash

NOoO o~ ON=
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You should have come up with the following:

Effect
on profit on cash
1 Repayment of borrowings none decrease
2 Making a profitable sale on credit increase none
3 Buying a current asset on credit none none
4 Receiving cash from a credit customer (trade receivable) none increase
5 Depreciating a non-current asset decrease none
6 Buying some inventories for cash none decrease
7 Making a share issue for cash none increase

The reasons for these answers are as follows:

1 Repaying borrowings requires that cash be paid to the lender. This means that two figures
in the statement of financial position will be affected, but none in the income statement.

2 Making a profitable sale on credit will increase the sales revenue and profit figures. No
cash will change hands at this point, however.

3 Buying a current asset on credit affects neither the cash balance nor the profit figure.

4 Receiving cash from a credit customer increases the cash balance and reduces the
credit customer’s balance. Both of these figures are on the statement of financial posi-
tion. The income statement is unaffected.

5 Depreciating a non-current asset means that an expense is recognised. This causes the
carrying amount of the asset, as it is recorded on the statement of financial position, to
fall by an amount equal to the amount of the expense. No cash is paid or received.

6 Buying some inventories for cash means that the value of inventories held will increase
and the cash balance will decrease by a similar amount. Profit is not affected.

7 Making a share issue for cash increases the shareholders’ equity and increases the cash
balance; profit is unaffected.

It is clear from the above that if we are to gain insights about cash movements over
time, the income statement is not the place to look. Instead we need a separate finan-
cial statement. This fact has become widely recognised in recent years and in 1991
a UK financial reporting standard, FRS 1, emerged that required all but the smallest
companies to produce and publish a statement of cash flows. This standard has been
superseded for listed companies from 2005 by the International Financial Reporting
(Accounting) Standard IAS 7. The two standards have broadly similar requirements.
This chapter follows the provisions of IAS 7.

Why is cash so important?

It is worth asking why cash is so important. After all, cash is just an asset that the busi-
ness needs to help it to function. In that sense, it is no different from inventories or
non-current assets.

The reason for the importance of cash is that people and organisations will not
normally accept anything other than cash in settlement of their claims. If a business
wants to employ people, it must pay them in cash. If it wants to buy a new non-current



A definition of cash and cash equivalents

asset to exploit a business opportunity, the seller of the asset will normally insist on
being paid in cash, probably after a short period of credit. When businesses fail, it is
their inability to find the cash to pay the amounts owed that really pushes them
under. These factors lead to cash being the pre-eminent business asset. Cash is what
analysts tend to watch most carefully when assessing the ability of businesses to
survive and/or to take advantage of commercial opportunities.

During an economic downturn, the ability to generate cash takes on even greater
importance. Banks become more cautious in their lending and those businesses with
weak cash flows often find it difficult to obtain finance. Real World 5.1 describes how
the recent financial crisis has led to greater emphasis on cash flows.

Real World 5.1
Cash is king

As the number of corporate failures has risen, there is one line that bankers continue to
echo: it is not a fall in profits that leads to failure, but a lack of cash. In too many situations,
companies and their investors have been focused on profits, but in an environment where
liquidity is tight and confidence thin, cash is king.

‘Cash management is incredibly important and even very large and stable businesses
are taking it very seriously. Those that don’t are doing so at their peril, as their customers
and suppliers will be taking [cash] more seriously than they are,” says David Sage, working
capital management partner at Ernst & Young. ‘Poor cash management is one of the key
reasons why nine out of ten companies fail when they do.’

While credit market conditions have improved in recent months, the retrenchment in
bank lending is still a big challenge for many businesses. ‘Banks are adopting more cau-
tious lending policies and placing greater pressure on companies to mitigate cash needs
through their own self-help measures,’ says lan Devlin, an associate partner in Deloitte’s
reorganisation services team.

Source: ‘Companies learn to care for cash’, The Financial Times, 02/10/2009 (Sakoui, A.), copyright © The Financial Times Ltd.

The main features of the statement of cash flows

The statement of cash flows is a summary of the cash receipts and payments over the
period concerned. All payments of a particular type, for example cash payments to
acquire additional non-current assets or other investments, are added together to give
just one figure that appears in the statement. The net total of the statement is the net

increase or decrease in the cash (and cash equivalents) of the business over the period.

The statement is basically an analysis of the business’s cash (and cash equivalents)

movements for the period.

A definition of cash and cash equivalents

IAS 7 defines cash as notes and coins in hand and deposits in banks and similar institu-
tions that are accessible to the business on demand. Cash equivalents are short-term,
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highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes of value. Cash equivalents are held
for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for investment
or other purposes.

Activity 5.2 should clarify the types of items that fall within the definition of ‘cash
equivalents’.

At the end of its reporting period, Zeneb plc’s statement of financial position included
the following items:

1 A bank deposit account where one month’s notice of withdrawal is required. This
deposit was made because the business has a temporary cash surplus that it will
need to use in the short term for operating purposes.

2 Ordinary shares in Jones plc (a Stock Exchange listed business). These were acquired
because Zeneb plc had a temporary cash surplus and its directors believed that the
share represents a good short-term investment. The funds invested will need to be
used in the short term for operating purposes.

3 A bank deposit account that is withdrawable instantly. This represents an investment
of surplus funds that are not seen as being needed in the short term.

4 An overdraft on the business’s bank current account.

Which (if any) of these four items would be included in the figure for cash and cash
equivalents?

Your response should have been as follows:

1 A cash equivalent because the deposit is part of the business’s normal cash manage-
ment activities and there is little doubt about how much cash will be obtained when the
deposit is withdrawn.

2 Not a cash equivalent. Although the investment was made as part of normal cash man-
agement, there is a significant risk that the amount expected (hoped for!) when the
shares are sold may not actually be forthcoming.

3 Not a cash equivalent because this represents an investment that will not be used to
meet short-term commitments.

4 This is cash itself, though a negative amount of it. The only exception to this classifica-
tion would be where the business is financed in the longer term by an overdraft, when it
would be part of the financing of the business, rather than negative cash.

As can be seen from the answers to Activity 5.2, whether a particular item falls within
the definition of cash and cash equivalent depends on two factors:

m the nature of the item; and
m why it has arisen.

In practice, it is not usually difficult to decide whether an item is a cash equivalent.



The form of the statement of cash flows

The relationship between the main financial statements

The statement of cash flows is now accepted, along with the income statement and
the statement of financial position, as a major financial statement. The relationship
between the three statements is shown in Figure 5.1. The statement of financial
position reflects the combination of assets (including cash) and claims (including the
shareholders’ equity) of the business at a particular point in time. The statement of
cash flows and the income statement explain the changes over a period to two of the
items in the statement of financial position. The statement of cash flows explains
the changes to cash. The income statement explains changes to equity, arising from
trading operations.

Figure 5.1 The relationship between the statement of financial position, the
income statement and the statement of cash flows

Income statement Equity

Statement of Statement of
financial position financial position
at the start of at the end of
the accounting the accounting
period period
Cash Cash
and cash Cash flow statement and cash

equivalents equivalents

The statement of financial position shows the position, at a particular point in time, of the
business’s assets and claims. The income statement explains how, over a period between two
statements of financial position, the equity figure in the first statement of financial position
has altered as a result of trading operations. The statement of cash flows also looks at changes
over the reporting period, but this statement explains the alteration in the cash (and cash
equivalent) balances from the first to the second of the two consecutive statements of financial
position.

The form of the statement of cash flows

The standard layout of the statement of cash flows is summarised in Figure 5.2. Explana-
tions of the terms used in the statement of cash flows are given below.

163



Chapter 5 Measuring and reporting cash flows

164

Figure 5.2 Standard layout of the statement of cash flows

Cash flows from operating activities

plus or minus

Cash flows from investing activities

plus or minus

Cash flows from financing activities

equals

Net increase (or decrease) in cash and

cash equivalents over the period

This is the standard layout for the statement of cash flows as required by IAS 7 Statement of
cash flows.

Cash flows from operating activities

This is the net inflow or outflow from trading operations, after tax payments (or receipts)
and cash paid to meet financing costs. It is equal to the sum of cash receipts from trade
receivables and cash receipts from cash sales, where relevant, less the sums paid to buy
inventories, to pay rent, to pay wages and so on. From this are also deducted payments
for interest on the business’s borrowings, corporation tax and dividends paid.

Note that it is the amounts of cash received and paid during the period that feature
in the statement of cash flows, not the revenue and expenses for that period. It is, of
course, the income statement that deals with the revenue and expenses. Similarly the
tax and dividend payments that appear in the statement of cash flows are those made
during the reporting period of the statement. Companies normally pay tax on their
profits in four equal instalments. Two of these are during the annual reporting period
concerned and the other two are during the following year. As a result, by the end of
each annual reporting period, half of the tax will have been paid and the remainder will
be a current liability at the end of the year, to be paid off during the following year.
During any annual reporting period, therefore, the tax payment would normally equal
50 per cent of the previous year’s tax charge and 50 per cent of that of the current year.

The net figure for this section is intended to indicate the net cash flows for the
period that arose from normal day-to-day trading activities, after taking account of
the tax that has to be paid on them and the cost of servicing the finance (equity and
borrowings) needed to support them.
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Cash flows from investing activities

This section of the statement is concerned with cash payments made to acquire
additional non-current assets and with cash receipts from the disposal of non-current
assets. These non-current assets will tend to be the usual items such as buildings and
machinery. They might also be loans made by the business or shares in another
company bought by the business.

This section also includes cash receipts arising from financial investments (loans and
equities) made outside the business. These receipts are interest on loans made by the
business and dividends from shares in other companies that are owned by the business.

Cash flows from financing activities

This part of the statement is concerned with the long-term financing of the business. So
here we are considering borrowings (other than very short-term) and finance from share
issues. This category is concerned with repayment/redemption of finance as well as with
the raising of it. It is permissible under IAS 7 to include dividend payments made by the
business here, as an alternative to including them in ‘Cash flows from operating activities'.

This section shows the net cash flows from raising and/or paying back long-term
finance.

Net increase or decrease in cash and cash equivalents

The total of the statement must, of course, be the net increase or decrease in cash and
cash equivalents over the period concerned.

The effect on a business’s cash and cash equivalents of its various activities is shown
in Figure 5.3. As explained there, the arrows show the normal direction of cash flow for
the typical healthy, profitable business in a typical year.

Figure 5.3 Diagrammatical representation of the statement of cash flows

Cash and cash

Operating equivalent

activities

Investing
activities

balances

Financing
activities

Various activities of the business each have their own effect on its cash and cash equivalent bal-
ances, either positive (increasing them) or negative (reducing them). The net increase or decrease
in the cash and cash equivalent balances over a period will be the sum of these individual effects,
taking account of the direction (cash in or cash out) of each activity.

Note that the direction of the arrow shows the normal direction of the cash flow in respect of
each activity. In certain circumstances, each of these arrows could be reversed in direction.
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The normal direction of cash flows

Normally ‘operating activities’ provide positive cash flows, that is, they help to increase
the business’s cash resources. In fact, for most UK businesses, in most time periods,
cash generated from day-to-day trading, even after deducting tax, interest and divi-
dends, is overwhelmingly the most important source of new finance.

Last year’s statement of cash flows for Angus plc showed a negative cash flow from
operating activities. What could be the reason for this and should the business’s man-
agement be alarmed by it? (Hint: We think that there are two broad possible reasons for
a negative cash flow.)

The two reasons are:

B The business is unprofitable. This leads to more cash being paid out to employees, to
suppliers of goods and services, for interest and so on than is received from trade
receivables in respect of sales. This would be particularly alarming, because a major
expense for most businesses is depreciation of non-current assets. Since depreciation
does not lead to a cash flow, it is not considered in ‘net cash inflows from operating
activities’. This means that a negative operating cash flow might well indicate a very
much larger trading loss — in other words, a significant loss of the business’s wealth;
something to concern management.

B The other reason might be less alarming. A business that is expanding its activities (level
of sales revenue) would tend to spend quite a lot of cash relative to the amount of cash
coming in from sales. This is because it will probably be expanding its assets (non-
current and current) to accommodate the increased demand. For example, a business
may well need to have inventories in place before additional sales can be made.
Similarly staff have to be employed and paid. Even when the additional sales are made,
those sales would normally be made on credit, with the cash inflow lagging behind the
sale. All of this means that, in the first instance, in cash flow terms, the business would
not necessarily benefit from the additional sales revenue. This is particularly likely to be
true of a new business, which would be expanding inventories and other assets from
zero. It would also need to employ and pay staff. Expansion typically causes cash flow
strains for the reasons just explained. This can be a particular problem because the
business’s increased profitability might encourage a feeling of optimism, which could
lead to lack of attention being paid to the cash flow problem.

Investing activities typically cause net negative cash flows. This is because many
types of non-current asset wear out and many that do not wear out become obsolete.
Also, businesses tend to seek to expand their asset base. When a business sells some
non-current assets, the sale will give rise to positive cash flows, but in net terms the
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cash flows are normally negative with cash spent on new assets outweighing that
received from disposal of old ones.

Financing can go in either direction, depending on the financing strategy at the
time. Since businesses seek to expand, there is a general tendency for this area to lead
to cash coming into the business rather than leaving it.

Real World 5.2 shows the summarised statement of cash flows of Tesco plc, the UK-
based supermarket.

Real World 5.2

Cashing in

Like many larger companies, Tesco produces summary versions of its financial statements
for users who do not want all of the detail. The summary statement of cash flows for the
business for the year ended 28 February 2009 shows the cash flows of the business under
each of the headings described above.

Summarised statement of cash flows for the year ended
28 February 2009

£m

Cash generated from operations 4,978
Interest paid (562)
Corporation tax paid _(456)
Net cash from operating activities 3,960
Net cash used in investing activities (5,974)
Cash flows from financing activities

Dividends paid (883)
Other net cash flows from financing activities 4,498
Net cash from financing activities 3,615
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,601

Source: Tesco Annual Review 2009, www.tescocorporate.com, p. 24.

As we shall see shortly, more detailed information under each of the main headings
is provided in the statement of cash flows presented to shareholders and other users.

Preparing the statement of cash flows

Deducing net cash flows from operating activities

The first section of the statement of cash flows is the ‘cash flows from operating activ-
ities’. There are two approaches that can be taken to deriving this figure: the direct
method and the indirect method.
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The direct method

The direct method involves an analysis of the cash records of the business for the
period, picking out all payments and receipts relating to operating activities. These are
summarised to give the total figures for inclusion in the statement of cash flows. Done
on a computer, this is a simple matter, but not many businesses adopt the direct
method.

The indirect method

The indirect method is the more popular method. It relies on the fact that, broadly,
sales revenue gives rise to cash inflows and expenses give rise to outflows. This means
that the profit for the year figure will be closely linked to the net cash flows from oper-
ating activities. Since businesses have to produce an income statement in any case,
information from it can be used as a starting point to deduce the cash flows from oper-
ating activities.

Of course, within a particular reporting period, profit for the year will not normally
equal the net cash inflows from operating activities. We saw in Chapter 3 that, when
sales are made on credit, the cash receipt occurs some time after the sale. This means
that sales revenue made towards the end of an annual reporting period will be
included in that year’s income statement. However, most of the cash from those sales
will flow into the business, and should be included in the statement of cash flows, in
the following year. Fortunately it is easy to deduce the cash received from sales if we
have the relevant income statement and statements of financial position, as we shall
see in Activity 5.4.

How can we deduce the cash inflows from sales using the income statement and state-
ment of financial position for the business?

The statement of financial position will tell us how much was owed in respect of credit sales
at the beginning and end of the year (trade receivables). The income statement tells us the
sales revenue figure. If we adjust the sales revenue figure by the increase or decrease in
trade receivables over the year, we deduce the cash from sales for the year.

Example 5.1

The sales revenue figure for a business for the year was £34 million. The trade
receivables totalled £4 million at the beginning of the year, but had increased to
£5 million by the end of the year.

Basically, the trade receivables figure is dictated by sales revenue and cash
receipts. It increases when a sale is made and decreases when cash is received from



Preparing the statement of cash flows

a credit customer. If, over the year, the sales revenue and the cash receipts had
been equal, the beginning-of-year and end-of-year trade receivables figures would
have been equal. Since the trade receivables figure increased, it must mean that
less cash was received than sales revenues were made. This means that the cash
receipts from sales must be £33 million (that is, 34 — (5 — 4)).

Put slightly differently, we can say that as a result of sales, assets of £34 million
flowed into the business during the year. If £1 million of this went to increasing the
asset of trade receivables, this leaves only £33 million that went to increase cash.

The same general point is true in respect of nearly all of the other items that are taken
into account in deducing the operating profit figure. The exception is depreciation.
This is not necessarily associated with any movement in cash during the reporting
period.

All of this means that we can take the profit before taxation (that is, the profit after
interest but before taxation) for the year, add back the depreciation and interest expense,
charged in arriving at that profit, and adjust this total by movements in inventories,
trade (and other) receivables and payables. If we then go on to deduct payments made
during the reporting period for taxation, interest on borrowings and dividends, we
have the net cash from operating activities.

Example 5.2

The relevant information from the financial statements of Dido plc for last year is
as follows:

£m
Profit before taxation (after interest) 122
Depreciation charged in arriving at profit before taxation 34
Interest expense 6
At the beginning of the year:
Inventories 15
Trade receivables 24
Trade payables 18
At the end of the year:
Inventories 17
Trade receivables 21
Trade payables 19
The following further information is available about payments during last year:
£m
Taxation paid 32
Interest paid 5
Dividends paid 9 ->
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The cash flow from operating activities is derived as follows:

£m
Profit before taxation (after interest) 122
Depreciation 34
Interest expense 6
Increase in inventories (17 — 15) ()
Decrease in trade receivables (21 — 24) 3
Increase in trade payables (19 — 18) 1
Cash generated from operating activities 164
Interest paid 5)
Taxation paid (32)
Dividends paid )]
Net cash from operating activities 118

As we can see, the net increase in working capital* (that is, current assets less

current liabilities), as a result of trading, was £162 million (that is, 122 + 34 + 6).
Of this, £2 million went into increased inventories. More cash was received from
trade receivables than sales revenue was made. Similarly, less cash was paid to
trade payables than purchases were made of goods and services on credit. Both
of these had a favourable effect on cash. Over the year, therefore, cash increased
by £164 million. When account was taken of the payments for interest, tax and
dividends, the net cash from operating activities was £118 million (inflow).

Note that we needed to adjust the profit before taxation (after interest) by the
depreciation and interest expenses to derive the profit before depreciation, inter-
est and taxation.

* Working capital is a term widely used in accounting and finance, not just in the context of
the statement of cash flows. We shall encounter it several times in later chapters.

We should be clear why it is necessary to add back an amount for interest at the
start of the derivation of cash flow from operating activities only to deduct an amount
for interest further down. The reason is that the first is the interest expense for the
year, whereas the second is the amount of cash paid out for interest during the year.
These may well be different amounts, as was the case in Example 5.2.

The indirect method of deducing the net cash flow from operating activities is
summarised in Figure 5.4.
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Figure 5.4 The indirect method of deducing the net cash flows from
operating activities

l plus
I plus
l plus or minus

plus or minus

plus or minus

l less

t cash flows operating activities

Determining the net cash flow from operating activities first involves adding back the depreciation
and the interest expenses to the profit before taxation. Next, adjustment is made for increases
or decreases in inventories, trade receivables and trade payables. Lastly, cash paid for interest,
taxation and dividends is deducted.

* Note that dividends could alternatively be included under the heading ‘Cash flows from financing activities’.
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The relevant information from the financial statements of Pluto plc for last year is as

follows:
£m
Profit before taxation (after interest) 165
Depreciation charged in arriving at operating profit 41
Interest expense 21
At the beginning of the year:
Inventories 22
Trade receivables 18
Trade payables 15
At the end of the year:
Inventories 23
Trade receivables 21
Trade payables 17

The following further information is available about payments during last year:

£m
Taxation paid 49
Interest paid 25
Dividends paid 28

What figure should appear in the statement of cash flows for ‘Cash flows from operat-
ing activities’?

Net cash inflows from operating activities:

£m
Profit before taxation (after interest) 165
Depreciation 41
Interest expense 21
Increase in inventories (23 — 22) (1)
Increase in trade receivables (21 — 18) 3)
Increase in trade payables (17 — 15) 2
Cash generated from operating activities 225
Interest paid (25)
Taxation paid (49)
Dividends paid (28)
Net cash from operating activities 123

Deducing the other areas of the statement of cash flows

We can now go on to take a look at the preparation of a complete statement of cash
flows through Example 5.3.
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Example 5.3

Torbryan plc’s income statement for the year ended 31 December 2010 and the
statements of financial position as at 31 December 2009 and 2010 are as follows:

Income statement for the year ended 31 December 2010

£m
Revenue 576
Cost of sales (307)
Gross profit 269
Distribution expenses (65)
Administrative expenses (26)
178
Other operating income 21
Operating profit 199
Interest receivable 7
216
Interest payable (23)
Profit before taxation 193
Taxation (46)
Profit for the year 147
Statements of financial position as at 31 December 2009 and 2010
2009 2010
£m £m
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Land and buildings 241 241
Plant and machinery 309 325
550 566
Current assets
Inventories 44 41
Trade receivables 121 139
165 180
Total assets 715 746
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Called-up ordinary share capital 150 200
Share premium account - 40
Retained earnings 26 123
176 363
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings - loan notes 400 250
Current liabilities
Borrowings (all bank overdraft) 68 56
Trade payables 55 54
Taxation _16 23
139 133
Total equity and liabilities 715 746
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During 2010, the business spent £95 million on additional plant and machinery.
There were no other non-current-asset acquisitions or disposals. A dividend of
£50 million was paid on ordinary shares during the year. The interest receivable
revenue and the interest payable expense for the year were equal to the cash
inflow and outflow respectively.

The statement of cash flows would be as follows:

Torbryan plc
Statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2010
£m
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before taxation (after interest) (see Note 1 below) 193
Adjustments for:
Depreciation (Note 2) 79
Interest receivable (Note 3) 17)
Interest payable (Note 4) 23
Increase in trade receivables (139 — 121) (18)
Decrease in trade payables (55 — 54) (1)
Decrease in inventories (44 — 41) 3
Cash generated from operations 262
Interest paid (23)
Taxation paid (Note 5) (39)
Dividend paid (50)
Net cash from operating activities 150
Cash flows from investing activities
Payments to acquire tangible non-current assets 95)
Interest received (Note 3) 17
Net cash used in investing activities (78)
Cash flows from financing activities
Repayments of loan notes (Note 6) (150)
Issue of ordinary shares (Note 7) 90
Net cash used in financing activities (60)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 12
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 2010 (Note 8) (68)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 2010 (56)

To see how this relates to the cash of the business at the beginning and end of
the year it can be useful to provide a reconciliation as follows:

Analysis of cash and cash equivalents during the year ended
31 December 2010

£m
Overdraft balance at 1 January 2010 (68)
Net cash inflow 12
Overdraft balance at 31 December 2010 (56)
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Notes:

1 This is simply taken from the income statement for the year.

2 Since there were no disposals, the depreciation charges must be the difference between the
start and end of the year’s plant and machinery (non-current assets) values, adjusted by the
cost of any additions.

£m
Carrying amount at 1 January 2010 309
Additions 95
404
Depreciation (balancing figure) (79)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2010 325

3 Interest receivable must be taken away to work towards the profit before crediting it, because
it is not part of operations but of investing activities. The cash inflow from this source appears
under the ‘Cash flows from investing activities’ heading.

4 Interest payable expense must be taken out, by adding it back to the profit figure. We subsequently
deduct the cash paid for interest payable during the year. In this case the two figures are identical.

5 Taxation is paid by companies 50 per cent during their annual reporting period and 50 per cent
in the following period. As a result the 2010 payment would have been half the tax on the 2009
profit (that is, the figure that would have appeared in the current liabilities at the end of 2009),
plus half of the 2010 taxation charge (that is, 16 + (2 x 46) = 39). Probably the easiest way to
deduce the amount paid during the year to 31 December 2010 is by following this approach:

£m

Taxation owed at start of the year (from the statement of financial position as at 16
31 December 2009)

Taxation charge for the year (from the income statement) 46

62

Taxation owed at the end of the year (from the statement of financial position as at (23)
31 December 2010)

Taxation paid during the year 39

This follows the logic that if we start with what the business owed at the beginning of the year,
add the increase in what was owed as a result of the current year’s taxation charge and then
deduct what was owed at the end, the resulting figure must be what was paid during the year.

6 It has been assumed that the loan notes were redeemed for the value shown on the statement
of financial position. This is not, however, always the case.

7 The share issue raised £90 million, of which £50 million went into the share capital total on the
statement of financial position and £40 million into share premium.

8 There were no ‘cash equivalents’, just cash (though negative).

What does the statement of cash flows tell us?

The statement of cash flows tells us how the business has generated cash during the
reporting period and where that cash has gone. Since cash is properly regarded as the
lifeblood of just about any business, this is potentially very useful information.

Tracking the sources and uses of cash over several years could show financing trends
that a reader of the statements could use to help to make judgements about the likely
future behaviour of the business.
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Looking specifically at the statement of cash flows for Torbryan plc in Example 5.3,

we can see the following:

Net cash flow from operations was strong, much larger than the profit for the year
figure, after taking account of the dividend paid. This would be expected because
depreciation is deducted in arriving at profit. Working capital has absorbed some
cash, which would be unsurprising if there had been an expansion of activity (sales
revenue) over the year. From the information supplied, however, we do not know
whether there was an expansion or not. (We have only one year’s income statement.)
There was a net outflow of cash for investing activities, but this would not be
unusual. Many items of property, plant and equipment have limited lives and need
to be replaced with new ones. The expenditure during the year was not out of line
with the depreciation expense for the year, which is to be expected for a business
with a regular replacement programme for non-current assets.

There was a fairly major outflow of cash to redeem some borrowings, partly offset
by the proceeds of a share issue. This presumably represents a change of financing
strategy. Together with the ploughed-back profit from trading, there has been a
significant shift in the equity/borrowings balance.

Real World 5.3 looks at the statement of cash flows of an emerging business, LiDCO

Group plc, that is experiencing negative cash flows as it seeks to establish a profitable
market for its products.

Real World 5.3

Not losing heart

LiDCO Group plc has its shares listed on the Alternative Investment Market (AIM). AIM is
a junior market of the London Stock Exchange that specialises in the shares of smaller,
up-and-coming businesses.

LiDCO makes highly sophisticated equipment for monitoring the hearts of cardiac pati-
ents, typically in hospitals and clinics. The business was started by doctors and scientists.
It has spent £6.8 million over ten years developing its products, obtaining registration for
their use from both the UK and US authorities and creating manufacturing facilities.

LiDCO'’s statement of cash flows for the year to 31 January 2009 was as follows:

£000

Net cash outflow from operating activities (1,204)
Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (208)
Purchase of intangible fixed assets (447)
Interest received 57
Net cash used in investing activities _(598)
Cash flows from financing activities

Convertible loan repayment (553)
Invoice discounting financing facility _ 364
Net cash outflow from financing activities _(189)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (1,991)
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[Note that this was adapted from the statement that appeared in the business’s annual
report. Some more detail was supplied in the way of notes to the accounts.]

To put these figures into context, the sales revenue for the year was £4.53 million. This
means that the net cash outflow from operating activities was equal to 27 per cent of the
revenue figure. (This was an improvement, since it was 30 per cent in 2008, nearly 40 per
cent in 2007 and over 50 per cent in 2006.) Such cash flow profiles are fairly typical of ‘high-
tech’ businesses that have enormous start-up costs to bring their products to the market
in sufficient quantities to yield a profit. Of course, not all such businesses achieve this, but
LiDCO seems confident of success.

Sources: LIDCO Group plc Annual Report 2009 and AIM company profile, www.londonstockexchange.com.

Self-assessment gquestion 5.1

Touchstone plc’s income statements for the years ended 31 December 2009 and 2010 and
the statements of financial position as at 31 December 2009 and 2010 are as follows:

Income statements for the years ended 2009 and 2010

2009 2010
£m £m
Revenue 173 207
Cost of sales (96) (101)
Gross profit 77 106
Distribution expenses (18) (20)
Administrative expenses (24) (26)
Other operating income ) _ 4
Operating profit 38 64
Interest payable ) )
Profit before taxation 36 60
Taxation (8 (16)
Profit for the year 28 44
Statements of financial position as at 31 December 2009 and 2010
2009 2010
£m £m
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Land and buildings 94 110
Plant and machinery 53 62
147 172
Current assets
Inventories 25 24
Treasury bills (short-term investments) - 15
Trade receivables 16 26
Cash at bank and in hand _ 4 _ 4
_45 _69
Total assets 192 241 9
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2009 2010
£m £m
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Called-up ordinary share capital 100 100
Retained earnings 30 _56
130 156
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings - loan notes (10%) 20 40
Current liabilities
Trade payables 38 37
Taxation _ 4 8
42 _45
Total equity and liabilities 192 241

Included in ‘cost of sales’, ‘distribution expenses’ and ‘administrative expenses’, depre-
ciation was as follows:

2009 2010

£m £m
Land and buildings 5 6
Plant and machinery 6 10

There were no non-current asset disposals in either year.

The interest payable expense equalled the cash payment made during the year, in both
cases.

The business paid dividends on ordinary shares of £14 million during 2009 and £18 mil-
lion during 2010.

The Treasury bills represent a short-term investment of funds that will be used shortly in
operations. There is insignificant risk that this investment will lose value.

Required:

Prepare a statement of cash flows for the business for 2010.

The solution to this question can be found at the back of the book, in Appendix B.

Summary

The main points of this chapter may be summarised as follows.

The need for a statement of cash flows
m Cash is important because no business can operate without it.

m The statement of cash flows is specifically designed to reveal movements in cash
over a period.

m Cash movements cannot be readily detected from the income statement, which
focuses on revenue and expenses rather than on cash receipts and cash payments.



Key terms

m Profit (or loss) and cash generated for the period are rarely equal.
m The statement of cash flows is a primary financial statement, along with the
income statement and the statement of financial position.
Preparing the statement of cash flows
m The layout of the statement contains three categories of cash movement:
m cash flows from operating activities;
m cash flows from investing activities;
m cash flows from financing activities.

m The total of the cash movements under these three categories will provide the net
increase or decrease in cash and cash equivalents for the period.

m A reconciliation can be undertaken to check that the opening balance of cash and
cash equivalents plus the net increase (or decrease) for the period equals the clos-
ing balance.

Calculating the cash generated from operations

m The net cash flows from operating activities can be derived by either the direct
method or the indirect method.

m The direct method is based on an analysis of the cash records for the period,
whereas the indirect method uses information contained within the income
statement and statements of financial position of the business.

m The indirect method takes the net operating profit for the period, adds back any
depreciation charge and then adjusts for changes in inventories, receivables and
payables during the period.

Interpreting the statement of cash flows

m The statement of cash flows shows the main sources and uses of cash.

m Tracking the cash movements over several periods may reveal financing and
investing patterns and may help predict future management action.

Mchwlmlinylah Now check your progress in

your personal Study Plan

direct method p. 168
indirect method p. 168
working capital p. 170

179



Chapter 5 Measuring and reporting cash flows

180

Further reading

If you would like to explore the topics covered in this chapter in more depth, we
recommend the following books:

Elliott, B. and Elliott, ]J., Financial Accounting and Reporting (13th edn), Financial Times
Prentice Hall, 2010, chapter 27.

IASC Foundation Education, A Guide through IFRS 2009, July 2009, IAS 7.

KPMG, Insights into IFRS (6th edn 2009/10), Sweet and Maxwell, 2009, section 2.3.

Review questions

Solutions to these questions can be found at the back of the book, in Appendix C.

5.1 The typical business outside the service sector has about 50 per cent more of its resources
tied up in inventories than in cash, yet there is no call for a ‘statement of inventories flows’
to be prepared. Why is cash regarded as more important than inventories?

5.2 What is the difference between the direct and indirect methods of deducing cash gener-
ated from operations?

5.3 Taking each of the categories of the statement of cash flows in turn, in which direction
would you normally expect the cash flow to be? Explain your answer.

(@) Cash flows from operating activities.
(b) Cash flows from investing activities.
(c) Cash flows from financing activities.

5.4 What causes the profit for the year not to equal the net cash inflow?

Exercises

Exercises 5.3 to 5.5 are more advanced than 5.1 and 5.2. Those with coloured numbers
have solutions at the back of the book, in Appendix D.

If you wish to try more exercises, visit the website at www.myaccountinglab.com.

5.1 How will each of the following events ultimately affect the amount of cash?

a) An increase in the level of inventories.

b) A rights issue of ordinary shares.

c) A bonus issue of ordinary shares.

d) Writing off part of the value of some inventories.

(
(
(
(



Exercises

(e) The disposal of a large number of the business’s shares by a major shareholder.
(f) Depreciating a non-current asset.

The following information has been taken from the financial statements of Juno plc for last
year and the year before last:

Year before last Last year
£m £m
Operating profit 156 187
Depreciation charged in arriving at operating profit 47 55
Inventories held at the end of: 27 31
Trade receivables at the end of: 24 23
Trade payables at the end of: 15 17

Required:
What is the figure for cash generated from operations for Juno plc for last year?

Torrent plc’s income statement for the year ended 31 December 2010 and the statements
of financial position as at 31 December 2009 and 2010 are as follows:

Income statement for the year ended 31 December 2010

£m
Revenue 623
Cost of sales (353)
Gross profit 270
Distribution expenses (71)
Administrative expenses (80)
Rental income 27
Operating profit 196
Interest payable (26)
Profit before taxation 170
Taxation (36)
Profit for the year 134
Statements of financial position as at 31 December 2009 and 2010

2009 2010

£m £m
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings 310 310
Plant and machinery 325 314

635 624
Current assets
Inventories 41 35
Trade receivables 139 145

180 180
Total assets 815 804 9
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5.4

2009 2010
£m £m
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Called-up ordinary share capital 200 300
Share premium account 40 -
Revaluation reserve 69 9
Retained earnings 123 197
432 506
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings - loan notes 250 150
Current liabilities
Borrowings (all bank overdraft) 56 89
Trade payables 54 41
Taxation 23 18
133 148
Total equity and liabilities 815 804

During 2010, the business spent £67 million on additional plant and machinery. There
were no other non-current asset acquisitions or disposals.

There was no share issue for cash during the year. The interest payable expense was
equal in amount to the cash outflow. A dividend of £60 million was paid.

Required:
Prepare the statement of cash flows for Torrent plc for the year ended 31 December 2010.

Chen plc’s income statements for the years ended 31 December 2009 and 2010 and the
statements of financial position as at 31 December 2009 and 2010 are as follows:

Income statements for the years ending 31 December 2009 and 2010

2009 2010
£m £m

Revenue 207 1563
Cost of sales (101) (76)
Gross profit 106 77
Distribution expenses (22) (20)
Administrative expenses (20) (28)
Operating profit 64 29
Interest payable ) )
Profit before taxation 60 25
Taxation (16) _(6)
Profit for the year 44 19



Statements of financial position as at 31 December 2009 and 2010

2009 2010
£m £m
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Land and buildings 110 130
Plant and machinery 62 56
172 186
Current assets
Inventories 24 25
Trade receivables 26 25
Cash at bank and in hand 19 _=
69 50
Total assets 241 236
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Called-up ordinary share capital 100 100
Retained earnings 56 57
156 157
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings — loan notes (10%) 40 40
Current liabilities
Borrowings (all bank overdraft) - 2
Trade payables 37 34
Taxation 8 )
_45 39
Total equity and liabilities 241 236

Included in ‘cost of sales’, ‘distribution expenses’ and ‘administrative expenses’, depre-
ciation was as follows:

2009 2010

£m £m

Land and buildings 6 10
Plant and machinery 10 12

There were no non-current asset disposals in either year. The amount of cash paid for
interest equalled the expense in both years. Dividends were paid totalling £18 million in
each year.

Required:
Prepare a statement of cash flows for the business for 2010.

Exercises
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5.5 The following financial statements for Brownstone plc are a slightly simplified set of

published accounts. Brownstone plc is an engineering business that developed a new
range of products in 2007. These products now account for 60 per cent of its turnover.

Income statement for the years ended 31 March

2009 2010
£m £m
Revenue 7,003 11,205
Cost of sales (3,748) (5,809)
Gross profit 3,255 5,396
Operating expenses (2,205) (3,087)
Operating profit 1,050 2,309
Interest payable (216) (456)
Profit before taxation 834 1,853
Taxation (210) (390)
Profit for the year 624 1,463
Statements of financial position as at 31 March
2009 2010
£m £m
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 4,300 7,535
Intangible assets = 700
4,300 8,235
Current assets
Inventories 1,209 2,410
Trade receivables 641 1,173
Cash at bank 123 -
1,973 3,583
Total assets 6,273 11,818
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Share capital 1,800 1,800
Share premium 600 600
Capital reserves 352 352
Retained profits 685 1,748
3,437 4,500
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings — bank loan (repayable 2013) 1,800 3,800
Current liabilities
Trade payables 931 1,507
Taxation 105 195
Borrowings (all bank overdraft) — 1,816
1,036 3,518
Total equity and liabilities 6,273 11,818




Notes:
1 The expense and the cash outflow for interest payable are equal.
2 The movements in property, plant and equipment during the year are set out below.

Land and Plant and Fixtures and Total
buildings machinery fittings
£m £m £m £m

Cost
At 1 April 2009 4,500 3,850 2,120 10,470
Additions - 2,970 1,608 4,578
Disposals = _(365) _(216) (581)
At 31 March 2010 4,500 6,455 3,512 14,467
Depreciation
At 1 April 2009 1,275 3,080 1,815 6,170
Charge for year 225 745 281 1,251
Disposals = _(305) _(184) (489)
At 31 March 2010 1,500 3,520 1,912 6,932
Carrying amount
At 31 March 2010 3,000 2,935 1,600 7,535

3 Intangible assets represent the amounts paid for the goodwill of another engineering busi-
ness acquired during the year.

4 Proceeds from the sale of non-current assets in the year ended 31 March 2010 amounted to
£54 million.

5 Dividends were paid on ordinary shares of £300 million in 2009 and £400 million in 2010.

Required:

Prepare a statement of cash flows for Brownstone plc for the year ended 31 March 2010.
(Hint: A loss (deficit) on disposal of non-current assets is simply an additional amount of
depreciation and should be dealt with as such in preparing the statement of cash flows.)

Exercises
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Introduction

In this chapter we shall consider the analysis and interpretation of the financial
statements that we discussed in Chapters 2 and 3. We shall see how financial (or
accounting) ratios can help in assessing the financial health of a business. We shall also
consider the problems that are encountered when applying this technique.

Financial ratios can be used to examine various aspects of financial position and
performance and are widely used for planning and control purposes. They can be very
helpful to managers in a wide variety of decision areas, such as profit planning, pricing,
working capital management and financial structure.

Learning outcomes

When you have completed this chapter, you should be able to:
m identify the major categories of ratios that can be used for analysis purposes;

m calculate key ratios for assessing the financial performance and position of a
business;

m explain the significance of the ratios calculated;

m discuss the limitations of ratios as a tool of financial analysis.

i Remember to create your own
[ My A cca'”' ""glah personalised Study Plan j




Financial ratios

Financial ratios

Financial ratios provide a quick and relatively simple means of assessing the financial
health of a business. A ratio simply relates one figure appearing in the financial
statements to some other figure appearing there (for example, operating profit in rela-
tion to the amount invested in the business (capital employed)) or, perhaps, to some
resource of the business (for example, operating profit per employee, sales revenue per
square metre of selling space and so on).

Ratios can be very helpful when comparing the financial health of different busi-
nesses. Differences may exist between businesses in the scale of operations. This means
that a direct comparison of, say, the operating profit generated by each business may
be misleading. By expressing operating profit in relation to some other measure (for
example, capital employed), the problem of scale is eliminated. A business with an oper-
ating profit of, say, £10,000 and capital employed of £100,000 can be compared with
a much larger business with an operating profit of, say, £80,000 and capital employed
of £1,000,000 by the use of a simple ratio. The operating profit to capital employed
ratio for the smaller business is 10 per cent (that is, (10,000/100,000) x 100%) and the
same ratio for the larger business is 8 per cent (that is, (80,000/1,000,000) x 100%).
These ratios can be directly compared whereas comparison of the absolute operating
profit figures would be much less meaningful. The need to eliminate differences in
scale through the use of ratios can also apply when comparing the performance of the
same business over time.

By calculating a small number of ratios it is often possible to build up a revealing
picture of the position and performance of a business. It is not surprising, therefore,
that ratios are widely used by those who have an interest in businesses and business
performance. Although ratios are not difficult to calculate, they can be difficult to
interpret. It is important to appreciate that they are really only the starting point for
further analysis.

Ratios help to highlight the financial strengths and weaknesses of a business, but
they cannot, by themselves, explain why those strengths or weaknesses exist or why
certain changes have occurred. Only a detailed investigation will reveal these under-
lying reasons. Ratios tend to enable us to know which questions to ask, rather than
provide the answers.

Ratios can be expressed in various forms, for example as a percentage or as a pro-
portion. The way that a particular ratio is presented will depend on the needs of those
who will use the information. Although it is possible to calculate a large number of
ratios, only a few, based on key relationships, tend to be helpful to a particular user.
Many ratios that could be calculated from the financial statements (for example, rent
payable in relation to current assets) may not be considered because there is no clear
or meaningful relationship between the two items.

There is no generally accepted list of ratios that can be applied to the financial
statements, nor is there a standard method of calculating many ratios. Variations in
both the choice of ratios and their calculation will be found in practice. However, it is

187



Chapter 6 Analysing and interpreting financial statements

188

important to be consistent in the way in which ratios are calculated for comparison
purposes. The ratios that we shall discuss here are those that are widely used. They are
popular because many consider them to be among the more important for decision-
making purposes.

Financial ratio classifications

Ratios can be grouped into categories, with each category relating to a particular aspect
of financial performance or position. The following five broad categories provide a
useful basis for explaining the nature of the financial ratios to be dealt with:

m Profitability. Businesses generally exist with the primary purpose of creating wealth
for their owners. Profitability ratios provide insights relating to the degree of suc-
cess in achieving this purpose. They express the profit made (or figures bearing on
profit, such as sales revenue or overheads) in relation to other key figures in the
financial statements or to some business resource.

m Efficiency. Ratios may be used to measure the efficiency with which particular
resources have been used within the business. These ratios are also referred to as
activity ratios.

m Liquidity. Tt is vital to the survival of a business that there are sufficient liquid
resources available to meet maturing obligations (that is, amounts owing that must
be paid in the near future). Some liquidity ratios examine the relationship between
liquid resources held and amounts due for payment in the near future.

m Financial gearing. This is the relationship between the contribution to financing
the business, made by the owners of the business, and the amount contributed
by others, in the form of loans. The level of gearing has an important effect on the
degree of risk associated with a business, as we shall see. Gearing is, therefore, some-
thing that managers must consider when making financing decisions. Gearing ratios
tend to highlight the extent to which the business uses borrowings.

m [nvestment. Certain ratios are concerned with assessing the returns and performance
of shares in a particular business from the perspective of shareholders who are not
involved with the management of the business.

The analyst must be clear who the target users are and why they need the informa-
tion. Different users of financial information are likely to have different information
needs, which will in turn determine the ratios that they find useful. For example,
shareholders are likely to be particularly interested in their returns in relation to the
level of risk associated with their investment. Profitability, investment and gearing
ratios will, therefore, be of particular interest. Long-term lenders are concerned with
the long-term viability of the business and, to help them to assess this, the profitabil-
ity and gearing ratios of the business are also likely to be of particular interest. Short-
term lenders, such as suppliers of goods and services on credit, may be interested in
the ability of the business to repay the amounts owing in the short term. As a result,
the liquidity ratios should be of interest.



The need for comparison

We shall consider ratios falling into each of the five categories (profitability,
efficiency, liquidity, gearing and investment) a little later in the chapter.

The need for comparison

Merely calculating a ratio will not tell us very much about the position or performance
of a business. For example, if a ratio revealed that a retail business was generating £100
in sales revenue per square metre of floor space, it would not be possible to deduce
from this information alone whether this particular level of performance was good,
bad or indifferent. It is only when we compare this ratio with some ‘benchmark’ that
the information can be interpreted and evaluated.

Can you think of any bases that could be used to compare a ratio you have calculated
from the financial statements of your business for a particular period?
We feel that there are three sensible possibilities.

You may have thought of the following bases:

B past periods for the same business
B similar businesses for the same or past periods
H planned performance for the business.

We shall now take a closer look at these three in turn.

Past periods

By comparing the ratio we have calculated with the same ratio, but for a previous
period, it is possible to detect whether there has been an improvement or deteriora-
tion in performance. Indeed, it is often useful to track particular ratios over time (say,
five or ten years) to see whether it is possible to detect trends. The comparison of ratios
from different periods brings certain problems, however. In particular, there is always
the possibility that trading conditions were quite different in the periods being com-
pared. There is the further problem that, when comparing the performance of a single
business over time, operating inefficiencies may not be clearly exposed. For example,
the fact that sales revenue per employee has risen by 10 per cent over the previous
period may at first sight appear to be satisfactory. This may not be the case, however,
if similar businesses have shown an improvement of 50 per cent for the same period
or had much better sales revenue per employee ratios to start with. Finally, there is the
problem that inflation may have distorted the figures on which the ratios are based.
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Inflation can lead to an overstatement of profit and an understatement of asset values,
as will be discussed later in the chapter.

Similar businesses

In a competitive environment, a business must consider its performance in relation to
that of other businesses operating in the same industry. Survival may depend on its
ability to achieve comparable levels of performance. A useful basis for comparing a
particular ratio, therefore, is the ratio achieved by similar businesses during the same
period. This basis is not, however, without its problems. Competitors may have
different year ends and so trading conditions may not be identical. They may also
have different accounting policies, which can have a significant effect on reported
profits and asset values (for example, different methods of calculating depreciation
or valuing inventories). Finally, it may be difficult to obtain the financial state-
ments of competitor businesses. Sole proprietorships and partnerships, for example,
are not obliged to make their financial statements available to the public. In the case
of limited companies, there is a legal obligation to do so. However, a diversified busi-
ness may not provide a breakdown of activities that is sufficiently detailed to enable
analysts to compare the activities with those of other businesses.

Planned performance

Ratios may be compared with the targets that management developed before the
start of the period under review. The comparison of planned performance with actual
performance may be a useful way of revealing the level of achievement attained.
However, the planned levels of performance must be based on realistic assumptions if
they are to be useful for comparison purposes.

Planned performance is likely to be the most valuable benchmark against which
managers may assess their own business. Businesses tend to develop planned ratios for
each aspect of their activities. When formulating its plans, a business may usefully
take account of its own past performance and the performance of other businesses.
There is no reason, however, why a particular business should seek to achieve either
its own previous performance or that of other businesses. Neither of these may be seen
as an appropriate target.

Analysts outside the business do not normally have access to the business’s plans.
For these people, past performance and the performances of other, similar, businesses
may provide the only practical benchmarks.

Calculating the ratios

Probably the best way to explain financial ratios is through an example. Example 6.1
provides a set of financial statements from which we can calculate important ratios.



Example 6.1

Calculating the ratios

The following financial statements relate to Alexis plc, which operates a wholesale

carpet business.

Statements of financial position (balance sheets) as at 31 March

2009
ASSETS £m
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment (at cost less depreciation)
Land and buildings 381
Fixtures and fittings 129
_510
Current assets
Inventories at cost 300
Trade receivables 240
Cash at bank 4
_544
Total assets 1,054
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
£0.50 ordinary shares (Note 1) 300
Retained earnings 263
_563
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings — 9% loan notes (secured) 200
Current liabilities
Trade payables 261
Taxation 30
Short-term borrowings (all bank overdraft) ___ =
_291
Total equity and liabilities 1,054

Income statements for the year ended 31 March

2009
£m

Revenue (Note 2) 2,240
Cost of sales (Note 3) (1,745)
Gross profit 495
Operating expenses _(252)
Operating profit 243
Interest payable _(18)
Profit before taxation 225
Taxation _ (60)
Profit for the year _165

2010
£m

427
160
587

406
273

679
1,266

300
234
534
300
354

76

432
1,266
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Notes:

1 The market value of the shares of the business at the end of the year was £2.50 for 2009 and
£1.50 for 2010.

2 All sales and purchases are made on credit.

3 The cost of sales figure can be analysed as follows:

2009 2010

£m £m
Opening inventories 241 300
Purchases (Note 2) 1,804 2,378
2,045 2,678
Closing inventories _(300) _(406)
Cost of sales 1,745 2,272

4 At 31 March 2008, the trade receivables stood at £223 million and the trade payables at
£183 million.

5 A dividend of £40 million had been paid to the shareholders in respect of each of the years.

6 The business employed 13,995 staff at 31 March 2009 and 18,623 at 31 March 2010.

7 The business expanded its capacity during 2010 by setting up a new warehouse and distribu-
tion centre in the north of England.

8 At 1 April 2008, the total of equity stood at £438 million and the total of equity and non-current
liabilities stood at £638 million.

A brief overview

Before we start our detailed look at the ratios for Alexis plc (see Example 6.1), it is helpful
to take a quick look at what information is obvious from the financial statements. This
will usually pick up some issues that the ratios may not be able to identify. It may also
highlight some points that could help us in our interpretation of the ratios. Starting
at the top of the statement of financial position, the following points can be noted:

m Expansion of non-current assets. These have increased by about 15 per cent (from
£510 million to £587 million). Note 7 mentions a new warehouse and distribution
centre, which may account for much of the additional investment in non-current
assets. We are not told when this new facility was established, but it is quite possible
that it was well into the year. This could mean that not much benefit was reflected
in terms of additional sales revenue or cost saving during 2010. Sales revenue, in
fact, expanded by about 20 per cent (from £2,240 million to £2,681 million), and
this is greater than the expansion in non-current assets.

® Major expansion in the elements of working capital. Inventories increased by about 35 per
cent, trade receivables by about 14 per cent and trade payables by about 36 per cent
between 2009 and 2010. These are major increases, particularly in inventories and
payables (which are linked because the inventories are all bought on credit — see
Note 2).

B Reduction in the cash balance. The cash balance fell from £4 million (in funds) to a
£76 million overdraft, between 2009 and 2010. The bank may be putting the busi-
ness under pressure to reverse this, which could raise difficulties.



Apparent debt capacity. Comparing the non-current assets with the long-term
borrowings implies that the business may well be able to offer security on further
borrowing. This is because potential lenders usually look at the value of assets that
can be offered as security when assessing loan requests. Lenders seem particularly
attracted to land and buildings as security. For example, at 31 March 2010, non-
current assets had a carrying amount (the value at which they appeared in the
statement of financial position) of £587 million, but long-term borrowing was only
£300 million (though there was also an overdraft of £76 million). Carrying amounts
are not normally, of course, market values. On the other hand, land and buildings
tend to have a market value higher than their value as shown on the statement of
financial position, due to inflation in property values.

Lower operating profit. Though sales revenue expanded by 20 per cent between 2009
and 2010, both cost of sales and operating expenses rose by a greater percentage, leav-
ing both gross profit and, particularly, operating profit massively reduced. The level
of staffing, which increased by about 33 per cent (from 13,995 to 18,623 employees
- see Note 6), may have greatly affected the operating expenses. (Without knowing
when the additional employees were recruited during 2010, we cannot be sure of
the effect on operating expenses.) Increasing staffing by 33 per cent must put an
enormous strain on management, at least in the short term. It is not surprising,
therefore that 2010 was not successful for the business — not, at least, in profit terms.

Having had a quick look at what is fairly obvious, without calculating any financial

ratios, we shall now go on to calculate and interpret some.

Profitability

The following ratios may be used to evaluate the profitability of the business:

return on ordinary shareholders’ funds
return on capital employed

operating profit margin

gross profit margin.

We shall now look at each of these in turn.

Return on ordinary shareholders’ funds (ROSF)

The return on ordinary shareholders’ funds ratio compares the amount of profit for the
period available to the owners with the owners’ average stake in the business during
that same period. The ratio (which is normally expressed in percentage terms) is as follows:

Profit for the year (net profit) less any preference dividend

ROSF = x 100

Ordinary share capital + Reserves

The profit for the year (less preference dividend (if any)) is used in calculating the

ratio, as this figure represents the amount of profit that is attributable to the owners.

Profitability
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In the case of Alexis plc, the ratio for the year ended 31 March 2009 is

165

ROSF=— >
(438 + 563)/2

x 100 = 33.0%

Note that, when calculating the ROSF, the average of the figures for ordinary share-
holders’ funds as at the beginning and at the end of the year has been used. It is prefer-
able to use an average figure as this is likely to be more representative. This is because
the shareholders’ funds did not have the same total throughout the year, yet we want
to compare it with the profit earned during the whole period. We know, from Note 8,
that the total of the shareholders’ funds at 1 April 2008 was £438 million. By a year
later, however, it had risen to £563 million, according to the statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2009.

The easiest approach to calculating the average amount of shareholders’ funds is to
take a simple average based on the opening and closing figures for the year. This is
often the only information available, as is the case with Example 6.1. Averaging in this
way is generally valid for all ratios that combine a figure for a period (such as profit for
the year) with one taken at a point in time (such as shareholders’ funds).

Where not even the beginning-of-year figure is available, it is usually acceptable to
use just the year-end figure. This is not ideal but, provided that this approach is con-
sistently adopted, it should provide ratios that are useful.

Calculate the ROSF for Alexis plc for the year to 31 March 2010.

The ratio for 2010 is

11
ROSF=—— % 100 = 2.0%
(563 + 534)/2

Broadly, businesses seek to generate as high a value as possible for this ratio, pro-
vided that it is not achieved at the expense of potential future returns by, for example,
taking on more risky activities. In view of this, the 2010 ratio is very poor by any stand-
ards; a bank deposit account will normally yield a better return than this. We need to
try to find out why things went so badly wrong in 2010. As we look at other ratios, we
should find some clues.

Return on capital employed (ROCE)

The return on capital employed ratio is a fundamental measure of business perform-
ance. This ratio expresses the relationship between the operating profit generated
during a period and the average long-term capital invested in the business.

The ratio is expressed in percentage terms and is as follows:

Operating profit

ROCE = 100

X
Share capital + Reserves + Non-current liabilities



Profitability

Note, in this case, that the profit figure used is the operating profit (that is, the
profit before interest and taxation), because the ratio attempts to measure the returns
to all suppliers of long-term finance before any deductions for interest payable on bor-
rowings, or payments of dividends to shareholders, are made.

For the year to 31 March 2009, the ratio for Alexis plc is

243

== % 100=34.7%
(638 + 763)/2

ROCE

(The capital employed figure at 1 April 2008 is given in Note 8).

ROCE is considered by many to be a primary measure of profitability. It compares
inputs (capital invested) with outputs (operating profit). This comparison is vital in
assessing the effectiveness with which funds have been deployed. Once again, an aver-
age figure for capital employed should be used where the information is available.

Calculate the ROCE for Alexis plc for the year to 31 March 2010.

The ratio for 2010 is

47
ROCE=————— x 100 = 5.9%
(763 + 834)/2

This ratio tells much the same story as ROSF, namely a poor performance, with the
return on the assets being less than the rate that the business has to pay for most of
its borrowed funds (that is, 9 per cent for the loan notes).

Real World 6.1 shows how financial ratios are used by businesses as a basis for
setting profitability targets.

Real World 6.1

Targeting profitability

The ROCE ratio is widely used by businesses when establishing targets for profitability.
These targets are sometimes made public and here are some examples:

Tesco plc, the supermarket business, in 2004 set a target to achieve a growth in ROCE
of 2 per cent from its 2004 figure of 10.4 per cent. It achieved this with 12.5 per cent in 2006
and increased it further in 2007. Tesco then set a further 2 per cent target growth for ROCE
for 2008 and beyond. The business achieved a 13 per cent rate of ROCE in 2009. Tesco
uses performance against a target ROCE as a basis of rewarding its senior managers, indi-
cating the importance that the business attaches to this measure of performance.

BSkyB plc, the satellite broadcaster, has a target ROCE of 15 per cent by 2011 for its
broadband operation.

Air France-KLM, the world’s largest airline (on the basis of sales revenue), has set itself
the target of achieving a ROCE of 7 per cent.

BMW, the car maker, has a long-term target ROCE in excess of 26 per cent.

Sources: information taken from Tesco plc Annual Report 2009; ‘BSkyB/triple play’; The Financial Times, 12 July 2006; Air
France-KLM, press release, 14 February 2008; ‘BMW adds to carmakers’ gloom’, FT.com, 1 August 2008.
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Real World 6.2 provides some indication of the levels of ROCE achieved by UK
businesses.

Real World 6.2

Achieving profitability

UK businesses reported an average ROCE of 11.6 per cent for the second quarter of 2009.
This was down on the record rate of 15.1 per cent for the first quarter of 2007, which was
the highest level of ROCE since the Office of National Statistics first kept records.

Service sector businesses were much the more successful with an average ROCE
of 15.6 per cent, compared with 6.7 per cent among manufacturers. These compare with
15.7 per cent for service businesses and 10.2 per cent for manufacturers, averaged over
2006, 2007 and 2008. This suggests that, despite the recession, UK service businesses are
maintaining their profitability quite well. Manufacturers, on the other hand, have suffered a
large fall in profitability compared with that of recent years.

The difference in ROCE between the two sectors is accounted for by the higher capital
intensity of manufacturing, according to the Office of National Statistics.

Source: information taken from Office of National Statistics, ‘Corporate profitability’, www.statistics.gov.uk/cci, 17 October 2009.

Operating profit margin

The operating profit margin ratio relates the operating profit for the period to the sales
revenue. The ratio is expressed as follows:

Operating profit 9

Operating profit margin = 100

Sales revenue

The operating profit (that is, profit before interest and taxation) is used in this ratio
as it represents the profit from trading operations before the interest payable expense
is taken into account. This is often regarded as the most appropriate measure of opera-
tional performance, when used as a basis of comparison, because differences arising
from the way in which the business is financed will not influence the measure.

For the year ended 31 March 2009, Alexis plc’s operating profit margin ratio is

Operating profit margin = x 100 = 10.8%

’

This ratio compares one output of the business (operating profit) with another
output (sales revenue). The ratio can vary considerably between types of business. For
example, supermarkets tend to operate on low prices and, therefore, low operating
profit margins. This is done in an attempt to stimulate sales and thereby increase the
total amount of operating profit generated. Jewellers, on the other hand, tend to have
high operating profit margins but have much lower levels of sales volume. Factors
such as the degree of competition, the type of customer, the economic climate and
industry characteristics (such as the level of risk) will influence the operating profit
margin of a business. This point is picked up again later in the chapter.



Calculate the operating profit margin for Alexis plc for the year to 31 March 2010.

The ratio for 2010 is

x 100 =1.8%

Operating profit margin =

Once again, a very weak performance compared with that of 2009. In 2009 for
every £1 of sales revenue an average of 10.8p (that is, 10.8 per cent) was left as oper-
ating profit, after paying the cost of the carpets sold and other expenses of operating
the business. For 2010, however, this had fallen to only 1.8p for every £1. It seems that
the reason for the poor ROSF and ROCE ratios was partially, perhaps wholly, a high
level of expenses relative to sales revenue. The next ratio should provide us with a clue
as to how the sharp decline in this ratio occurred.

Real World 6.3 describes how one well-known business targets the operating profit
margin.

Real World 6.3

Operating profit margin taking off at BA

British Airways plc, the airline business, exceeded its 10 per cent operating profit margin

target during the year to 31 March 2008. This target had been in existence since 2002.
The year to 31 March 2009 was rather less successful with the company sustaining an

operating loss equal to 2.4 per cent of its sales revenue. The business put this down to

‘incredibly difficult trading conditions’ brought about by the recession.

Source: British Airways plc Annual Report 2009.

Gross profit margin

The gross profit margin ratio relates the gross profit of the business to the sales rev-
enue generated for the same period. Gross profit represents the difference between
sales revenue and the cost of sales. The ratio is therefore a measure of profitability in
buying (or producing) and selling goods or services before any other expenses are
taken into account. As cost of sales represents a major expense for many businesses, a
change in this ratio can have a significant effect on the ‘bottom line’ (that is, the profit
for the year). The gross profit margin ratio is calculated as follows:

Gross profit

Gross profit margin = x 100

Sales revenue

For the year to 31 March 2009, the ratio for Alexis plc is

5
Gross profit margin = x 100 = 22.1%

’
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Calculate the gross profit margin for Alexis plc for the year to 31 March 2010.

The ratio for 2010 is

09
Gross profit margin = " x 100 = 15.3%

The decline in this ratio means that gross profit was lower relative to sales revenue
in 2010 than it had been in 2009. Bearing in mind that

Gross profit = Sales revenue — Cost of sales (or cost of goods sold)

this means that cost of sales was higher relative to sales revenue in 2010 than in 2009.
This could mean that sales prices were lower and/or that the purchase cost of carpets sold
had increased. It is possible that both sales prices and purchase prices had reduced, but
the former at a greater rate than the latter. Similarly they may both have increased, but
with sales prices having increased at a lesser rate than the cost of the carpets.

Clearly, part of the decline in the operating profit margin ratio is linked to the
dramatic decline in the gross profit margin ratio. Whereas, after paying for the carpets
sold, for each £1 of sales revenue 22.1p was left to cover other operating expenses and
leave an operating profit in 2009, this was only 15.3p in 2010.

The profitability ratios for the business over the two years can be set out as follows:

2009 2010

% %
ROSF 33.0 2.0
ROCE 34.7 5.9
Operating profit margin 10.8 1.8
Gross profit margin 22.1 15.3

What do you deduce from a comparison of the declines in the operating profit and gross
profit margin ratios?

It occurs to us that the decline in the operating profit margin was 9 percentage points (that
is, from 10.8 per cent to 1.8 per cent), whereas that of the gross profit margin was only
6.8 percentage points (that is, from 22.1 per cent to 15.3 per cent). This can only mean that
operating expenses were greater compared with sales revenue in 2010 than they had
been in 2009. The declines in both ROSF and ROCE were caused partly, therefore, by the
business incurring higher inventories purchasing costs relative to sales revenue and partly
through higher operating expenses compared with sales revenue. We should need to
compare these ratios with the planned levels for them before we could usefully assess the
business’s success.



The analyst must now carry out some investigation to discover what caused the
increases in both cost of sales and operating expenses, relative to sales revenue, from
2009 to 2010. This will involve checking on what has happened with sales and in-
ventories prices over the two years. Similarly, it will involve looking at each of the
individual areas that make up operating expenses to discover which ones were respon-

sible for the increase, relative to sales revenue. Here, further ratios, for example, staff

expenses (wages and salaries) to sales revenue, could be calculated in an attempt to
isolate the cause of the change from 2009 to 2010. In fact, as we discussed when we
took an overview of the financial statements, the increase in staffing may well account
for most of the increase in operating expenses.

Real World 6.4 discusses how high operating costs may adversely affect the future
profitability of a leading car maker.

Real World 6.4

VW accelerates but costs vibrate

Volkswagen'’s fervent quest to overtake Japanese rival Toyota by 2018 threatens to exacer-
bate its already high cost structure and to hamper profitability in the coming years, analysts
and industry executives have warned. The industry executives and analysts argue that
VW’s growth initiative — which involves a huge investment of €26.6 billion ($35.7 billion) in
the next three years, the €16 billion takeovers of Porsche and its Salzburg dealership and
a €1.7 billion stake in Japanese small car specialist Suzuki — will put the car maker back
on a low-profit-margin track.

So far, VW, Europe’s largest car maker, has been one of the most successful during
the crisis. The Wolfsburg-based manufacturer posted a €911 million profit after tax and a
1.2 per cent profit margin in 2009 at a time when many others were making losses. VW is
now aiming for an industry-leading pre-tax profit margin of more than 8 per cent in 2018,
by which time it wants to become the world’s leading car producer ‘economically as well
as ecologically’, Martin Winterkorn, VW’s chief executive, has said. The car maker wants to
lift its sales from 6.3 million cars in the past year to more than 10 million by 2018.

While few dispute that VW could overtake Toyota — which sold almost 9 million cars in 2009
—in terms of sales, the profitability target remains in doubt. ‘There should be more doubt in
the market about the sustainability of VW’s profits,” says Philippe Houchois, analyst at UBS.

In spite of its success, VW’s cost structure is still in dire straits, particularly in Germany.
With its 370,000 global workforce, the partly state-owned car maker trails almost all
global rivals when it comes to statistics such as revenues or vehicles per employee.
‘People forget that despite their large scale, VW has some of the worst cost-structures
in the industry. They have abysmal labour productivity and high plant costs,” says Max
Warburton, analyst at research firm Sanford Bernstein.

Mr Warburton says high margins have been the exception at VW. ‘2007-2008 repre-
sented a brief period of temporary profit maximisation delivered by a [now departed]
temporary management team who made temporary, emergency cost cuts,’” he says. VW
disputes that it has taken its eye off cost-cutting. Hans Dieter Pétsch, the car maker’s chief
financial officer, says that ‘by optimising our purchasing and increasing productivity . . . we
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have reached cost cuts of €1 billion throughout 2009’. In addition, he points to the car
maker’s ongoing productivity improvement target of 10 per cent each year.

VW’s profit figures for last year paint a dark picture of the car maker’s cost structures.
At least three of its nine brands — Seat, Bentley and Lamborghini, and probably also Bugatti
whose results are not disclosed — were lossmaking, and are not expected to return to profit
this year. VW’s light truck operations only posted a profit after a one-off gain from the sale
of its Brazil operations. Operating profit at the group’s core brand, VW, was crimped by
79 per cent to €561 million, in spite of the marque benefiting hugely from European scrap-
ping incentive programmes.

Source: adapted from ‘Costs vibrate as VW accelerates’, The Financial Times, 29/03/2010 (Schéfer, D.), copyright © The Financial
Times Ltd.

Efficiency

Efficiency ratios are used to try to assess how successfully the various resources of the
business are managed. The following ratios consider some of the more important
aspects of resource management:

average inventories turnover period

average settlement period for trade receivables
average settlement period for trade payables
sales revenue to capital employed

sales revenue per employee.

We shall now look at each of these in turn.

Average inventories turnover period

Inventories often represent a significant investment for a business. For some types of
business (for example, manufacturers and certain retailers), inventories may account
for a substantial proportion of the total assets held (see Real World 12.1, page 456).
The average inventories turnover period ratio measures the average period for which
inventories are being held. The ratio is calculated as follows:

Average inventories held

Average inventories turnover period = %X 365

Cost of sales

The average inventories for the period can be calculated as a simple average of the
opening and closing inventories levels for the year. However, in the case of a highly
seasonal business, where inventories levels may vary considerably over the year, a
monthly average may be more appropriate, should this information be available.

In the case of Alexis plc, the inventories turnover period for the year ended
31 March 2009 is

241 + 300)/2
Average inventories turnover period = # x 365 = 56.6 days

1,745



(The opening inventories figure was taken from Note 3 to the financial statements.)

This means that, on average, the inventories held are being ‘turned over’ every 56.6
days. So, a carpet bought by the business on a particular day would, on average, have
been sold about eight weeks later. A business will normally prefer a short inventories
turnover period to a long one, because holding inventories has costs, for example the
opportunity cost of the funds tied up. When judging the amount of inventories to
carry, the business must consider such things as the likely demand for them, the pos-
sibility of supply shortages, the likelihood of price rises, the amount of storage space
available for them, and their perishability/susceptibility to obsolescence.

This ratio is sometimes expressed in terms of weeks or months rather than days.
Multiplying by 52 or 12, rather than 365, will achieve this.

Calculate the average inventories turnover period for Alexis plc for the year ended
31 March 2010.

The ratio for 2010 is

300 + 406)/2
Average inventories turnover period = u x 365 = 56.7 days

2,272

The inventories turnover period is virtually the same in both years.

Average settlement period for trade receivables

Selling on credit is the norm for most businesses, except for retailers. Trade receivables
are a necessary evil. A business will naturally be concerned with the amount of funds
tied up in trade receivables and try to keep this to a minimum. The speed of payment
can have a significant effect on the business’s cash flow. The average settlement
period for trade receivables ratio calculates how long, on average, credit customers
take to pay the amounts that they owe to the business. The ratio is as follows:

Average trade receivables

Average settlement period for trade receivables = x 365

Credit sales revenue

A business will normally prefer a shorter average settlement period to a longer
one as, once again, funds are being tied up that may be used for more profitable pur-
poses. Although this ratio can be useful, it is important to remember that it produces
an average figure for the number of days for which debts are outstanding. This average
may be badly distorted by, for example, a few large customers who are very slow or
very fast payers.

Since all sales made by Alexis plc are on credit, the average settlement period for
trade receivables for the year ended 31 March 2009 is

Efficiency
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223 + 240)/2
Average settlement period for trade receivables = % x 365 = 37.7 days

(The opening trade receivables figure was taken from Note 4 to the financial statements.)

Calculate the average settlement period for Alexis plc’s trade receivables for the year
ended 31 March 2010.

The ratio for 2010 is

(240 + 273)/2

Average settlement period for trade receivables = e

x 365 = 34.9 days

On the face of it, this reduction in the settlement period is welcome. It means that
less cash was tied up in trade receivables for each £1 of sales revenue in 2010 than in
2009. Only if the reduction were achieved at the expense of customer goodwill or a high
direct financial cost might the desirability of the reduction be questioned. For example,
the reduction may have been due to chasing customers too vigorously or as a result of
incurring higher expenses, such as discounts allowed to customers who pay quickly.

Average settlement period for trade payables

The average settlement period for trade payables ratio measures how long, on aver-
age, the business takes to pay those who have supplied goods and services on credit.
The ratio is calculated as follows:

Average trade payables % 365

Average settlement period for trade payables =
Credit purchases

This ratio provides an average figure, which, like the average settlement period for
trade receivables ratio, can be distorted by the payment period for one or two large
suppliers.

As trade payables provide a free source of finance for the business, it is perhaps not
surprising that some businesses attempt to increase their average settlement period for
trade payables. However, such a policy can be taken too far and result in a loss of
goodwill of suppliers.

For the year ended 31 March 2009, Alexis plc’s average settlement period for trade
payables is

Average settlement period for trade payables = % x 365 = 44.9 days
(The opening trade payables figure was taken from Note 4 to the financial statements
and the purchases figure from Note 3.)
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Calculate the average settlement period for trade payables for Alexis plc for the year
ended 31 March 2010.

The ratio for 2010 is

261 + 354)/2
Average settlement period for trade payables = % x 365 = 47.2 days

There was an increase, between 2009 and 2010, in the average length of time that
elapsed between buying inventories and services and paying for them. On the face of
it, this is beneficial because the business is using free finance provided by suppliers.
This is not necessarily advantageous, however, if it is leading to a loss of supplier good-
will that could have adverse consequences for Alexis plc.

Real World 6.5 is an extract from an article that describes how small businesses have
been affected by larger customers delaying payments during the recent recession.

Real World 6.5

Taking credit where it's not due

Late payment is a significant cause of ill will between small businesses and larger cus-
tomers. By extending payment periods, usually through simple foot-dragging, debtors are
able to draw on a plentiful supply of free credit. But this complicates financial planning for
creditors and in extreme cases can trigger their insolvency. Successive governments have
struggled to defeat the problem because small entrepreneurs are reluctant to exercise such
sanctions as charging interest on late payments.

Payment periods crept up during the recession as large companies hoarded cash. The
average payment period in the private sector is 52 days, according to the Federation
of Small Businesses, which said that most invoices specify payment within 30 days.
Companies House data show that some businesses can take six months or more to meet
their debts.

Source: adapted from ‘Small businesses hit at late Whitehall payments’, The Financial Times, 02/02/2010 (Guthrie, J.), copyright
© The Financial Times Ltd.

Sales revenue to capital employed

The sales revenue to capital employed ratio (or net asset turnover ratio) examines
how effectively the assets of the business are being used to generate sales revenue. It
is calculated as follows:

Sales revenue to ~ _ Sales revenue
capital employed ratio  Share capital + Reserves + Non-current liabilities
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Generally speaking, a higher sales revenue to capital employed ratio is preferred to
a lower one. A higher ratio will normally suggest that assets are being used more pro-
ductively in the generation of revenue. However, a very high ratio may suggest that
the business is ‘overtrading on its assets’, that is, it has insufficient assets to sustain the
level of sales revenue achieved. When comparing this ratio for different businesses,
factors such as the age and condition of assets held, the valuation bases for assets and
whether assets are leased or owned outright can complicate interpretation.

A variation of this formula is to use the total assets less current liabilities (which is
equivalent to long-term capital employed) in the denominator (lower part of the frac-
tion). The identical result is obtained.

For the year ended 31 March 2009 this ratio for Alexis plc is

2,240

Sales revenue to capital employed = — = 3.20 times
(638 +763)/2

Calculate the sales revenue to capital employed ratio for Alexis plc for the year ended
31 March 2010.

The ratio for 2010 is

2,681 .
Sales revenue to capital employed = ——— = 3.36 times
(763 + 834)/2

This seems to be an improvement, since in 2010 more sales revenue was being
generated for each £1 of capital employed (£3.36) than was the case in 2009 (£3.20).
Provided that overtrading is not an issue and that the additional sales are generating
an acceptable profit, this is to be welcomed.

Sales revenue per employee

The sales revenue per employee ratio relates sales revenue generated during a report-

ing period to a particular business resource, labour. It provides a measure of the
productivity of the workforce. The ratio is

Sales revenue
Sales revenue per employee =

Number of employees

Generally, businesses would prefer to have a high value for this ratio, implying that
they are using their staff efficiently.
For the year ended 31 March 2009, the ratio for Alexis plc is

£2,240m
Sales revenue per employee = ———— = £160,057

’



Relationship between profitability and efficiency

Calculate the sales revenue per employee for Alexis plc for the year ended 31 March 2010.

The ratio for 2010 is

2,681
Sales revenue per employee = E—m = £143,962

This represents a fairly significant decline and probably one that merits further
investigation. As we discussed previously, the number of employees had increased
quite notably (by about 33 per cent) during 2010 and the analyst will probably try to
discover why this had not generated sufficient additional sales revenue to maintain
the ratio at its 2009 level. It could be that the additional employees were not appointed
until late in the year ended 31 March 2010.

The efficiency, or activity, ratios may be summarised as follows:

2009 2010
Average inventories turnover period 56.6 days 56.7 days
Average settlement period for trade receivables 37.7 days 34.9 days
Average settlement period for trade payables 44.9 days 47.2 days
Sales revenue to capital employed (net asset turnover) 3.20 times 3.36 times
Sales revenue per employee £160,057 £143,962

What do you deduce from a comparison of the efficiency ratios over the two years?

We feel that maintaining the inventories turnover period at the 2009 level might be reason-
able, though whether this represents a satisfactory period can probably only be assessed
by looking at the business’s planned inventories period. The inventories turnover period for
other businesses operating in carpet retailing, particularly those regarded as the market
leaders, may have been helpful in formulating the plans. On the face of things, a shorter
receivables collection period and a longer payables payment period are both desirable. On
the other hand, these may have been achieved at the cost of a loss of the goodwill of
customers and suppliers, respectively. The increased net asset turnover ratio seems bene-
ficial, provided that the business can manage this increase. The decline in the sales revenue
per employee ratio is undesirable but, as we have already seen, is probably related to the
dramatic increase in the level of staffing. As with the inventories turnover period, these
other ratios need to be compared with the planned standard of efficiency.

Relationship between profitability and efficiency

In our earlier discussions concerning profitability ratios, we saw that return on capital
employed (ROCE) is regarded as a key ratio by many businesses. The ratio is
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Operating profit

ROCE = X 100

Long-term capital employed

where long-term capital comprises share capital plus reserves plus non-current liabili-
ties. This ratio can be broken down into two elements, as shown in Figure 6.1. The first
ratio is the operating profit margin ratio and the second is the sales revenue to capital
employed (net asset turnover) ratio, both of which we discussed earlier.

Figure 6.1 The main elements of the ROCE ratio

Operating profit
Sales revenue

multiplied by

Sales revenue
Long-term capital employed

equals

Return on capital employed

The ROCE ratio can be divided into two elements: operating profit to sales revenue and sales
revenue to capital employed. By analysing ROCE in this way, we can see the influence of both
profitability and efficiency on this important ratio.

By breaking down the ROCE ratio in this manner, we highlight the fact that the
overall return on funds employed within the business will be determined both by the
profitability of sales and by efficiency in the use of capital.

Example 6.2

Consider the following information, for last year, concerning two different busi-
nesses operating in the same industry:
Antler plc Baker plc

£m £m
Operating profit 20 15
Average long-term capital employed 100 75
Sales revenue 200 300

The ROCE for each business is identical (20 per cent). However, the manner in
which that return was achieved by each business was quite different. In the case
of Antler plc, the operating profit margin is 10 per cent and the sales revenue to
capital employed ratio is 2 times (so ROCE = 10% x 2 = 20%). In the case of Baker
plc, the operating profit margin is 5 per cent and the sales revenue to capital
employed ratio is 4 times (and so ROCE = 5% x 4 = 20%).



Example 6.2 demonstrates that a relatively high sales revenue to capital employed
ratio can compensate for a relatively low operating profit margin. Similarly, a relatively
low sales revenue to capital employed ratio can be overcome by a relatively high oper-
ating profit margin. In many areas of retail and distribution (for example, supermar-
kets and delivery services), the operating profit margins are quite low but the ROCE
can be high, provided that the assets are used productively (that is, low margin, high
sales revenue to capital employed).

Show how the ROCE ratio for Alexis plc can be analysed into the two elements for each
of the years 2009 and 2010. What conclusions can you draw from your figures?

Sales revenue to
capital employed
2009 34.7% 10.8% 3.20
2010 5.9% 1.8% 3.36

ROCE = Operating profit margin  x

As we can see, the relationship between the three ratios holds for Alexis plc for both years.
The small apparent differences arise because the three ratios are stated here only to one
or two decimal places.

Although the business was more effective at generating sales revenue (sales revenue to
capital employed ratio increased) in 2010 than in 2009, in 2010 it fell well below the level
necessary to compensate for the sharp decline in the effectiveness of each sale (operating
profit margin). As a result, the 2010 ROCE was well below the 2009 value.

Liguidity
Liquidity ratios are concerned with the ability of the business to meet its short-term
financial obligations. The following ratios are widely used:

B current ratio
m acid test ratio.

These two ratios will now be considered.

Current ratio

The current ratio compares the ‘liquid’ assets (that is, cash and those assets held that
will soon be turned into cash) of the business with the current liabilities. The ratio is
calculated as follows:

. Current assets
Current ratio =

Current liabilities

Some people seem to believe that there is an ‘ideal’ current ratio (usually 2 times or
2:1) for all businesses. However, this fails to take into account the fact that different
types of business require different current ratios. For example, a manufacturing business

Liquidity
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will often have a relatively high current ratio because it has to hold inventories of
finished goods, raw materials and work in progress. It will also normally sell goods
on credit, thereby giving rise to trade receivables. A supermarket chain, on the other
hand, will have a relatively low ratio, as it will hold only fast-moving inventories of
finished goods and all of its sales will be made for cash (no credit sales). (See Real
World 12.1 on page 456.)

The higher the ratio, the more liquid the business is considered to be. As liquidity
is vital to the survival of a business, a higher current ratio might be thought to be
preferable to a lower one. If a business has a very high ratio, however, it may be that
excessive funds are tied up in cash or other liquid assets and are not, therefore, being
used as productively as they might otherwise be.

As at 31 March 2009, the current ratio of Alexis plc is

544
Current ratio = E = 1.9 times (or 1.9:1)

Calculate the current ratio for Alexis plc as at 31 March 2010.
The ratio as at 31 March 2010 is

Current ratio = @ =1.6 times (or 1.6:1)
432

Although this is a decline from 2009 to 2010, it is not necessarily a matter of con-
cern. The next ratio may provide a clue as to whether there seems to be a problem.

Acid test ratio

The acid test ratio is very similar to the current ratio, but it represents a more strin-
gent test of liquidity. For many businesses, inventories cannot be converted into cash
quickly. (Note that, in the case of Alexis plc, the inventories turnover period was about
57 days in both years (see pages 200-201).) As a result, it may be better to exclude this
particular asset from any measure of liquidity. The acid test ratio is a variation of the
current ratio, but excluding inventories.

The minimum level for this ratio is often stated as 1.0 times (or 1:1; that is, current
assets (excluding inventories) equal current liabilities). In many highly successful busi-
nesses that are regarded as having adequate liquidity, however, it is not unusual for the
acid test ratio to be below 1.0 without causing particular liquidity problems. (See Real
World 12.1 on page 456.)

The acid test ratio is calculated as follows:

Current assets (excluding inventories
Acid test ratio = ( g )

Current liabilities



Financial gearing

The acid test ratio for Alexis plc as at 31 March 2009 is

544 - 300
Acid test ratio = ——— = 0.8 times (or 0.8:1)
291
We can see that the ‘liquid’ current assets do not quite cover the current liabilities,
so the business may be experiencing some liquidity problems.

Calculate the acid test ratio for Alexis plc as at 31 March 2010.

The ratio as at 31 March 2010 is

Acid test ratio = % = 0.6 times (or 0.6:1)

The 2010 ratio is significantly below that for 2009. The 2010 level may well be a
cause for concern. The rapid decline in this ratio should lead to steps being taken, at
least, to stop it falling further.

The liquidity ratios for the two-year period may be summarised as follows:

2009 2010
Current ratio 1.9 1.6
Acid test ratio 0.8 0.6

What do you deduce from the liquidity ratios set out above?

Although it is not possible to make a totally valid judgement without knowing the planned
ratios, there appears to have been a worrying decline in liquidity. This is indicated by both
of these ratios. The apparent liquidity problem may, however, be planned, short-term and
linked to the expansion in non-current assets and staffing. It may be that when the bene-
fits of the expansion come on stream, liquidity will improve. On the other hand, short-term
claimants may become anxious when they see signs of weak liquidity. This anxiety could
lead to steps being taken to press for payment. This could cause problems for Alexis plc.

[l Financial gearing

Financial gearing occurs when a business is financed, at least in part, by borrowing
instead of by finance provided by the owners (the shareholders) as equity. A business’s
level of gearing (that is, the extent to which it is financed from sources that require a
fixed return) is an important factor in assessing risk. Where a business borrows, it takes
on a commitment to pay interest charges and make capital repayments. Where the
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borrowing is heavy, this can be a significant financial burden; it can increase the risk
of the business becoming insolvent. Nevertheless, most businesses are geared to some
extent. (Costain Group plc, the building and construction business, is a rare example
of a UK business with no borrowings.)

Given the risks involved, we may wonder why a business would want to take on
gearing (that is, to borrow). One reason may be that the owners have insufficient
funds, so the only way to finance the business adequately is to borrow from others.
Another reason is that gearing can be used to increase the returns to owners. This is
possible provided that the returns generated from borrowed funds exceed the cost of
paying interest. Example 6.3 illustrates this point.

Example 6.3

The long-term capital structures of two new businesses, Lee Ltd and Nova Ltd, are
as follows:

Lee Ltd Nova Ltd
£000 £000
£1 ordinary shares 100 200
10% loan notes 200 100
300 300

In their first year of operations, they each make an operating profit (that is,
profit before interest and taxation) of £50,000. The tax rate is 30 per cent of the
profit before taxation but after interest.

Lee Ltd would probably be considered relatively highly geared, as two-thirds of
its long-term financing comes from borrowing. Nova Ltd is much lower-geared.
The profit available to the shareholders of each business in the first year of opera-
tions will be:

Lee Ltd Nova Ltd

£000 £000
Operating profit 50 50
Interest payable (20) (10)
Profit before taxation 30 40
Taxation (30%) 9 (12
Profit for the year (available to ordinary shareholders) 21 28

The return on ordinary shareholders’ funds (ROSF) for each business will be:

Lee Ltd Nova Ltd
21000 400_219s 28000 440149
100,000 200,000

We can see that Lee Ltd, the more highly geared business, has generated a better
ROSF than Nova Ltd. This is despite the fact that the ROCE (return on capital em-
ployed) is identical for both businesses (that is, (£50,000/£300,000) x 100 = 16.7%).



Financial gearing

Note that at the £50,000 level of operating profit, the shareholders of both Lee
Ltd and Nova Ltd benefit from gearing. Were the two businesses totally reliant
on equity financing, the profit for the year (the profit after taxation) would be
£35,000 (that is, £50,000 less 30 per cent taxation), giving an ROSF of 11.7 per
cent (that is, £35,000/£300,000). Both businesses generate higher ROSFs than this
as a result of financial gearing.

An effect of gearing is that returns to shareholders become more sensitive to changes
in operating profits. For a highly geared business, a change in operating profits will
lead to a proportionately greater change in the ROSF ratio.

Assume that the operating profit was 20 per cent higher for each business than stated
above (that is, an operating profit of £60,000). What would be the effect of this on ROSF?

The revised profit available to the shareholders of each business in the first year of opera-
tions will be:
Lee Ltd Nova Ltd

£000 £000
Operating profit 60 60
Interest payable (20) (10)
Profit before taxation 40 50
Taxation (30%) (12) (15)
Profit for the year (available to ordinary shareholders) 28 35
The ROSF for each business will now be:

Lee Ltd Nova Ltd
28,000 x 100 = 28% 35,000 x100=17.5%

100,000 200,000

We can see that for Lee Ltd, the higher-geared business, the returns to shareholders
have increased by a third (from 21 per cent to 28 per cent), whereas for the lower-
geared business, Nova Ltd, the benefits of gearing are less pronounced, increasing by
only a quarter (from 14 per cent to 17.5 per cent). The effect of gearing can, of course,
work in both directions. So, for a highly geared business, a small decline in operating
profit will bring about a much greater decline in the returns to shareholders.

The reason that gearing tends to be beneficial to shareholders is that interest rates
for borrowings are low by comparison with the returns that the typical business
can earn. On top of this, interest expenses are tax-deductible, in the way shown in
Example 6.3 and Activity 6.17, which makes the effective cost of borrowing quite
cheap. It is debatable whether the apparent low interest rates really are beneficial to
the shareholders. Some argue that since borrowing increases the risk to shareholders,
there is a hidden cost of borrowing. What are not illusory, however, are the benefits to
the shareholders of the tax-deductibility of interest on borrowings.

21



Chapter 6 Analysing and interpreting financial statements

The effect of gearing is like that of two intermeshing cogwheels of unequal size (see
Figure 6.2). The movement in the larger cog (operating profit) causes a more than pro-
portionate movement in the smaller cog (returns to ordinary shareholders).

Figure 6.2 The effect of financial gearing

Operating profit

Returns to
ordinary

(O

shareholders

The two wheels are linked by the cogs, so that a small movement in the large wheel (operating
profit) leads to a relatively large movement in the small wheel (returns to ordinary shareholders).

Two ratios are widely used to assess gearing:

m gearing ratio
B interest cover ratio.

Gearing ratio

The gearing ratio measures the contribution of long-term lenders to the long-term
capital structure of a business:

. . Long-term (non-current) liabilities
Gearing ratio = - — x 100
Share capital + Reserves + Long-term (non-current) liabilities

The gearing ratio for Alexis plc, as at 31 March 20009, is
200

Gearing ratio = ——  x 100 = 26.2%
(563 + 200)
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This is a level of gearing that would not normally be considered to be very high.

Calculate the gearing ratio of Alexis plc as at 31 March 2010.

The ratio as at 31 March 2010 is

300
Gearing ratio = ——  x 100 = 36.0%
(534 + 300)

This is a substantial increase in the level of gearing over the year.

Interest cover ratio

The interest cover ratio measures the amount of operating profit available to cover
interest payable. The ratio may be calculated as follows:

Operating profit
Interest cover ratio = P 8P

Interest payable

The ratio for Alexis plc for the year ended 31 March 2009 is

243
Interest cover ratio = _8 =13.5 times

This ratio shows that the level of operating profit is considerably higher than the
level of interest payable. This means that a large fall in operating profit could occur
before operating profit levels failed to cover interest payable. The lower the level of
operating profit coverage, the greater the risk to lenders that interest payments will
not be met. There will also be a greater risk to the shareholders that the lenders
will take action against the business to recover the interest due.

Calculate the interest cover ratio of Alexis plc for the year ended 31 March 2010.
The ratio for the year ended 31 March 2010 is

47
Interest cover ratio = 5 =1.5 times

Alexis plc’s gearing ratios are:

2009 2010
Gearing ratio 26.2% 36.0%
Interest cover ratio 13.5 times 1.5 times
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What do you deduce from a comparison of Alexis plc’s gearing ratios over the two years?

The gearing ratio altered significantly. This is mainly due to the substantial increase in the
contribution of long-term lenders to the financing of the business.

The interest cover ratio has declined dramatically from a position where operating profit
covered interest 13.5 times in 2009, to one where operating profit covered interest only
1.5 times in 2010. This was partly caused by the increase in borrowings in 2010, but
mainly caused by the dramatic decline in profitability in that year. The latter situation
looks hazardous; only a small decline in future profitability would leave the business with
insufficient operating profit to cover the interest payments. The gearing ratio at 31 March
2010 would not necessarily be considered to be very high for a business that was trading
successfully. It is the low profitability that is the problem.

Without knowing what the business planned these ratios to be, it is not possible to reach
a valid conclusion on Alexis plc’s gearing.

Real World 6.6 consists of extracts from an article that discusses the likely lowering
of gearing levels in the face of the recession. It explains that many businesses seem
likely to issue additional ordinary shares (equity), either through making a rights issue
or some public issue, and use the resulting funds to reduce borrowing as a means of
reducing gearing.

Real World 6.6
Changing gear

When Stuart Siddall was corporate treasurer of AMEC four years ago, analysts were critical
when the engineering group swung from having substantial net debt on its balance sheet
[statement of financial position] to sitting on a huge cash pile after completing disposals.

‘The analysts were saying “this is inefficient balance sheet management”,” says Mr Siddall.

Companies back then were expected to be highly geared, with net debt to shareholders’
funds at historically high levels.

How times have changed. With a wave of rights issues and other equity issuance now
expected from the UK’s non-financial companies — and with funds from these being used
to pay down debt — the pendulum is rapidly swinging back in favour of more conservative
balance sheet management. Gearing levels are set to fall dramatically, analysts say. ‘There
is going to be an appreciable and material drop in gearing, by about a quarter or a third
over the next three years,’ predicts Mr Siddall, now chief executive of the Association of
Corporate Treasurers.

Historically, gearing levels — as measured by net debt as a proportion of shareholders’
funds — have run at an average of about 30 per cent over the past 20 years.

Peak levels (around 45 per cent) were reached in the past few years as companies took
advantage of cheap credit. Current predictions see it coming down to about 20 per cent —
and staying there for a good while to come.

Graham Secker, managing director of equity research at Morgan Stanley, says ‘This is
going to be a relatively long-term phenomenon.’
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One of the most immediate concerns to heavily indebted companies is whether, in a
recessionary environment, they will be able to generate the profit and cash flows to service
their debts.

Gearing levels vary from sector to sector as well. Oil companies prefer low levels given
their exposure to the volatility of oil prices. BP’s net debt to shareholders’ funds ratio of
21 per cent is at the low end of a 20 to 30 per cent range it considers prudent.

Miners’ gearing is on a clear downward trend already. Xstrata, the mining group,
stressed last month that its £4.1 billion rights issue would cut gearing from 40 per cent to
less than 30 per cent. A week later, BHP said its $13 billion of first-half cash flows had cut
gearing to less than 10 per cent. Rio Tinto, which had gearing of 130 per cent at the last
count in August 2008, is desperately trying to cut it by raising fresh equity.

Utilities tend to be highly geared because they can afford to borrow more against their
typically reliable cash flows. But even here the trend is downwards.

Severn Trent, the UK water group, says its appropriate long-term gearing level is 60 per cent.
But ‘given ongoing uncertainties . . . it is prudent in the near term to retain as much liquidity
and flexibility as possible’. It does not expect to pursue that target until credit markets improve.

Reducing gearing is not easy, especially for the most indebted companies that need to
the most: shareholders will be more reluctant to finance replacement equity in companies
with highly leveraged balance sheets.

The supply of fresh equity will also be constrained, not only by a glut of demand from com-
panies but by the squeeze on investor money from a wave of government bond issuance.

Richard Jeffrey, chief investment officer at Cazenove Capital Management, says there is
a risk of the government making it more difficult to raise money to improve balance sheets.
‘That is of extreme concern because that could become a limitation, longer term, in the
capital that companies have to fund investment.’

Source: adapted from ‘Gearing levels set to plummet’, The Financial Times, 10/02/2009 (Grant, J.), copyright © The Financial
Times Ltd.

Self-assessment question 6.1

Both Ali plc and Bhaskar plc operate electrical stores throughout the UK. The financial
statements of each business for the year ended 30 June 2010 are as follows:

Statements of financial position as at 30 June 2010

Ali plc Bhaskar plc
ASSETS £m £m
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
(cost less depreciation)
Land and buildings 360.0 510.0
Fixtures and fittings 87.0 91.2
447.0 601.2
Current assets
Inventories 592.0 403.0
Trade receivables 176.4 321.9
Cash at bank 84.6 91.6
853.0 816.5
Total assets 1,300.0 1,417.7 9
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EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity

£1 ordinary shares
Retained earnings

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings - loan notes
Current liabilities

Trade payables
Taxation

Total equity and liabilities

Ali plc

Bhaskar plc
£m

250.0
624.6
874.6

250.0

Income statements for the year ended 30 June 2010

Revenue

Cost of sales

Gross profit
Operating expenses
Operating profit
Interest payable
Profit before taxation
Taxation

Profit for the year

All purchases and sales were on credit. Ali plc had announced its intention to pay a
dividend of £135 million and Bhaskar plc £95 million in respect of the year. The market
values of a share in Ali plc and Bhaskar plc at the end of the year were £6.50 and £8.20

respectively.

Required:

For each business, calculate two ratios that are concerned with each of the following

aspects:

profitability
efficiency
liquidity

[ |
[ |
[ |
H gearing.

Ali plc
£m

1,478.1
(1,018.3)
459.8
(308.5)
151.3
(19.4)
131.9
(32.0)
99.9

Bhaskar plc
£m
1,790.4
(1,214.9)

575.5
(408.6)
166.9
(27.5)
139.4
(34.8)
104.6

What can you conclude from the eight ratios that you have calculated?

The solution to this question can be found at the back of the book, in Appendix B.
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L1l Investment ratios

There are various ratios available that are designed to help shareholders assess the
returns on their investment. The following are widely used:

m dividend payout ratio
m dividend yield ratio
m earnings per share

B price/earnings ratio.

Dividend payout ratio

The dividend payout ratio measures the proportion of earnings that a business pays out
to shareholders in the form of dividends. The ratio is calculated as follows:

Dividend d for th
ividends announced for the year % 100

Dividend payout ratio =
Earnings for the year available for dividends
In the case of ordinary shares, the earnings available for dividend will normally be
the profit for the year (that is, the profit after taxation) less any preference dividends
relating to the year. This ratio is normally expressed as a percentage.
The dividend payout ratio for Alexis plc for the year ended 31 March 2009 is

40
Dividend payout ratio = T6s x 100 = 24.2%

The information provided by this ratio is often expressed slightly differently as the
dividend cover ratio. Here the calculation is

Earnings for the year available for dividends
Dividend cover ratio = 8 Y

Dividends announced for the year

In the case of Alexis plc for 2009 it would be 165/40 = 4.1 times. That is to say, the
earnings available for dividend cover the actual dividend paid by just over four times.

Calculate the dividend payout ratio of Alexis plc for the year ended 31 March 2010.
The ratio for 2010 is

40
Dividend payout ratio = PPy x 100 = 363.6%

This would normally be considered to be a very alarming increase in the ratio over
the two years. Paying a dividend of £40 million in 2010 would probably be widely
regarded as very imprudent.
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Dividend yield ratio

The dividend yield ratio relates the cash return from a share to its current market value.

This can help investors to assess the cash return on their investment in the business.

The ratio, expressed as a percentage, is

Dividend per share/(1 - t)
Market value per share

x 100

Dividend yield =

where t is the ‘dividend tax credit’ rate of income tax. This requires some explanation.
In the UK, investors who receive a dividend from a business also receive a tax credit.
As this tax credit can be offset against any tax liability arising from the dividends
received, the dividends are effectively issued net of income tax, at the dividend tax
credit rate.

Investors may wish to compare the returns from shares with the returns from other
forms of investment. As these other forms of investment are usually quoted on a
‘gross’ (that is, pre-tax) basis it is useful to ‘gross up’ the dividend to make comparison
easier. We can achieve this by dividing the dividend per share by (1 - t), where t is the
‘dividend tax credit’ rate of income tax.

Using the 2009/10 dividend tax credit rate of 10 per cent, the dividend yield for
Alexis plc for the year ended 31 March 2009 is

Dividend yield = 0.067%/(1 = 0.10) x 100 = 3.0%
2.50
* Dividend proposed/number of shares = 40/(300 x 2) = £0.067 dividend per share (the 300 is
multiplied by 2 because they are £0.50 shares). The share’s market value is given in Note 1 to
Example 6.1 (page 192).

Calculate the dividend yield for Alexis plc for the year ended 31 March 2010.

The ratio for 2010 is

0.067*/(1 - 0.10
Dividend yield = # x 100 = 4.9%

* 40/(300 x 2) = £0.067.

Earnings per share

The earnings per share (EPS) ratio relates the earnings generated by the business, and
available to shareholders, during a period, to the number of shares in issue. For equity
(ordinary) shareholders, the amount available is the profit for the year (profit after
taxation) less any preference dividend, where applicable. The ratio for equity share-
holders is calculated as follows:
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) Earnings available to ordinary shareholders
Earnings per share =

Number of ordinary shares in issue

In the case of Alexis plc, the earnings per share for the year ended 31 March 2009
is as follows:

Many investment analysts regard the EPS ratio as a fundamental measure of share
performance. The trend in earnings per share over time is used to help assess the
investment potential of a business’s shares.

It is not usually very helpful to compare the EPS of one business with that of
another. Differences in financing arrangements (for example, in the nominal value
of shares issued) can render any such comparison meaningless. However, it can be
very useful to monitor the changes that occur in this ratio for a particular business
over time.

Calculate the earnings per share of Alexis plc for the year ended 31 March 2010.

The ratio for 2010 is

Price/earnings (P/E) ratio

The price/earnings ratio relates the market value of a share to the earnings per share.
This ratio can be calculated as follows:

Market value per share
P/E ratio = P

Earnings per share
The P/E ratio for Alexis plc as at 31 March 20009 is
£2.50

27.5p*
* The EPS figure (27.5p) was calculated above.

P/E ratio = =9.1 times

This ratio indicates that the market value of the share is 9.1 times higher than its
current level of earnings. The ratio is a measure of market confidence in the future of
a business. The higher the P/E ratio, the greater the confidence in the future earning
power of the business and, consequently, the more investors are prepared to pay in
relation to the earnings stream of the business.
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P/E ratios provide a useful guide to market confidence concerning the future and
they can, therefore, be helpful when comparing different businesses. However, differ-
ences in accounting policies between businesses can lead to different profit and earn-
ings per share figures. This can distort comparisons.

Calculate the P/E ratio of Alexis plc as at 31 March 2010.

The ratio for 2010 is

P/E ratio = £1.50 = 83.3 times
1.8p

The investment ratios for Alexis plc over the two-year period are as follows:

2009 2010
Dividend payout ratio 24.2% 363.6%
Dividend yield ratio 3.0% 4.9%
Earnings per share 27.5p 1.8p
P/E ratio 9.1 times 83.3 times

What do you deduce from the investment ratios set out above?
Can you offer an explanation why the share price has not fallen as much as it might
have done, bearing in mind the very poor (relative to 2009) trading performance in 2010?

We thought that, although the EPS has fallen dramatically and the dividend payment for
2010 seems very imprudent, the share price seems to have held up remarkably well (fallen
from £2.50 to £1.50). This means that dividend yield and P/E value for 2010 look better than
those for 2009. This is an anomaly of these two ratios, which stems from using a forward-
looking value (the share price) in conjunction with historic data (dividends and earnings).
Share prices are based on investors’ assessments of the business’s future. It seems with
Alexis plc that, at the end of 2010, the ‘market’ was not happy with the business, rela-
tive to 2009. This is evidenced by the fact that the share price had fallen by £1 a share. On
the other hand, the share price has not fallen as much as profit for the year. It appears
that investors believe that the business will perform better in the future than it did in 2010.
This may well be because they believe that the large expansion in assets and employee
numbers that occurred in 2010 will yield benefits in the future; benefits that the business
was not able to generate during 2010.

Real World 6.7 gives some information about the shares of several large, well-
known UK businesses. This type of information is provided on a daily basis by several
newspapers, notably The Financial Times.
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Real World 6.7

Market statistics for some well-known businesses

The following data were extracted from the Financial Times of 2 April 2010, relating to the
previous day’s trading of the shares of some well-known businesses on the London Stock
Exchange.

Share Price Chng 2009/10 Yid P/E Volume
High Low 000s
BP 631.30 +7.9 640.10 400 6.4 11.5 75,461
J D Wetherspoon 513 +7.50 543.57 266.36 2.3 14.4 533
ITV 62.95 +2.20 63.85 16.50 - 18.9 58,787
Marks and Spencer 371.90 +1.80 412.70 209.50 4.0 11.6 7,874
Rolls-Royce 611 +15.50 614.50 242.81 2.2 5.1 9,667
Vodafone 151.70 -0.30 153.80 111.20 5.2 8.1 298,865

The column headings are as follows:

Price Mid-market price in pence (that is, the price midway between buying and sell-
ing price) of the shares at the end of trading on 1 April 2010

Chng Gain or loss in the mid-market price during 1 April 2010

High/Low Highest and lowest prices reached by the share during the year ended on
1 April 2010

Y’ld Gross dividend yield, based on the most recent year’s dividend and the current
share price

P/E Price/earnings ratio, based on the most recent year’s (after-tax) profit for the

year and the current share price
Volume The number of shares (in thousands) that were bought/sold on 1 April 2010.

So, for example for BP, the oil business:

m the shares had a mid-market price of £6.313 each at the close of Stock Exchange trad-
ing on 1 April 2010;

m the shares had increased in price by 7.9 pence during trading on 1 April 2010;

m the shares had highest and lowest prices during the previous year of £6.401 and £4.00,
respectively;

m the shares had a dividend yield, based on the 1 April 2010 price (and the dividend for
the most recent year) of 6.4 per cent;

m the shares had a P/E ratio, based on the 1 April 2010 price (and the after-taxation earn-
ings per share for the most recent year) of 11.5;

M during trading in the shares on 1 April 2010, 75,461 of the business’s shares had
changed hands from one investor to another.

Note that one of the businesses shown above (ITV) does not have a dividend yield figure.
This is because it has not paid a dividend recently.
Source: The Financial Times, 2 April 2010.

Real World 6.8 shows how investment ratios can vary between different industry
sectors.
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Real World 6.8

Yielding dividends

Investment ratios can vary significantly between businesses and between industries. To
give some indication of the range of variations that occur, the average dividend yield ratios
and average P/E ratios for listed businesses in twelve different industries are shown in
Figures 6.3 and 6.4, respectively.

These dividend yield ratios are calculated from the current market value of the shares
and the most recent year’s dividend paid.

Some industries tend to pay out lower dividends than others, leading to lower dividend
yield ratios. The average for all Stock Exchange listed businesses was 3.12 (as is shown in
Figure 6.3), but there is a wide variation with chemicals at 2.18 and electricity at 5.22.

Some types of businesses tend to invest heavily in developing new products, hence their
tendency to pay low dividends compared with their share prices. Some of the inter-industry
differences in the dividend yield ratio can be explained by the nature of the calculation of

Figure 6.3 Average dividend yield ratios for businesses in a range of
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Figure 6.4 Average price/earnings ratios for businesses in a range of
industries
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the ratio. The prices of shares at any given moment are based on expectations of their
economic futures; dividends are actual past events. A business that had a good trading
year recently may have paid a dividend that, in the light of investors’ assessment of the
business’s economic future, may be high (a high dividend yield).

The P/E ratios are calculated from the current market value of the shares and the most
recent year’s earnings per share (EPS).

Businesses that have a high share price relative to their recent historic earnings have
high P/E ratios. This may be because their future is regarded as economically bright, which
may be the result of investing heavily in the future at the expense of recent profits (earn-
ings). On the other hand, high P/Es also arise where businesses have recent low earnings
but investors believe that their future is brighter. The average P/E for all Stock Exchange
listed businesses was 17.73, but for life assurance it was as low as 11.31 and for chemicals
as high as 28.79.

At 3 April 2010, P/E ratios were at a fairly high level. Share prices were quite high, as a
result of a strong recovery in share prices from their low point in February 2009. At the same
time, the recession had led to fairly low reported profits. (Remember that P/Es are based
on current share prices and recent reported profits.)

Source: The Financial Times, 3 April/4 April 2010.
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Trend analysis

It is often helpful to see whether ratios are indicating trends. Key ratios can be plotted
on a graph to provide a simple visual display of changes occurring over time. The
trends occurring within a business may, for example, be plotted against trends for rival
businesses or for the industry as a whole for comparison purposes. An example of
trend analysis is shown in Real World 6.9.

Real World 6.9

Trend setting

In Figure 6.5 the current ratio of three of the UK’s leading supermarkets is plotted over
time. We can see that the current ratio of Tesco plc has risen over the period but it was,
nevertheless, consistently lower than that of its main rivals, until 2005, when it overtook
Morrison; in 2009, it overtook Sainsbury. Sainsbury seems to be following the opposite
trend, with its current ratio on a fairly consistent downward path. With well-managed busi-
nesses like Sainsbury and Tesco, it seems highly probable that these trends are the result
of deliberate policy.

Figure 6.5 Graph plotting current ratio against time
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The current ratio for three leading UK supermarkets is plotted for the financial years ended
during 2001 to 2009. This enables comparison to be made regarding the ratio, both for each
of the three businesses over time and between the businesses.

Source: ratios calculated from information in the annual reports of the three businesses for the years 2001 to 2009.




Many larger businesses publish certain key financial ratios as part of their annual
reports to help users identify significant trends. These ratios typically cover several
years’ activities. Real World 6.10 shows part of the table of ‘key performance measures’

of Marks and Spencer plc (M and S), the well-known UK high street store.

Real World 6.10

Trend analysis

Key performance measures of Marks and Spencer plc

2009 2008 2007 2006
52 weeks 52 weeks 52 weeks 53 weeks
Gross profit

Gross margin _ 37.2% 38.6% 38.9% 38.3%
Revenue
ti fit
Net margin Operating profit - g 69, 134%  122%  109%
Revenue

Net margin excluding property disposals
and exceptional items 8.5% 12.1% 12.2% 11.0%

Profit before t
Profitability Trombeloretax  7.8% 12.5% 10.9% 9.6%

Revenue

Profitability excluding property disposals
and exceptional items 6.7% 11.2% 11.2% 9.6%
Basic earnings

Basic earnings per share — 32.3p 49.2p 39.1p 31.3p
Weighted average

ordinary shares
in issue

Earnings per share adjusted for property
disposals and exceptional items 28.0p 43.6p 40.4p 31.4p

Dividend per share declared in respect
of the year 17.8p 22.5p 18.3p 14.0p

Profit attributable

Dividend cover _toshareholders o 2.3x 21 2.9

Dividends payable

Profit attributable

to sharehold
Return on equity _[OShareholders o500 45.6% 46.3% 50.0%

Average equity
shareholders’ funds

Source: Marks and Spencer plc Annual Report 2009. Reproduced by kind permission of Marks and Spencer plc.

2005
52 weeks

34.7%

8.0%

8.7%

6.7%

7.4%

17.6p

19.2p

12.1p

2.9x

35.1%

M and S§’s return on equity (return on ordinary shareholders’ funds) in 2009 was
significantly less good than it had been during the previous three years. The net
margin fell significantly in 2009 from a recent peak in 2008, though the gross margin
was fairly stable after 2005. M and S felt that its problems in 2009 were substantially

related to difficult trading conditions in a major recession.
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Using ratios to predict future outcomes

Financial ratios, based on current or past performance, are often used to help predict
the future, though both the choice of ratios and the interpretation of results are
normally dependent on the judgement of the analyst. Attempts have been made,
however, to develop a more rigorous and systematic approach to the use of ratios for
prediction purposes. In particular, researchers have shown an interest in the use of
ratios to predict financial distress in a business. By financial distress we mean a busi-
ness getting into financial difficulties or even being made ‘bankrupt’ and forced out
of existence. Several methods and models using ratios have been developed that are
claimed to predict future financial distress. Researchers have also developed ratio-
based models with which to assess the supposed vulnerability of a business to takeover
by another business. These areas, of course, are of interest to all those connected with
the business. In the future, it is likely that further ratio-based models will be developed
that predict other aspects of future performance.

Limitations of ratio analysis

Although ratios offer a quick and useful method of analysing the position and perform-
ance of a business, they are not without their problems and limitations. We shall
now review some of the shortcomings of financial ratio analysis.

Quality of financial statements

It must always be remembered that ratios are based on financial statements. The
results of ratio analysis are, therefore, dependent on the quality of these underlying
statements. Ratios will inherit the limitations of the financial statements on which
they are based. In Chapter 2 we saw that one important limitation of financial state-
ments is their failure to include all resources controlled by the business. Internally
generated goodwill and brands, for example, are excluded from the statement of finan-
cial position because they fail to meet the strict definition of an asset. This means that,
even though these resources may be of considerable value, key ratios such as ROSE,
ROCE and the gearing ratio will fail to acknowledge their presence.

There is also the problem of deliberate attempts to make the financial statements
misleading. We discussed this problem of creative accounting in Chapter 4.

Inflation

A persistent, though recently less severe, problem, in most countries is that the finan-
cial results of businesses can be distorted as a result of inflation. One effect of inflation
is that the reported value of assets held for any length of time may bear little relation
to current values. Generally speaking, the reported value of assets will be understated
in current terms during a period of inflation as they are usually reported at their original
cost (less any amounts written off for depreciation). This means that comparisons,



Limitations of ratio analysis

either between businesses or between periods, will be hindered. A difference in, say,
ROCE may simply be owing to the fact that assets shown in one of the statements of
financial position being compared were acquired more recently (ignoring the effect of
depreciation on the asset values). Another effect of inflation is to distort the measure-
ment of profit. In the calculation of profit, sales revenue is often matched with costs
incurred at an earlier time. This is because there is often a time lag between acquiring
a particular resource and using it to help generate sales revenue. For example, inven-
tories may well be acquired several months before they are sold. During a period of
inflation, this will mean that the expense does not reflect prices that are current at
the time of the sale. The cost of sales figure is usually based on the historic cost of the
inventories concerned. As a result, expenses will be understated in the income state-
ment and this, in turn, means that profit will be overstated. One effect of this will be
to distort the profitability ratios discussed earlier.

Overreliance on ratios

It is important not to rely exclusively on ratios, thereby losing sight of information
contained in the underlying financial statements. As we saw earlier in the chapter,
some items reported in these statements can be vital in assessing position and per-
formance. For example, the total sales revenue, capital employed and profit figures
may be useful in assessing changes in absolute size that occur over time, or in assess-
ing differences in scale between businesses. Ratios do not provide such information.
When comparing one figure with another, ratios measure relative performance and
position and, therefore, provide only part of the picture. When comparing two busi-
nesses, therefore, it will often be useful to assess the absolute size of profits, as well
as the relative profitability of each business. For example, Business A may generate
£1 million operating profit and have a ROCE of 15 per cent and Business B may gener-
ate £100,000 operating profit and have a ROCE of 20 per cent. Although Business B
has a higher level of profitability, as measured by ROCE, it generates lower total oper-
ating profits. This may well be useful information for the analyst.

The basis for comparison

We saw earlier that if ratios are to be useful, they require a basis for comparison.
Moreover, it is important that the analyst compares like with like. Where the com-
parison is with another business, there can be difficulties. No two businesses are iden-
tical: the greater the differences between the businesses being compared, the greater
the limitations of ratio analysis. Furthermore, any differences in accounting policies,
financing methods (gearing levels) and reporting year ends will add to the problems
of making comparisons between businesses.

Ratios relating to the statement of financial position

Because the statement of financial position is only a ‘snapshot’ of the business at a par-
ticular moment in time, any ratios based on statement of financial position figures,
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such as the liquidity ratios, may not be representative of the financial position of the
business for the year as a whole. For example, it is common for a seasonal business to
have a financial year end that coincides with a low point in business activity. As a
result, inventories and trade receivables may be low at the year end. This means that
the liquidity ratios may also be low. A more representative picture of liquidity can only
really be gained by taking additional measurements at other points in the year.

Real World 6.11 points out another way in which ratios are limited.

Real World 6.11

Remember, it's people that really count...

Lord Weinstock (1924-2002) was an influential industrialist whose management style and
philosophy helped to shape management practice in many UK businesses. During his long
and successful reign at GEC plc, a major engineering business, Lord Weinstock relied
heavily on financial ratios to assess performance and to exercise control. In particular, he
relied on ratios relating to sales revenue, expenses, trade receivables, profit margins and
inventories turnover. However, he was keenly aware of the limitations of ratios and recog-
nised that, ultimately, people produce profits.

In a memo written to GEC managers he pointed out that ratios are an aid to good
management rather than a substitute for it. He wrote:

The operating ratios are of great value as measures of efficiency but they are only the
measures and not efficiency itself. Statistics will not design a product better, make it for a
lower cost or increase sales. If ill-used, they may so guide action as to diminish resources for
the sake of apparent but false signs of improvement.

Management remains a matter of judgement, of knowledge of products and processes
and of understanding and skill in dealing with people. The ratios will indicate how well all
these things are being done and will show comparison with how they are done elsewhere. But
they will tell us nothing about how to do them. That is what you are meant to do.

Source: Extract from Aris, S., Arnold Weinstock and the Making of GEC, Aurum Press, 1998, published in The Sunday Times,
22 February 1998, p. 3.

Summary

The main points of this chapter may be summarised as follows.

Ratio analysis

m Ratio analysis compares two related figures, usually both from the same set of
financial statements.

m It is an aid to understanding what the financial statements really mean.

m [t is an inexact science, so results must be interpreted cautiously.

m Past periods, the performance of similar businesses and planned performance are
often used to provide benchmark ratios.

m A brief overview of the financial statements can often provide insights that may
not be revealed by ratios and/or may help in the interpretation of them.



Summary

Profitability ratios
m Profitability ratios are concerned with effectiveness at generating profit.

m The profitability ratios covered are the return on ordinary shareholders’ funds
(ROSF), return on capital employed (ROCE), operating profit margin and gross
profit margin.

Efficiency ratios
m Efficiency ratios are concerned with efficiency of using assets/resources.

m The efficiency ratios covered are the average inventories turnover period, average
settlement period for trade receivables, average settlement period for trade pay-
ables, sales revenue to capital employed and sales revenue per employee.

Liquidity ratios
m Liquidity ratios are concerned with the ability to meet short-term obligations.

m The liquidity ratios covered are the current ratio and the acid test ratio.

Gearing ratios
m Gearing ratios are concerned with the relationship between equity and debt
financing.

m The gearing ratios covered are the gearing ratio and the interest cover ratio.

Investment ratios
m Investment ratios are concerned with returns to shareholders.

m The investment ratios covered are the dividend payout ratio, dividend yield ratio,
earnings per share and price/earnings ratio.

Uses of ratios

m Individual ratios can be tracked to detect trends (for example, by plotting them
on a graph).

m Ratios can be used to help predict the future, particularly financial distress.

Limitations of ratio analysis

m Ratios are only as reliable as the financial statements from which they derive.

Inflation can distort the information.

Ratios give a restricted vision.

It can be difficult to find a suitable benchmark (for example, another business) to
compare with.

m Some ratios could mislead due to the ‘snapshot’ nature of the statement of financial
position.
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Further reading

If you would like to explore the topics covered in this chapter in more depth, we
recommend the following books:

Elliott, B. and Elliott, ]J., Financial Accounting and Reporting (13th edn), Financial Times
Prentice Hall, 2010, chapter 28.

Schoenebeck, K. and Holtzman, M., Interpreting and Analyzing Financial Statements
(5th edn), Prentice Hall, 2009, chapters 2, 3, 4 and 5.

Wild, J., Subramanyam, K. and Halsey, R., Financial Statement Analysis (9th edn),
McGraw-Hill, 2006, chapters 8, 9 and 11.

Review questions

Solutions to these questions can be found at the back of the book, in Appendix C.

6.1 Some businesses operate on a low operating profit margin (for example, a supermarket
chain). Does this mean that the return on capital employed from the business will also
be low?

6.2 What potential problems arise for the external analyst from the use of statement of
financial position figures in the calculation of financial ratios?

6.3 Two businesses operate in the same industry. One has an inventories turnover period that
is longer than the industry average. The other has an inventories turnover period that is



6.4

shorter than the industry average. Give three possible explanations for each business’s
inventories turnover period ratio.

In the chapter it was mentioned that ratios help to eliminate some of the problems of
comparing businesses of different sizes. Does this mean that size is irrelevant when inter-
preting and analysing the position and performance of different businesses?

Exercises

Exercises 6.4 and 6.5 are more advanced than 6.1 to 6.3. Those with coloured numbers
have solutions at the back of the book, in Appendix D.

If you wish to try more exercises, visit the website at www.myaccountinglab.com.

6.1

6.2

I. Jiang (Western) Ltd has recently produced its financial statements for the current year.
The directors are concerned that the return on capital employed (ROCE) had decreased
from 14 per cent last year to 12 per cent for the current year.

The following reasons were suggested as to why this reduction in ROCE had occurred:

an increase in the gross profit margin;

a reduction in sales revenue;

an increase in overhead expenses;

an increase in amount of inventories held;

the repayment of some borrowings at the year end; and

an increase in the time taken for credit customers (trade receivables) to pay.

(o206 BN ~NEN VRN O B

Required:
Taking each of these six suggested reasons in turn, state, with reasons, whether each of
them could lead to a reduction in ROCE.

Amsterdam Ltd and Berlin Ltd are both engaged in retailing, but they seem to take a dif-
ferent approach to it according to the following information:

Ratio Amsterdam Ltd Berlin Ltd
Return on capital employed (ROCE) 20% 17%
Return on ordinary shareholders’ funds (ROSF) 30% 18%
Average settlement period for trade receivables 63 days 21 days
Average settlement period for trade payables 50 days 45 days
Gross profit margin 40% 15%
Operating profit margin 10% 10%
Average inventories turnover period 52 days 25 days
Required:

Describe what this information indicates about the differences in approach between the
two businesses. If one of them prides itself on personal service and one of them on com-
petitive prices, which do you think is which and why?

Exercises
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6.3 Conday and Co. Ltd has been in operation for three years and produces antique repro-
duction furniture for the export market. The most recent set of financial statements for the
business is set out as follows:

Statement of financial position as at 30 November
ASSETS £000
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment (cost less depreciation)

Land and buildings 228
Plant and machinery _ 762
_990
Current assets
Inventories 600
Trade receivables 820
1,420
Total assets 2,410
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Ordinary shares of £1 each 700
Retained earnings _ 365
1,065
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings — 9% loan notes (Note 1) _ 200
Current liabilities
Trade payables 665
Taxation 48
Short-term borrowings (all bank overdraft) 432
1,145
Total equity and liabilities 2,410
Income statement for the year ended 30 November
£000
Revenue 2,600
Cost of sales (1,620)
Gross profit 980
Selling and distribution expenses (Note 2) (408)
Administration expenses _(194)
Operating profit 378
Finance expenses _ (58)
Profit before taxation 320
Taxation _ (99
Profit for the year 225

Notes:

1 The loan notes are secured on the freehold land and buildings.

2 Selling and distribution expenses include £170,000 in respect of bad debts.

3 A dividend of £160,000 was paid on the ordinary shares during the year.

4 The directors have invited an investor to take up a new issue of ordinary shares in the busi-
ness at £6.40 each making a total investment of £200,000. The directors wish to use the
funds to finance a programme of further expansion.
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Required:

(@) Analyse the financial position and performance of the business and comment on any

features that you consider to be significant.

(b) State, with reasons, whether or not the investor should invest in the business on the

terms outlined.

abbreviated financial statements for 2009 and 2010 are as follows:

Income statements for the year ended 30 June

Revenue

Cost of sales

Gross profit
Operating expenses
Depreciation
Operating profit
Interest

Profit before taxation
Taxation

Profit for the year

Statements of financial position as at 30 June

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Current assets

Inventories

Trade receivables

Cash

Total assets

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Ordinary share capital (£1 shares, fully paid)
Retained earnings

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings — bank loan

Current liabilities

Trade payables

Other payables and accruals

Taxation

Short-term borrowings (all bank overdraft)

Total equity and liabilities

2009
£000
1,180
(680)
500
(200)
_(69)
234
0
234
(80)

e

2009
£000

702

148
102
_3

253
955

500
256
756

60
18
40
81
199
955

6.4 Threads Limited manufactures nuts and bolts, which are sold to industrial users. The

2010
£000

687

236
156

396
1,083

500
295
795

50

76

16

24
122
238
1,083

Exercises

233



Chapter 6 Analysing and interpreting financial statements

234

6.5

Dividends were paid on ordinary shares of £70,000 and £72,000 in respect of 2009 and
2010, respectively.

Required:

(@) Calculate the following financial ratios for both 2009 and 2010 (using year-end figures
for statement of financial position items):

return on capital employed

operating profit margin

gross profit margin

current ratio

acid test ratio

settlement period for trade receivables

settlement period for trade payables

inventories turnover period.

(b) Comment on the performance of Threads Limited from the viewpoint of a business
considering supplying a substantial amount of goods to Threads Limited on usual
trade credit terms.

0 ~NO O WN 2

Bradbury Ltd is a family-owned clothes manufacturer based in the south west of England.
For a number of years the chairman and managing director was David Bradbury. During
his period of office, sales revenue had grown steadily at a rate of 2 to 3 per cent each year.
David Bradbury retired on 30 November 2009 and was succeeded by his son Simon.
Soon after taking office, Simon decided to expand the business. Within weeks he had
successfully negotiated a five-year contract with a large clothes retailer to make a range
of sports and leisurewear items. The contract will result in an additional £2 million in sales
revenue during each year of the contract. To fulfil the contract, Bradbury Ltd acquired new
equipment and premises.
Financial information concerning the business is given below:

Income statements for the year ended 30 November

2009 2010

£000 £000
Revenue 9,482 11,365
Operating profit 914 1,042
Interest charges (22 (81)
Profit before taxation 892 961
Taxation (358) (386)
Profit for the year _534 575



Dividends of £120,000 were paid on ordinary shares in respect of each of the two years.

Statements of financial position as at 30 November

ASSETS
Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Premises at cost

Plant and equipment (net)

Current assets
Inventories
Trade receivables

Total assets

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity
Share capital
Reserves

Non-current liabilities
Borrowing - loans
Current liabilities
Trade payables
Taxation

Short-term borrowings (all bank overdraft)

Total equity and liabilities

Required:

(@) Calculate, for each year (using year-end figures for statement of financial position

items), the following ratios:
1 operating profit margin

current ratio
gearing ratio

o OB~ WN

2009 2010

£000 £000
5,240 7,360
2,375 4,057
7,615 11,417
2,386 3,420
2,540 4,280
4,926 7,700
12,541 19,117
2,000 2,000
7,813 8,268
9,813 10,268
1,220 3,675
1,157 2,245
179 198
172 2,736
1,508 5,174
12,541 19,117

return on capital employed

trade receivables settlement period

sales revenue to capital employed.

Using the above ratios, and any other ratios or information you consider relevant,
comment on the results of the expansion programme.

Exercises
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Chapter 7

Cost-volume-
profit analysis

Introduction

This chapter is concerned with the relationship between the volume of activity, cost

and profit. Broadly, costs can be analysed between those that are fixed, relative to the
volume of activity, and those that vary with the volume of activity. We shall consider how
an understanding of this relationship can be used to make decisions and to assess risk,
particularly in the context of short-term decisions.

Though the distinction between financial accounting and management accounting is
rather blurred, and much relating to the financial statements that we have discussed so
far in the book relates to providing information to managers, this chapter is the first that
is clearly in the area of management accounting.

Learning outcomes

When you have completed this chapter, you should be able to:

m distinguish between fixed cost and variable cost and use this distinction to explain
the relationship between cost, volume and profit;

B prepare a break-even chart and deduce the break-even point for some activity;

m discuss the weaknesses of break-even analysis;

m demonstrate the way in which marginal analysis can be used when making short-term
decisions.

H Remember to create your own
[ M-v Accn"n t’"ylah personalised Study Plan j
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Cost behaviour

Cost represents the resources that have to be sacrificed to achieve a business objective.
The objective may be to make a particular product, to provide a particular service, to
operate an IT department and so on. The costs incurred by a business may be classified
in various ways and one important way is according to how they behave in relation
to changes in the volume of activity. A cost may be classified according to whether it

m remains constant (fixed) when changes occur to the volume of activity; or
m varies according to the volume of activity.

These are known as fixed cost and variable cost respectively. Thus, in the case of a
restaurant, the manager’s salary would normally be a fixed cost while the cost of the
unprepared food would be a variable cost.

As we shall see, knowing how much of each type of cost is associated with a
particular activity can be of great value to the decision maker.

Fixed cost

The way in which a fixed cost behaves can be shown by preparing a graph that plots
the fixed cost of a business against the level of activity, as in Figure 7.1. The distance
OF represents the amount of fixed cost, which stays the same irrespective of the
volume of activity.

Can you give some examples of items of cost that are likely to be fixed for a hairdressing
business?

We came up with the following:

B rent

B insurance

B cleaning cost
m staff salaries.

These items of cost are likely to be the same irrespective of the number of customers
having their hair cut or styled.

Staff salaries (or wages) are often assumed to be a variable cost but in practice they
tend to be fixed. Members of staff are not normally paid according to the volume of
output and it is unusual to dismiss staff when there is a short-term downturn in activ-
ity. Where there is a long-term downturn, or at least it seems that way to management,
redundancies may occur with fixed-cost savings. This, however, is true of all types of
fixed cost. For example, management may also decide to close some branches to make
rental cost savings.



Figure 7.1 Graph of fixed cost against the volume of activity

Cost
(£)

0 Volume of activity (units of output)

As the volume of output increases, the fixed cost stays exactly the same (OF).

There are circumstances in which the labour cost is variable (for example, where
staff are paid according to how much output they produce), but this is unusual.
Whether labour cost is fixed or variable depends on the circumstances in the particu-
lar case concerned.

It is important to be clear that ‘fixed’, in this context, means only that the cost is
unaffected by changes in the volume of activity. Fixed cost is likely to be affected by
inflation. If rent (a typical fixed cost) goes up because of inflation, a fixed cost will
have increased, but not because of a change in the volume of activity.

Similarly, the level of fixed cost does not stay the same irrespective of the time
period involved. Fixed cost elements are almost always time-based: that is, they vary
with the length of time concerned. The rental charge for two months is normally
twice that for one month. Thus, fixed cost normally varies with time, but (of course)
not with the volume of output. This means that when we talk of fixed cost being, say,
£1,000, we must add the period concerned, say, £1,000 a month.

Does fixed cost stay the same irrespective of the volume of output, even where there
is a massive rise in that volume? Think in terms of the rent cost for the hairdressing
business.

In fact, the rent is only fixed over a particular range (known as the ‘relevant’ range). If
the number of people wanting to have their hair cut by the business increased, and the
business wished to meet this increased demand, it would eventually have to expand its

Fixed cost

e 3

241



Chapter 7 Cost-volume-profit analysis

242

physical size. This might be achieved by opening an additional branch, or perhaps by
moving the existing business to larger premises nearby. It may be possible to cope with
relatively minor increases in activity by using existing space more efficiently, or by having
longer opening hours. If activity continued to expand, however, increased rent charges
would seem inevitable.

In practice, the situation described in Activity 7.2 would look something like
Figure 7.2.

Figure 7.2 Graph of rent cost against the volume of activity

Rent
cost

)

0 Volume of activity

As the volume of activity increases from zero, the rent (a fixed cost) is unaffected. At a particular
point, the volume of activity cannot increase further without additional space being rented. The
cost of renting the additional space will cause a ‘step’ in the rent cost. The higher rent cost will
continue unaffected if volume rises further until eventually another step point is reached.

At lower volumes of activity, the rent cost shown in Figure 7.2 would be OR. As the
volume of activity expands, the accommodation becomes inadequate and further
expansion requires an increase in premises and, therefore, cost. This higher level of
accommodation provision will enable further expansion to take place. Eventually,
additional cost will need to be incurred if further expansion is to occur. A fixed cost
that behaves in this way is often referred to as a stepped fixed cost.

Variable cost

We saw earlier that variable cost varies with the volume of activity. In a manufacturing
business, for example, this would include the cost of raw materials used.

Variable cost can be represented graphically as in Figure 7.3. At zero volume of
activity, the variable cost is zero. It then increases in a straight line as activity increases.



Semi-fixed (semi-variable) cost

Figure 7.3 Graph of variable cost against the volume of activity

Cost
€

0 Volume of activity

At zero activity, there is no variable cost. However, as the volume of activity increases, so does
the variable cost.

Can you think of some examples of cost elements that are likely to be variable for a
hairdressing business?

We can think of a couple:

m lotions, sprays and other materials used;
B laundry cost to wash towels used to dry customers’ hair.

As with many types of business activity, the variable cost incurred by hairdressers tends to
be low in comparison with the fixed cost: that is, fixed cost tends to make up the bulk of
total cost.

The straight line for variable cost in Figure 7.3 implies that this type of cost will be
the same per unit of activity, irrespective of the volume of activity. We shall consider
the practicality of this assumption a little later in this chapter.

Semi-fixed (semi-variable) cost

In some cases, cost has an element of both fixed and variable cost. This can be described
as a semi-fixed (semi-variable) cost. An example might be the electricity cost for the
hairdressing business. Some of this will be for heating and lighting, and this part is
probably fixed, at least until the volume of activity expands to a point where longer
opening hours or larger premises are necessary. The other part of the cost will vary with
the volume of activity. Here we are talking about such things as power for hairdryers.
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Can you suggest another cost for a hairdressing business that is likely to be semi-fixed
(semi-variable)?

We thought of telephone charges for landlines. These tend to have a rental element, which
is fixed, and there may also be certain calls that have to be made irrespective of the
volume of activity involved. However, increased business would be likely to lead to the need
to make more telephone calls and so to increased call charges. You may have thought of
another example of such a cost.

Estimating semi-fixed (semi-variable) cost

Often, it is not obvious how much of each element a particular cost contains. However,
past experience may provide some guidance. Let us again take the example of electricity.
If we have data on what the electricity cost has been for various volumes of activity,
say the relevant data over several three-month periods (electricity is usually billed by the
quarter), we can estimate the fixed and variable portions. This may be done graphic-
ally, as shown in Figure 7.4. We tend to use past data here purely because they provide
us with an estimate of future cost; past cost is not, of course, relevant for its own sake.

Figure 7.4 Graph of electricity cost against the volume of activity

Electricity
cost The slope of this line
) gives the variable cost )

per unit of activity

Fixed cost
element

0 Volume of activity

Here the electricity bill for a time period (for example, three months) is plotted against the volume
of activity for that same period. This is done for a series of periods. A line is then drawn that best
fits’ the various points on the graph. From this line we can then deduce both the cost at zero
activity (the fixed element) and the slope of the line (the variable element).

Each of the dots in Figure 7.4 is the electricity charge for a particular quarter plotted
against the volume of activity (probably measured in terms of sales revenue) for the
same quarter. The diagonal line on the graph is the line of best fit. This means that this



Finding the break-even point

was the line that best seemed (to us, at least) to represent the data. A better estimate
can usually be made using a statistical technique (least squares regression), which does
not involve drawing graphs and making estimates. In practice though, it probably
makes little difference which approach is taken.

From the graph we can say that the fixed element of the electricity cost is the
amount represented by the vertical distance from the origin at zero (bottom left-hand
corner) to the point where the line of best fit crosses the vertical axis of the graph. The
variable cost per unit is the amount that the graph rises for each increase in the vol-
ume of activity.

By breaking down semi-fixed cost into its fixed and variable elements in this way,
we are left with just two types of cost: fixed cost and variable cost.

Armed with knowledge of how much each element of cost represents for a particular
product or service, it is possible to make predictions regarding total and per-unit cost
at various projected levels of output. Such predictive information can be very useful
to decision makers, and much of the rest of this chapter will be devoted to seeing how,
starting with break-even analysis.

Finding the break-even point

If, for a particular product or service, we know the fixed cost for a period and the
variable cost per unit, we can produce a graph like the one shown in Figure 7.5. This
graph shows the total cost over the possible range of volume of activity.

Figure 7.5 Graph of total cost against volume of activity

Cost
(®)

Total costs

Variable costs

j

Fixed costs

!

0 Volume of activity (units of output)

The bottom part of the graph represents the fixed cost element. To this is added the wedge-
shaped top portion, which represents the variable cost. The two parts together represent total
cost. At zero activity, the variable cost is zero, so total cost equals fixed cost. As activity
increases so does total cost, but only because variable cost increases. We are assuming that
there are no steps in the fixed cost.
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The bottom part of Figure 7.5 shows the fixed cost area. Added to this is the variable
cost, the wedge-shaped portion at the top of the graph. The uppermost line represents
the total cost over a range of volume of activity. For any particular volume, the total
cost can be measured by the vertical distance between the graph’s horizontal axis and
the relevant point on the uppermost line.

Logically, the total cost at zero activity is the amount of the fixed cost. This is
because, even where there is nothing going on, the business will still be paying rent,
salaries and so on, at least in the short term. As the volume of activity increases from
zero, the fixed cost is augmented by the relevant variable cost to give the total cost.

If we take this total cost graph in Figure 7.5, and superimpose on it a line represent-
ing total revenue over the range of volume of activity, we obtain the break-even chart.
This is shown in Figure 7.6.

Figure 7.6 Break-even chart

Revenue

cost (£)

Total sales revenue
Break-even point ?90?\1
Total cost
Variable cost
\0%> ¢
F T
Fixed cost
0 Volume of activity (units of output)

The sloping line starting at zero represents the sales revenue at various volumes of activity. The
point at which this finally catches up with the sloping total cost line, which starts at F, is the
break-even point (BEP). Below this point a loss is made, above it a profit.

In Figure 7.6, note that, at zero volume of activity (zero sales), there is zero sales
revenue. The profit (loss), which is the difference between total sales revenue and total
cost, for a particular volume of activity, is the vertical distance between the total sales
revenue line and the total cost line at that volume of activity. Where there is no
vertical distance between these two lines (total sales revenue equals total cost) the
volume of activity is at break-even point (BEP). At this point there is neither profit nor
loss; that is, the activity breaks even. Where the volume of activity is below BEP, a loss
will be incurred because total cost exceeds total sales revenue. Where the business
operates at a volume of activity above BEP, there will be a profit, because total sales
revenue will exceed total cost. The further below BEP, the higher the loss: the further
above BEP, the higher the profit.



Finding the break-even point

Deducing BEPs by graphical means is a laborious business. Since the relationships
in the graph are all linear (that is, the lines are all straight), however, it is easy to calcu-
late the BEP.

We know that at BEP (but not at any other point)

Total sales revenue = Total cost
The above formula can be expanded so that
Total sales revenue = Fixed cost + Total variable cost
If we call the number of units of output at BEP b, then

b x Sales revenue per unit = Fixed cost + (b x Variable cost per unit)

o)
(b x Sales revenue per unit) — (b x Variable cost per unit) = Fixed cost
and
b x (Sales revenue per unit — Variable cost per unit) = Fixed cost
giving

Fixed cost

Sales revenue per unit — Variable cost per unit

If we look back at the break-even chart in Figure 7.6, this formula seems logical.
The total cost line starts off at point F, higher than the starting point for the total sales
revenues line (zero) by amount F (the amount of the fixed cost). Because the sales
revenue per unit is greater than the variable cost per unit, the sales revenue line will
gradually catch up with the total cost line. The rate at which it will catch up is depen-
dent on the relative steepness of the two lines. Bearing in mind that the slopes of
the two lines are the variable cost per unit and the selling price per unit, the above
equation for calculating b looks perfectly logical.

Though the BEP can be calculated quickly and simply without resorting to graphs,
this does not mean that the break-even chart is without value. The chart shows the
relationship between cost, volume and profit over a range of activity and in a form
that can easily be understood by non-financial managers. The break-even chart can
therefore be a useful device for explaining this relationship.

Example 7.1

Cottage Industries Ltd makes baskets. The fixed cost of operating the workshop for
a month totals £500. Each basket requires materials that cost £2, and each takes
one hour to make. The business pays the basket makers £10 an hour. The basket
makers are all on contracts such that if they do not work for any reason, they are
not paid. The baskets are sold to a wholesaler for £14 each.
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What is the BEP for basket making for the business?
The BEP (in number of baskets) is

Fixed cost . £500
Sales revenue per unit — Variable cost per unit £14 — (£2 + £10)
= 250 baskets per month

Note that the BEP must be expressed with respect to a period of time.

Real World 7.1 shows information on the BEPs of two well-known businesses.

Real World 7.1

BE at BA and Ryanair

Commercial airlines seem to pay a lot of attention to their BEPs and their ‘load factors’, that
is, their actual level of activity. Figure 7.7 shows the BEP and load factor for two well-known
airlines operating from the UK. British Airways (BA) is a traditional airline. Ryanair is a ‘no
frills’ carrier, which means that passengers receive lower levels of service in return for lower
fares. Both operate flights within the UK and from the UK to other European countries. BA
also offers worldwide destinations. We can see that both airlines were making operating
profits as each had a load factor greater than its BEP. Ryanair had both the higher load
factor and the higher break-even point.

Figure 7.7 Break-even and load factors in the airline industry
o, 100
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Source: based on information contained in 2008 annual reports of the two businesses concerned.
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Can you think of reasons why the managers of a business might find it useful to know
the BEP of some activity that they are planning to undertake?

By knowing the BEP, it is possible to compare the expected, or planned, volume of activity
with the BEP and so make a judgement about risk. If the volume of activity is expected only
just to exceed the break-even point, this may suggest that it is a risky venture. Only a small
fall from the expected volume of activity could lead to a loss.

Cottage Industries Ltd (see Example 7.1) expects to sell 500 baskets a month. The busi-
ness has the opportunity to rent a basket-making machine. Doing so would increase
the total fixed cost of operating the workshop for a month to £3,000. Using the machine
would reduce the labour time to half an hour per basket. The basket makers would still
be paid £10 an hour.

(@) How much profit would the business make each month from selling baskets
B assuming that the basket-making machine is not rented; and
H assuming that it is rented?

(b) What is the BEP if the machine is rented?

(c) What do you notice about the figures that you calculate?

(@) Estimated monthly profit from basket making:

Without the machine With the machine
£ £ £ £
Sales revenue (500 x £14) 7,000 7,000
Materials (500 x £2) (1,000) (1,000)
Labour (500 x 1 x £10) (5,000)
(500 x 2 x £10) (2,500)
Fixed cost _(500) (3,000)
(6.500) (6.500)
Profit _ 500 _ 500

(b) The BEP (in number of baskets) with the machine

Fixed cost

- Sales revenue per unit — Variable cost per unit
£3,000
£14 — (£2 + £5)
= 429 baskets a month

The BEP without the machine is 250 baskets per month (see Example 7.1).
(c) There seems to be nothing to choose between the two manufacturing strategies
regarding profit, at the projected sales volume. There is, however, a distinct difference
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between the two strategies regarding the BEP. Without the machine, the actual volume of
sales could fall by a half of that which is expected (from 500 to 250) before the business
would fail to make a profit. With the machine, however, just a 14 per cent fall (from
500 to 429) would be enough to cause the business to fail to make a profit. On the other
hand, for each additional basket sold above the estimated 500, an additional profit
of only £2 (that is, £14 — (£2 + £10)) would be made without the machine, whereas £7
(that is, £14 — (£2 + £5)) would be made with the machine. (Note that knowledge of the
BEP and the planned volume of activity gives some basis for assessing the riskiness
of the activity.)

We shall take a closer look at the relationship between fixed cost, variable cost
and profit together with any advice that we might give the management of Cottage
Industries Ltd after we have briefly considered the notion of contribution.

Contribution

The bottom part of the break-even formula (sales revenue per unit less variable cost
per unit) is known as the contribution per unit. Thus, for the basket-making activity,
without the machine the contribution per unit is £2, and with the machine it is £7.
This can be quite a useful figure to know in a decision-making context. It is called
‘contribution’ because it contributes to meeting the fixed cost and, if there is any
excess, it then contributes to profit.

We shall see, a little later in this chapter, how knowing the amount of the contri-
bution generated by a particular activity can be valuable in making short-term deci-
sions of various types, as well as being useful in the BEP calculation.

Contribution margin ratio

The contribution margin ratio is the contribution from an activity expressed as a
percentage of the sales revenue, thus:

Contribution
Contribution margin ratio =——— x 100%
Sales revenue
Contribution and sales revenue can both be expressed in per-unit or total terms. For
Cottage Industries Ltd (Example 7.1 and Activity 7.6), the contribution margin ratios
are, without the machine,

14-12
—— x 100% = 14%

and with the machine,

14 -7
x 100% = 50%




Margin of safety

The ratio can provide an impression of the extent to which sales revenue is eaten
away by variable cost.

Margin of safety
The margin of safety is the extent to which the planned volume of output or sales lies

above the BEP. To illustrate how the margin of safety is calculated, we can use the
information in Activity 7.6 relating to each option.

Without the machine With the machine
Expected volume of sales (humber of baskets) 500 500
BEP (number of baskets) 250 429
Margin of safety:
Expressed as the number of baskets 250 71
Expressed as the percentage of
projected volume of sales 50% 14%

The margin of safety can be used as a partial measure of risk.

What advice would you give Cottage Industries Ltd about renting the machine, on the
basis of the values for margin of safety?

It is a matter of personal judgement, which in turn is related to individual attitudes to risk,
as to which strategy to adopt. Most people, however, would prefer the strategy of not rent-
ing the machine, since the margin of safety between the expected volume of activity and
the BEP is much greater. Thus, for the same level of return, the risk will be lower without
renting the machine.

The relative margins of safety are directly linked to the relationship between the
selling price per basket, the variable cost per basket and the fixed cost per month.
Without the machine the contribution (selling price less variable cost) per basket is £2;
with the machine it is £7. On the other hand, without the machine the fixed cost
is £500 a month; with the machine it is £3,000. This means that, with the machine,
the contributions have more fixed cost to ‘overcome’ before the activity becomes
profitable. However, the rate at which the contributions can overcome fixed cost is
higher with the machine, because variable cost is lower. Thus, with the machine,
one more, or one less, basket sold has a greater impact on profit than it does if the
machine is not rented. The contrast between the two scenarios is shown graphically
in Figures 7.8(a) and 7.8(b).

If we look back to Real World 7.1 (page 248), we can see that Ryanair had a larger
margin of safety than that of BA.

Real World 7.2 goes into more detail on the margin of safety and operating profit,
over recent years, of one of the two airlines featured in Real World 7.1.
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Figure 7.8 Break-even charts for Cottage Industries' basket-making activities
(a) without the machine and (b) with the machine
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Without the machine the contribution per basket is low. Thus, each additional basket sold does
not make a dramatic difference to the profit or loss. With the machine, however, the opposite is true,
and small increases or decreases in the sales volume will have a great effect on the profit or loss.




Real World 7.2

Margin of safety

BA's margin of safety

BEP. This led to operating profits.

As we saw in Real World 7.1, commercial airlines pay a lot of attention to BEPs. They are
also interested in their margin of safety (the difference between load factor and BEP).
Figure 7.9 shows BA’s margin of safety and its operating profit over a seven-year period.
Note that in 2002, BA had a load factor that was below its break-even point and this caused
an operating loss. In the other years, the load factors were comfortably greater than the

Figure 7.9 BA's margin of safety
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The margin of safety is expressed as the difference between the load factor and the BEP (for
each year), expressed as a percentage of the BEP. Generally, the higher the margin of safety,

Source: derived from information in British Airways plc Annual Reports 2002 to 2008.
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Achieving a target profit

In the same way as we can derive the number of units of output necessary to break
even, we can calculate the volume of activity required to achieve a particular level of
profit. We can expand the equation shown on p. 247 above so that

Total sales revenue = Fixed cost + Total variable cost + Target profit
If we let t be the required number of units of output to achieve the target profit, then
t x Sales revenue per unit = Fixed cost + (f x Variable cost per unit) + Target profit
SO

(t x Sales revenue per unit) — (t x Variable cost per unit) = Fixed cost + Target profit

and
t x (Sales revenue per unit — Variable cost per unit) = Fixed cost + Target profit
giving
3 Fixed cost + Target profit
~ Sales revenue per unit — Variable cost per unit
or

. Fixed cost + Target profit

Contribution per unit

What volume of activity is required by Cottage Industries Ltd (See Example 7.1 and
Activity 7.6) in order to make a profit of £4,000 a month:

(a) assuming that the basket-making machine is not rented; and
(b) assuming that it is rented?
(@) Using the formula above, the required volume of activity without the machine

_ Fixed cost + Target profit

Contribution per unit
£500 + £4,000
T e14- (€2 + £10)
= 2,250 baskets a month

(b) The required volume of activity with the machine

_ £3,000 + £4,000

= = 1,000 baskets a month
£14 — (£2 + £5)
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Operating gearing

The relationship between contribution and fixed cost is known as operating gearing
(or operational gearing). An activity with a relatively high fixed cost compared with
its variable cost is said to have high operating gearing. Thus, Cottage Industries Ltd
would have higher operating gearing if it used the machine than it would have if not.
Renting the machine increases the level of operating gearing quite dramatically
because it causes an increase in fixed cost, but at the same time it leads to a reduction
in variable cost per basket.

Operating gearing and its effect on profit

The reason why the word ‘gearing’ is used in this context is that, as with intermesh-
ing gear wheels of different circumferences, a circular movement in one of the factors
(volume of output) causes a more-than-proportionate circular movement in the other
(profit) as illustrated by Figure 7.10.

Figure 7.10 The effect of operating gearing

Volume of
output

Where operating gearing is relatively high, as in the diagram, a small amount of motion in the
volume wheel causes a relatively large amount of motion in the profit wheel. An increase in
volume would cause a disproportionately greater increase in profit. The equivalent would also be
true of a decrease in activity, however.
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Increasing the level of operating gearing makes profit more sensitive to changes in
the volume of activity. We can demonstrate operating gearing with Cottage Industries

Ltd’s basket-making activities as follows:

Without the machine

With the machine
500 1,000 1,500
£ £ £
3,500 7,000 10,500
(3,000) (3,000) (3,000)

Volume (number of baskets) 500 1,000 1,500
£ £ £
Contribution* 1,000 2,000 3,000
Fixed cost (500) (500) (500)
Profit 500 1,500 2,500

500 4,000 7,500

* £2 per basket without the machine and £7 per basket with it.

Note that, without the machine (low operating gearing), a doubling of the output
from 500 to 1,000 units brings a trebling of the profit. With the machine (high oper-
ating gearing), doubling output causes profit to rise by eight times. At the same time,
reductions in the volume of output tend to have a more damaging effect on profit

where the operating gearing is higher.

What types of business activity are likely to have high operating gearing? (Hint: Cottage

Industries Ltd might give you some idea.)

Activities that are capital intensive tend to have high operating gearing. This is because
renting or owning capital equipment gives rise to additional fixed cost, but it can also give

rise to lower variable cost.

Real World 7.3 shows how a very well-known business has benefited from high

operating gearing.

Real World 7.3

Check out operating gearing

training and advertising for example.

savings.’

Source: J Sainsbury plc Annual Report 2009, p. 17.

After several years of disappointing trading and loss of market share, in 2004, J Sainsbury
plc, the UK supermarket chain, set a plan to improve its profitability and gain market share.
During the period from 2005 to 2009, Sainsbury’s increased its sales revenue by 25 per
cent, but this fed through to a 118 per cent increase in profit. This was partly due to rela-
tively high operating gearing, which caused the profit to increase at a much greater rate
than the sales revenue. Quite a lot of retailers’ costs are fixed — rent, salaries, heat and light,

In its 2009 annual report Sainsbury’s Chief Executive, Justin King, said ‘Sainsbury’s has
driven operational gearing from higher sales volumes and the delivery of cost efficiency




Failing to break even

Profit-volume charts

A slight variant of the break-even chart is the profit-volume (PV) chart. A typical PV
chart is shown in Figure 7.11.

Figure 7.11 Profit-volume chart

Profit
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The sloping line is profit (loss) plotted against activity. As activity increases, so does total
contribution (sales revenue less variable cost). At zero activity there is no contribution, so there
will be a loss equal in amount to the total fixed cost.

The PV chart is obtained by plotting loss or profit against volume of activity. The
slope of the graph is equal to the contribution per unit, since each additional unit sold
decreases the loss, or increases the profit, by the sales revenue per unit less the variable
cost per unit. At zero volume of activity there are no contributions, so there is a loss
equal to the amount of the fixed cost. As the volume of activity increases, the amount
of the loss gradually decreases until BEP is reached. Beyond BEP a profit is made, which
increases as activity increases.

As we can see, the PV chart does not tell us anything not shown by the break-even
chart. It does, however, highlight key information concerning the profit (loss) arising
at any volume of activity. The break-even chart shows this as the vertical distance
between the total cost and total sales revenue lines. The PV chart, in effect, combines
the total sales revenue and total variable cost lines, which means that profit (or loss)
is directly readable.

Failing to break even

Where a business fails to reach its BEP, steps must be taken to remedy the problem:
there must be an increase in sales revenue or a reduction in cost, or both of these. Real
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World 7.4 discusses how General Motors’s subsidiaries, Opel and Vauxhall, are taking
severe measures in an attempt to reach their BEPs.

Real World 7.4

Trying to get back on the road

Nick Reilly has the toughest job in European industry after being charged by General
Motors with the turnround of its European companies, Opel and Vauxhall. The plan so far
calls for 8,500 job cuts and the closure of parts of several factories. It also requires aid from
governments and savings from workers — two groups unhappy at GM’s decision to scrap
a sale of Opel at the start of November.

Nick Reilly commented:

we are taking our cost level down far enough that our break-even point is significantly below
where we believe that the future average market will be. Our break-even point is more like
14m to 14.5m now. So, it doesn’t have to rise too much before we get into profit.

We think we can reach it in 2011. So, 2010 is going to be another tough year because of
the market, but 2011 we think we should get to about break-even, and then in 2012, as the
market really recovers, we can start earning some decent money.

Source: adapted from ‘Nick Reilly head of Opel and Vauxhall’, The Financial Times, 28/12/2009 (Milne, R.), copyright © The
Financial Times Ltd.

Weaknesses of break-even analysis

As we have seen, break-even analysis can provide some useful insights concerning the
important relationship between fixed cost, variable cost and the volume of activity.
It does, however, have its weaknesses. There are three general problems:

m Non-linear relationships. The management accountant’s normal approach to break-

even analysis assumes that the relationships between sales revenues, variable cost

and volume are strictly straight-line ones. In real life, this is unlikely to be the case.

We shall look at the reason for this in Activity 7.10. Non-linearity is probably not a

major problem, since, as we have just seen,

- break-even analysis is normally conducted in advance of the activity actually
taking place. Our ability to predict future cost, revenue and so on is somewhat
limited, so what are probably minor variations from strict linearity are unlikely
to be significant, compared with other forecasting errors; and

— most businesses operate within a narrow range of volume of activity; over short
ranges, curved lines tend to be relatively straight.

Stepped fixed cost. Most types of fixed cost are not fixed over all volumes of activity.

They tend to be ‘stepped’ in the way depicted in Figure 7.2. This means that, in

practice, great care must be taken in making assumptions about fixed cost. The

problem is heightened because most activities will probably involve various types
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of fixed cost (for example rent, supervisory salaries, administration cost), all of
which are likely to have steps at different points.

m Multi-product businesses. Most businesses do not offer just one product or service.
This is a problem for break-even analysis since it raises the question of the effect
of additional sales of one product or service on sales of another of the business’s
products or services. There is also the problem of identifying the fixed cost of
one particular activity. Fixed cost tends to relate to more than one activity — for
example, two activities may be carried out in the same rented premises. There are
ways of dividing the fixed cost between activities, but these tend to be arbitrary,
which calls into question the value of the break-even analysis and any conclusions
reached.

We saw above that, in practice, relationships between cost, revenue and volume of
activity are not necessarily straight-line ones.
Can you think of at least three reasons, with examples, why this may be the case?

We thought of the following:

B Economies of scale with labour. A business may do things more economically where
there is a high volume of activity than is possible at lower levels of activity. It may,
for example, be possible for employees to specialise and, as a result, to work more
efficiently.

B Economies of scale with buying goods or services. A business may find it cheaper to buy
goods and services where it is buying in bulk because discounts are often given on large
orders.

B Diseconomies of scale. This may mean that the per-unit cost of output is higher at
higher levels of activity. For example, it may be necessary to pay higher rates of pay to
workers to recruit the additional staff needed at higher volumes of activity.

B Lower sales prices at high levels of activity. Some consumers may only be prepared
to buy the particular product or service at a lower price. Thus, it may not be possible to
achieve high levels of sales activity without lowering the selling price.

Despite some practical problems, break-even analysis and BEP seem to be widely
used. The media frequently refer to the BEP for businesses and activities. For example,
there is seemingly constant discussion about Eurotunnel’s BEP and whether it will
ever be reached. Similarly, the number of people regularly needed to pay to watch a
football team so that the club breaks even is often mentioned. This is illustrated in
Real World 7.5, which is an extract from an article discussing arrangements being
made by Chelsea, the premiership football club, to break even. To help achieve this,
the owner, Roman Abramovich, is to cancel his loan to the club, thus cancelling the
club’s obligation to pay him interest on it.
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Real World 7.5

Blues to break even

The debt conversion into equity is consistent with a long-term plan agreed with Peter
Kenyon, who recently stepped down as chief executive, for ‘Phase II’ of the Abramovich
era aimed at reining in Chelsea’s spending on player transfers and wage bills as the club
seeks to break even financially.

The tidying up of Chelsea’s balance sheet [statement of financial position] also comes
soon after publication of a blueprint by Europe’s footballing authorities aimed at curbing the
ability of club-owners to buy their way to success.

In September, Michel Platini, Uefa’s president, set out a three-year plan, entitled Fair
Play Agenda, aimed at linking clubs’ spending to the revenue they generate, preventing
them from accumulating unsustainable levels of debt and controlling the amount spent on
transfers and salaries.

Revealing the measures recently, Mr Platini said: ‘The basic premise is that clubs should
not spend more than they earn,” and claimed he had the support of Mr Abramovich.

Source: adapted from ‘Chelsea owner axes £340m of debt’, The Financial Times, 31/12/2009 (Kavanagh, M.), copyright © The
Financial Times Ltd.

Real World 7.6 shows specific references to break-even point for three well-known
businesses.

Real World 7.6

Breaking even is breaking out all over

America is not online often enough to break even

The main advertisement part of the business of AOL, the internet service provider, is
running at a substantial loss. Tim Armstrong, the former Google employee, who is now
CEO at AOL, said, ‘We would like to get to break even or better this year.’

World’s cheapest car will have to travel far to break even
Tata raised the barrier to entry this year with its release of the Nano, whose starting price
is about Rs100,000 ($2,150). It is the first car cheap enough to challenge India’s burgeoning
motorcycle market.

But the Nano’s initial production run was fewer than 100,000 units after Tata had to
abandon a factory in West Bengal state following protests from farmers.

The Nano is not expected to break even until it reaches production volumes of about
250,000 units a year for three years.

Comet’s sister businesses look set to break even

Kesa Electricals plc, the London-based group that owns a number of electrical retail busi-
nesses around Europe, including Comet in the UK, has lossmaking businesses in Spain,
Italy and Turkey. However, sales levels in these businesses have recently picked up lead-
ing to expectations that they achieve the group’s ambition and break even.

Sources: adapted from ‘Yahoo faces battle to keep up with its sleeker rivals’, 25 January 2010; ‘Low-cost car to challenge Tata

Nano’, 11 November 2009; ‘Comet’s festive sales dampened by competition’, 10 January 2010; The Financial Times (Menn, J.,
Leahy, J., Bintliff, E.), copyright © The Financial Times Ltd.




Using contribution to make decisions: marginal analysis

Real World 7.7 provides a more formal insight as to the extent that managers use
break-even analysis in practice.

Real World 7.7

Break-even analysis in practice

A survey of management accounting practice in the United States was conducted in 2003.
Nearly 2,000 businesses replied to the survey. These tended to be larger businesses, of
which about 40 per cent were manufacturers and about 16 per cent financial services; the
remainder were across a range of other industries.

The survey revealed that 62 per cent use break-even analysis extensively, with a further
22 per cent considering using the technique in the future.

Though the survey relates to the US and was undertaken several years ago, in the
absence of UK evidence, it provides some insight as to what is likely also to be current
practice in the UK and elsewhere in the developed world.

Source: Ernst and Young, 2003 Survey of Management Accounting, 2003.

Using contribution to make decisions: marginal analysis

When we are trying to decide between two or more possible courses of action, only
costs that vary with the decision should be included in the decision analysis.

A householder wants a house decorated. Two decorators have been asked to price the
job. One of them will do the work for £250, the other one wants £300, in both cases on
the basis that the householder will supply the materials. It is believed that the two
decorators will do an equally good job. The materials will cost £200 irrespective of which
decorator does the work. Assuming that the householder wants the house decorated
at the lower cost, which decorator should be asked to do the work? Is the cost of the
materials relevant to the decision?

Clearly the first of the two decorators should be selected. The cost of the materials is irrel-
evant because it will be the same in each case. It is only possible to distinguish rationally
between courses of action on the basis of differences between them.

In Activity 7.11 a distinction is made between relevant and irrelevant costs. For
many decisions that involve relatively small variations from existing practice and/or
relatively limited periods of time, fixed cost is not relevant to the decision, because it
will be the same irrespective of the decision made. This is because either

m fixed cost elements tend to be impossible to alter in the short term, or
B managers are reluctant to alter them in the short term.
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Ali plc owns premises from which it provides a PC repair and maintenance service.
There is a downturn in demand for the service and it would be possible for Ali plc to
carry on the business from smaller, cheaper premises.

Can you think of any reasons why the business might not immediately move to
smaller, cheaper premises?

We thought of broadly three reasons:

1 It is not usually possible to find a buyer for existing premises at very short notice and it
may be difficult to find available alternative premises quickly.

2 It may be difficult to move premises quickly where there is, say, delicate equipment to
be moved.

3 Management feels that the downturn might not be permanent. It would, therefore, be
reluctant to take such a dramatic step and deny itself the opportunity to benefit from a
possible revival of trade.

We shall now consider some types of decisions where fixed cost can be regarded as
irrelevant. In making these decisions, we should have as our key strategic objective the
enhancement of owners’ (shareholders’) wealth. Since these decisions are short-term
in nature, this means that trying to generate as much net cash inflow as possible will
normally increase wealth.

In marginal analysis we concern ourselves only with costs and revenues that vary
with the decision and so this usually means that fixed cost is ignored. This is because
marginal analysis is usually applied only to decisions involving minor alterations
in the level of activity. It tends to be true, therefore, that the variable cost per unit
will be equal to the marginal cost, which is the additional cost of producing one more
unit of output. Whilst this is normally the case, there may be times when producing
one more unit will involve a step in the fixed cost. If this occurs, the marginal cost
is not just the variable cost; it will include the increment, or step, in the fixed cost as
well.

Marginal analysis may be used in four key areas of decision making:

pricing/assessing opportunities to enter contracts;
determining the most efficient use of scarce resources;
make-or-buy decisions; and

closing or continuation decisions.

We shall now consider each of these areas in turn.

Pricing/assessing opportunities to enter contracts

To understand how marginal analysis may be used in assessing an opportunity, let us
consider the following activity.
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Cottage Industries Ltd (see Example 7.1, page 247) has spare capacity as its basket
makers have some spare time. An overseas retail business has offered the business an
order for 300 baskets at a price of £13 each.

Without considering any wider issues, should the business accept the order?
(Assume that the business does not rent the machine.)

Since the fixed cost will be incurred in any case, it is not relevant to this decision. All we
need to do is see whether the price offered will yield a contribution. If it will, the business
will be better off by accepting the contract than by refusing it.

™

Additional revenue per unit
Additional cost per unit
Additional contribution per unit
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For 300 units, the additional contribution will be £300 (that is, 300 x £1). Since no fixed

cost increase is involved, irrespective of what else is happening to the business, it will be
£300 better off by taking this contract.

As ever with decision making, there are other factors that are either difficult or

impossible to quantify. These should be taken into account before reaching a final
decision. In the case of Cottage Industries Ltd’s decision concerning the overseas
customer, these could include the following:

The possibility that spare capacity will have been ‘sold off’ cheaply when another
customer would have offered a higher price at a later date. It is a matter of com-
mercial judgement as to how likely this will be.

Selling the same product, but at different prices, could lead to a loss of customer
goodwill. The fact that a different price will be set for customers in different coun-
tries (that is, in different markets) may be sufficient to avoid this potential problem.
If the business is going to suffer continually from being unable to sell its full
production potential at the ‘usual’ price, it might be better, in the long run, to
reduce capacity and make savings in fixed cost. Using the spare capacity to produce
marginal benefits may lead to the business failing to address this issue.

On a more positive note, the business may see this as a way of breaking into the
overseas market. This is something that might be impossible to achieve if the business
charges its usual price.

The most efficient use of scarce resources

Normally, the output of a business is determined by customer demand for the particular
goods or services. In some cases, however, output will be restricted by the productive
capacity of the business. Limited productive capacity might stem from a shortage of
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any factor of production — labour, raw materials, space, machine capacity and so on.
Such scarce factors are often known as key or limiting factors.

Where productive capacity acts as a brake on output, management must decide on
how best to meet customer demand. That is, it must decide which products, from the
range available, should be produced and how many of each should be produced.
Marginal analysis can be useful to management in such circumstances. The guiding
principle is that the most profitable combination of products will occur where the
contribution per unit of the scarce factor is maximised. Example 7.2 illustrates this point.

Example 7.2

A business provides three different services, the details of which are as follows:
Service (code name) AX107 AX109 AX220
Selling price per unit (£) 50 40 65
Variable cost per unit (£) (25) (20) (85)
Contribution per unit (£) 25 20 30
Labour time per unit (hours) 5 3 6

Within reason, the market will take as many units of each service as can be pro-
vided, but the ability to provide the service is limited by the availability of labour,
all of which needs to be skilled. Fixed cost is not affected by the choice of service
provided because all three services use the same facilities.

The most profitable service is AX109 because it generates a contribution of
£6.67 (£20/3) an hour. The other two generate only £5.00 each an hour (£25/5 and
£30/6). So, to maximise profit, priority should be given to the production that
maximises the contribution per unit of limiting factor.

Our first reaction might be that the business should provide only service AX220, as
this is the one that yields the highest contribution per unit sold. If so, we would have
been making the mistake of thinking that it is the ability to sell that is the limiting
factor. If the above analysis is not convincing, we can take a random number of
available labour hours and ask ourselves what is the maximum contribution (and,
therefore, profit) that could be made by providing each service exclusively. Bear in
mind that there is no shortage of anything else, including market demand, just a
shortage of labour.

A business makes three different products, the details of which are as follows:

Product (code name) B14 B17 B22
Selling price per unit (£) 25 20 23
Variable cost per unit (£) 10 8 12
Weekly demand (units) 25 20 30
Machine time per unit (hours) 4 3 4



Using contribution to make decisions: marginal analysis

Fixed cost is not affected by the choice of product because all three products use the
same machine. Machine time is limited to 148 hours a week.

Which combination of products should be manufactured if the business is to produce
the highest profit?

Product (code name) B14 B17 B22
Selling price per unit (£) 25 20 23
Variable cost per unit (£) (10) (8) (12)
Contribution per unit (£) 15 12 "
Machine time per unit 4 hours 3 hours 4 hours
Contribution per machine hour £3.75 £4.00 £2.75
Order of priority 2nd 1st 3rd

Therefore produce

20 units of product B17 using 60 hours
22 units of product B14 using 88 hours
148 hours

This leaves unsatisfied the market demand for a further 3 units of product B14 and
30 units of product B22.

What steps could be taken that might lead to a higher level of contribution for the
business in Activity 7.14?

The possibilities for improving matters that occurred to us are as follows:

m Consider obtaining additional machine time. This could mean obtaining a new machine,
subcontracting the machining to another business or, perhaps, squeezing a few more
hours a week out of the business’s own machine. Perhaps a combination of two or more
of these is a possibility.

B Redesign the products in a way that requires less time per unit on the machine.

B Increase the price per unit of the three products. This might well have the effect of
dampening demand, but the existing demand cannot be met at present, and it may be
more profitable in the long run to make a greater contribution on each unit sold than to
take one of the other courses of action to overcome the problem.

Going back to Activity 7.14, what is the maximum price that the business concerned
would logically be prepared to pay to have the remaining B14s machined by a sub-
contractor, assuming that no fixed or variable cost would be saved as a result of the
business not doing the machining itself?

Would there be a different maximum if we were considering the B22s?
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If the remaining three B14s were subcontracted at no cost, the business would be able to
earn a contribution of £15 a unit, which it would not otherwise be able to gain. Any price
up to £15 a unit would, therefore, be worth paying to a subcontractor to undertake the
machining. Naturally, the business would prefer to pay as little as possible, but anything up
to £15 would still make it worthwhile subcontracting the machining.

This would not be true of the B22s because they have a different contribution per unit;
£11 would be the relevant figure in their case.

Make-or-buy decisions

Businesses are frequently confronted by the need to decide whether to produce the
product or service that they sell, or to buy it in from some other business. Thus, a
producer of electrical appliances might decide to subcontract the manufacture of one
of its products to another business, perhaps because there is a shortage of production
capacity in the producer’s own factory, or because it believes it to be cheaper to
subcontract than to make the appliance itself.

It might be just part of a product or service that is subcontracted. For example, the
producer may have a component for the appliance made by another manufacturer.
In principle, there is hardly any limit to the scope of make-or-buy decisions. Virtually
any part, component or service that is required in production of the main product or
service, or the main product or service itself, could be the subject of a make-or-buy
decision. So, for example, the personnel function of a business, which is normally
performed in-house, could be subcontracted. At the same time, electrical power, which
is typically provided by an outside electrical utility business, could be generated by
the business itself. Obtaining services or products from a subcontractor is often called
outsourcing.

Real World 7.8 discusses the role of Indian businesses in supplying outsourcing
services to western businesses, particularly UK and US ones.

Real World 7.8

India is the west's back office

Proficiency in the English language, technical skills and low cost helped Indian companies
over the past decade plug into the global economy and earn a reputation as the ‘world’s
back office’. Big western companies, particularly in the US, turned to Indian service
providers — such as Infosys, Wipro, Genpact and Tata Consultancy Services — to support
IT systems and supply back office business processing and staff call centres.

The ‘new economy’ prospered on little more than some computers, telephone lines
and entrepreneurial spirit in the 1990s. But today India has about 50 per cent of the global
market for offshore IT and business services.

Source: Lamont, J., ‘India mines riches as west’s back office’, FT.com, 29 December 2009.
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Shah Ltd needs a component for one of its products. It can subcontract production of
the component to a subcontractor who will provide the components for £20 each. Shah
Ltd can produce the components internally for total variable cost of £15 per component.
Shah Ltd has spare capacity.

Should the component be subcontracted or produced internally?

The answer is that Shah Ltd should produce the component internally, since the variable
cost of subcontracting is greater by £5 (that is, £20 — £15) than the variable cost of inter-
nal manufacture.

Now assume that Shah Ltd (Activity 7.17) has no spare capacity, so it can only produce

the component internally by reducing its output of another of its products. While it is

making each component, it will lose contributions of £12 from the other product.
Should the component be subcontracted or produced internally?

The answer is to subcontract. In this case, both the variable cost of production and the
‘opportunity’ cost of lost contributions must be taken into account.
Thus, the relevant cost of internal production of each component is:

Variable cost of production of the component 15
Opportunity cost of lost production of the other product 12
27

This is obviously more costly than the £20 per component that will have to be paid to
the subcontractor.

What factors, other than the immediately financially quantifiable, would you consider
when making a make-or-buy decision?

We feel that there are two major factors:

1 The general problems of subcontracting, particularly
(@) loss of control of quality;

(b) potential unreliability of supply.

2 Expertise and specialisation. Generally, businesses should focus on their core com-
petences. It is possible for most businesses, with sufficient determination, to do virtually
everything themselves. This may, however, require a level of skill and facilities that most
businesses neither have nor feel inclined to acquire. For example, though it is true that
most businesses could generate their own electricity, their managements tend to take
the view that this is better done by a specialist generator business. Specialists can often
do things more cheaply, with less risk of things going wrong.
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Closing or continuation decisions

It is quite common for businesses to produce separate financial statements for each
department or section, to try to assess their relative performance. Example 7.3 con-
siders how marginal analysis can help decide how to respond where it is found that a
particular department underperforms.

Example 7.3

Goodsports Ltd is a retail shop that operates through three departments, all in the
same premises. The three departments occupy roughly equal-sized areas of the
premises. The trading results for the year just finished showed the following:

Total Sports equipment Sports clothes General clothes
£000 £000 £000 £000
Sales revenue 534 254 183 97
Cost (482) (213) (163) (106)
Profit/(loss) 52 il 20 _9

It would appear that if the general clothes department were to close, the busi-
ness would be more profitable, by £9,000 a year, assuming last year’s performance
to be a reasonable indication of future performance.

When the cost is analysed between that part that is variable and that part that
is fixed, however, the contribution of each department can be deduced and the
following results obtained:

Total Sports equipment Sports clothes General clothes
£000 £000 £000 £000
Sales revenue 534 254 183 97
Variable cost (344) (167) (117) (60)
Contribution 190 87 66 &
Fixed cost
(rent and so on) (138) (46) (46) (46)
Profit/(loss) 52 Al 20 9)

Now it is obvious that closing the general clothes department, without any other
developments, would make the business worse off by £37,000 (the department’s
contribution). The department should not be closed, because it makes a positive
contribution. The fixed cost would continue whether the department was closed or
not. As can be seen from the above analysis, distinguishing between variable and fixed
cost, and deducing the contribution, can make the picture a great deal clearer.

In considering Goodsports Ltd (in Example 7.3), we saw that the general clothes
department should not be closed ‘without any other developments’.

What ‘other developments’ could affect this decision, making continuation either
more attractive or less attractive?
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The things that we could think of are as follows:

B Expansion of the other departments or replac
completely new activity. This would make sen
the general clothes department could genera

a year.

would need to generate a net rent greater than
beneficial than keeping the department open.

Using contribution to make decisions: marginal analysis

ing the general clothes department with a
se only if the space currently occupied by
te contributions totalling at least £37,000

Subletting the space occupied by the general clothes department. Once again, this

£37,000 a year to make it more financially

Keeping the department open, even if it generated no contribution whatsoever (assuming

that there is no other use for the space), may still be beneficial. If customers are
attracted into the shop because it has general clothing, they may then buy something
from one of the other departments. In the same way, the activity of a sub-tenant might
attract customers into the shop. (On the other hand, it might drive them away!)

Self-assessment question 7.1

Khan Ltd can render three different types of service (Alpha, Beta and Gamma) using the

same staff. Various estimates for next year have

Selling price (£/unit)

Variable material cost (£/unit)

Other elements of variable cost (£/unit)
Share of fixed cost (£/unit)

Staff time required (hours/unit)

been made as follows:

Alpha Beta Gamma
30 39 20
15 18 10

6 10 5
8 12 4
2 3 1

Fixed cost for next year is expected to total £40,000.

Required:

(@) If the business were to render only service
service would it need to provide in order to
question that there is no effective limit to ma

()

Alpha next year, how many units of the
break even? (Assume for this part of the
rket size and staffing level.)

If the business were to be prepared to render all three services, but has a limited

number of staff hours available next year, in which order of preference would the three

services come?

Alpha
Beta
Gamma

If the maximum market for next year for the three services were as follows:

3,000 units
2,000 units
5,000 units

what quantities of which service should the business provide next year and how much

profit would this be expected to yield?

The answer to this question can be found at th

e back of the book, in Appendix B.
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Summary

The main points in this chapter may be summarised as follows.

Cost behaviour

Fixed cost is independent of the level of activity (for example, rent).
Variable cost varies with the level of activity (for example, raw materials).

Semi-fixed (semi-variable) cost is a mixture of fixed and variable cost (for example,
electricity).

Break-even analysis

The break-even point (BEP) is the level of activity (in units of output or sales
revenue) at which total cost (fixed + variable) = total sales revenue.

Calculation of the BEP is as follows:

Fixed cost for the period

BEP (in units of output) =
Contribution per unit

Knowledge of the BEP for a particular activity can be used to help assess risk.
Contribution per unit = sales revenue per unit less variable cost per unit.
Contribution margin ratio = contribution/sales revenue (x 100%).

Margin of safety = excess of planned volume of activity over BEP.

Calculation of the volume of activity (f) required to achieve a target profit is as
follows:

‘e Fixed cost + Target profit
Contribution per unit

Operating gearing is the extent to which the total cost of some activity is fixed
rather than variable.

A profit-volume (PV) chart is an alternative approach to a break-even chart,
which is easier to understand.

Economists tend to take a different approach to break-even, taking account of
economies (and diseconomies) of scale and of the fact that, generally, to be able
to sell large volumes, price per unit tends to fall.

Weaknesses of BE analysis

There are non-linear relationships between cost, revenue and volume.

There may be stepped fixed costs. Most elements of fixed cost are not fixed over
all volumes of activity.

Multi-product businesses have problems in allocating fixed cost to particular
activities.



Further reading

Marginal analysis (ignores fixed cost where this is not affected by the decision)

m In deciding whether to accept or reject special contracts, we consider only the

effect on contributions.

m When resources are scarce, the limiting factor is most effectively used by

maximising its contribution per unit.

® In make-or-buy decisions, we take the action that leads to the highest total

contributions.

m Closing/continuing an activity should be assessed by net effect on total

contributions.
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Review questions

Solutions to these questions can be found at the back of the book, in Appendix C.

71

7.2

7.3

74

Define the terms fixed cost and variable cost. Explain how an understanding of the
distinction between fixed cost and variable cost can be useful to managers.

What is meant by the break-even point for an activity? How is the BEP calculated? Why
is it useful to know the BEP?

When we say that some business activity has high operating gearing, what do we mean?
What are the implications for the business of high operating gearing?

If there is a scarce resource that is restricting sales, how will the business maximise its
profit? Explain the logic of the approach that you have identified for maximising profit.

Exercises

Exercises 7.3 to 7.5 are more advanced than 7.1 and 7.2. Those with a coloured number
have solutions at the back of the book, in Appendix D.

If you wish to try more exercises, visit the website at www.myaccountinglab.com.

71

The management of a business is concerned about its inability to obtain enough fully
trained labour to enable it to meet its present budget projection.
Information concerning the three services offered by the business is as follows:

Service Alpha Beta Gamma Total
£000 £000 £000 £000

Variable cost
Materials 6 4 5 15
Labour 9 6 12 27
Expenses 3 2 2 7
Allocated fixed cost 6 15 12 33
Total cost 24 27 31 82
Profit 15 2 2 19
Sales revenue 39 29 33 101

The amount of labour likely to be available amounts to £20,000. All of the variable labour
is paid at the same hourly rate. You have been asked to prepare a statement of plans
ensuring that at least 50 per cent of the budgeted sales revenues are achieved for each
service. The balance of labour is used to produce the greatest profit.
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Required:

(@) Prepare the statement, with explanations, showing the greatest profit available from
the limited amount of skilled labour available, within the constraint stated. Hint:
Remember that all labour is paid at the same rate.

(b) What steps could the business take in an attempt to improve profitability, in the light
of the labour shortage?

A hotel group prepares financial statements on a quarterly basis. The senior management
is reviewing the performance of one hotel and making plans for next year.

The managers have in front of them the results for this year (based on some actual
results and some forecasts to the end of this year):

Quarter Sales revenue Profit/(loss)
£000 £000

1 400 (280)

2 1,200 360

3 1,600 680

1 _800 _40

Total 4,000 800

The total estimated number of guest nights for this year is 50,000. The results follow
a regular pattern; there are no unexpected cost fluctuations beyond the seasonal trading
pattern shown above. For next year, management anticipates an increase in unit variable
cost of 10 per cent and a profit target for the hotel of £1 million. These will be incorpor-
ated into its plans.

Required:

(@) Calculate the total variable and total fixed cost of the hotel for this year. Show the
provisional annual results for this year in total, showing variable and fixed cost sep-
arately. Show also the revenue and cost per guest night.

(b) () If there is no increase in guest nights for next year, what will be the required

revenue rate per guest night to meet the profit target?
(i) If the required revenue rate per guest night is not raised above this year’s level,
how many guest nights will be required to meet the profit target?

(c) Outline and briefly discuss the assumptions that are made in typical PV or break-even
analysis. Assess whether these assumptions limit its usefulness.

A business makes three products, A, B and C. All three products require the use of two
types of machine: cutting machines and assembling machines. Estimates for next year
include the following:

A B (6}
Selling price (£/unit) 25 30 18
Sales demand (units) 2,500 3,400 5,100
Material cost (£/unit) 12 13 10
Variable production cost (£/unit) 7 4 3
Time required per unit on cutting machines (hours) 1.0 1.0 0.5
Time required per unit on assembling machines (hours) 0.5 1.0 0.5

Fixed cost for next year is expected to total £42,000. It is the business’s policy for
each unit of production to absorb these in proportion to its total variable cost.

Exercises
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The business has cutting machine capacity of 5,000 hours a year and assembling
machine capacity of 8,000 hours a year.

Required:

(@) State, with supporting workings, which products in which quantities the business
should plan to make next year on the basis of the above information. Hint: First deter-
mine which machines will be a limiting factor (scarce resource).

(b) State the maximum price per product that it would be worth the business paying to a
subcontractor to carry out that part of the work that could not be done internally.

7.4 Darmor Ltd has three products, which require the same production facilities. Information
about the production cost for one unit of its products is as follows:

X Y Z

£ £ £

Labour: Skilled 6 9 3
Unskilled 2 4 10
Materials 12 25 14
Other elements of variable cost 3 7 7
Fixed cost 5 10 10

All labour and materials are variable costs. Skilled labour is paid £12 an hour and
unskilled labour is paid £8 an hour. All references to labour cost above, are based on basic
rates of pay. Skilled labour is scarce, which means that the business could sell more than
the maximum that it is able to make of any of the three products.

Product X is sold in a regulated market and the regulators have set a price of £30 per
unit for it.

Required:

(a) State, with supporting workings, the price that must be charged for products Y and Z,
such that the business would find it equally profitable to make and sell any of the three
products.

(b) State, with supporting workings, the maximum rate of overtime premium that the
business would logically be prepared to pay its skilled workers to work beyond the
basic time.

7.5 Gandhi Ltd renders a promotional service to small retailing businesses. There are three
levels of service: the ‘basic’, the ‘standard’ and the ‘comprehensive’. On the basis of past
experience, the business plans next year to work at absolute full capacity as follows:

Service Number of units of the service  Selling price  Variable cost per unit
£ £

Basic 11,000 50 25

Standard 6,000 80 65

Comprehensive 16,000 120 90

The business’s fixed cost totals £660,000 a year. Each service takes about the same
length of time, irrespective of the level.

One of the accounts staff has just produced a report that seems to show that the
standard service is unprofitable. The relevant extract from the report is as follows:
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£
Selling price per unit 80
Variable cost per unit (65)
Fixed cost per unit (20) (£660,000/(11,000 + 6,000 + 16,000))
Loss 5

The producer of the report suggests that the business should not offer the standard service
next year.

Required:

(@) Should the standard service be offered next year, assuming that the quantity of the
other services could not be expanded to use the spare capacity?

(b) Should the standard service be offered next year, assuming that
B the released capacity could be used to render a new service, the ‘Nova’:
B customers would be charged £75 per Nova:
m the Nova would have variable cost of £50 per unit; and
m the Nova would take twice as long to deliver as the other three services?

(c) What is the minimum price that could be accepted for the basic service, assuming
that the necessary capacity to expand it will come only from not offering the standard
service?

Exercises
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Chapter 8

Full costing

Introduction

Full (absorption) costing is a widely used approach to costing that takes account of

all of the cost of producing a particular product or service. In this chapter, we shall
see how this approach can be used to deduce the cost of some activity, such as
making a unit of product (for example a tin of baked beans), providing a unit of service
(for example, a car repair) or creating a facility (for example, building an Olympic
athletics stadium). This full cost approach contrasts with the one that we considered
in Chapter 7, which concentrated on just the variable cost.

We shall first take a look at the traditional method of full costing and consider the
usefulness of full cost for management purposes. We shall then go on to consider
activity-based costing, which represents an alternative to the traditional method.

Learning outcomes

When you have completed this chapter, you should be able to:

m discuss the usefulness, for decision-making purposes, of deducing the full cost of
a unit of output;

m deduce the full cost of a unit of output both in a single-product environment and in
a multi-product environment using the traditional full cost method;

m discuss the problems of charging full cost to jobs in a multi-product environment;
m explain the role and nature of activity-based costing.
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Why do managers want to know the full cost?

Why do managers want to know the full cost?

As we saw in Chapter 1, the only point in providing accounting information is to help
managers make better decisions. There are broadly four areas where managers use
information concerning the full cost of the business’s products or services. These are:

Pricing and output decisions. Having full cost information can help managers make
decisions on the price to be charged to customers for the business’s products or ser-
vices. Linked to pricing decisions are decisions on the number of units of a product
or service that the business should produce.

Exercising control. Managers need information to help them keep the business on
course by ensuring that plans are met. Budgets (that is, short-term financial plans) are
typically expressed in full cost terms. This means that periodic reports that compare
actual performance with budgets need to be expressed in the same full cost terms.
Assessing relative efficiency. Full cost information can help managers compare the
cost of doing something in one way, or place, with its cost if done in a different way,
or place. For example, a motor car manufacturer may find it useful to compare the
cost of building a particular model of car in one of its plants, rather than another.
This could help the business decide on where to locate future production.
Assessing performance. The level of profit generated over a period is an important
measure of business performance. To measure profit, we need to compare sales
revenue with the associated expenses. Where a business makes a product or renders
a service, a major expense will be the cost of making the product or rendering the
service. Usually, this expense is based on the full cost of whatever is sold. Measuring
profit provides managers (and other users) with information that can help them
make a whole range of decisions.

Figure 8.1 shows the four uses of full cost information.

Figure 8.1 Uses of full cost by managers

Assessing
relative
efficiency

Pricing and
output
decisions

Uses of Exercising
full cost control

Assessing
performance

Managers use full cost information for four main purposes.
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Now let us consider Real World 8.1.

Real World 8.1

Operating cost

An interesting example of the use of full cost for pricing decisions occurs in the National
Health Service (NHS). In recent years, the funding of hospitals has radically changed. A new
system of Payment by Results requires the Department of Health to produce a list of prices
for different types of procedures that involve patient spells in hospital. This list, which is
revised annually, reflects the prices that hospitals will be paid by the government for carry-
ing out the different procedures.

The price list included the following figures:

m £7,599 for carrying out a hip replacement operation
m £996 for delivering a baby

These figures are based on the full cost of undertaking each type of procedure. Full cost
figures were submitted by all NHS hospitals as part of their annual accounting process and
an average for each type of procedure was then calculated. Figures for other procedures
on the price list were derived in the same way.

Source: Coates, S., ‘Tories say reductions in NHS national tariff could save billions’, Timesonline, 3 August 2009.

When considering the information in Real World 8.1, an important question that
arises is ‘What does the full cost of each type of procedure include?’ Does it simply
include the cost of the salaries earned by doctors and nurses during the time spent
with the patient or does it also include the cost of other items? If the cost of other
items is included, how is it determined? Would it include, for example, a charge for

the artificial hip and drugs provided for the patient
equipment used in the operating theatre
administrative and support staff within the hospital
heating and lighting

maintaining the hospital buildings

®m laundry and cleaning?

If the cost of such items is included, how can an appropriate charge be determined?
If, on the other hand, it is not included, are the figures of £7,599 and £996 potentially
misleading?

These questions are the subject of this chapter.

What is full costing?

Full cost is the total amount of resources sacrificed to achieve a given objective.
Thus, if the objective were to supply a customer with a product or service, the cost
of all aspects relating to the making of the product or provision of the service would
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be included as part of the full cost. To derive the full cost figure, we must accumu-
late the elements of cost incurred and then assign them to the particular product or
service.

The logic of full costing is that the entire cost of running a facility, say an office, is
part of the cost of the output of that office. For example, the rent may be a cost that
will not alter merely because we provide one more unit of the service. If the office
were not rented, however, there would be nowhere for the staff to work, so rent is an

important element of the cost. A cost unit is one unit of whatever is having its cost
determined. This is usually one unit of output of a particular product or service.

In the sections that follow we shall see how full costing is applied to a single-
product business and then see how it is done for a multi-product one.

Single-product businesses

The simplest case for which to deduce the full cost per unit is where the business has
only one product or service, that is, each unit of its production is identical. Here it is
simply a question of adding up all of the elements of cost of production incurred in
a particular period (materials, labour, rent, fuel, power and so on) and dividing this
total by the total number of units of output for that period.

Fruitjuice Ltd has just one product, a sparkling orange drink that is marketed as Orange
Fizz. During last month the business produced 7,300 litres of the drink. The cost incurred
was made up as follows:

£
Ingredients (oranges and so on) 390
Fuel 85
Rent of premises 350
Depreciation of equipment 75
Labour 880

What is the full cost per litre of producing Orange Fizz?
This figure is found by simply adding together all of the elements of cost incurred and then
dividing by the number of litres produced:

£(390 + 85 + 350 + 75 + 880)/7,300 = £0.24 per litre

In practice, there can be problems in deciding exactly how much cost was incurred.
In the case of Fruitjuice Ltd, for example, how is the cost of depreciation deduced?
As we saw in Chapter 3, it is certainly an estimate and so its reliability is open to ques-
tion. The cost of raw materials may also be a problem. Should we use the ‘relevant’
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cost of the raw materials (in this case, almost certainly the replacement cost), or the
actual price paid for them (historic cost)? If the cost per litre is to be used for some
decision-making purpose (which it should be, if it is to be deduced), the replacement
cost is probably more logical. In practice, however, it seems that historic cost is more
often used to deduce full cost. It is not clear why this should be the case.

There can also be problems in deciding precisely how many units of output were
produced. If making Orange Fizz is not a very fast process, some of the drink will
probably be in the process of being made at any given moment. This, in turn, means
that some of the cost incurred last month was for some Orange Fizz that was work
in progress at the end of the month, so is not included in last month’s output quan-
tity of 7,300 litres. Similarly, part of the 7,300 litres might well have been started
and incurred cost in the previous month, yet all of those litres were included in the
7,300 litres that we used in our calculation of the cost per litre. Work in progress is not
a serious problem, but some adjustment for the value of opening and closing work
in progress for the particular period needs to be made if reliable full cost information
is to be obtained.

This approach to full costing, which can be taken where all of the output consists
of identical, or near identical items (of goods or services), is often referred to as
process costing.

Multi-product businesses

Many businesses produce more than one type of product or service. Here, the units of
output of the product, or service, will not be identical and so the approach used with
litres of Orange Fizz in Activity 8.1 is probably inappropriate. Although it is reasonable
to assign an identical cost to units of output that are identical, it is not normally
helpful to do this where the units of output are obviously different. It would not
be reasonable, for example, to assign the same cost to each car repair carried out by
a garage, irrespective of the complexity and size of the repair.

Direct and indirect cost

To provide full cost information, we need to have a systematic approach to accumu-
lating the elements of cost and then assigning this total cost to particular cost units
on some reasonable basis. Where cost units are not identical, the starting point is to
separate cost into two categories: direct cost and indirect cost.

Direct cost is the type of cost that can be identified with specific cost units. That is
to say, the effect of the cost can be measured in respect of each particular cost unit.
The main examples of a direct cost are direct materials and direct labour. Thus, in
determining the cost of a car repair by a garage, both the cost of spare parts used in
the repair and the cost of the mechanic’s time would be part of the direct cost of that
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repair. Collecting elements of direct cost is a simple matter of having a cost-recording
system that is capable of capturing the cost of direct materials used on each job and
the cost, based on the hours worked and the rate of pay, of direct workers.

Indirect cost (or overheads) includes all other elements of cost, that is, those items
that cannot be directly measured in respect of each particular cost unit (job). Thus, the
rent of the garage premises would be an indirect cost of a motor car repair.

We shall use the terms ‘indirect cost’ and ‘overheads’ interchangeably for the
remainder of this book. Indirect cost is also sometimes known as common cost because
it is common to all of the output of the production unit (for example, office, factory
or department) for the period.

Real World 8.2 gives some indication of the relative importance of direct and indir-
ect cost in practice.

Real World 8.2

Counting the cost

A recent survey of 176 UK businesses operating in various industries, all with annual sales
revenue of more than £50 million, was conducted by Al-Omiri and Drury. They discovered
that the total cost of the businesses’ output on average is split between direct and indirect
cost as follows:

Direct cost Indirect cost

(percentage) (percentage)
All 176 businesses 69 3il
Manufacturing businesses (91) 75 25
Service and retail businesses (85) 49 51

For the manufacturers, the 75 per cent direct cost was, on average, made up as follows:

Percentage
Direct materials 52
Direct labour 14
Other direct costs 9

A more extensive (nearly 2,000 responses), but less recent survey of management account-
ing practice in the US showed similar results. Like the UK survey (above), this tended to
relate to larger businesses. About 40% were manufacturers and about 16% financial
services; the remainder were from a range of other industries.

This survey revealed that, of total cost, indirect cost accounted for between 34 per cent
for retailers (lowest) and 42 per cent for manufacturers (highest), with other industries’
proportion of indirect cost falling within the 34 per cent to 42 per cent range. Financial and
commercial businesses showed an average indirect cost percentage of 38 per cent.
Sources: Al-Omiri, M. and Drury, C., ‘A survey of factors influencing the choice of product costing systems in UK organisations’,

Management Accounting Research, December 2007, pp. 399-424; Ernst and Young, 2003 Survey of Management Accounting,
2008.
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Activity 8.2

A garage bases its prices on the direct cost of each job (car repair) that it carries out.
How could the garage collect the direct cost (labour and materials) information con-
cerning a particular job?

Usually, direct workers are required to record how long was spent on each job. Thus,
the mechanic responsible for the job would record the length of time worked on the car by
direct workers (that is, the mechanic concerned and any colleagues). The stores staff
would normally be required to keep a record of the cost of parts and materials used on
each job.

A ‘job sheet’ will normally be prepared — perhaps on the computer — for each individual
job. Staff would need to get into the routine of faithfully recording all elements of direct
labour and materials applied to the job.

Job costing

The term job costing is used to describe the way in which we identify the full cost per
cost unit (unit of output or ‘job’) where the cost units differ. To cost (that is, deduce
the full cost of) a particular cost unit, we first identify the direct cost of the cost unit,
which, by the definition of direct cost, is fairly straightforward. We then seek to
‘charge’ each cost unit with a fair share of indirect cost (overheads). Put another way,

cost units will absorb overheads. This leads to full costing also being called absorption
costing. The absorption process is shown graphically in Figure 8.2.

Figure 8.2 The relationship between direct cost and indirect cost

Fair share of indirect cost

Direct cost of the unit (overheads)

Full cost of the unit

The full cost of any particular job is the sum of those cost elements that can be measured speci-
fically in respect of the job (direct cost) and a share of the cost of creating the environment
in which production (of an object or service) can take place, but which do not relate specifically
to any particular job (indirect cost).
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Sparky Ltd is a business that employs a number of electricians. The business undertakes
a range of work for its customers, from replacing fuses to installing complete wiring
systems in new houses.

In respect of a particular job done by Sparky Ltd, into which category (direct or
indirect) would each of the following cost elements fall

the wages of the electrician who did the job;

depreciation of the tools used by the electrician;

the salary of Sparky Ltd’s accountant;

the cost of cable and other materials used on the job;

rent of the premises where Sparky Ltd stores its inventories of cable and other
materials?

Only the electrician’s wages earned while working on the particular job and the cost of
the materials used on the job are included in direct cost. This is because it is possible to
measure how much time was spent on the particular job (and therefore its direct labour
cost) and the amount of materials used (and therefore the direct material cost) in the job.

All the other elements are included in the general cost of running the business and, as
such, must form part of the indirect cost of doing the job, but they cannot be directly
measured in respect of the particular job.

It is important to note that whether a cost is direct or indirect depends on the item
being costed — the cost objective. To refer to indirect cost without identifying the cost
objective is incorrect.

Into which category, direct or indirect, would each of the elements of cost listed in
Activity 8.3 fall, if we were seeking to find the cost of operating the entire business of
Sparky Ltd for a month?

The answer is that all of them will form part of the direct cost, since they can all be related
to, and measured in respect of, running the business for a month.

Naturally, broader-reaching cost objectives, such as operating Sparky Ltd for a
month, tend to include a higher proportion of direct cost than do more limited ones,
such as a particular job done by Sparky Ltd. As we shall see shortly, this makes costing
broader cost objectives rather more straightforward than costing narrower ones. It is
generally the case that direct cost is easier to deal with than indirect cost.
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Full (absorption) costing and the behaviour of cost

We saw in Chapter 7 that the full cost of doing something (or total cost, as it is usu-
ally known in the context of marginal analysis) can be analysed between the fixed and
the variable elements. This is illustrated in Figure 8.3.

Figure 8.3 The relationship between fixed cost, variable cost and total cost

Fixed cost Variable cost

Total (or full) cost

The total cost of a job is the sum of the cost that remains the same irrespective of the level of
activity (fixed cost) and that which varies according to the level of activity (variable cost).

The apparent similarity of Figure 8.3 to Figure 8.2 seems to lead some people to
believe that variable cost and direct cost are the same and that fixed cost and indirect
cost (overheads) are the same. This is incorrect.

The notions of fixed and variable are concerned with cost behaviour in the face of
changes in the volume of activity. The notions of direct and indirect, on the other
hand, are concerned with the extent to which cost elements can be measured in
respect of particular cost units (jobs). The two sets of notions are entirely different.
Though it may be true that there is a tendency for fixed cost elements to be indirect
(overheads) and for variable cost elements to be direct, there is no link, and there are
many exceptions to this tendency. Most activities, for example, have variable indirect
cost. Furthermore, labour is a significant element of direct cost in most types of busi-
ness activity (14 per cent of the total cost of manufacture — see Real World 8.2) but it
is usually a fixed cost.

The relationship between the reaction of cost to volume changes (cost behaviour),
on the one hand, and how cost elements need to be gathered to deduce the full cost
(cost collection), on the other, in respect of a particular job is shown in Figure 8.4.

Total cost is the sum of direct and indirect costs. It is also the sum of fixed and
variable costs. These two facts are independent of one another. Thus a particular
element of cost may be fixed, but that tells us nothing about whether it is a direct or
an indirect cost.

The problem of indirect cost

It is worth emphasising that the distinction between direct and indirect cost is only
important in a job costing environment, that is, where units of output differ. When
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Figure 8.4 The relationship between direct, indirect, variable and fixed costs
of a particular job

Fixed cost Variable cost

Indirect cost
(overheads)

Total (or full) cost of a particular job

Direct cost

A particular job’s full (or total) cost will be made up of some variable and some fixed cost ele-
ments. It will also be made up of some direct and some indirect (overhead) elements.

we were considering costing a litre of Orange Fizz in Activity 8.1, whether particular
elements of cost were direct or indirect was of no consequence, because all elements
of cost were shared equally between the individual litres of Orange Fizz. Where we
have units of output that are not identical, however, we have to look more closely at
the make-up of the cost to achieve a fair measure of the full cost of a particular job.

Although the indirect cost of any activity must form part of the cost of each cost
unit, it cannot, by definition, be directly related to individual cost units. This raises
a major practical issue: how is the indirect cost to be apportioned to individual cost
units?

Overheads as service renderers

It is reasonable to view the indirect cost (overheads) as rendering a service to the cost
units. Take, for example, a legal case undertaken by a firm of solicitors for a particular
client. This job can be seen as being rendered a service by the office in which the work
is done. In this sense, it is reasonable to charge each legal case (cost unit) with a share
of the cost of running the office (rent, lighting, heating, cleaning, building mainte-
nance and so on). It also seems reasonable to relate the charge for the ‘use’ of the office
to the level of service that the particular case has received from the office.

The next step is the difficult one. How might the cost of running the office, which
is a cost of all work done by the firm, be divided between individual cases that are not
similar in size and complexity?

One possibility is sharing this overhead cost equally between each case handled by
the firm within the period. This method, however, has little to commend it unless the
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cases were close to being identical in terms of the extent to which they had ‘benefited’
from the overheads.

If we are not to propose equal shares, we must identify something observable and
measurable about the cases that we feel provides a reasonable basis for distinguishing
between one case and the next. In practice, time spent working on each particular cost
unit by direct labour is the most popular basis. It must be stressed that this is not the
‘correct’ way. It is certainly not the only way.

How job costing works

To see how job costing works, let us consider Example 8.1.

Example 8.1

Johnson Ltd, a business that provides a personal computer maintenance and
repair service to its customers, has overheads of £10,000 each month. Each month
1,000 direct labour hours are worked and charged to cost units (jobs carried out
by the business). A particular PC repair undertaken by the business used direct
materials costing £15. Direct labour worked on the repair was 3 hours and the
wage rate is £16 an hour. Overheads are charged to jobs on a direct labour hour
basis. What is the full (absorption) cost of the repair?

First, let us establish the overhead absorption (recovery) rate, that is, the rate at
which individual repairs will be charged with overheads. This is £10 (£10,000/
1,000) per direct labour hour.

Thus, the full cost of the repair is:

£
Direct materials 15
Direct labour (3 x £16) 48
63
Overheads (3 x £10) 30
Full cost of the job 93

Note, in Example 8.1, that the number of labour hours (3 hours) appears twice in
deducing the full cost: once to deduce the direct labour cost and a second time to
deduce the overheads to be charged to the repair. These are really two separate issues,
though they are both based on the same number of labour hours.

Note also that, if all the jobs undertaken during the month are assigned over-
heads in a similar manner, all £10,000 of overheads will be charged to the jobs
between them. Jobs that involve a lot of direct labour will be assigned a large share
of overheads. Jobs that involve little direct labour will be assigned a small share of
overheads.
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Can you think of reasons why direct labour hours are regarded as the most logical basis
for sharing overheads between cost units?

The reasons that occurred to us are as follows:

B Large jobs should logically attract large amounts of overheads because they are likely
to have been rendered more ‘service’ by the overheads than small ones. The length of
time that they are worked on by direct labour may be seen as a rough way of measur-
ing relative size, though other means of doing this may be found - for example, relative
physical size, where the cost unit is a physical object, like a manufactured product.

B Most overheads are related to time. Rent, heating, lighting, non-current asset depreci-
ation, supervisors’ and managers’ salaries and interest on borrowings, which are all
typical overheads, are all more or less time-based. That is to say, the overhead cost for
one week tends to be about half of that for a similar two-week period. Thus, a basis of
allotting overheads to jobs that takes account of the length of time that the units of
output benefited from the ‘service’ rendered by the overheads seems logical.

m Direct labour hours are capable of being measured for each job. They will normally be
measured to deduce the direct labour element of cost in any case. Thus, a direct labour
hour basis of dealing with overheads is practical to apply in the real world.

It cannot be emphasised enough that there is no ‘correct’ way to allot overheads to
jobs. Overheads, by definition, do not naturally relate to individual jobs. If, neverthe-
less, we wish to take account of the fact that overheads are part of the cost of all jobs,
we must find some logical way of including a share of the total overheads in each job.
If a particular approach to doing this is regarded as useful by those who use the full
cost information deduced, then the approach is acceptable. Accounting is concerned
only with providing useful information to decision makers. In practice, the method
that seems to be regarded as being the most useful is the direct labour hour method.

Now let us consider Real World 8.3, which gives an example of one well-known
organisation that does not use direct labour hours to cost its output.

Real World 8.3

Bed days

As we saw in Real World 8.1, the UK National Health Service (NHS) seeks to ascertain the cost
of various medical and surgical procedures that it undertakes for its patients. In determining
the costs of a procedure that requires time in hospital as an ‘inpatient’, the NHS identifies
the total direct cost of the particular procedure (staff time, medication and so on). To this it
adds a share of the hospital overheads. The total overheads are absorbed by individual
procedures (‘jobs’) by taking this overheads total and dividing it by the number of ‘bed
days’ throughout the hospital for the period, to establish a ‘bed day rate’. A bed day is one
patient spending one day occupying a bed in the hospital. To cost the procedure for a par-
ticular patient, the bed day rate is applied to the cost of the procedure according to how
many bed days the particular patient had.

Note that the NHS does not use the direct labour hour basis of absorption; however, the
bed day rate alternative is also a logical, time-based approach.
Source: NHS Costing Manual 2009/2010, Department of Health Gateway, reference 13659, February 2010.
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Marine Suppliers Ltd undertakes a range of work, including making sails for small sail-

ing boats on a made-to-measure basis.
The business expects the following to arise during the next month:

Direct labour cost £60,000
Direct labour time 6,000 hours
Indirect labour cost £9,000
Depreciation of machinery £3,000
Rent and rates £5,000
Heating, lighting and power £2,000
Machine time 2,000 hours
Indirect materials £500
Other miscellaneous indirect cost elements (overheads) £200
Direct materials cost £3,000

The business has received an enquiry about a sail. It is estimated that the particular
sail will take 12 direct labour hours to make and will require 20 square metres of sail-

cloth, which costs £2 per square metre.

The business normally uses a direct labour hour basis of charging indirect cost (over-

heads) to individual jobs.
What is the full (absorption) cost of making the sail?

The direct cost of making the sail can be identified as follows:

£
Direct materials (20 x £2) 40.00
Direct labour (12 x (£60,000/6,000)) 120.00
160.00

To deduce the indirect cost (overhead) element that must be added to derive the full cost

of the sail, we first need to total these cost elements as follows:

£
Indirect labour 9,000
Depreciation 3,000
Rent and rates 5,000
Heating, lighting and power 2,000
Indirect materials 500
Other miscellaneous indirect cost (overhead) elements 200
Total indirect cost (overheads) 19,700

Since the business uses a direct labour hour basis of charging indirect cost to jobs, we need
to deduce the indirect cost (or overhead) recovery rate per direct labour hour. This is simply

£19,700/6,000 = £3.28 per direct labour hour

Thus, the full cost of the sail would be expected to be:

£
Direct materials (20 x £2) 40.00
Direct labour (12 x (£60,000/6,000)) 120.00
Indirect cost (12 x £3.28) 39.36
Full cost 199.36




How job costing works

Figure 8.5 shows the process for applying indirect (overheads) and direct cost to the
sail that was the subject of Activity 8.6.

Suppliers Ltd in Activity 8.6

Ascertain the
total
overheads for
Marine
Suppliers Ltd
for the period

Derive a suitable
overhead
absorption rate
for the
business as a
whole

Figure 8.5 How the full cost is derived for the sail to be made by Marine

Overheads

Apply the
overhead
absorption rate
(based on the
specifics of the
job, for exam